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Delivering Midstream Energy 

Solutions
Inergy is a midstream energy company that 
utilizes its strategically located assets and proven 
expertise to connect fundamental supply and 
fundamental demand in key markets across the 
United States. Inergy provides its customers  
with assured flow and optimal value through  
the storage, transportation, and marketing of 
natural gas, natural gas liquids, and crude oil.  
The Company is committed to being a good 
steward of the environment, to practicing safety in 
all that we do, and to being a good neighbor in the 
communities in which we live, work, and operate.

Midstream 

Operations
Inergy’s midstream operations provide 
 strategically located infrastructure 
and  a diverse asset portfolio for the 
storage,  transportation, processing, 
and terminalling  of natural gas,  
natural gas liquids, and crude oil.

Midstream 

Services
Inergy’s midstream services provide 
 competitive marketing and logistics 
for flow assurance, supply security, 
demand aggregation, and risk 
management.

Supply Demand
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DEAR FELLOW UNITHOLDERS: 

Fiscal 2012 was a transformational year 
for Inergy. From our inception, our core 
operations were in the retail propane 
business; but as you know, several years 
ago we began to diversify the partnership 
with investments in midstream energy 
assets due to the sector’s high growth 
potential and stable cash flows. Today, 
following the divestiture of our retail propane 
operations, Inergy is a pure play midstream 
energy business with a strong financial 
position and exciting growth potential.

The fiscal year began with the onset of one 
of the warmest winters on record, impacting 
the performance of our retail propane 
business. In the throes of that challenging 
operating environment, we initiated a broad 
restructuring of the partnership. We began 
the process of separating our retail propane 
and midstream energy businesses into two 
focused MLPs with the ability to access 
their own pools of capital and unique 
merger and acquisition opportunities. In the 
process, we believed that we would unlock 

the embedded value of our high-growth 
midstream business, reduce our cost of 
capital, and strengthen our balance sheet.

The first step in that process was the 
formation and initial public offering of 
Inergy Midstream, L.P. (NYSE:NRGM) which 
we completed in December 2011. Initially, 
NRGM was created to own and operate 
our Northeast storage and transportation 
assets. NRGM has built-in growth from 
existing organic expansion projects, the 
potential for drop down acquisitions from 
Inergy, L.P. (NYSE:NRGY), and potential 
acquisitions from third parties. NRGY 
retained the propane operations, as well 
as US Salt, the NGL supply and logistics 
business, and the Texas natural gas storage 
business. Additionally, NRGY retained the 
majority limited partner ownership and the 
incentive distribution rights of NRGM.

The financial performance of NRGM 
consistently met or exceeded our 
expectations in 2012, which is not 
surprising given the fee-based, contracted 
nature of the income generated from these 
businesses. These high-quality assets are 
strategically located atop the Marcellus 
Shale and upstream of some of the best 
demand markets in North America.

While NRGM had a solid year and we were 
encouraged by the continued growth and 
development of our NGL supply and logistics 
business, the other businesses at NRGY 
were confronted by a number of challenges. 
The warm winter impacted the performance 
of our retail propane operations, as 
previously mentioned; and the fundamentals 
of the natural gas market continued to 
have an effect on the operating results of 
our Texas natural gas storage business. In 
order to confront the challenging position 
at NRGY and as part of our plan to return 
the partnership to good health, in April, we 
made the decision to reset NRGY’s quarterly 
distribution. Concurrently, NRGY had been 
negotiating a transaction to combine its 
retail propane operations with the operations 
of Suburban Propane.

Those negotiations resulted in a strategic 
transaction in which NRGY contributed 
its retail propane operations to Suburban 
Propane for $1.8 billion in consideration. 
It was a good deal for both companies 
resulting in a larger, stronger, and more 
geographically diverse propane company; 
and it significantly transformed NRGY’s 
business profile. As part of the transaction, 
we distributed approximately $600 million 
in Suburban common units to NRGY 

TODAY, INERGY IS A PURE 
PLAY MIDSTREAM ENERGY 
BUSINESS WITH A STRONG 
FINANCIAL POSITION 
AND EXCITING GROWTH 
POTENTIAL.

JOHN J. SHERMAN, Chairman and CEO
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Sincerely, 

JOHN J. SHERMAN, Chairman and CEO

unitholders and reduced debt at NRGY by 
approximately $1.2 billion. The transaction 
with Suburban – which was announced 
in April and closed in August – greatly 
accelerated the transformation that began 
with the separation of our business units 
and the IPO of NRGM.

In May, we continued to execute our plan 
with the drop down transaction of US Salt 
from NRGY to NRGM. That transaction 
represented the first drop down between the 
partnerships providing distribution growth 
at NRGM and further strengthening NRGY’s 
balance sheet.

With our repositioning well underway, 
we have refocused our attention to the 
partnerships’ growth strategy. We believe 
that there will be tremendous opportunity to 
invest in midstream energy infrastructure in 
the United States over the next decade. Our 
goal is to utilize our expertise to leverage 
our existing shale-focused infrastructure 
portfolio and to execute on the right 
opportunities for growth.

One new opportunity on which we have 
capitalized takes advantage of the existing 
capabilities of our NGL supply and logistics 
business. In November, we announced the 
acquisition of Rangeland Energy, LLC, which 
owned and operated a crude oil logistics 
complex that includes rail terminal, storage, 
and pipeline facilities (COLT Hub) in 
Williams County, North Dakota. Our decision 
to enter the crude oil logistics business 
was a natural extension of the refinery and 
producer service offerings we currently 
provide to customers. The $425 million 
transaction diversifies the partnerships’ 
cash flow, expands our geographic footprint, 
and complements our existing operations. 

The location, scale, and capabilities of 
the operation are outstanding and – since 
the facility was designed for cost-effective 
expansion – are expected to lead to further 
high-return expansion opportunities for our 
investors.

We expect the COLT Hub acquisition to 
be immediately accretive to unitholders. 
Approximately 90 percent of expected 
revenue at the COLT Hub is derived from 
“take-or-pay” contracts with creditworthy 
counterparties that average nearly four 
years. Additionally, the COLT Hub gives us a 
first-mover advantage in the Bakken shale 
and should lead to incremental crude oil 
and NGL investments in the future.

As we begin Fiscal 2013, we are confident 
about our growth opportunities and the 
ability to deliver value to investors. We 
believe that we are uniquely positioned to 
execute our strategy due to:

•	 	The	dynamics	of	the	North	American	
energy markets in which quickly 
developing supply is creating further 
need for infrastructure and flow 
assurance. Producers seek us out due to 
our unique capabilities and expertise in 
providing these services.

•	 	Our	midstream	infrastructure	that	is	
well-positioned between growing supply 
basins and premium demand markets 
in natural gas, NGLs, and crude oil. 
Additionally, our growing truck and rail 
transportation fleet is becoming more 
valuable every day.

•	 	Our	growing	NGL	supply	and	logistics	
business which has earned a reputation 
for providing customers – including 

refiners, the industrial and chemical 
sectors, utilities, retailers, and other 
end-users – assurance of supply while 
helping them manage their costs.

•	 	Our	outstanding	relationships	with	
hundreds of long-term demand 
customers across North America 
providing us with stable, fee-based cash 
flow in exchange for our services.

•	 	Being	well-positioned	and	on	the	ground	
with a first-mover advantage in prolific 
shale plays like the Marcellus, Eagle 
Ford, and Bakken and emerging plays like 
the Utica and Monterey.

•	 	Our	strong	balance	sheet,	coupled	
with high-quality assets, giving us both 
financial and operational flexibility.

•	 	An	entrepreneurial	culture	that	propels	
us to move quickly, taking advantage of 
opportunities as they develop.

Looking forward to 2013 and beyond, I see 
tremendous opportunity for investors in both 
NRGY and NRGM. Our team has worked hard 
to reposition the partnerships to deliver the 
consistent performance and quality growth 
that you should expect from us. 2012 was 
a year of both challenge and progress. With 
the transformation to a pure play midstream 
energy business largely behind us, we have 
much to do looking forward.

Rest assured that our management team is 
focused on executing our plan and creating 
value on your behalf. We are large investors 
in the partnerships alongside you.

Thank you for your investment. We take our 
responsibilities to you very seriously.
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NRGY TOTAL GROSS PROFIT
($ in millions)

NRGM TOTAL GROSS PROFIT
($ in millions)

NRGY ADJUSTED EBITDA (a)

($ in millions)

NRGM ADJUSTED EBITDA (b)

($ in millions)

(a)
  Adjusted EBITDA is defined as income (loss) before income taxes, plus net interest expense and depreciation and amortization and 
excludes the gain or loss on the disposal of assets, long-term incentive and equity compensation expenses, and transaction costs. 
Please refer to our SEC filings for further clarification.

(a)
  Adjusted EBITDA is defined as income (loss) before taxes, plus net interest expense and depreciation and amortization and excludes 
the gain or loss on derivative contracts associated with retail propane fixed price sales contracts, long-term incentive and equity 
compensation expenses, the gain or loss on disposal of assets, the gain on disposal of retail propane operations, the loss on Suburban 
Propane Partners, L.P. units, and transaction costs. Please refer to our SEC filings for further clarification.
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$321
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$100
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$125
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Inergy, L.P.

Inergy Midstream, L.P.
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CORPORATE OFFICE

Midstream 

 Operations
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WC WEST COAST 
 Natural Gas Liquids Facility 

CH COLT HUB 
 Crude Oil Logistics Facility

TP TRES PALACIOS 
 Natural Gas Storage Facility

ST STEUBEN 
 Natural Gas Storage Facility

TC THOMAS CORNERS 
 Natural Gas Storage Facility

BA BATH 
  Natural Gas Liquids  

Storage Facility

WG WATKINS GLEN 
  Natural Gas Liquids Storage 

Development

SL SENECA LAKE 
 Natural Gas Storage Facility

US US SALT 
  Solution Mining and Salt 

Production

SC STAGECOACH 
  Natural Gas Storage and  

Transportation Facilities
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NORTHEAST NATURAL GAS STORAGE AND TRANSPORTATION ASSETS

The assets that make up Inergy’s Northeast natural gas  

storage and transportation operation not only sit atop the 

Marcellus shale, they are within 200 miles of New York City, 

one of the largest energy demand markets in the United States. 

Several recently completed organic expansion projects have 

added significant deliverability and flexibility to this storage and 

transportation platform and have created additional opportunities 

for future growth. 

Inergy’s Northeast natural gas storage platform includes: 

SC Stagecoach Gas Storage – Inergy’s flagship asset,  

Stagecoach is located in Tioga County, NY, 150 miles northwest 

of New York City. Stagecoach is the closest natural gas storage 

facility to New York City and has a working gas capacity of  

26.3 Bcf. It is 100 percent contracted with a weighted average 

maturity of 2016;

ST Steuben Gas Storage – Forty miles from Stagecoach, in 

Steuben County, NY, Steuben Gas Storage is connected to the 

Dominion, TGP, and Millennium pipelines. The 6.2 Bcf working gas 

capacity at Steuben is 100 percent contracted with an average 

maturity of 2017; 

TC Thomas Corners Gas Storage – With 7.0 Bcf of working 

gas capacity, Thomas Corners has contracted 100 percent of 

its available capacity through March 2015. It connects to the 

Dominion, TGP, and Millennium pipelines;

SL Seneca Lake Gas Storage – Located adjacent to US Salt, 

Seneca Lake’s 1.5 Bcf of working gas capacity is connected to the 

Dominion and Millennium pipelines and is 100 percent contracted 

with a weighted average maturity of 2016;

MARC I Pipeline – The 39-mile MARC I pipeline with 550 mmcfd 

of capacity connects the Stagecoach South Lateral pipeline and 

TGP’s 300 line to Transco’s Leidy Line, providing deliverability and 

flexibility to shippers; and

North/South Pipeline – The North/South pipeline with 325 mmcfd 

of capacity offers firm transportation and wheeling services 

between the TGP and Millennium pipelines and all points in 

between.

SOUTHERN NATURAL GAS STORAGE AND TRANSPORTATION ASSETS

Tres Palacios Gas Storage is located 100 miles southwest of 

Houston, Texas, one of the largest energy demand markets in  

the southern United States, and is adjacent to the gas-rich 

Inergy’s strategic focus is linking the fundamental energy supply 

of prolific and emerging shale basins with the fundamental energy 

demand of refiners, utilities, power generators, and other end-

users. Inergy’s midstream operations feature a diverse portfolio 

of strategically located infrastructure assets for the storage, 

transportation, processing, and terminalling of natural gas, natural 

gas liquids, and crude oil operated by a team of experienced 

industry professionals. 

Inergy’s assets include storage facilities, pipelines, rail and 

truck terminals, fractionation facilities, and a fleet of transports 

and railcars. These assets are integrated to buffer supply and 

demand imbalances in the natural gas, NGL, and crude oil 

markets. The assets are supported by long-term, fee-based 

contracts that produce cash flow streams that are stable and 

predictable. Additionally, the Company targets growth via the 

acquisition and development of assets located in or near premier 

demand or supply centers with attractive built-in capital expansion 

opportunities to further enhance financial returns.

Natural Gas Storage and Transportation Operations
Inergy has two natural gas storage footprints, one in the  

Northeast atop the Marcellus shale and one in Texas, adjacent 

to the Eagle Ford shale. Inergy has positioned the platform to 

participate in the development of energy infrastructure in these 

prolific shale plays. 

INERGY’S MIDSTREAM OPERATIONS 
PROVIDE  STRATEGICALLY LOCATED 
INFRASTRUCTURE AND  A DIVERSE 
ASSET PORTFOLIO FOR THE 
STORAGE,  TRANSPORTATION, 
PROCESSING, AND TERMINALLING 
 OF NATURAL GAS, NATURAL GAS 
LIQUIDS, AND CRUDE OIL.
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TRANSPORTATION OPERATIONS

Inergy has years of operating experience in transporting bulk NGL 

commodities and hauled over 60,000 Bbls per day of NGLs last 

year. The Company continues to expand its transportation fleet in 

order to keep pace with the demand for its services. 

Today, Inergy has more than 450 company-owned transports and 

a rapidly growing rail fleet that serves customers coast-to-coast 

during peak demand. Inergy’s fleet often acts as a rolling pipeline 

between multiple geographies, allowing customers to keep their 

plants running and products flowing around the clock. 

With a team of talented and experienced midstream logistics 

professionals on staff, Inergy optimizes its network of pipelines, 

transport trucks, rail cars, and terminals to provide end-to-end 

storage, transportation, and marketing solutions to commercial 

and industrial customers throughout the United States.

Crude Oil Operations 
In December 2012, Inergy added significantly to its supply and 

logistics business when it closed on the $425 million acquisition 

of the COLT crude oil rail terminal, storage, and pipeline facilities 

(the COLT Hub) in Williams County, North Dakota. This facility 

is located in the heart of the Bakken shale, one of the most 

prolific producing shale basins and is among the largest and 

most efficient open-access unit train rail loading terminals in the 

Bakken. The COLT Hub offers 120,000 Bbls per day of crude oil 

rail loading capacity and 720,000 barrels of storage capacity.

The services provided by the COLT Hub are a natural extension of 

Inergy’s refinery and producer-services business with significant 

customer cross-over on both coasts. The location, scale, and 

capabilities of the operation are outstanding and – since the 

facility was designed for cost-effective expansion – plans are 

already underway for future expansion. 

US Salt Operations
Located in Watkins Glen, NY, on the shores of Seneca Lake, US 

Salt is an industry-leading solution mining salt production company 

that diversifies Inergy’s midstream business. US Salt’s stable cash 

flow profile results from its long-term and high-quality customer 

base, lack of weather exposure, and fuel switching capabilities. 

For Inergy, US Salt also provides a significant sustained source 

of future natural gas and NGL storage capacity. Producing 

over 300,000 tons of high purity salt each year for the food, 

pharmaceutical, and chemical feedstock markets, the solution 

mining process creates salt caverns with potential capacity to 

store approximately 1 Bcf per year of natural gas.

Eagle Ford shale. Tres Palacios has 38.4 Bcf of working gas 

storage capacity and is connected to 10 intrastate and interstate 

pipelines, more interconnects than any competing storage asset 

in Texas. 

Tres Palacios has potential for storage capacity expansion in 

both natural gas and NGLs as well as the potential for additional 

interconnects. The Tres header extension project will create a new 

interconnect at the tailgate of Copano Energy’s Houston Central 

gas processing plant in Colorado County, Texas, enhancing the 

connectivity of Inergy’s header system and the 10 pipelines to 

which Tres Palacios is connected.

Natural Gas Liquids Operations
Inergy’s NGL assets are positioned in attractive U.S. shale plays, 

allowing Inergy to be a key participant in the quickly expanding 

NGL market. The assets serve customers’ essential needs and 

have significant expansion opportunities, combining to help  

Inergy serve not only the immediate needs of its customers,  

but to grow aggressively in the future, both organically and  

through acquisition. 

The Company’s NGL assets include:

BA Bath Storage – 1.5MM barrels of underground NGL storage in 

Steuben County, NY, with rail and truck terminals and connection 

potential with the Watkins Glen project. Nine separate caverns at 

Bath allow for segregation of various NGL streams, which is highly 

valued by customers;

WG Watkins Glen Project – 2.1MM barrels of underground NGL 

storage, under development in Schuyler County, NY, with rail and 

truck terminals and connection to the Teppco NGL pipeline;

WC West Coast Facility – An extensive NGL operation that is 

located near Bakersfield, CA, between major West Coast refining 

centers. This facility is a full-service NGL operation including:

•	 Pressurized	NGL	storage;

•	 Isomerization	and	fractionation	capabilities;

•	 Refrigerated	propane	and	butane	storage;

•	 	Terminalling	operations	supported	by	recently	expanded	 

rail and truck facilities; 

•	 Marketing	of	all	NGL	purity	products;	and 

•	 Natural	gas	gathering	and	processing.
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Midstream 

 Services

extensive supply and logistics expertise, creates synergistic 

results for Inergy’s NGL platform that are far greater than those 

of either business unit independently. As a result, Inergy is 

recognized as one of the leading service providers in the rich 

shale plays across the U.S.

POSITIONED WELL FOR GROWTH

Inergy has positioned itself for growth as the shale gas development 

in the U.S. has proliferated over the last several years.

Because Inergy already serves multiple refiners and industrial 

customers on both coasts and has deep producer relationships, 

Inergy expanded its service offering across the hydrocarbon 

spectrum by entering the highly compatible crude oil logistics 

business. The decision to enter the crude oil market resulted  

in the acquisition of the COLT crude oil rail terminal, storage,  

and pipeline facilities in Williams County, North Dakota this  

past December. 

By providing crude oil logistics, Inergy enhances its existing refinery 

services platform, moves the partnerships further upstream, and 

diversifies its operations across multiple hydrocarbon streams.  

In addition, it creates a potential link to Inergy’s West Coast 

platform and an additional prolific shale basin in the Bakken shale.

SUPPLY AND LOGISTICS 

Inergy provides producers and end-users with assured flow  

and optimal economic value through a combination of deep 

industry expertise and control of strategic assets. Shale 

production has transformed how producers and service providers 

operate and has created challenges to the efficient execution of 

their business plans. With an unprecedented need for take-away 

infrastructure, Inergy helps its customers physically flow natural 

gas, NGL, and crude oil volumes and monetize those volumes at 

attractive economics. 

Processors, refiners, petrochemical companies, and other 

industrial customers rely on the Inergy team of supply and 

logistics professionals to help them lower their cost, lower their 

risk, secure product off-take, and ensure supply security. The 

services Inergy provides to these customers include:

•	 storage	and	terminalling;

•	 transportation	via	pipelines,	transports,	and	a	rail	car	fleet;

•	 supply	and	logistics	marketing	services;	and	

•	 natural	gas	and	NGL	fractionation	and	processing.

The combination of Inergy’s strategically located storage, 

terminalling, and transportation assets, coupled with Inergy’s 

INERGY’S MIDSTREAM SERVICES 
PROVIDE  COMPETITIVE 
MARKETING AND LOGISTICS  
FOR FLOW ASSURANCE,  
SUPPLY SECURITY,  
DEMAND AGGREGATION,  
AND RISK MANAGEMENT.



Natural Gas

Crude Oil

DRY NATURAL GAS

NATURAL GAS LIQUIDS

Midstream 

 Solutions

Inergy’s strategically 
positioned natural gas 
storage platforms in  
the Northeast and Texas 
have combined natural 
gas storage capacity  
of 79.4 bcf with the 
capability of growing this 
capacity in the future.
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Inergy is a midstream energy company that 

utilizes its strategically located assets and 

proven expertise to connect fundamental 

supply and fundamental demand in key 

markets across the United States. Inergy 

provides its customers with assured flow 

and optimal value through the storage, 

transportation, and marketing of natural gas, 

natural gas liquids, and crude oil.

SUPPLY

TOTAL NATURAL GAS STORAGE CAPACITY
billion cubic feet
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26.3
Stagecoach

1.5
Seneca Lake
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Truck
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Rail
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GatheringWellhead

GatheringWellhead

Fractionation
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In December 2012, Inergy acquired Rangeland Energy, LLC, 

the owner and operator of the COLT crude oil rail terminal, 

storage, and pipeline facilities (the COLT Hub). This strategic 

acquisition is located in the heart of the Bakken and Three Forks 

shale-producing areas and complements Inergy’s existing NGL 

operations while significantly expanding the Company’s growth 

prospects. 

With 720,000 barrels of crude oil storage and two 8,700-foot rail 

loops, the COLT Hub can accommodate 120-car unit trains and 

is capable of moving more than 120,000 barrels per day by rail. 

Among the largest unit train rail loading terminals in the Bakken,  

it provides access to multiple downstream markets and is 

currently connected to the Hiland Partners’ gathering system. 

An agreement is in place to also connect to the Bear Tracker 

gathering system.

The COLT Hub acquisition also included the COLT Connector,  

a 21-mile, bi-directional 10-inch pipeline that connects the COLT 

facility to the Dry Fork Terminal, where the COLT Connector 

pipeline connects with the Enbridge and Tesoro pipelines. Plans 

are being put in place for future connections to other existing and 

proposed pipelines and gathering systems.

The location, scale, and capabilities of the newly constructed 

facility will provide long-term, strategic value to Inergy. Some of the 

highlights include:

•	 	It	generates	stable,	fee-based	revenues	from	large,	creditworthy	

customers;

•	 	Its	capacity	is	90%	contracted	under	long-term,	“take-or-pay”	

contracts with weighted average maturity of 4 years; 

•	 	It	was	built	on	318	acres	and	designed	to	allow	for	significant	

expansion of its capacity;

 –  Adding loading arms to the existing second rail loop could 

provide an additional 40,000 to 80,000 Bbls per day of unit 

train loading capacity; and

 –  The facility is capable of holding up to an additional 15 to 20 

storage tanks.

The COLT acquisition gives Inergy first-mover advantage in building  

a regional crude oil hub in the Bakken and should lead to 

incremental crude oil and NGL investments.

COLT Hub
Acquisition

THE COLT HUB DIVERSIFIES 
INERGY’S CASH FLOW, EXPANDS 
ITS GEOGRAPHIC FOOTPRINT, 
COMPLEMENTS EXISTING 
OPERATIONS, AND SHOULD 
LEAD TO FURTHER EXPANSION 
OPPORTUNITIES.

COLT
Terminal

COLT
Connector

Dry Fork
Terminal
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GUIDE TO READING THIS REPORT

The following information should help you understand some of the conventions used in this report. Throughout this report,

(1) When we use the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” “our company,” “Inergy,” or “Inergy, L.P.,” we are referring either to 
Inergy, L.P., the registrant itself, or to Inergy, L.P. and its wholly-owned operating subsidiaries collectively, as the 
context requires.

(2) When we use the term “Inergy Propane,” we are referring to Inergy Propane, LLC itself, or to Inergy Propane, 
LLC and its operating subsidiaries collectively, as the context requires. We contributed Inergy Propane to 
Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. in August 2012.

(3) When we use the term “Inergy Midstream,” we are referring to Inergy Midstream, L.P. itself, or to Inergy 
Midstream, L.P. and its operating subsidiaries collectively, as the context requires. As of September 30, 2012, we 
own an approximate 75% ownership interest in, and 100% of the incentive distribution rights of, Inergy 
Midstream.

(4) When we use the term “general partner,” we are referring to Inergy GP, LLC.
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GLOSSARY

The terms below are common to our industry and used throughout this report. 

/d per day
Balancing services Services pursuant to which natural gas storage customers pay fees to help balance and true

up their deliveries to, or takeaways of natural gas from, storage facilities.

Barrel (bbl) One barrel of petroleum products equal to 42 U.S. gallons.
Base gas A quantity of natural gas held within the confines of the natural gas storage facility and used

for pressure support and to maintain a minimum facility pressure.  May consist of injected
base gas or native base gas.  Also known as cushion gas.

Bcf One billion cubic feet of natural gas.  A standard volume measure of natural gas products.
Cycle A complete withdrawal and injection of working gas.
Dth One dekatherm of natural gas.
FERC Federal Energy Regulatory Commission.
Firm service Services pursuant to which customers receive an assured, or “firm”, right to (i) in the context

of storage service, store product in the storage facility or (ii) in the context of transportation
service, transport product through a pipeline, over a defined period of time.

GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.
Gas storage capacity The maximum volume of natural gas that can be cost-effectively injected into a storage 

facility and extracted during the normal operation of the storage facility.  Gas storage 
capacity excludes base gas.

Hub Geographic location of a natural gas storage facility and multiple pipeline interconnections.
Hub services With respect to our natural gas operations, the following services: (i) interruptible storage

services, (ii) firm and interruptible park and loan services, (iii) interruptible wheeling
services, and (iv) balancing services.

Injection rate The rate at which a customer is permitted to inject natural gas into a natural gas storage
facility.

Interruptible service Services pursuant to which customers receive only limited assurances regarding the
availability of (i) with respect to natural gas storage services, capacity and deliverability in
storage facilities or (ii) with respect to natural gas transportation services, capacity and
deliverability from receipt points to delivery points.  Customers pay fees for interruptible
services based on their actual utilization of the storage or transportation assets.

Local distribution companies 
(LDCs)

The local gas utility companies that transport natural gas from interstate and intrastate 
pipelines to retail and industrial customers through small-diameter distribution pipelines.

Liquefied natural gas  (LNG) Natural gas that has been cooled to minus 161 degrees Celsius for transportation, typically
by ship.  The cooling process reduces the volume of natural gas by 600 times.

Mcf One thousand cubic feet of natural gas.  We have converted throughput numbers from a
heating value number to a volumetric number based upon a conversion factor of 1 MMbtu
equals 1 Mcf.

MMbtu One million British thermal units, which is approximately equal to one Mcf.  One British
thermal unit is equivalent to an amount of heat required to raise the temperature of one
pound of water by one degree.

MMcf One million cubic feet of natural gas.
Natural gas A gaseous mixture of hydrocarbon compounds, the primary one being methane, but other

components include ethane, propane and butane.
Natural Gas Act Federal law enacted in 1938 that established the FERC's authority to regulate interstate

pipelines.
Natural gas liquids (NGLs) Those hydrocarbons in natural gas that are separated from the natural gas as liquids through

the process of absorption, condensation, adsorption or other methods in natural gas
processing or cycling plants.  Natural gas liquids include natural gas plant liquids (primarily
ethane, propane, butane and isobutane) and lease condensate (primarily pentanes produced
from natural gas at lease separators and field facilities).

Park and loan services Services pursuant to which natural gas storage customers receive the right to store natural
gas in (park), or borrow natural gas from (loan), storage facilities on a seasonal basis.

Reservoir An underground formation that originally contained crude oil or natural gas, or both.
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Salt cavern A man-made cavern developed in a salt dome or salt beds by leaching or mining of the salt.
Wheeling The transportation of natural gas from one pipeline to another pipeline through the pipeline

facilities of a natural gas storage facility.  The gas does not flow into or out of actual storage,
but merely uses the surface facilities of the storage operation.

Wheeling services Services pursuant to which natural gas customers pay fees for the limited right to move a
volume of natural gas from one interconnection point through storage and redelivering the
natural gas to another interconnection point.

Withdrawal rate The rate at which a customer is permitted to withdraw gas from a natural gas storage facility.
Working gas Natural gas in a storage facility in excess of base gas.  Working gas may or may not be

completely withdrawn during any particular withdrawal season.
Working gas storage capacity See gas storage capacity (above).
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PART I

Item 1. Business.

Introduction

Inergy, L.P. is a publicly-traded Delaware limited partnership formed in March 2001.  We own and operate energy midstream 
infrastructure and an NGL marketing, supply and logistics business.  We are headquartered in Kansas City, Missouri, and our 
common units representing limited partner interests are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “NRGY”.

Our midstream infrastructure business consists of storage and transportation operations, which are conducted primarily through 
Inergy Midstream, L.P. ("Inergy Midstream"), a predominantly fee-based, growth-oriented master limited partnership that 
develops, acquires, owns and operates natural gas and NGL storage and transportation infrastructure.  Our NGL marketing, 
supply and logistics business utilizes our West Coast processing, fractionation and storage operations and other NGL facilities 
that we own or control.  We have two reporting segments: (i) storage and transportation, which includes our natural gas storage 
assets in Texas and our approximately 75% ownership interest and incentive distribution rights ("IDRs") in Inergy Midstream 
(NYSE: NRGM); and (ii) NGL marketing, supply and logistics operations. 

On August 1, 2012, we completed the contribution of our retail propane operations to Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. ("SPH").  
We received approximately 14.2 million SPH common units with a market and book value of approximately $590 million, 
substantially all of which we distributed to our unitholders in September 2012.  SPH also exchanged approximately $1.19 
billion of our outstanding senior notes for $1.0 billion of new SPH senior notes and paid cash directly to tendering note holders.   
As a result of this transaction, we have repositioned our company to create a pure-play midstream company and deleveraged 
our balance sheet.

Our primary business objective is to increase the cash distributions that we pay to our unitholders.  We expect to increase our 
cash flow that may be distributed to unitholders predominantly through our investment in Inergy Midstream (including our 
ownership of Inergy Midstream's IDRs) and, to a lesser extent, by growing our existing natural gas and NGL businesses.   

On November 3, 2012, Inergy Midstream entered into an agreement to acquire Rangeland Energy, LLC (“Rangeland Energy”) 
for $425 million, subject to certain performance goals and working capital adjustments.  Rangeland Energy owns and operates 
an integrated crude oil rail and truck terminal, storage and pipeline facilities (the “COLT Hub”) located in Williams County, 
North Dakota in the heart of the Bakken and Three Forks shale oil-producing region.  The Colt Hub primarily consists of 
720,000 barrels of crude oil storage, two 8,700-foot unit train rail loading loops, an eight-bay truck unloading rack, and 21-mile 
bi-directional crude oil pipeline that connects the terminal to crude oil gathering systems and crude oil interstate pipelines.  We 
expect Inergy Midstream to complete the Rangeland Energy acquisition in calendar 2012.  
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Ownership Structure

The diagram below reflects a simplified version of our ownership structure:

We formed Inergy Midstream, LLC in 2004 to develop, acquire, own and operate natural gas and other midstream assets.  In 
November 2011, we converted Inergy Midstream, LLC into a Delaware limited partnership named Inergy Midstream, L.P.  On 
December 21, 2011, Inergy Midstream completed its initial public offering.  

Our Assets

Storage and Transportation

Our storage and transportation segment includes our Tres Palacios natural gas storage facility and our investment in Inergy 
Midstream.  

We own and operate the Tres Palacios natural gas storage facility, a high performance, multi-cycle salt dome storage facility 
located approximately 100 miles outside of Houston in Matagorda and Wharton Counties, Texas.  Tres Palacios, which is 
owned and operated by our subsidiary, Tres Palacios Gas Storage LLC ("TPGS"), has approximately 38.4 Bcf of certificated 
working gas capacity and is expandable by up to an additional 9.5 Bcf of working gas capacity.   Tres Palacios is connected to 
10 intrastate and interstate pipelines offering connectivity to multiple demand markets in Texas as well as the Northeast, 
Midwest, Southeast and Florida.  Tres Palacios has placed three storage caverns into service, and we expect to place a fourth 
cavern into service in 2015. As of September 30, 2012, 83% of Tres Palacios's available storage capacity is contracted on a firm 
or interruptible basis.  We acquired this storage facility on October 14, 2010.

We own an approximate 75% limited partnership interest and all the IDRs in Inergy Midstream.  Inergy Midstream owns and 
operates four high-performance natural gas storage facilities located in New York and Pennsylvania that have an aggregate 
working gas storage capacity of approximately 41.0 Bcf, which we believe makes Inergy Midstream the largest independent 
natural gas storage provider in the Northeast.  Its storage facilities have low maintenance costs, long useful lives and 
comparatively high cycling capabilities.  The interconnectivity of its storage facilities with interstate pipelines offers flexibility 
to shippers in the Northeast, and the facilities are located in close proximity to the Northeast demand market and a prolific 
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supply source, the Marcellus shale.  Inergy Midstream's natural gas storage facilities, all of which generate fee-based revenues, 
include: 

• Stagecoach, a multi-cycle, depleted reservoir storage facility located approximately 150 miles northwest of New York 
City in Tioga County, New York and Bradford County, Pennsylvania.  Stagecoach, which is owned and operated by 
Central New York Oil And Gas Company, L.L.C. ("CNYOG"), has 26.25 Bcf of certificated working gas capacity.  Its 
24-mile, 30-inch diameter south pipeline lateral connects the storage facility to Tennessee Gas Pipeline's ("TGP") 300 
Line, and its 10-mile, 20-inch diameter north pipeline lateral connects to the Millennium Pipeline ("Millennium"). As of 
September 30, 2012, 100% of Stagecoach's available storage capacity is contracted;  

• Thomas Corners, a multi-cycle, depleted reservoir storage facility in Steuben County, New York.  Thomas Corners, 
which is owned and operated by Arlington Storage Company, LLC ("ASC"), has 7.0 Bcf of certificated working gas 
capacity.  Its 8-mile, 12-inch diameter pipeline lateral connects the storage facility to TGP's 400 Line, and its 7.5-mile, 
8-inch diameter pipeline lateral connects to Millennium.  As of September 30, 2012, 100% of Thomas Corners' 
available storage capacity  is contracted;

• Steuben, a single-turn, depleted reservoir storage facility in Schuyler County, New York. Steuben, which is owned and 
operated by Steuben Gas Storage Company ("Steuben Gas Storage"), has 6.2 Bcf of certificated working gas capacity.  
Its 12.5-mile, 12-inch diameter pipeline lateral connects the storage facility to the Dominion Transmission Inc. 
("Dominion") system, and a 6-inch diameter pipeline measuring less than one mile connects Inergy Midstream's 
Steuben and Thomas Corners storage facilities. As of September 30, 2012, 100% of Steuben's available storage capacity 
is contracted; and

• Seneca Lake, a multi-cycle, bedded salt storage facility in Schuyler County, New York.  Seneca Lake, which is owned 
and operated by ASC, has 1.45 Bcf of certificated working gas capacity.  Its 19-mile, 16-inch diameter pipeline lateral 
connects the storage facility to Millennium and Dominion's system.  Inergy Midstream acquired the Seneca Lake 
facility from New York State Electric & Gas Corporation ("NYSEG") on July 13, 2011.  As of September 30, 2012, 
100% of Seneca Lake's available storage capacity is contracted.

The following provides additional information about these natural gas storage facilities:

Facility Name/ Location

Cycling 
Capability 
(Number 
of Cycles 
per Year)  

Certificated
Working 

Gas
Storage

Capacity
(Bcf)

Maximum
Injection

Rate
(MMcf/d)

Maximum
Withdrawal

Rate
(MMcf/d)

Pipeline
Connections

Tres Palacios
Matagorda and Wharton Counties, TX 7x 38.4 1,000 2,500 Multiple(1)

Stagecoach
Tioga County, NY;
Bradford County, PA

2x 26.25 250 500
TGP's 300 Line;

Millennium; 
Transco's Leidy Line(2)

Thomas Corners
Steuben County, NY 2x 7.0 70 140

TGP's 400 Line;
Millennium;
Dominion(3) 

Seneca Lake
Schuyler County, NY 12x(4) 1.45 72.5 145 Dominion; 

Millennium

Steuben
Steuben County, NY 1x 6.3 30 60

TGP's 400 Line;
Millennium;
Dominion(5) 

Total 79.4 1,422.5 3,345

(1) Tres Palacios is interconnected to Florida Gas Transmission Company, LLC, Kinder Morgan Tejas Pipeline, L.P., Houston Pipe Line Company, Central 
Texas Gathering System, Natural Gas Pipeline Company of America, Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line Corporation ("Transco"), TGP, Valero Natural 
Gas Pipe Line Company, Channel Pipeline Company, and Texas Eastern Transmission, L.P.

(2) Stagecoach's south lateral will be connected to Transco's Leidy Line as a result of the MARC I Pipeline.
(3) Thomas Corners is connected to Dominion indirectly through the Steuben facility.
(4) Seneca Lake was designed for 12-turn service, but we operate it as a nine-turn high-deliverability storage facility.
(5) Steuben is connected to TGP and Millennium indirectly through the Thomas Corners facility.
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Inergy Midstream also owns and operates the Bath storage facility, a 1.5 million barrel NGL storage facility located near Bath, 
New York.  The facility is located approximately 210 miles northwest of New York City.  It is supported by both rail and truck 
terminal facilities capable of loading and unloading 23 railcars per day and approximately 70 truck transports per day.  The 
Bath storage facility generates fee-based revenues, and as of September 30, 2012, we control 100% of its available storage 
under a five-year contract expiring in 2016.

Inergy Midstream also owns and operates gas transportation facilities located in New York and Pennsylvania.  These facilities 
have low maintenance costs and long useful lives, and they are located in or near the Marcellus shale.  Throughput on Inergy 
Midstream's transportation assets can also be expanded at relatively low capital costs.  Inergy Midstream's natural gas 
transportation facilities include:

• North-South Facilities, which include compression and appurtenant facilities installed to expand transportation 
capacity on the Stagecoach north and south pipeline laterals.  The bi-directional facilities, which are owned and 
operated by CNYOG, provide 325 MMcf/d of firm interstate transportation service to shippers.  The North-South 
Facilities, which were placed into service on December 1, 2011, generate fee-based revenues under a negotiated rate 
structure authorized by the FERC; 

• MARC I Pipeline, a 39-mile, 30-inch diameter interstate natural gas pipeline that connects the Stagecoach south lateral 
and TGP's 300 Line in Bradford County, Pennsylvania, with Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line Company, LLC's 
("Transco") Leidy Line in Lycoming County, Pennsylvania.  The bi-directional pipeline, which is owned and operated 
by CNYOG, will provide 550 MMcf/d of interstate transportation capacity.  It includes a 16,360 horsepower gas-fired 
compressor station in the vicinity of the Transco interconnection, and a 15,000 horsepower electric-powered compressor 
station at the proposed interconnection between the Stagecoach south lateral and TGP's 300 Line.  Inergy Midstream 
expects to place the MARC I Pipeline into service on December 1, 2012, and it will generate fee-based revenues under 
a negotiated rate structure authorized by the FERC; and  

• East Pipeline, a 37.5 mile, 12-inch diameter natural gas intrastate pipeline located in New York which transports 30 
MMcf/d of natural gas from Dominion to the Binghamton, New York city gate.  The pipeline, which is owned and 
operated by Inergy Pipeline East, LLC ("IPE"), runs within three miles of the Stagecoach north lateral's point of 
interconnection with Millennium.  The East Pipeline generates fee-based revenues under a negotiated rate structure 
authorized by the New York State Public Service Commission ("NYPSC").  Inergy Midstream acquired the East 
Pipeline (formerly known as the Seneca Lake east pipeline) from NYSEG on July 13, 2011 as part of its acquisition of 
the Seneca Lake natural gas storage facility.

The following provides additional information about Inergy Midstream's transportation facilities:

Facility Name

Pipeline 
Diameter
(Inches)

Design 
Capacity 
(MMcf/d) Pipeline Connections

North-South Facilities 20 (North lateral);  
30 (South lateral)

560 (North lateral); 
728 (South lateral) 

Millennium (North lateral);
 TGP's 300 Line (South lateral)

MARC I Pipeline (1) 30 550
Stagecoach South Lateral;                          

TGP's 300 Line; 
Transco's Leidy Line

East Pipeline 12 30 Dominion

(1) The MARC I Pipeline has not been placed into full commercial service.

In addition, Inergy Midstream owns US Salt, an industry-leading solution mining and salt production company located on the 
shores of Seneca Lake near Watkins Glen in Schuyler County, New York. US Salt is strategically located in close proximity to 
Inergy Midstream's Seneca Lake natural gas storage facility and Watkins Glen NGL storage development project.  It is one of 
five major solution mined salt manufacturers in the United States, producing evaporated salt products for food, industrial, 
pharmaceutical and water conditioning uses.  US Salt produces and sells more than 300,000 tons of evaporated salt each year, 
and the solution mining process used by US Salt creates salt caverns that can be converted into natural gas and NGL storage 
capacity.

Table of Contents



5

NGL Marketing, Supply and Logistics

We own and operate an NGL business located near Bakersfield, California, which includes a 24.0 million gallon NGL storage 
facility, a 25.0 MMcf/day natural gas processing plant, a 12,000 barrels per day NGL fractionation plant, an 8,000 barrels per 
day butane isomerization plant, and NGL rail and truck terminals.  Our West Coast operations provide NGL processing, 
storage, transportation and marketing services to producers, refiners and other customers.

We own and operate the Seymour storage facility, which has 21 million gallons of underground NGL storage capacity and 1.2 
million gallons of aboveground “bullet” storage capacity.  Located in Seymour, Indiana, the facility's receipts and deliveries are 
supported by TE Products Pipeline ("TEPPCO") pipeline and truck access.  

We also own and operate a wholesale supply, marketing and logistics business providing NGL procurement, transportation and 
supply and price risk management services to independent dealers, multistate marketers, petrochemical companies, refinery and 
gas processors and a number of other NGL marketing and distribution companies.

Our NGL marketing, supply and logistics operations include a truck fleet, truck terminals and truck maintenance facilities.  The 
transportation of NGLs requires specialized equipment, and our trucks carry specialized steel tanks that maintain NGLs in a 
liquefied state.  As of September 30, 2012, we own (i) a fleet of 275 tractors and 452 transports; (ii) terminal facilities including 
the South Jersey Terminal in Bridgeton, New Jersey, and (iii) truck maintenance facilities in Indiana, Ohio and Mississippi.  

Growth Projects

We are pursuing multiple growth projects related to our Tres Palacios storage facility, including:

• NGL storage - effective January 1, 2012, we acquired a “call” right that enables us to store NGLs in certain storage 
caverns in service today near our Tres Palacios facility, as well as rights of first use for new NGL storage caverns 
developed on certain properties on the Markham salt dome.  We expect to utilize these rights as greater volumes of 
NGLs are produced from the Eagle Ford shale and other plays in and around Texas, and we are pursuing commercial 
opportunities using caverns subject to our NGL storage rights.

• System enhancements - we are working to extend the Tres Palacios header system by approximately 20 miles to 
interconnect with Copano's Houston Central gas processing plant in Colorado County, Texas.  This extension is 
expected to allow shippers to move gas along 60 miles of large-diameter header pipe with access to a combination of 10 
interstate and intrastate pipelines and the Tres Palacios facility.  We expect to receive this year the FERC authorization 
necessary to commence construction, and we plan to complete the expansion project in calendar 2013.  We believe our 
customers will continue to support projects that enhance connectivity and offer greater storage and transportation 
services.  

• Natural gas expansions - Texas Brine, which leases to us the mineral and surface rights we rely upon to operate the Tres 
Palacios storage facility, is debrining a fourth cavern located in close proximity to Tres Palacios' existing three natural 
gas storage caverns.  We expect to place this fourth cavern into natural gas storage service after the cavern is converted 
from brine production into storage service. However, because this fourth cavern may be converted into NGL storage 
capacity, we have the flexibility to pursue the type of storage capacity that the market demands the most.

Inergy Midstream is pursuing numerous projects, including both expansions and greenfield development projects, designed to 
further build out and interconnect its platform of Northeast natural gas and NGL assets, which we expect to increase its 
operating scale and enhance our profitability.  

MARC I Pipeline

In August 2010, Inergy Midstream requested FERC authorization to construct, own and operate the MARC I Pipeline, a 39-
mile bi-directional interstate natural gas pipeline that runs through Bradford, Sullivan and Lycoming Counties, Pennsylvania.  
Before doing so, Inergy Midstream entered into binding precedent agreements with four shippers under which they agreed to 
subscribe for 550 MMcf/d of firm transportation service on the MARC I Pipeline for a period of 10 years.  At that time, Inergy 
Midstream expected to receive a FERC certificate order authorizing its pipeline by mid-summer 2011 and to place the pipeline 
into service by July 2012.  Inergy Midstream's development plans have taken longer than anticipated due to regulatory delays 
and legal challenges, however, and the MARC I Pipeline is scheduled to be placed into service on December 1, 2012.  As of 
September 30, 2012, Inergy Midstream has incurred aggregate capital costs of approximately $213.5 million for development 
and construction of the MARC I Pipeline.   
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In October 2012, the MARC I shippers requested that their volumetric commitments be reduced from 550 MMcf/d to 450 
MMcf/d.  Under Inergy Midstream's precedent agreements, the shippers could terminate their contractual obligations if the 
pipeline was not placed into service on or before October 1, 2012.  In October 2012, Inergy Midstream executed agreements 
with the MARC I shippers under which, among other things, (i) the shippers' volumetric requirements were permanently 
reduced from 550 MMcf/d to 450 MMcf/d and (ii) the shippers agreed not to terminate their contracts if the MARC I Pipeline 
is placed into service on or before January 1, 2013.  Inergy Midstream has received FERC authorization to place the pipeline 
into interim service and is working to complete the final commissioning activity before requesting FERC authorization to place 
the pipeline into full commercial service on December 1, 2012.  Inergy Midstream expects to sell all or substantially all of the 
100 MMcf/d of turned-back capacity at or near rates payable by the releasing MARC I shippers.  If Inergy Midstream is unable 
to sell any such capacity on a firm basis under long-term contracts, then it expects to sell the capacity on an interruptible basis 
until market conditions support the execution of long-term contracts at acceptable rates.

Watkins Glen NGL Storage Development Project

Inergy Midstream is developing a 2.1 million barrel NGL storage facility near Watkins Glen, New York, using existing cavern 
capacity created by US Salt's solution-mining process.  Propane and butane are expected to be stored in these caverns 
seasonally.  The facility will be supported by rail and truck terminal facilities capable of loading and unloading 32 railcars per 
day and 45 truck transports per day, and will connect with TEPPCO's NGL interstate pipeline.  Inergy Midstream has entered 
into a five-year contract with us under which we will effectively market the facility's storage capacity for Inergy Midstream's 
economic benefit under a pass-through revenue arrangement.  

Inergy Midstream filed an application with the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation ("NYSDEC") for 
an underground storage permit in October 2009, and it has encountered delays in the permitting process.  Inergy Midstream 
believes it has provided all of the information the NYSDEC requires to issue the requested permit, and it expects to receive the 
requested permit early next year.  Subject to receiving the requested permit and barring any other unexpected delays, it expects 
to construct and place into service the NGL storage facility within 120 days after receiving its underground storage permit.  As 
of September 30, 2012, Inergy Midstream has incurred approximately $44.9 million of aggregate capital costs for the Watkins 
Glen NGL storage development project.

Truck Rack Expansion and Upgrade

In November 2012, Inergy Midstream completed construction of a new truck loading and unloading facilities at its Bath NGL 
storage facility.  The new truck rack has two bays and arms capable of loading and unloading 70 trucks per day.  Inergy 
Midstream is also upgrading the existing truck rack to increase the rack's loading and unloading capabilities from 17 trucks to 
30 trucks per day, which it expects to complete in December 2012.  Upon completion of the upgrade, Inergy Midstream's truck 
racks at the Bath facility are expected to be able to load and unload up to 100 trucks per day.  As of September 30, 2012, Inergy 
Midstream has incurred approximately $0.9 million of total capital costs for this project.  The affiliate that utilizes and markets 
all of the Bath storage capacity, Inergy Services, will pay higher annual reservation fees as a result of the new truck rack.

Commonwealth Pipeline Project

In February 2012, Inergy Midstream announced plans to jointly market and develop a new interstate natural gas pipeline 
project with affiliates of UGI Corporation and WGL Holdings, Inc.  The Commonwealth Pipeline project is designed to provide 
a direct, cost-effective basis for moving Marcellus shale gas to growing natural gas demand markets in southeastern 
Pennsylvania and the Mid-Atlantic markets.  The project sponsors held a non-binding open season for capacity on the 
Commonwealth Pipeline late in the second quarter of calendar 2012. Based on the results of the open season and subsequent 
discussions with potential shippers, the project sponsors on September 20, 2012 announced that, among other things, (i) the 
pipeline is expected to run approximately 120 miles to the southern terminus of Inergy Midstream's MARC I Pipeline to a point 
of interconnection with several interstate pipelines in Chester County, Pennsylvania; (ii) the 30-inch diameter pipeline will have 
an initial capacity of 800 MMcf/d of natural gas; (iii) affiliates of UGI Corporation and WGL Holdings have entered into 
binding precedent agreements to subscribe for firm transportation service on the Commonwealth Pipeline at negotiated rates 
under 10-year contracts; and (iv) the sponsors expect to place the pipeline into service in 2015.  

The project sponsors are continuing to refine costs, route options and other information required to complete a feasibility study, 
and assess market demand for the proposed transportation capacity.  Inergy Midstream remains optimistic that the market will 
support this low-cost transportation option for providing a direct path for moving local Marcellus shale gas to local demand 
centers, although we can provide no assurances that this project will be placed into service. 
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Seneca Lake Expansion (Gallery 2)

Throughout fiscal 2012, Inergy Midstream continued to perform pre-construction activity and pursue the regulatory approvals 
required to expand the working gas capacity of its Seneca Lake natural gas storage facility by approximately 0.5 Bcf.  Inergy 
Midstream estimates the total capital cost of this expansion to be approximately $3.0 million.  Inergy Midstream has filed an 
application with the NYSDEC for the underground storage permit required to debrine and inject natural gas into the cavern.  
Upon receipt of the underground storage permit, Inergy Midstream will request FERC authorization to place the expansion 
capacity into natural gas storage service.  Inergy Midstream expects to place this expansion capacity into service in the second 
half of calendar 2013.  

North-South II Expansion and Extension

In September 2011, Inergy Midstream held a non-binding open season to gauge shipper interest in its North-South II expansion 
project, which involved the installation of pipeline, compression and other facilities to enable shippers to move higher volumes 
of natural gas on a firm basis through the Stagecoach laterals from TGP's 300 Line to Millennium, and all points in between.  
As part of this project, Inergy Midstream would (i) extend its Stagecoach north lateral approximately three miles to 
interconnect with the East Pipeline, which would enable shippers to transport volumes from TGP's 300 Line (as well as 
intermediate points, including Millennium) to the point of interconnection between the East Pipeline and Dominion's system in 
Tompkins County, New York, and (ii) expand the capacity of the Stagecoach laterals, by installing additional compression  or 
looping, to enable shippers to move higher volumes over the existing pipeline route of the North-South Facilities.  Inergy 
Midstream believes the market will desire additional transportation flexibility provided by this project and is continuing both its 
commercial discussions with potential shippers and its efforts to acquire the land rights necessary to complete the three-mile 
extension of the Stagecoach north lateral, although we can provide no assurances that this project will be placed into service.

Other Growth Projects

In May 2012, Inergy Midstream connected its Seneca Lake natural gas storage facility to Millennium.  Inergy Midstream 
installed this interconnection at a total capital cost of approximately $7.4 million.  This interconnection provides Inergy 
Midstream's storage customers with greater takeaway and delivery options, which it believes will translate into greater revenues 
from higher storage rates and increased wheeling services.

Inergy Midstream has identified existing salt caverns on US Salt's property that it believes can be converted into natural gas 
and NGL storage capacity.  This storage capacity is in addition to the caverns designated for NGL storage by the Watkins Glen 
NGL storage development project and the expansion of the Seneca Lake natural gas storage facility by approximately 0.5 Bcf.  
In the normal course of Inergy Midstream's business, it periodically reviews cavern information to assess whether caverns are 
potential candidates for natural gas or NGL storage conversion, evaluates whether market demand would support developing 
incremental storage services, and discusses storage opportunities with potential customers.  Inergy Midstream continues to 
believe the market will require additional natural gas and NGL storage capacity in the Northeast to help satisfy growing 
demand, and it believes its solution-mined caverns will be able to provide cost-effective solutions.

Our Services 

Storage and Transportation

Our Tres Palacios facility provides natural gas storage services on a firm and interruptible basis, and Inergy Midstream's 
facilities provide storage and transportation services on a firm (natural gas and NGL) and interruptible (natural gas only) basis.  
We and Inergy Midstream seek to maximize the portion of physical capacity sold in our respective storage facilities under firm 
contracts.  To the extent the physical capacity that is contracted for firm storage service is not being fully utilized, we attempt to 
sell the available capacity on an interruptible basis.  The terms and conditions of the agreements under which our Tres Palacios 
storage facility provides interstate storage services, as well as the agreements under which Inergy Midstream provides interstate 
storage and transportation service, to customers are governed by FERC tariffs.  The general terms and conditions of the tariffs 
address customary matters such as creditworthiness, extension and termination rights, force majeure, fuel reimbursement and 
capacity releases.  Non-conforming service agreements must be submitted to the FERC for approval.   

Firm Storage Services. Firm storage services include storage services pursuant to which customers receive an assured, or 
“firm,” right to store the commodity in facilities over a defined period, typically one to three years for the Tres Palacios firm 
storage contracts and three to five years for Inergy Midstream's natural gas firm storage contracts.  Under firm storage 
contracts, the storage owner receives fixed monthly capacity reservation fees regardless of whether or not the storage capacity 
is used.  The amount of the monthly reservation fees is typically determined by the number of cycles a customer can fill and 
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empty its contracted storage capacity.  The storage owner also typically collects a cycling fee based on the volume of natural 
gas nominated for injection and/or withdrawal, and retains a small portion of the gas nominated for injection as compensation 
for the owner's fuel use.  No-notice service, which is commonly referred to as load-following service, is a premium type of firm 
storage service that entitles natural gas shippers to priority service and provides additional nominating and balancing flexibility.  

Transportation Services.  Our Tres Palacios facility does not offer transportation services, whereas Inergy Midstream provides 
both interstate and intrastate transportation services.  Inergy Midstream's customers choose, based upon their particular needs, 
the applicable mix of services depending upon availability of pipeline capacity, the price of services and the volume and timing 
of the customer's requirements.  Firm transportation customers reserve a specific amount of pipeline capacity at specified 
receipt and delivery points on Inergy Midstream's system.  Firm customers generally pay fees based on the quantity of capacity 
reserved regardless of use, plus a commodity and a fuel charge paid on the volume of gas actually transported.  Capacity 
reservation revenues derived from a firm service contract are generally consistent during the contract term.  Inergy Midstream's 
firm transportation contracts generally range in term from five to ten years, although it may enter into shorter or longer term 
contracts.  In providing interruptible transportation service, it agrees to transport gas for a customer when capacity is available.  
Interruptible transportation service customers pay a commodity charge only for the volume of gas actually transported, plus a 
fuel charge.  Interruptible transportation agreements have terms ranging from day-to-day to multiple years, with rates that 
change on a daily, monthly or seasonal basis.

Inergy Midstream's interstate transportation services include firm wheeling services and firm and interruptible transportation 
services provided under its FERC tariffs.  CNYOG has entered into firm wheeling agreements with five shippers under which it 
is providing 325 MMcf/d of firm wheeling service to the North-South Facilities shippers at negotiated rates for an initial five-
year period.  CNYOG has entered into firm transportation agreements with four shippers under which it will, upon placement 
of the MARC I Pipeline into service, provide 450 MMcf/d of firm transportation service to the MARC I shippers at negotiated 
rates for an initial 10-year period.  The East Pipeline provides intrastate transportation services to NYSEG under a firm 
transportation service agreement approved by the NYPSC.  Under this 10-year contract agreement, Inergy Midstream makes 30 
MMcf/d of transportation capacity available to NYSEG on the East Pipeline for transporting natural gas from Dominion's 
system to NYSEG's city gates.  

Hub Services. With respect to our Tres Palacios storage operations and Inergy Midstream's natural gas storage and 
transportation operations, hub services include: (i) interruptible storage services, under which customers receive only limited 
assurances regarding the availability of capacity and deliverability in storage facilities and pay fees based on their actual 
utilization of the storage assets; (ii) firm and interruptible park and loan services, under which customers receive the right to 
store gas in (park), or borrow gas from (loan), storage facilities on a short-term or seasonal basis; (iii) interruptible wheeling 
services, under which customers pay fees for the limited right to move a volume of natural gas from one interconnection point 
through storage and redelivering the natural gas to another interconnection point; and (iv) balancing services, under which 
customers pay the storage owner fees to help balance and true up their deliveries of natural gas to, or takeaways of natural gas 
from, storage facilities.  
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The table below summarizes the storage and transportation services that our Tres Palacios facility and Inergy Midstream offer 
to natural gas customers under their FERC tariffs, as of September 30, 2012:

          
Facility

 (FERC-Certificated Operator)

Type of Service   
Category  of

 Service(1)   
Stagecoach
 (CNYOG)  

Thomas 
Corners
 (ASC)  

Seneca Lake
 (ASC)   

Steuben 
(Steuben Gas)(2)

Tres Palacios
(TPGS)

Firm Storage Service    Firm S/S            
Interruptible Storage Service    Hub            
No-Notice Storage Service    Firm S/S           
Firm Parking Service    Hub           
Interruptible Parking Service    Hub           
Firm Loan Service    Hub           
Interruptible Loan Service    Hub           
Firm Wheeling Service    Transport                   
Interruptible Wheeling Service    Hub            
Enhanced Interruptible Wheeling Service    Hub   
Firm Transportation Service(3)    Transport                
Interruptible Transportation Service    Transport                
Interruptible Hourly Balancing Service    Hub             

(1)  "Firm S/S" refers to firm storage services, "Hub" refers to hub services and "Transport" refers to transportation services
(2)  Pro forma for pending merger of Steuben Gas Storage with and into ASC.
(3)  Assumes the MARC I Pipeline is placed into service.

US Salt's products are manufactured for food, industrial, pharmaceutical and water conditioning applications.  US Salt produces 
evaporated salt products for customers according to customized specifications, and its product line includes food-grade salt, 
pharmaceutical-grade salt, bulk salt for chemical feedstock, water softening pellets, pool salt and salt blocks.  US Salt does not 
market and distribute products under its own brand.  When US Salt enters into long-term contracts, it attempts to secure 
minimum volumetric purchase requirements and other appropriate contractual protections.  US Salt has entered into a limited 
number of long-term contracts under which it has agreed to provide a fixed volume of product to the customer at certain times 
over the life of the contract, subject to standard contractual protections like force majeure rights.  

For the year ended September 30, 2012, approximately 30% of our gross profit was derived from our storage and transportation 
operations.  Excluding the retail propane operations that we disposed of on August 1, 2012, approximately 68% of our gross 
profit would have been derived from our storage and transportation operations for the year ended September 30, 2012.
 
NGL Marketing, Supply and Logistics

Our West Coast NGL operations separate NGLs from methane, deliver methane to the local natural gas pipelines, and retain 
NGLs for further processing at our fractionation facility.  The mixed NGLs delivered to our fractionation facility from domestic 
natural gas processing plants and crude oil refineries are normally transported by pipelines, railcars and transport trucks.  Our 
West Coast business also provides butane isomerization and refrigerated storage services.  Our isomerization facility 
chemically changes normal butane to isobutane, which we provide to area refineries for motor fuel blending.  

We provide a menu of marketing, supply and logistics services to producers, refiners, petrochemical companies, gas processors, 
and other NGL marketers, which effectively provide "flow assurance" to our customers.  These flow assurance services offer 
customers certainty that production and supply NGL volumes effectively flow without interruption and at attractive economic 
values.

For the year ended September 30, 2012, approximately 70% of our gross profit was derived from our NGL marketing, supply 
and logistics operations including the results of our retail propane operations that we disposed of on August 1, 2012.  Excluding 
the retail propane operations, approximately 32% of our gross profit would have been derived from our NGL marketing, supply 
and logistics operations for the year ended September 30, 2012.
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Our Customers 

Storage and Transportation 

Our Tres Palacios natural gas storage customers and Inergy Midstream's natural gas storage and transportation customers 
primarily include natural gas LDCs, electric generation companies, natural gas producers, other natural gas pipelines, and 
natural gas marketing companies.  Our Tres Palacios facility provides storage services, and Inergy Midstream provides storage 
and transportation services, in both natural gas supply and demand markets.  The customers of our Tres Palacios facility and 
Inergy Midstream's natural gas storage and transportation facilities are largely investment-grade customers.  Natural gas storage 
and transportation customers that are unrated or non-investment grade may be required to post credit support as authorized 
under the operating entity's FERC tariffs and policies to secure a portion of the customers' obligations.  

US Salt customers are largely creditworthy industrial companies, pharmaceutical companies, food manufacturing companies, 
and distribution companies, including retail companies such as national grocer chains.  

NGL Marketing, Supply and Logistics 

The majority of our NGL processing and fractionation activities entail processing mixed NGL streams for third-party customers 
and supporting our NGL marketing activities under contractual and fee-based arrangements.  These fees (typically calculated in 
cents per gallon) are subject to adjustment for changes in certain fractionation expenses, including natural gas fuel costs.  Our 
integrated midstream energy asset system affords us flexibility in meeting our customers' needs.  While many companies 
participate in the natural gas processing business, few have a presence in significant downstream activities, such as NGL 
fractionation, transportation and marketing, as we do.  Our competitive position and presence in these downstream businesses 
allow us to extract incremental value while offering our customers enhanced services, including comprehensive service 
packages.  

Industry Background 

The midstream sector of the natural gas industry provides the link between exploration and production and the delivery of 
natural gas and its components to end-use markets.  The midstream sector consists generally of gathering and processing, 
transportation and storage activities.  

Natural Gas Midstream Activities

The fundamentals of the natural gas market create a basic demand for storage.  Natural gas is produced at a relatively steady 
rate throughout the year so natural gas supply is relatively constant.  However, natural gas consumption is highly seasonal 
because the market consumes more natural gas in the winter than can be produced.  In contrast, more natural gas is produced in 
the summer than is consumed, which creates this fundamental need for storage.  Natural gas storage acts as the balancing 
mechanism between supply and demand.  

Natural gas storage plays a vital role in maintaining the reliability of natural gas supplies needed to meet consumer demands.  
Storage facilities are used by pipelines to balance operations, by end users (such as power generation companies and local gas 
distribution companies) to manage volatility and secure natural gas supplies, and by independent natural gas marketing and 
trading companies in connection with the execution of their trading strategies.  Storage allows for the warehousing of natural 
gas and is used to inject excess production during periods of low demand (typically, warmer summer months) and to withdraw 
natural gas during periods of high demand (typically, colder winter months). 

As is the case with natural gas storage, natural gas transportation pipelines play a vital role in ensuring gas supplies find a 
market (i.e., moving supply to demand).  Transportation pipelines receive natural gas from other mainline transportation 
pipelines and gathering systems and deliver the natural gas to industrial end-users, utilities and other pipelines.

A recent shift in supply sources, from conventional to unconventional, has affected the supply patterns, the flows and the rates 
that can be charged on pipeline systems.  The impacts will vary among pipelines according to the location and the number of 
competitors attached to these new supply sources.  These changing market dynamics are prompting midstream companies to 
evaluate the construction of short-haul pipelines as a means of providing demand markets with cost-effective access to newly-
developed production regions, as compared to relying on higher-cost, long-haul pipelines that were originally designed to 
transport natural gas greater distances across the country.
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Demand for natural gas storage can be negatively impacted during periods in which there is a narrow seasonal spread between 
current and future natural gas prices. The natural gas industry is currently experiencing a significant shift in the sources of 
supply with prolific new shale plays primarily, and this dramatic change could affect our operations.

NGL Midstream Activities

Natural gas produced at the wellhead typically contains methane and various NGLs.  Raw natural gas containing NGLs is 
generally not acceptable for transportation in the interstate pipeline system or for commercial use.  Processing plants extract the 
NGLs, leaving residual dry gas that meets interstate pipeline and commercial quality specifications.   NGL fractionation 
facilities separate mixed NGL streams into discrete products: propane, normal butane, isobutane and pentanes (sometimes 
referred to as natural gasoline).  NGL storage facilities store mixed NGLs and discrete NGL products parties in aboveground 
storage tanks or underground wells, which allow for the injection and withdrawal of such products at various times of the year 
to meet demand cycles.

Purity products (propane, normal butane, isobutane and natural gasoline) are normally used as raw materials by the 
petrochemical industry, feedstocks by refiners in the production of motor gasoline, and by industrial and residential users as 
fuel.  Propane is used both as a petrochemical feedstock in the production of propylene and as a heating, engine and industrial 
fuel.  Normal butane is used as a petrochemical feedstock in the production of butadiene (a key ingredient of synthetic rubber), 
as a blendstock for motor gasoline and to derive isobutane through isomerization.  Common uses of isobutane include 
blendstock in motor gasoline to enhance the octane content and in the production of propylene oxide. Natural gasoline, a 
mixture of pentanes and heavier hydrocarbons, is primarily used as a blendstock for motor gasoline, denaturant for ethanol and 
dilute for heavy crude oil.

Current industry dynamics are resulting in increased domestic drilling targeting NGLs, particularly in areas with 
unconventional reserves, creating the need for additional NGL infrastructure and services.  Factors contributing to this include 
(i) a strong crude oil and NGL price environment relative to current natural gas prices, with the price of West Texas 
Intermediate crude oil at $92.19/bbl, Henry Hub spot prices for natural gas at $3.06/MMBTU and composite NGL prices at 
$0.93/gallon each as of September 30, 2012; (ii) the continuation of oil and natural gas exploration and production innovation 
including geophysical interpretation, horizontal drilling and well completion techniques; (iii) a trend toward increased drilling 
in oil, condensate and NGL rich, or “liquids rich” reservoirs, especially resource plays; and (iv) increasing supply levels of 
mixed NGLs coupled with strong demand from petrochemical complexes and exports, which are leading to higher capacity 
utilization of NGL storage facilities. We believe these trends will continue to result in strong demand for the services provided 
by our NGL businesses.
 
Salt Activities 

According to the Salt Institute, a North American based non-profit salt industry trade association, more than 290 million metric 
tons of salt were produced in the world in calendar 2011.  Salt is generally categorized into four types based upon the method 
of production: evaporated salt, solar salt, rock salt and salt in brine.  Dry salt is produced through the following methods: 
solution mining and mechanical evaporation, solar evaporation or deep-shaft mining.  US Salt produces salt using solution 
mining and mechanical evaporation.  In solution mining, wells are drilled into salt beds or domes and then water is injected into 
the formation and circulated to dissolve the salt.  After salt is removed from a solution-mined salt deposit, the empty cavern can 
be used to store other substances, such as natural gas, NGLs or compressed air. 

The salt solution, or brine, is next pumped out of the cavern and taken to a processing plant for evaporation.  The brine may be 
treated to remove minerals and then pumped into vacuum pans in which the brine is boiled, and evaporated until a salt slurry is 
created.  The slurry is then dried and separated.  Depending on the type of salt product to be produced, iodine and an anti-
caking agent may be added to the salt.  Most food grade table salt is produced in this manner.

Regulation

The midstream operations of our company and Inergy Midstream are subject to extensive regulation by federal, state and local 
authorities.  The regulatory burden on these operations increases the cost of doing business and, in turn, affects profitability.  
We have experienced increased and more burdensome regulatory oversight over the past few years and, based on our 
expectation that this trend will continue for the foreseeable future, we anticipate that greater time and resources will be required 
to obtain the approvals necessary to acquire, develop, and construct midstream infrastructure.  We believe the regulatory 
environment for Inergy Midstream's projects located in the Northeast is particularly challenging, as public opposition to 
upstream oil and gas activities has increasingly influenced regulatory processes.  
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We believe our operations are in substantial compliance with existing federal, state, and local laws and regulations (including 
the laws and regulations described below), and that our on-going compliance with applicable law will not have a material 
adverse effect on our business or results of operations.  However, we can provide no assurance that the adoption of new laws 
and regulations will not add significant costs that could have a material adverse effect on our or Inergy Midstream's operations 
and financial results, or that our results from operations will not be materially and adversely impacted if regulations become 
more stringent in general.  Our inability to obtain or maintain any material permit required to operate or expand our projects, or 
the inability of Inergy Midstream to obtain or maintain any material permits required to operate or expand its projects, could 
have an adverse impact on our revenues. 

Natural Gas Storage and Transportation

Our natural gas storage operations, as well as the natural gas storage and transportation operations of Inergy Midstream, are 
subject to extensive federal and state regulation.  In particular, our Tres Palacios facility and Inergy Midstream's natural gas 
storage and transportation facilities are subject to regulation by the FERC, and natural gas pipelines (including storage lateral 
pipelines) are subject to regulation by the Department of Transportation's ("DOT") Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety 
Administration ("PHMSA").

Under the Natural Gas Act, the FERC has authority to regulate gas transportation services in interstate commerce, which 
includes natural gas storage services. The FERC exercises jurisdiction over rates charged for services and the terms and 
conditions of service; the certification and construction of new facilities; the extension or abandonment of services and 
facilities; the maintenance of accounts and records; the acquisition and disposition of facilities; standards of conduct between 
affiliated entities; and various other matters.  Regulated natural gas companies are prohibited from charging rates determined 
by the FERC to be unjust, unreasonable, or unduly discriminatory, and both the existing tariff rates and the proposed rates of 
regulated natural gas companies are subject to challenge.

The rates and terms and conditions of our natural gas storage services and Inergy Midstream's natural gas storage and 
transportation services are found in the FERC-approved tariffs of TPGS, the owner of the Tres Palacios facility; CNYOG, the 
owner of the Stagecoach facility, the North-South Facilities and the MARC I Pipeline; Steuben Gas Storage, the owner of the 
Steuben facility; and ASC, the owner of the Thomas Corners and Seneca Lake facilities.  TPGS, CNYOG and ASC are 
authorized to charge and collect market-based rates for storage services provided at the Tres Palacios, Stagecoach, Thomas 
Corners and Seneca Lake natural gas storage facilities, and CNYOG is authorized to charge and collect negotiated rates for 
transportation services provided by the North-South Facilities and MARC I Pipeline. Steuben Gas Storage is authorized to 
charge and collect cost-of-service rates at the Steuben facility.  Market-based and negotiated rate authority allows storage and 
transport owners to negotiate rates with individual customers based on market demand, which storage and transport owners 
then make public. A loss of market-based or negotiated rate authority or any successful complaint or protest against the rates 
charged or provided by TPGS, CNYOG or ASC could have an adverse impact on our revenues.

On December 20, 2011, we filed an application with the FERC (Docket No. CP12-36) requesting authority for the Copano 
header extension project.  On October 9, 2012, the FERC issued an Environmental Assessment for the project in which the 
FERC Staff has proposed a “finding of no significant impact”.  We expect to receive the requested authorization this year, and 
to complete the header extension project in calendar 2013.

On August 6, 2010, CNYOG filed an application with the FERC (Docket No. CP10-480) requesting authority to construct, 
operate and own the MARC I Pipeline.  On November 14, 2011, the FERC issued a certificate order granting the requested 
authorization. On February 13, 2012, the FERC issued an order denying or dismissing all requests for rehearing of the 
certificate order and a request for stay of that order.  

On February 14, 2012, certain of the parties seeking rehearing of the MARC I certificate order filed with the Second Circuit 
Court of Appeals an appeal and emergency motion for stay of the MARC I certificate.   A temporary stay was granted on 
February 17, 2012, which halted all construction-related activity on the Pipeline until a three-judge panel vacated the temporary 
stay on February 28, 2012.  In March, the Second Circuit granted the request for an expedited hearing briefing schedule for the 
MARC I certificate appeal.  On June 12, 2012, the appellate court held that the FERC properly discharged its responsibilities 
and summarily dismissed with prejudice petition challenging the MARC I certificate and rehearing orders.  

On May 21, 2012, Inergy Midstream filed applications with the FERC (Docket Nos. CP12-465 and CP12-466) requesting 
authority (i) to abandon the FERC tariff held by Steuben Gas Storage and (ii) for ASC to acquire the Steuben facility, via the 
merger of Steuben Gas Storage into ASC, and to charge marketed-based rates under ASC's tariff for services at the Steuben 
facility.  On October 11, 2012, the FERC issued an order granting the requested authorizations.  Effective April 1, 2013, ASC 
will have the ability to charge market-based rates for storage service provided by its Thomas Corners, Seneca Lake and Steuben 
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facilities and to provide wheeling services under one tariff (ASC's tariff).  Thomas Corners will also effectively be connected to 
Dominion, and Steuben will effectively be connected to TGP and Millennium, with respect to services offered under ASC's 
tariff.  These actions move Inergy Midstream closer toward its goal of developing and operating a fully-integrated natural gas 
storage and transportation hub in the Northeast.  

Pipelines used to store and transport natural gas are subject to regulation by PHMSA under the Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act 
of 1968 ("NGPSA"). The NGPSA regulates safety requirements in the design, installation, testing, construction, operation and 
maintenance of natural gas pipeline facilities. The NGPSA has since been amended by the Pipeline Safety Act of 1992, the 
Pipeline Safety Improvement Act of 2002, and the Pipeline Inspection, Protection, Enforcement, and Safety Act of 2006. These 
amendments, along with implementing regulations more recently adopted by PHMSA, have imposed additional safety 
requirements on pipeline operators such as the development of a written qualification program for individuals performing 
covered tasks on pipeline facilities and the implementation of pipeline integrity management programs. These integrity 
management plans require more frequent inspections and other preventative measures to ensure pipeline safety in “high 
consequence areas,” such as high population areas, areas unusually sensitive to environmental damage, and commercially 
navigable waterways. 

Notwithstanding the investigatory and preventative maintenance costs incurred performing routine pipeline management 
activities, we may incur significant expenses if anomalous pipeline conditions are discovered or due to the implementation of 
more stringent pipeline safety standards as a result of new or amended legislation.  For example, in January 2012, President 
Obama signed the Pipeline Safety, Regulatory Certainty, and Job Creation Act of 2011 (“Pipeline Safety Act”), which requires 
increased safety measures for gas and hazardous liquids transportation pipelines.  Among other things, the Pipeline Safety Act 
directs the Secretary of Transportation to promulgate rules or standards relating to expanded integrity management 
requirements, automatic or remote-controlled valve use, excess flow valve use, and leak detection system installation.  The 
Pipeline Safety Act also directs owners and operators of interstate and intrastate gas transmission pipelines to verify their 
records confirming the maximum allowable pressure of pipelines in certain class locations and high consequence areas,  
requires promulgation of regulations for conducting tests to confirm the material strength of pipe operating above 30% of 
specified minimum yield strength in high consequence areas, and increases the maximum penalty for violation of pipeline 
safety regulations from $1 million to $2 million. PHMSA is also considering changes to its natural gas transmission pipeline 
regulations to, among other things, expand the scope of "high consequence areas", strengthen integrity management 
requirements applicable to existing operators; strengthen or expand non-integrity pipeline management standards relating to 
such matters as valve spacing, automatic or remotely-controlled valves, corrosion protection, and gathering lines; and add new 
regulations to govern the safety of underground natural gas storage facilities including underground storage caverns and 
injection or withdrawal well piping that are not regulated today.  Inergy Midstream cannot predict the final outcome of these 
legislative or regulatory efforts or the precise impact that compliance with any resulting new requirements may have on its 
business.  

The natural gas operations of Tres Palacios and Inergy Midstream are also subject to non-rate regulation by various state 
agencies. For example, the Railroad Commission of Texas ("RRC") has jurisdiction over oil and gas wells drilled and produced, 
underground natural gas storage caverns and related facilities and pipelines used to transport oil and gas resources in Texas, and 
the NYSDEC has jurisdiction over the underground storage of natural gas and well drilling, conversion and plugging in New 
York.  Accordingly, the RRC regulates aspects of our Tres Palacios storage operations and the NYSDEC regulates aspects of 
the Stagecoach, Thomas Corners, Seneca Lake and Steuben storage facilities. 

IPE, as the owner and operator of Inergy Midstream's East Pipeline, is subject to lightened regulation under NYPSC regulations 
and policies. Lightened regulation generally exempts IPE from NYPSC regulation applicable to the provision of retail service.  
IPE remains subject to limited corporate (e.g., obtaining approval prior to any transfer of its ownership interests or the issuance 
of debt securities) and operational and safety (e.g., filing of vegetation management plan and annual reports detailing the gas 
volumes transported over the pipeline) regulation established and maintained by the NYPSC.

On September 15, 2011, IPE filed an application with the NYPSC (Docket No. 11-G-0510) requesting authority to pledge its 
equity interests in collateral support of, and to guarantee, up to $3 billion of our long-term indebtedness.  The application 
described that, upon completion of Inergy Midstream's initial public offering, the scope of the requested authorization would be 
limited to pledges and guarantees supporting up to $1.5 billion of long-term indebtedness of Inergy Midstream and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries. On December 15, 2011, the NYPSC issued an order granting the requested authorization.  
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NGL Storage and Transportation 

NGL storage operations are subject to federal, state and local regulatory oversight.  For example, the Indiana Department of 
Natural Resources ("INDNR") and the NYSDEC have jurisdiction over the underground storage of NGLs and well drilling, 
conversion and plugging in Indiana and New York, respectively.  Thus, the INDNR regulates aspects of our Seymour facility, 
and the NYSDEC regulates aspects of Inergy Midstream's Bath facility and its proposed Watkins Glen facility.   

In October 2009, Inergy Midstream filed an application with the NYSDEC for an underground storage permit for its Watkins 
Glen NGL storage facility.  In November 2010, the NYSDEC issued a Positive Declaration for the project.  In August 2011, the 
NYSDEC determined that the Draft Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement submitted for the project was complete.  A 
public hearing on the project was held in September 2011, and a second public hearing was held in November 2011.   In early 
2012, based on concerns expressed by interested stakeholders and conversations with NYSDEC Staff, Inergy Midstream 
informed the NYSDEC that it would reduce the environmental footprint and modified our brine pond design.  In September 
2012, Inergy Midstream submitted to the NYSDEC all final drawings and plans for the revised project design.  Inergy 
Midstream expects the NYSDEC to issue an underground storage permit early next year.  

Our transportation of NGLs and ammonia by truck is subject to regulations promulgated under the Federal Motor Carrier 
Safety Act.  These regulations cover the transportation of hazardous materials and are administered by the DOT.  We conduct 
ongoing training programs to help ensure that our operations are in compliance with application regulations, and we believe 
that our procedures for transporting NGLs and ammonia are consistent with industry standards and in compliance in all 
material respects with applicable law.

Salt Production 

US Salt's salt production and manufacturing business is highly regulated.  Under the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, the United 
States Food and Drug Administration regulates food and pharmaceutical standards applicable to salt products for human 
consumption and drug products.  The United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") administers regulations for 
emissions control under a Title V air permit, operation and control of solution mining operations, and stormwater pollution 
prevention for petroleum products.  The NYSDEC regulates the drilling and plugging of brine production wells, cooling/
process water intake, and wastewater and stormwater discharges.  The NYSDEC also administers regulations for bulk 
petroleum and chemical storage.  

Environmental, Health and Safety 

In addition, our operations and those of Inergy Midstream are subject to stringent federal, regional, state and local laws and 
regulations governing the discharge and emission of pollutants into the environment, environmental protection, or occupational 
health and safety.  These laws and regulations may impose significant obligations on our operations, including the need to obtain 
permits to conduct regulated activities; restrict the types, quantities and concentration of materials that can be released into the 
environment; apply workplace health and safety standards for the benefit of employees; require remedial activities or corrective 
actions to mitigate pollution from former or current operations; and impose substantial liabilities on us for pollution resulting from 
our operations.  Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may result in the assessment of sanctions, including 
administrative, civil and criminal penalties; the imposition of investigatory, remedial and corrective action obligations or the 
incurrence of capital expenditures; the occurrence of delays in the development of projects; and the issuance of injunctions 
restricting or prohibiting some or all of the activities in a particular area.

The following is a summary of the more significant existing environmental laws and regulations, each as amended from time to 
time, to which our business operations are subject:

• The federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, a remedial statute that 
imposes strict liability on generators, transporters and arrangers of hazardous substances at sites where hazardous 
substance releases have occurred or are threatening to occur;

• The federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, which governs the treatment, storage and disposal of solid wastes, 
including hazardous wastes;

• The federal Clean Air Act, which restricts the emission of air pollutants from many sources and imposes various pre-
construction, monitoring and reporting requirements;
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• The federal Water Pollution Control Act, also known as the federal Clean Water Act, which regulates discharges of 
pollutants from facilities to state and federal waters;

• The federal Safe Drinking Water Act, which ensures the quality of the nation's public drinking water through adoption 
of drinking water standards and controlling the injection of substances into below-ground formations that may adversely 
affect drinking water sources; 

• The National Environmental Policy Act, which requires federal agencies to evaluate major agency actions having the 
potential to significantly impact the environment and which may require the preparation of Environmental Assessments 
and more detailed Environmental Impact Statements that may be made available for public review and comment;

• The federal Endangered Species Act, which restricts activities that may affect federally identified endangered and 
threatened species or their habitats through the implementation of operating restrictions or a temporary, seasonal, or 
permanent ban in affected areas; and

• The federal Occupational Safety and Health Act, which establishes workplace standards for the protection of the health 
and safety of employees, including the implementation of hazard communications programs designed to inform employees 
about hazardous substances in the workplace, potential harmful effects of these substances, and appropriate control 
measures.

Certain of these environmental laws impose strict, joint and several liability for costs required to clean up and restore properties 
where pollutants have been released regardless of whom may have caused the harm or whether the activity was performed in 
compliance with all applicable laws.  In the course of our operations, generated materials or wastes may have been spilled or 
released from properties owned or leased by us or on or under other locations where these materials or wastes have been taken 
for recycling or disposal. In addition, many of the properties owned or leased by us were previously operated by third parties 
whose management, disposal or release of materials and wastes was not under our control. Accordingly, we may be liable for 
the costs of cleaning up or remediating contamination arising out of our operations or as a result of activities by others who 
previously occupied or operated on properties now owned or leased by us. Private parties, including the owners of properties 
that we lease and facilities where our materials or wastes are taken for recycling or disposal, may also have the right to pursue 
legal actions to enforce compliance as well as to seek damages for non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations or 
for personal injury or property or natural resource damages. We may not be able to recover some or any of these additional 
costs from insurance.

We have not received any notices that we have violated these environmental laws and regulations in any material respect and 
we have not otherwise incurred any material liability or capital expenditures thereunder.  Future developments, such as stricter 
environmental laws or regulations, or more stringent enforcement of existing requirements could affect our operations.  For 
instance, the EPA and other federal and state agencies are considering or have already commenced the study of potential 
adverse impacts that certain drilling methods (including hydraulic fracturing) may have on water quality and public health, with 
the U.S. Department of Energy having released a report recommending the implementation of a variety of measures to reduce 
the environmental impacts from shale-gas production.  Similarly, Congress and several states, including New York and 
Pennsylvania, have proposed or enacted legislation or regulations that are expected to make it more difficult or costly for 
exploration and production companies to produce natural gas and NGLs.  These initiatives, enactments and regulations could 
have an indirect adverse impact on us by decreasing demand for the storage and transportation services that we offer.

In addition, federal and state occupational safety and health laws require us to organize information about materials, some of 
which may be hazardous or toxic, that are used, released, or produced in the course of our operations. Certain portions of this 
information must be provided to employees, state and local governmental authorities and responders, and local citizens in 
accordance with applicable federal and state Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act requirements.  Our 
operations are also subject to the safety hazard communication requirements and reporting obligations set forth in federal 
workplace standards.

Competition

The principal elements of competition among our Tres Palacios facility and Inergy Midstream's storage and transportation assets 
are rates, terms of service, types of service, supply and market access, and flexibility and reliability of service. An increase in 
competition in our markets or Inergy Midstream's markets could arise from new ventures or expanded operations from existing 
competitors. 
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Principal competitors in the natural gas storage market include other independent storage providers and major natural gas pipelines. 
These major pipeline natural gas transmission companies have existing storage facilities connected to their systems that compete 
with our Tres Palacios facility and Inergy Midstream's facilities. The FERC has adopted a policy that favors authorization of new 
storage projects, and there are numerous natural gas storage options in Tres Palacios' geographic market and Inergy Midstream's 
geographic market. Pending and future construction projects, if and when brought on line, may also compete with our natural gas 
storage operations and Inergy Midstream's natural gas storage operations. These projects may include FERC-certificated storage 
expansions and greenfield construction projects. 

Inergy Midstream's primary competitors in the NGL storage business include integrated major oil companies, refiners and 
processors, and other pipeline and storage companies. 

Our NGL marketing, supply and logistics business encounters competition from fully integrated oil companies and independent 
NGL marketing companies.  Our competitors have varying levels of financial and personnel resources, and competition generally 
revolves around price, service and location.  

Our salt operations compete for customers primarily based on price and service. Because transportation costs are a material 
component of the costs our customers pay, most of our customers are geographically located east of the Mississippi River.

Employees

As of October 31, 2012, we had 653 full time employees. Of the 653 employees, 117 were general and administrative and 536 
were operational.   As of October 31, 2012, US Salt had 140 employees, 105 of which are members of a labor union. We 
believe that our relationship with our employees (including union labor) is satisfactory.  

Available Information

Our website is located at www.inergylp.com.  We make available, free of charge, on or through our website our annual reports 
on Form 10-K, which include our audited financial statements, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K 
and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as we 
electronically file such material with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). These documents are also available, 
free of charge, at the SEC's website at www.sec.gov.  In addition, copies of these documents, excluding exhibits, may be 
requested at no cost by contacting Investor Relations, Inergy, L.P., Two Brush Creek Boulevard, Suite 200, Kansas City, 
Missouri, 64112, and our corporate telephone number is (816) 842-8181.

We also make available within the “Corporate Governance” section of our website our corporate governance guidelines, the 
charter of our Audit Committee and our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.  Requests for copies may be directed in writing 
to: Inergy, L.P., Two Brush Creek Boulevard, Suite 200, Kansas City, Missouri, 64112, Attention: General Counsel.  Interested 
parties may contact the chairperson of any of our Board committees, our Board's independent directors as a group or our full 
Board in writing by mail to Inergy, L.P., Two Brush Creek Boulevard, Suite 200, Kansas City, Missouri, 64112, Attention: 
General Counsel.  All such communications will be delivered to the director or directors to whom they are addressed.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Risks Inherent in Our Structure and Relationship with Inergy Midstream

Our primary cash-generating assets are our partnership interests, including incentive distribution rights, in Inergy 
Midstream, and our cash flow is therefore materially dependent upon the ability of Inergy Midstream to make distributions 
in respect to those partnership interests to its partners.

The amount of cash that Inergy Midstream can distribute to its partners each quarter, including us, principally depends upon the 
amount of cash Inergy Midstream generates from its operations, which amounts of cash may fluctuate from quarter to quarter 
based on, among other things:

• the rates Inergy Midstream charges for storage and transportation services and the amount of services  their 
customers purchase from Inergy Midstream, which will be affected by, among other things, the overall balance 
between the supply of and demand for natural gas, governmental regulation of Inergy Midstream's rates and 
services, and Inergy Midstream's ability to obtain permits for growth projects;
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• force majeure events that damage Inergy Midstream or third-party pipelines, facilities, related equipment and 
surrounding properties;

• prevailing economic and market conditions;
• governmental regulation, including changes in governmental regulation in our industry; 
• leaks or accidental releases of products or other materials into the environment, whether as a result of human error 

or otherwise; 
• difficulties in collecting receivables because of customers' credit or financial problems; and
• changes in tax laws.

In addition, the actual amount of cash Inergy Midstream will have available for distribution will depend on other factors, some 
of which are beyond its control, including: the level and timing of capital expenditures it makes; the cost of acquisitions; its 
debt service requirements and other liabilities; fluctuations in its working capital needs; its ability to borrow funds and access 
capital markets; restrictions contained in its debt agreements; and the amount of cash reserves established by its general partner.

We do not have control over many of these factors, including the level of cash reserves established by the board of directors 
and Inergy Midstream's general partner. Accordingly, we cannot guarantee that Inergy Midstream will have sufficient available 
cash to pay a specific level of cash distributions to its partners.

If Inergy Midstream reduced its per unit distribution, we would have less cash available for distribution and would probably be 
required to reduce our per unit distribution. Furthermore, the amount of cash that Inergy Midstream has available for 
distribution depends primarily upon its cash flow, including cash flow from financial reserves and working capital borrowings, 
and is not solely a function of profitability, which will be affected by non-cash items. As a result, Inergy Midstream may be 
able to make cash distributions during periods when it records losses and may not be able to make cash distributions during 
periods when Inergy Midstream records net income.

To the extent we purchase additional units from Inergy Midstream, our rate of growth may be reduced.

Our business strategy may include supporting the growth of Inergy Midstream by purchasing its securities or lending funds to 
Inergy Midstream to provide funding for acquisitions or internal growth projects. To the extent we purchase common units, the 
rate of our distribution growth may be reduced, at least in the short term, as less of our cash distributions will come from our 
ownership of Inergy Midstream's IDRs, which distributions increase at a faster rate than those of our other securities.

We could have an indemnification obligation to Inergy Midstream, which could materially adversely affect our financial 
condition.

We have entered into an omnibus agreement with Inergy Midstream and its general partner that governs certain aspects of our 
relationship with them.  Pursuant to the omnibus agreement, we are generally obligated to indemnify Inergy Midstream and its 
affiliates against certain environmental liabilities and liabilities of the assets of the operations of Inergy Midstream prior to 
December 21, 2011.  See “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions-Omnibus Agreement.” Our indemnification 
obligations under the omnibus agreement could result in substantial expenses and liabilities to Inergy Midstream, which could 
materially adversely affect our financial condition.  For example, we may be required to indemnify Inergy Midstream in 
connection with the Anadarko litigation. See “Item 3 - Legal Proceedings.” 

Unitholders have less ability to elect or remove management than holders of common stock in a corporation.

Unlike the holders of common stock in a corporation, unitholders have only limited voting rights on matters affecting our 
business, and therefore limited ability to influence management's decisions regarding our business. Unitholders did not elect, 
and do not have the right to elect, our general partner or its board of directors on an annual or other continuing basis. The board 
of directors of our general partner is chosen by the sole member of our general partner, Inergy Holdings, L.P. John J. Sherman, 
who currently is the only voting member of the general partner of Inergy Holdings, effectively has the authority to appoint all 
of our directors. Although our general partner has a fiduciary duty to manage our partnership in a manner beneficial to Inergy, 
L.P. and our unitholders, the directors of our general partner also have a fiduciary duty to manage our general partner in a 
manner beneficial to its member, Inergy Holdings, L.P.

If unitholders are dissatisfied with the performance of our general partner, they will have little ability to remove our general 
partner. Our general partner generally may not be removed except upon the vote of the holders of 66 2/3% of the outstanding 
units voting together as a single class.

Table of Contents



18

Our unitholders' voting rights are further restricted by a provision in our partnership agreement providing that any units held by 
a person that owns 20% or more of any class of units then outstanding, other than our general partners and their affiliates, 
cannot be voted on any matter.

The control of our general partner may be transferred to a third party without unitholder consent.

Our general partner may transfer its general partner interest to a third party in a merger or in a sale of all or substantially all of 
its assets without the consent of our unitholders. Furthermore, there is no restriction in our partnership agreement on the ability 
of the owner of our general partner, Inergy Holdings, L.P., from transferring its ownership interest in our general partner to a 
third party. The new owner of our general partner would then be in a position to replace the board of directors and officers of 
our general partner with its own choices and to control the decisions taken by our board of directors and officers.

Cost reimbursements due our general partner may be substantial and reduce our ability to pay the quarterly distribution.

Before making any distributions on our units, we will reimburse our general partner for all expenses it has incurred on our 
behalf. In addition, our general partner and its affiliates may provide us with services for which we will be charged reasonable 
fees as determined by our general partner. The reimbursement of these expenses and the payment of these fees could adversely 
affect our ability to make distributions to you. Our general partner has sole discretion to determine the amount of these 
expenses and fees.

We may issue additional common units without unitholder approval, which would dilute our unitholders' existing ownership 
interests.

We may issue an unlimited number of limited partner interests of any type without the approval of unitholders. The issuance of 
additional common units or other equity securities of equal rank will have the following effects:

• the proportionate ownership interest of our existing unitholders in us will decrease;
• the amount of cash available for distribution on each common unit or partnership security may decrease;
• the relative voting strength of each previously outstanding common unit will be diminished; and
• the market price of the common units or partnership securities may decline.

Future sales of the Inergy Midstream common units we own or other limited partner interests in the public market could 
reduce the market price of our unitholders' limited partner interests.

As of September 30, 2012, we owned approximately 56.4 million common units of Inergy Midstream. If we were to sell and/or 
distribute our Inergy Midstream common units to the holders of our equity interests in the future, those holders may dispose of 
some or all of these units. The sale or disposition of a substantial portion of these units in the public markets could reduce the 
market price of Inergy Midstream's outstanding common units and our receipt of cash distributions.

Inergy Midstream may issue additional common units, which may increase the risk that it will not have sufficient available 
cash to maintain or increase its per unit distribution level.

The Inergy Midstream partnership agreement allows it to issue an unlimited number of additional limited partner interests. The 
issuance of additional common units or other equity securities by Inergy Midstream will have the following effects:
  

• Our unitholders' current proportionate ownership interest in Inergy Midstream will decrease; 
• the amount of cash available for distribution on each common unit or partnership security may decrease; 
• the ratio of taxable income to distributions may increase; 
• the relative voting strength of each previously outstanding common unit may be diminished; and 
• the market price of Inergy Midstream's common units may decline. 

The payment of distributions on any additional units issued by Inergy Midstream may increase the risk that Inergy Midstream 
may not have sufficient cash available to maintain or increase its per unit distribution level, which in turn may impact the 
available cash that we have to meet our obligations.
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If we cease to manage and control Inergy Midstream in the future, we may be deemed to be an investment company under 
the Investment Company Act of 1940.

If we cease to manage and control Inergy Midstream and are deemed to be an investment company under the Investment 
Company Act of 1940 (the “Investment Company Act”) we would either have to register as an investment company under the 
Investment Company Act, obtain exemptive relief from the Securities and Exchange Commission or modify our organizational 
structure or our contract rights to fall outside the definition of an investment company. Registering as an investment company 
could, among other things, materially limit our ability to engage in transactions with affiliates, including the purchase and sale 
of certain securities or other property to or from our affiliates, restrict our ability to borrow funds or engage in other 
transactions involving leverage and require us to add additional directors who are independent of us or our affiliates.

Moreover, treatment of us as an investment company would prevent our qualification as a partnership for federal income tax 
purposes, in which case we would be treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes. For further discussion of the 
importance of our treatment as a partnership for federal income tax purposes and the implications that would result from our 
treatment as a corporation in any taxable year, please read the risk factor below entitled “The tax treatment of publicly traded 
partnerships is subject to potential legislative, judicial or administrative changes.  If we or Inergy Midstream were treated as a 
corporation for federal income tax purposes, or if we or Inergy Midstream were to become subject to a material amount of state 
or local taxation, then our cash available for distribution to our unitholders would be substantially reduced.

In the event of a change of control, we may be obligated to transfer control of our general partner interest in Inergy 
Midstream to an affiliate. 
 
We and the general partner of Inergy Holdings (“Holdings GP”) have entered into an agreement under which Holdings GP will 
be required to purchase the entity that controls the general partner of Inergy Midstream in the event that (i) a change of control 
of our partnership occurs at a time when we are entitled to receive less than 50% of all cash distributed with respect to our 
limited partner interests and incentive distribution rights or (ii) through dilution or a distribution to our common unitholders of 
our interests in Inergy Midstream, we are entitled to receive less than 25% of all cash distributed with respect to our limited 
partner interests and incentive distribution rights. Please read “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions-NRGM 
GP, LLC Change of Control Event.”

Although we control Inergy Midstream through our ownership of its general partner, Inergy Midstream's general partner 
owes fiduciary duties to Inergy Midstreams's unitholders, which may conflict with our interests.

Conflicts of interest exist and may arise in the future as a result of the relationships between us and our affiliates, on the one 
hand, and Inergy Midstream and its limited partners, on the other hand. The directors and officers of Inergy Midstream's 
general partner have fiduciary duties to manage Inergy Midstream in a manner beneficial to us.  At the same time, the general 
partner has fiduciary duties to manage Inergy Midstream in a manner beneficial to Inergy Midstream and its limited partners. 
The board of directors of Inergy Midstream's general partner will resolve any such conflict and has broad latitude to consider 
the interests of all parties to the conflict. The resolution of these conflicts may not always be in our best interest.

For example, conflicts of interest with Inergy Midstream may arise in the following situations:
 

• the allocation of shared overhead expenses to Inergy Midstream and us;
• the interpretation and enforcement of contractual obligations between us and our affiliates, on the one hand, and Inergy 

Midstream, on the other hand;
• the determination of the amount of cash to be distributed to Inergy Midstream's partners and the amount of cash to be 

reserved for the future conduct of Inergy Midstream's business;
• the determination whether to make borrowings under Inergy Midstream's revolving credit facility to pay distributions to 

Inergy Midstream's partners; and
• any decision we make in the future to engage in business activities independent of Inergy Midstream.

The fiduciary duties of our general partner's officers and directors may conflict with those of Inergy Midstream's general 
partners.

Conflicts of interest may arise because of the relationships among Inergy Midstream, its general partner and us. Our general 
partner's directors and officers have fiduciary duties to manage our business in a manner beneficial to us and our unitholders. 
Some of our general partner's directors and officers are also directors and officers of Inergy Midstream's general partner, and 
have fiduciary duties to manage the business of Inergy Midstream in a manner beneficial to Inergy Midstream and its 
unitholders. The resolution of these conflicts may not always be in our best interest or that of our unitholders.
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Affiliates of our general partner are not prohibited from competing with us.

Our partnership agreement provides that our general partner will be restricted from engaging in any business activities other 
than acting as our general partner and those activities incidental to its ownership of interests in us. Except as provided in our 
partnership agreement, affiliates of our general partner are not prohibited from engaging in other businesses or activities, 
including those that might be in direct competition with us.

Potential conflicts of interest may arise among our general partner, its affiliates and us. Our general partner and its 
affiliates have limited fiduciary duties to us, which may permit them to favor their own interests to the detriment of us.

Conflicts of interest may arise among our general partner and its affiliates, on the one hand, and us, on the other hand. As a 
result of these conflicts, our general partner may favor its own interests and the interests of its affiliates over our interests. 
These conflicts include, among others, the following:
 

• Our general partner is allowed to take into account the interests of parties other than us, including Inergy Midstream and 
its affiliates and any general partner and limited partnerships acquired in the future, in resolving conflicts of interest, 
which has the effect of limiting its fiduciary duties to us.
 

• Our general partner has limited its liability and reduced its fiduciary duties under the terms of our partnership agreement, 
while also restricting the remedies available for actions that, without these limitations, might constitute breaches of 
fiduciary duty. As a result of purchasing our units, unitholders consent to various actions and conflicts of interest that 
might otherwise constitute a breach of fiduciary or other duties under applicable state law.

• Our general partner determines the amount and timing of our investment transactions, borrowings, issuances of additional 
partnership securities and reserves, each of which can affect the amount of cash that is available for distribution.

• Our general partner determines which costs it and its affiliates have incurred are reimbursable by us.

• Our partnership agreement does not restrict our general partner from causing us to pay it or its affiliates for any services 
rendered, or from entering into additional contractual arrangements with any of these entities on our behalf, so long as 
the terms of any such payments or additional contractual arrangements are fair and reasonable to us.

• Our general partner controls the enforcement of obligations owed to us by it and its affiliates.

• Our general partner decides whether to retain separate counsel, accountants or others to perform services for us.

Our partnership agreement limits our general partner's fiduciary duties to us and restricts the remedies available for actions 
taken by our general partner that might otherwise constitute breaches of fiduciary duty.

Our partnership agreement contains provisions that reduce the standards to which our general partner would otherwise be held 
by state fiduciary duty law. For example, our partnership agreement:

• provides that our general partner is entitled to make other decisions in “good faith” if it reasonably believes that the 
decisions are in our best interests;

• generally provides that affiliated transactions and resolutions of conflicts of interest not approved by the Conflicts 
Committee of the board of directors of our general partner and not involving a vote of unitholders must be on terms no 
less favorable to us than those generally being provided to or available from unrelated third parties or be “fair and 
reasonable” to us and that, in determining whether a transaction or resolution is “fair and reasonable,” our general partner 
may consider the totality of the relationships among the parties involved, including other transactions that may be 
particularly advantageous or beneficial to us; and
 

• provides that our general partner and its officers and directors will not be liable for monetary damages to us, our limited 
partners or assignees for any acts or omissions unless there has been a final and non-appealable judgment entered by a 
court of competent jurisdiction determining that the general partner or those other persons acted in bad faith or engaged 
in fraud, willful misconduct or gross negligence.
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Our general partner has a limited call right that may require unitholders to sell their units at an undesirable time or price.

If at any time our general partner and its affiliates own more than 85% of our outstanding units, our general partner will have 
the right, but not the obligation, which it may assign to any of its affiliates or to us, to acquire all, but not less than all, of the 
units held by unaffiliated persons at a price not less than their then-current market price. As a result, unitholders may be 
required to sell their units at an undesirable time or price and may not receive any return on their investment. Unitholders may 
also incur a tax liability upon a sale of their units. As of September 30, 2012, the directors and executive officers of our general 
partner owned less than 1% of our common units.

Our cash distribution policy limits our ability to grow.

Because we distribute all of our available cash, our growth may not be as rapid as businesses that reinvest their available cash 
to expand ongoing operations. If we issue additional units or incur debt to fund acquisitions and growth capital expenditures, 
the payment of distributions on those additional units or interest on that debt could increase the risk that we will be unable to 
maintain or increase our per unit distribution level.

Risks Inherent in Our Business and Inergy Midstream's Business 

Unless otherwise indicated, the risk factors in this section apply to our operations and Inergy Midstream's operations.

The supply and demand for natural gas could be adversely affected by many factors outside of our control which could 
negatively affect us. 

Our success depends on the supply and demand for natural gas.  The degree to which our business is impacted by changes in 
supply or demand varies.  Our business can be negatively impacted by sustained downturns in supply and demand for natural 
gas, including reductions in our ability to renew contracts on favorable terms and to construct new infrastructure.  One of the 
major factors that will impact natural gas demand will be the potential growth of the demand for natural gas in the power 
generation market, particularly driven by the speed and level of existing coal-fired power generation that is replaced with 
natural gas-fired power generation.  One of the major factors impacting natural gas supplies has been the significant growth in 
unconventional sources such as shale plays.  In addition, the supply and demand for natural gas for our business will depend on 
many other factors outside of our control, which include, among others: 

• adverse changes in general global economic conditions.  The level and speed of the recovery from the recent recession 
remains uncertain and could impact the supply and demand for natural gas and our future rate of growth in our 
business;

• adverse changes in domestic regulations that could impact the supply or demand for natural gas;
• technological advancements that may drive further increases in production and reduction in costs of developing 

natural gas shales;
• competition from imported LNG and Canadian supplies and alternate fuels;
• increased prices of natural gas or NGLs that could negatively impact demand for these products;
• increased costs to explore for, develop, produce, gather, process and transport natural gas or NGLs;
• adoption of various energy efficiency and conservation measures; and
• perceptions of customers on the availability and price volatility of our services, particularly customers' perceptions on 

the volatility of natural gas prices over the longer-term.

If volatility and seasonality in the natural gas industry decrease, because of increased production capacity or otherwise, the 
demand for our services and the prices that we will be able to charge for those services may decline.  In addition to volatility 
and seasonality, an extended period of high natural gas prices would increase the cost of acquiring base gas and likely place 
upward pressure on the costs of associated expansion activities.  An extended period of low natural gas prices could adversely 
impact storage values for some period of time until market conditions adjust.   These commodity price impacts could have a 
negative impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
 
If we do not complete growth projects or make acquisitions, our future growth may be limited.
 
Our business strategy depends on Inergy Midstream's ability to grow cash available for distribution and our ability to grow our 
existing businesses.  Inergy Midstream's business strategy depends on its ability to complete growth projects and make 
acquisitions that result in an increase in cash generated from operations on a per unit basis (i.e., complete accretive 
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transactions).  We or Inergy Midstream may be unable to complete successful, accretive growth projects or acquisitions for any 
of the following reasons:
 

• a failure to identify attractive expansion or development projects or acquisition candidates that satisfy acceptable 
economic and other criteria, or an inability to realize such opportunities as a result of being outbid by competitors;

• a failure to raise financing for such projects or acquisitions on economically acceptable terms;
• a failure to secure adequate customer commitments to use the facilities to be developed, expanded or acquired; or
• a failure to obtain governmental approvals or other rights, licenses or consents needed to complete such projects or 

acquisitions. 

Our and Inergy Midstream's operations are subject to extensive regulation, and regulatory measures adopted by regulatory 
authorities could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
 
Our and Inergy Midstream's operations are subject to extensive regulation by federal, state and local regulatory authorities.  For 
example, because we transport natural gas in interstate commerce and we store natural gas that is transported in interstate 
commerce, our natural gas storage and transportation facilities are subject to comprehensive regulation by the FERC under the 
Natural Gas Act. Federal regulation under the Natural Gas Act extends to such matters as:
 

• rates, operating terms and conditions of service;
• the form of tariffs governing service;
• the types of services we may offer to our customers; 
• the certification and construction of new, or the expansion of existing, facilities;
• the acquisition, extension, disposition or abandonment of facilities; 
• contracts for service between storage and transportation providers and their customers; 
• creditworthiness and credit support requirements; 
• the maintenance of accounts and records;
• relationships among affiliated companies involved in certain aspects of the natural gas business;
• the initiation and discontinuation of services; and 
• various other matters.

 
Natural gas companies may not charge rates that, upon review by FERC, are found to be unjust and unreasonable or unduly 
discriminatory.  Existing interstate transportation and storage rates may be challenged by complaint and are subject to 
prospective change by FERC.  Additionally, rate increases proposed by a regulated pipeline or storage provider may be 
challenged and such increases may ultimately be rejected by FERC.  We currently hold authority from FERC to charge and 
collect market-based rates for interstate storage services provided at our Tres Palacios facility.  Inergy Midstream currently 
holds authority from FERC to charge and collect (i) market-based rates for interstate storage services provided at the 
Stagecoach, Thomas Corners and Seneca Lake facilities and (ii) negotiated rates for interstate transportation services provided 
over the North-South Facilities and the MARC I Pipeline.  FERC's “market-based rate” policy allows regulated entities to 
charge rates different from, and in some cases, less than, those which would be permitted under traditional cost-of-service 
regulation. Among the sorts of changes in circumstances that could raise market power concerns would be an expansion of 
capacity, acquisitions or other changes in market dynamics. There can be no guarantee that we will be allowed to continue to 
operate under such rate structures for the remainder of those assets' operating lives. Any successful challenge against rates 
charged for our storage and transportation services, or our loss of market-based rate authority or negotiated rate authority, could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and ability to make distributions. Our 
market-based rate authority for our natural gas storage facilities may be subject to review and possible revocation if FERC 
determines that we have the ability to exercise market power in our market area. If we were to lose our ability to charge market-
based rates, we would be required to file rates based on our cost of providing service, including a reasonable rate of return. 
Cost-of-service rates may be lower than our current market-based rates.
 
There can be no assurance that FERC will continue to pursue its approach of pro-competitive policies as it considers matters 
such as pipeline rates and rules and policies that may affect rights of access to natural gas transportation capacity and 
transportation and storage facilities. Failure to comply with applicable regulations under the Natural Gas Act, the Natural Gas 
Policy Act of 1978, the Pipeline Safety Act of 1968 and certain other laws, and with implementing regulations associated with 
these laws, could result in the imposition of administrative and criminal remedies and civil penalties of up to $1,000,000 per 
day, per violation.
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We may not be able to renew or replace expiring contracts.
 
Our primary exposure to market risk occurs at the time our existing contracts expire and are subject to renegotiation and 
renewal. As of September 30, 2012, the weighted average remaining tenor of our and Inergy Midstream's existing portfolio of 
firm storage contracts are approximately 1.2 and 3.4 years, respectively.  Customer contracts for 11 Bcf of natural gas firm 
storage service will expire at our Tres Palacios facility in fiscal 2013, and customer contracts for 5.2 Bcf of natural gas firm 
storage service will expire at Inergy Midstream's facilities in fiscal 2013.  The extension or replacement of existing contracts 
depends on a number of factors beyond our control, including:
 

• the macroeconomic factors affecting natural gas and NGL storage economics for our current and potential customers;
• the level of existing and new competition to provide services to our markets;
• the balance of supply and demand, on a short-term, seasonal and long-term basis, in our markets;
• the extent to which the customers in our markets are willing to contract on a long-term basis; and
• the effects of federal, state or local regulations on the contracting practices of our customers.

Any failure to extend or replace a significant portion of our existing contracts, or extending or replacing them at unfavorable or 
lower rates, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and ability to make 
distributions.  

We depend on third-party pipelines connected to our storage facilities and pipelines, and we could be negatively impacted by 
circumstances beyond our control that temporarily or permanently interrupt the operation of such third-party pipelines.
 
We depend on the continued operation of third-party pipelines that provide delivery options to and from our storage facilities, 
and to which our transportation pipelines are connected.  For example, Inergy Midstream's Stagecoach facility depends on 
TGP's 300 Line and Millennium, currently the only interstate pipelines to which it is directly interconnected. These pipelines 
are owned by parties not affiliated with us.  Any temporary or permanent interruption at any key pipeline or other interconnect 
point with our storage facilities that causes a material reduction in the volume of storage or transportation services provided by 
us could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and ability to make 
distributions.
 
In addition, the rates charged by the interconnected pipelines for transportation to and from our facilities and pipelines affect 
the utilization and value of our services. Significant changes in the rates charged by these pipelines or the rates charged by 
other pipelines with which the interconnected pipelines compete could also have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, results of operations and ability to make distributions.
 
Expanding our business by developing new midstream assets subjects us to risks.
 
Our growth projects are an integral part of our business strategy.  The development and construction of storage facilities, 
pipelines, and truck/rail terminals involves numerous regulatory, environmental, political and legal uncertainties beyond our 
control and may require the expenditure of significant amounts of capital.  When we undertake these projects, they may not be 
completed on schedule, at the budgeted cost or at all.  Moreover, our revenues may not increase immediately upon the 
expenditure of funds on a particular project.  For instance, if we build a new midstream asset, the construction will occur over 
an extended period of time, and we will not receive material increases in revenues until the project is placed in service. 
Moreover, we may construct facilities to capture anticipated future growth in production and/or demand in a region in which 
such growth does not materialize.  As a result, new facilities may not be able to attract enough throughput to achieve our 
expected investment return, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and ability to 
make distributions.  
 
Certain of our growth projects must receive regulatory approval from federal and state authorities prior to construction, such as 
Inergy Midstream's Watkins Glen NGL storage development project.  The approval process for storage and transportation 
projects has become increasingly challenging.  We cannot guarantee such authorization will be granted or, if granted, that such 
authorization will be free of burdensome or expensive conditions.
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Acquisitions or growth projects that we complete may not perform as anticipated and could result in a reduction of our cash 
available for distribution.
 
Even if we complete projects or acquisitions that we believe will be accretive, such projects or acquisitions may nevertheless 
reduce our cash available for distribution due to the following factors:
 

• mistaken assumptions about storage capacity, deliverability, base gas needs, geological integrity, revenues, synergies, 
costs (including operating and administrative, capital, debt and equity costs), customer demand, growth potential, 
assumed liabilities and other factors;

• the failure to receive cash flows from an growth project or newly acquired asset due to delays in the commencement of 
operations for any reason;

• unforeseen operational issues or the realization of liabilities that were not known to us at the time the acquisition or 
growth project was completed; 

• the inability to attract new customers or retain acquired customers to the extent assumed in connection with the 
acquisition or growth project; 

• the failure to successfully integrate growth projects or acquired assets or businesses into our operations and/or the loss 
of key employees; or 

• the impact of regulatory, environmental, political and legal uncertainties that are beyond our control.
 

If we complete future growth projects or acquisitions, our capitalization and results of operations may change significantly, and 
you will not have the opportunity to evaluate the economic, financial and other relevant information that we will consider in 
determining the application of these funds and other resources.  If any growth projects or acquisitions we ultimately complete 
are not accretive to our cash available for distribution, our ability to make distributions may be reduced.
 
If we are unable to obtain needed capital or financing on satisfactory terms to fund expansions of our asset base, our ability 
to pay cash distributions may be diminished or our financial leverage could increase.  
 
In order to expand our asset base, we will need to make expansion capital expenditures.  If we do not make sufficient or 
effective expansion capital expenditures, we will be unable to expand our business operations and may be unable to raise the 
level of our cash distributions.  To fund our expansion capital expenditures, we will be required to use cash from our operations 
or incur borrowings or sell additional common units or other limited partner interests.  Such uses of cash from operations will 
reduce cash available for distribution to our common unitholders.  Our ability to obtain bank financing or to access the capital 
markets for future equity or debt offerings may be limited by our financial condition at the time of any such financing or 
offering and the covenants in our debt agreements, as well as by general economic conditions and contingencies and 
uncertainties that are beyond our control.  Even if we are successful in obtaining the necessary funds, the terms of such 
financings could limit our ability to pay distributions to our common unitholders.  In addition, incurring additional debt may 
significantly increase our interest expense and financial leverage, and issuing additional limited partner interests may result in 
significant common unitholder dilution and increase the aggregate amount of cash required to maintain the then-current 
distribution rate, which could materially decrease our ability to pay distributions at the then-current distribution rate.  

Increased competition could have a negative impact on the demand for our services, which could adversely affect our 
financial results.
 
We compete primarily with other providers of storage and transportation services that own or operate natural gas and NGL 
storage facilities and natural gas pipelines.  Such competitors include independent storage developers and operators, LDCs, 
interstate and intrastate natural gas transmission companies with storage facilities connected to their pipelines, and other 
midstream companies.  Some of our competitors have greater financial, managerial and other resources than we do and control 
substantially more storage and transportation capacity than we do.  In addition, our customers may develop their own storage 
and transportation assets in lieu of using ours.  FERC has adopted a policy that favors authorization of new storage projects, 
and there are numerous natural gas storage options in the geographic markets we serve.  Pending and future construction 
projects, if and when brought on-line, may also compete with our natural gas storage operations.  Such projects may include 
FERC-certificated storage expansions and greenfield construction projects.
 
We also compete with the numerous alternatives to storage available to customers, including pipeline balancing/no-notice 
services, seasonal/swing services provided by pipelines and marketers and on-system LNG facilities.  Natural gas as a fuel also 
competes with other forms of energy available to end-users, including electricity, coal and liquid fuels.  Increased demand for 
such forms of energy at the expense of natural gas could lead to a reduction in demand for natural gas storage and 
transportation services.
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If our competitors substantially increase the resources they devote to the development and marketing of competitive services or 
substantially decrease the prices at which they offer their services, we may be unable to compete effectively.  Some of these 
competitors may expand or construct new storage or transportation assets that would create additional competition for us.  The 
expansion of storage or transportation assets and construction activities of our competitors could result in storage or 
transportation capacity in excess of actual demand, which could reduce the demand for our services, and potentially reduce the 
rates that we receive for our services.
 
All of these competitive pressures could make it more difficult for us to retain our existing customers and/or attract new 
customers as we seek to expand our business, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, 
results of operations and ability to make distributions.  In addition, competition could intensify the negative impact of factors 
that decrease demand for natural gas and NGL storage and transportation in our markets, such as adverse economic conditions, 
weather, higher fuel costs and taxes or other governmental or regulatory actions that directly or indirectly increase the cost or 
limit the use of natural gas.
 
Inergy Midstream expects to derive a significant portion of its revenues from a limited number of customers, and the loss of 
one or more of these customers could result in a significant loss of revenues and cash flow.
 
Inergy Midstream expects to derive a significant portion of its revenues and cash flow from a limited number of customers.  For 
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2012, ConEd accounted for approximately 14% of Inergy Midstream's total revenue.  The 
loss, nonpayment, nonperformance or impaired creditworthiness of one of Inergy Midstream's large customers could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and ability to make distributions.  
 
We are exposed to the credit risk of our customers in the ordinary course of our business.  
 
We extend credit to our customers as a normal part of our business.  As a result, we are exposed to the risk of loss resulting 
from the nonpayment and/or nonperformance of our customers.  While we have established credit policies that include 
assessing the creditworthiness of our customers as permitted by our FERC-approved gas tariffs and requiring appropriate terms 
or credit support from them based on the results of such assessments, there can be no assurance that we have adequately 
assessed the creditworthiness of our existing or future customers or that there will not be unanticipated deterioration in their 
creditworthiness.  Resulting nonpayment and/or nonperformance by our customers could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition, results of operations and ability to make distributions.
 
Additionally, in instances where we loan natural gas to third parties, the magnitude of our credit risk is significantly increased, 
as the failure of the third party to return the loaned volumes would result in losses equal to the full value of the loaned natural 
gas rather than, in the case of firm storage or hub services contracts, losses equal to fees on volumes nominated for injection or 
withdrawal.
 
The fees charged by us to third parties under storage and transportation agreements may not escalate sufficiently to cover 
increases in costs, and those agreements may be suspended in some circumstances.
 
Our costs may increase at a rate greater than the rate that the fees we charge to third parties increase pursuant to our contracts 
with them.  In addition, some third parties' obligations under their agreements with us may be permanently or temporarily 
reduced upon the occurrence of certain events, some of which are beyond our control, including force majeure events wherein 
the supply of natural gas is curtailed or cut off.   Force majeure events include (but are not limited to) revolutions, wars, acts of 
enemies, embargoes, import or export restrictions, strikes, lockouts, fires, storms, floods, acts of God, explosions, mechanical 
or physical failures of our equipment or facilities or those of third parties.  If the escalation of fees is insufficient to cover 
increased costs or if any third party suspends or terminates its contracts with us, our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and ability to make distributions could be materially adversely affected.
 
Our business involves many hazards and risks, some of which may not be fully covered by insurance.  
 
Our operations are subject to all of the risks and hazards inherent in the natural gas and NGL storage and transportation 
businesses, including:

• subsidence of the geological structures where we store natural gas and NGLs; 
• risks and hazards inherent in drilling operations associated with the development of new caverns; 
• problems maintaining the wellbores and related equipment and facilities that form a part of the infrastructure that is 

critical to the operation of our storage facilities; 
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• damage to our facilities and properties caused by hurricanes, tornadoes, floods, fires and other natural disasters, acts of 
terrorism, third parties, equipment or material failures, pipeline or vessel ruptures or corrosion, explosions and other 
incidents;

• leaks, migrations or losses of natural gas and NGLs; 
• collapse of storage caverns;
• operator error;
• environmental hazards, such as NGL or condensate spills, pipeline and tank ruptures, drinking water contamination 

associated with our raw water or water disposal wells, and discharges of toxic gases, fluids or other pollutants into the 
surface and subsurface environment;

• failure to comply with environmental or pipeline safety regulatory requirements; and
• other industry hazards that could result in the suspension of operations.

 
These risks could result in substantial losses due to breaches of contractual commitments, personal injury and/or loss of life, 
damage to and destruction of property and equipment and pollution or other environmental damage.  These risks may also 
result in curtailment or suspension of our operations.  A natural disaster or other hazard affecting the areas in which we operate 
could have a material adverse effect on our operations.  We are not fully insured against all risks inherent in our business.  In 
addition, we are not insured against all environmental accidents that might occur, some of which may result in toxic tort claims. 
If a significant accident or event occurs for which we are not fully insured, it could result in a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition, results of operations and ability to make distributions.  Furthermore, we may not be able to 
maintain or obtain insurance of the type and amount we desire at reasonable rates.  As a result of market conditions, premiums 
and deductibles for certain of our insurance policies may substantially increase.  In some instances, certain insurance could 
become unavailable or available only for reduced amounts of coverage.  Additionally, we may be unable to recover from prior 
owners of our assets, pursuant to our indemnification rights, for potential environmental liabilities.

As a result of these risks and hazards, we have been, and will likely be, a defendant in legal proceedings and litigation arising 
in the ordinary course of business.  We maintain insurance policies with insurers in such amounts and with such coverages and 
deductibles as we believe are reasonable and prudent.  However, our insurance may not be adequate to protect us from all 
material expenses related to potential future claims for personal injury and property damage.  
 
In addition, we share insurance coverage with Inergy, for which we reimburse Inergy pursuant to the terms of the omnibus 
agreement.  To the extent Inergy experiences covered losses under the insurance policies, the limit of our coverage for potential 
losses may be decreased.
 
Restrictions in our revolving credit facility could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and 
ability to make distributions.
 
We have a $550 million credit facility with a maturity date in July 2016 and  Inergy Midstream has a $600 million credit 
facility (expandable up to $750 million) with a maturity date in December 2016.  Both credit facilities are available to fund 
working capital and growth projects, make acquisitions and for general partnership purposes.
 
Our and Inergy Midstream's credit facilities contain various covenants and restrictive provisions that will limit our and Inergy 
Midstream's ability to, among other things:
 

• incur additional debt;
• make distributions on or redeem or repurchase units;
• make certain investments and acquisitions; 
• incur or permit certain liens to exist; 
• enter into certain types of transactions with affiliates;
• merge, consolidate or amalgamate with another company; and 
• transfer or otherwise dispose of assets.

 
Furthermore, our credit facility contains covenants requiring us to maintain certain financial ratios. For example, our credit 
facility requires maintenance of a consolidated leverage ratio (as defined in our credit agreement) of not more than 4.75 to 1.00 
and an interest coverage ratio (as defined in our credit agreement) of not less than  2.5 to 1.00.  Inergy Midstream's revolving 
credit facility contains covenants requiring it to maintain certain financial ratios. For example, Inergy Midstream's revolving 
credit facility requires maintenance of a consolidated leverage ratio (as defined in its credit agreement) of not more than 5.00 to 
1.00 and an interest coverage ratio (as defined in its credit agreement) of not less than 2.50 to 1.00.  
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Borrowings under our credit facility are secured by (i) pledges of the equity interests of, and guarantees by, substantially all of 
our existing and future domestic wholly-owned subsidiaries, and (ii) liens on substantially all of our real and personal property.  
Borrowings under Inergy Midstream's revolving credit facility are secured by (i) pledges of the equity interests of, and 
guarantees by, substantially all of its existing and future subsidiaries, and (ii) liens on substantially all of its real and personal 
property.  
 
The provisions of each company's credit facility may affect its ability to obtain future financing and pursue attractive business 
opportunities and each company's flexibility in planning for, and reacting to, changes in business conditions.  In addition, a 
failure to comply with the provisions of a credit facility could result in an event of default, which could enable the lenders, 
subject to applicable notice and cure provisions, to declare any outstanding principal of that debt, together with accrued 
interest, to be immediately due and payable.  If the payment of any such debt of our's is accelerated, our assets may be 
insufficient to repay such debt in full, and the holders of our common units could experience a partial or total loss of their 
investment.  If the payment of any such debt of Inergy Midstream is accelerated, its assets may be insufficient to repay such 
debt in full, and the holders of Inergy Midstream's common units could experience a partial or total loss of their investment.
 
Debt we incur in the future may limit our flexibility to obtain financing and to pursue other business opportunities.
 
Our future level of debt could have important consequences to us, including the following:

• our ability to obtain additional financing, if necessary, for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or other 
purposes may be impaired or such financing may not be available on favorable terms; 

• our funds available for operations, future business opportunities and distributions to common unitholders will be 
reduced by that portion of our cash flow required to make interest payments on our debt; 

• we may be more vulnerable to competitive pressures or a downturn in our business or the economy generally; and
• our flexibility in responding to changing business and economic conditions may be limited.

Our ability to service our debt will depend upon, among other things, our future financial and operating performance, which 
will be affected by prevailing economic conditions and financial, business, regulatory and other factors, some of which are 
beyond our control.  If our operating results are not sufficient to service any future indebtedness, we will be forced to take 
actions such as reducing distributions, reducing or delaying our business activities, acquisitions, investments or capital 
expenditures, selling assets or seeking additional equity capital.  We may not be able to effect any of these actions on 
satisfactory terms or at all.
  
An unfavorable resolution of the Anadarko litigation could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and ability to make distributions.
 
In June 2010, Inergy Midstream's  predecessor, Inergy Midstream, LLC (“NRGM Predecessor”), and CNYOG entered into a 
letter of intent with Anadarko Petroleum Corporation ("Anadarko") which contemplated that, subject to certain conditions, 
Anadarko may exercise an option to acquire up to a 25% ownership interest in the MARC I Pipeline. On September 23, 2011, 
Anadarko filed a complaint against NRGM Predecessor and CNYOG in the Court of Common Pleas in Lycoming County, 
Pennsylvania (Cause No. 11-01697) alleging that (i) Anadarko had an option to acquire, and timely exercised its option to 
acquire, a 25% ownership interest in the MARC I Pipeline, (ii) NRGM Predecessor refused to enter into definitive agreements 
under which Anadarko would acquire a 25% interest in the pipeline and, by doing so, NRGM Predecessor  breached the letter 
of intent, and (iii) by refusing to enter into definitive agreements, NRGM Predecessor breached a duty of good faith and fair 
dealing in connection with the letter of intent.  Based on these allegations, Anadarko seeks various remedies, including specific 
performance of the letter of intent and monetary damages.  Inergy Midstream filed its answer to Anadarko's complaint in 
January 2012, and discovery is continuing.  An unfavorable resolution of such litigation could have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition, results of operations and ability to make distributions.  In addition, such litigation could divert 
the attention of management and resources in general from day-to-day operations.   For further information regarding this 
lawsuit, please see “Item 3 -Legal Proceedings” of this Part I.

Our operations are subject to compliance with environmental and occupational health and safety laws and regulations that 
may expose us to significant costs and liabilities.
 
Our operations are subject to stringent federal, regional, state and local laws and regulations governing occupational  health and 
safety aspects of our operations, the discharge of materials into the environment or otherwise relating to environmental 
protection.  Such laws and regulations impose numerous obligations that are applicable to our operations, including the 
acquisition of permits to conduct regulated activities, the incurrence of capital expenditures to comply with applicable legal 
requirements, the application of specific health and safety criteria addressing worker protections and the imposition of 
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restrictions on the generation, handling, treatment, storage, disposal and transportation of materials and wastes.  Failure to 
comply with such laws and regulations can result in the assessment of substantial administrative, civil and criminal penalties, 
the imposition of remedial liabilities and the issuance of injunctions restricting or prohibiting some or all of our activities.  
Certain environmental laws impose strict, joint and several liability for costs required to clean up and restore sites where 
materials or wastes have been disposed or otherwise released.  In the course of our operations, generated materials or wastes 
may have been spilled or released from properties owned or leased by us or on or under other locations where these materials 
or wastes have been taken for recycling or disposal.  
 
It is also possible that adoption of stricter environmental laws and regulations or more stringent interpretation of existing 
environmental laws and regulations in the future could result in additional costs or liabilities to us as well as the industry in 
general or otherwise adversely affect demand for our services and salt products.  It is also possible that adoption of stricter 
environmental laws and regulations or more stringent interpretation of existing environmental laws and regulations in the future 
could result in additional costs or liabilities to us or our customers and also adversely affect demand for the natural gas, NGLs 
or salt products.  

Climate change legislation or regulations restricting emissions of greenhouse gases could result in increased operating and 
capital costs and reduced demand for our services.
 
In December 2009, the EPA determined that emissions of carbon dioxide, methane and other greenhouse gases (GHGs) present 
an endangerment to public health and the environment because emissions of such gases are, according to the EPA, contributing 
to warming of the earth's atmosphere and other climatic changes.  Based on these findings, has already adopted rules regulating 
GHG emissions under the Clean Air Act, including one that  requires a reduction in emissions of GHGs from motor vehicles 
and another that  regulates emissions of GHGs from certain large stationary sources, which could require greenhouse emission 
controls for those sources.  The EPA has also adopted rules requiring the reporting of GHG emissions from specified onshore 
oil and natural gas production, processing, transmission, storage and distribution facilities on an annual basis. In addition, the 
U.S. Congress has from time to time considered adopting legislation to reduce emissions of GHGs, and almost one-half of the 
states have already taken legal measures to reduce emissions of GHGs primarily through the planned development of GHG 
emission inventories and/or regional GHG cap and trade programs.  Most of these cap and trade programs work by requiring 
major sources of emissions, such as electric power plants, or major producers of fuels, such as refineries and gas processing 
plants, to acquire and surrender emission allowances.  The number of allowances available for purchase is reduced each year in 
an effort to achieve the overall GHG emission reduction goal.
 
The adoption of legislation or regulatory programs to reduce emissions of GHGs could require us to incur increased operating 
costs, such as costs to purchase and operate emissions control systems, to acquire emissions allowances or comply with new 
regulatory or reporting requirements.  Any such legislation or regulatory programs could also increase the cost of consuming, 
and thereby reduce demand for, the oil and natural gas that is produced, which may decrease demand for our storage services.  
Consequently, legislation and regulatory programs to reduce emissions of GHGs could have an adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.  
 
Increases in interest rates could adversely impact demand for our storage capacity, our ability to issue equity or incur debt 
for acquisitions or other purposes, and our ability to make cash distributions at our intended levels.
 
There is a financing cost for our customers to store natural gas or NGLs in our storage facilities.  That financing cost is 
impacted by the cost of capital or interest rate incurred by the customer in addition to the commodity cost of the natural gas or 
NGLs in inventory.  Absent other factors, a higher financing cost adversely impacts the economics of storing natural gas or 
NGLs for future sale.  As a result, a significant increase in interest rates could adversely affect the demand for our storage 
capacity independent of other market factors.
 
In addition, interest rates on future credit facilities and debt offerings could be higher than current levels, causing our financing 
costs to increase accordingly.  As with other yield-oriented securities, our common unit price is impacted by the level of our 
cash distributions and our implied distribution yield.  The distribution yield is often used by investors to compare and rank 
yield-oriented securities for investment decision-making purposes.  Therefore, changes in interest rates, either positive or 
negative, may affect the yield requirements of investors who invest in our common units, and a rising interest rate environment 
could have an adverse impact on our common unit price, our ability to issue equity or incur debt for acquisitions or other 
purposes, and our ability to make cash distributions at our intended levels.
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If Inergy Midstream is unable to diversify its assets and geographic locations, its ability to make distributions to Inergy 
Midstream's common unitholders could be adversely affected.
 
Inergy Midstream relies on revenues generated from storage and transportation assets that it owns, which are located 
exclusively in the Northeast region of the United States.  Due to its lack of diversification in asset location and the storage-
heavy nature of its existing asset base, an adverse development in these businesses or areas, including adverse developments 
due to catastrophic events, weather and decreases in demand for natural gas, could have a significantly greater impact on Inergy 
Midstream's results of operations and cash available for distribution to its common unitholders than if Inergy Midstream 
maintained more diverse assets and locations.
 
Inergy Midstream's growth strategy includes acquiring entities with lines of business that are distinct and separate from its 
existing operations, which could subject Inergy Midstream to additional business and operating risks.

Consistent with its announced growth strategy and pending acquisition of Rangeland Energy, Inergy Midstream may acquire 
assets that have operations in new and distinct lines of business from its existing operations.  Integration of new business 
segments is a complex, costly and time-consuming process and may involve assets in which Inergy Midstream has limited 
operating experience.  Failure to timely and successfully integrate acquired entities' new lines of business with its existing 
operations may have a material adverse effect on Inergy Midstream's business, financial condition or results of operations.  The 
difficulties of integrating new business segments with existing operations include, among other things:

• operating distinct business segments that require different operating strategies and different managerial expertise;
• the necessity of coordinating organizations, systems and facilities in different locations;
• integrating personnel with diverse business backgrounds and organizational cultures; and
• consolidating corporate and administrative functions.

In addition, the diversion of Inergy Midstream's attention and any delays or difficulties encountered in connection with the 
integration of the new business segments, such as unanticipated liabilities or costs, could harm Inergy Midstream's existing 
business, results of operations, financial condition or prospects. Furthermore, new lines of business will subject Inergy 
Midstream  to additional business and operating risks, which could have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or 
results of operations.

Inergy Midstream may be unable to successfully integrate its acquisitions.

One of  Inergy Midstream's primary business strategies is to grow through acquisitions.  There is no assurance that Inergy 
Midstream will successfully integrate acquisitions into our operations, or that Inergy Midstream will achieve the desired 
profitability from its acquisitions.  Failure to successfully integrate these substantial acquisitions could adversely affect Inergy 
Midstream's operations.  The difficulties of combining the acquired operations include, among other things: (i) operating a 
significantly larger organization; (ii) coordinating geographically disparate organizations, systems and facilities; (iii) integrating 
personnel from diverse business backgrounds and organizational cultures; (iv) consolidating corporate, technological and 
administrative functions; (v) integrating internal controls, compliance under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and other 
corporate governance matters; (vi) the diversion of management's attention from other business concerns; (vii) customer or key 
employee loss from the acquired businesses; and (viii) potential environmental or regulatory liabilities and title problems.  In 
addition, Inergy Midstream may not realize all of the anticipated benefits from our acquisitions, such as cost-savings and 
revenue enhancements, for various reasons, including difficulties integrating operations and personnel, higher costs, unknown 
liabilities and fluctuations in markets.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to report our financial results accurately 
or prevent fraud, which would likely have a negative impact on the market price of our common units.
 
We are subject to the public reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act).  
Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports, prevent fraud and to operate successfully as 
a publicly traded partnership.  Our efforts to maintain our internal controls may not be successful, and we may be unable to 
maintain effective controls over our financial processes and reporting in the future or to comply with our obligations under 
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, which we refer to as Section 404.  For example, Section 404 requires us, 
among other things, to annually review and report on, and our independent registered public accounting firm to attest to, the 
effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting.  Any failure to develop, implement or maintain effective internal 
controls or to improve our internal controls could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting 
obligations.  Given the difficulties inherent in the design and operation of internal controls over financial reporting, we can 
provide no assurance as to our, or our independent registered public accounting firm's, conclusions about the effectiveness of 
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our internal controls, and we may incur significant costs in our efforts to comply with Section 404.  Ineffective internal controls 
will subject us to regulatory scrutiny and a loss of confidence in our reported financial information, which could have an 
adverse effect on our business and would likely have a negative effect on the trading price of our common units.

A change of control could result in us facing substantial repayment obligations under our credit facility.  

Our credit agreement contains provisions relating to change of control of our general partner and our partnership.  If these 
provisions are triggered, our outstanding bank indebtedness may become due.  In such an event, there is no assurance that we 
would be able to pay the indebtedness, in which case the lenders under our credit facility would have the right to foreclose on 
our assets, which would have a material adverse effect on us.  There is no restriction on the ability of our general partners to 
enter into a transaction which would trigger the change of control provisions.

If we are not able to sell propane that we have purchased through wholesale supply agreements to retailers and other 
wholesalers, the results of our operations would be adversely affected.

We currently are party to propane supply contracts and may enter into additional propane supply contracts which require us to 
purchase substantially all the propane production from certain refineries. Our inability to sell the propane supply to retail 
propane distributors or to other propane wholesalers would have a substantial adverse impact on our operating results and could 
adversely impact our capital liquidity. 

Our agreement with SPH exposes us to potentially significant indemnification obligations.

We have certain indemnification obligations to SPH pursuant to the agreement entered into in connection with our contribution 
to SPH of Inergy Propane (the “Contribution Agreement”). Under the Contribution Agreement, we have agreed to indemnify 
SPH for any damages arising out of any breach of our representations and warranties, our failure to perform any of our 
covenants or agreements, certain tax matters and certain retained liabilities. In general, our indemnification obligations are 
limited by an indemnification deductible of $15 million and indemnification ceiling of $150 million; provided, however, that 
our indemnification obligations for breach of certain fundamental representations and warranties, certain tax matters and 
certain retained liabilities are not subject to such limitations. In the event that SPH brings a claim for indemnification, we may 
be obligated to make significant payments, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, 
results of operations and ability to make distributions.

Tax Risks to Common Unitholders 

The tax treatment of publicly traded partnerships is subject to potential legislative, judicial or administrative changes. If we 
were treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes, or if we or Inergy Midstream were to become subject to a 
material amount of state or local taxation, then our cash available for distribution to our unitholders would be substantially 
reduced.

The anticipated after-tax economic benefit of an investment in our common units depends largely on our being treated as a 
partnership for federal income tax purposes. The value of our investments in Inergy Midstream depends largely on Inergy 
Midstream being treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes.  A publicly traded partnership such as us or Inergy 
Midstream may be treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes unless it satisfies requirements regarding the 
sources of its income. Based on our current operations we believe that we and Inergy Midstream are each treated as a 
partnership rather than a corporation; however, a change in either of our businesses could cause either of us to be treated as a 
corporation for federal income tax purposes.

If we or Inergy Midstream were treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes, we each would be obligated to pay 
federal income tax on our respective  taxable income at the corporate tax rate, currently a maximum rate of 35%, as well as any 
applicable state income tax. Distributions to our and Inergy Midstream's unitholders generally would be taxedin the same 
manner as distributions from a corporation, and none of our or Inergy Midstream's income, gain, loss, deduction or credit from 
us or Inergy Midstream would flow through to our  respective unitholders. Because a tax would be imposed upon us or Inergy 
Midstream as a corporation, our respective cash available for distribution would be substantially reduced. Therefore, treatment 
as a corporation would result in a material reduction in the anticipated cash flow and after-tax return to our respective 
unitholders, likely causing a substantial reduction in the value of our common units.
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The tax treatment of publicly traded partnerships or an investment in Inergy Midstream's or our common units could be 
subject to potential legislative, judicial or administrative changes and differing interpretations, possibly on a retroactive 
basis.

The present U.S. federal income tax treatment of publicly traded partnerships, including Inergy Midstream and us, or an 
investment in Inergy Midstream's or our common units may be modified by administrative, legislative or judicial changes or 
differing interpretations at any time. For example, from time to time, members of Congress propose and consider substantive 
changes to the existing federal income tax laws that affect publicly traded partnerships. Currently, one such legislative proposal 
would eliminate the qualifying income exception upon which we and Inergy Midstream rely on for our treatment as 
partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We are unable to predict whether any of these changes or other proposals 
will be reintroduced or will ultimately be enacted. Any such changes could negatively impact the value of an investment in 
Inergy Midstream's or our common units. Any modification to the U.S. federal income tax laws may be applied retroactively 
and could make it more difficult or impossible to meet the expectation for certain publicly traded partnerships to be treated as 
partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

If the IRS contests the federal income tax positions we take, the market for our common units may be adversely impacted 
and the cost of any IRS contest will reduce our cash available for distribution to you.

Neither we nor Inergy Midstream has  requested a ruling from the IRS with respect to our treatment as a partnership for federal 
income tax purposes. The IRS may adopt positions that differ from the positions we take. It may be necessary to resort to 
administrative or court proceedings to sustain some or all of the positions we take. A court may not agree with the positions we 
take. Any contest with the IRS may materially and adversely impact the market for our common units and the price at which 
they trade. In addition, the costs of any contest with the IRS will be borne indirectly by you and our general partner because the 
costs will reduce our cash available for distribution.

You will  be required to pay taxes on your share of our income even if you do not receive cash distributions from us.

Because you will be treated as a partner in us for federal income tax purposes, we will allocate a share of our taxable income to 
you which could be different in amount than the cash we distribute to you, and you may be required to pay any federal income 
taxes and, in some cases, state and local income taxes on your share of our taxable income even if you do not receive any cash 
distributions from us. You may not receive cash distributions from us equal to your share of our taxable income or even equal 
to the actual tax liability that results from that income.

Tax gain or loss on the disposition of our common units could be more or less than expected.

If you sell your common units, you will recognize a gain or loss equal to the difference between your amount realized and your 
tax basis in those common units. Because distributions in excess of your allocable share of our total net taxable income result in 
a reduction in your tax basis in your common units, the amount, if any, of such prior excess distributions with respect to the 
units you sell will, in effect, become taxable income to you if you sell such units at a price greater than your tax basis in those 
common units, even if the price you receive is less than your original cost. Furthermore, a substantial portion of the amount 
realized, whether or not representing gain, may be taxed as ordinary income due to potential recapture of depreciation 
deductions. In addition, because the amount realized includes a unitholder's share of our nonrecourse liabilities, if you sell your 
units, you may incur a tax liability in excess of the amount of cash you receive from the sale.

Tax-exempt entities, regulated investment companies and non-U.S. persons face unique tax issues from owning common 
units that may result in adverse tax consequences to them.

Investment in common units by tax-exempt entities, including employee benefit plans and individual retirement accounts 
(known as IRAs), and non-U.S. persons raises issues unique to them. For example, virtually all of our income allocated to 
organizations exempt from federal income tax, including individual retirement accounts and other retirement plans, will be 
unrelated business taxable income and will be taxable to them. Distributions to non-U.S. persons will be reduced by 
withholding taxes imposed at the highest effective applicable tax rate, and non-U.S. persons will be required to file U. S. 
federal income tax returns and pay tax on their share of our taxable income. If you are a tax-exempt entity or a non-U.S. person, 
you should consult your tax adviser before investing in our common units.
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We and Inergy Midstream will treat each purchaser of our respective units as having the same tax benefits without regard to 
the actual units purchased. The IRS may challenge this treatment, which could adversely affect the value of Inergy Midstream's 
and our common units.

Because we cannot match transferors and transferees of units, we and Inergy Midstream will adopt depreciation and 
amortization positions that may not conform to all aspects of existing Treasury Regulations. A successful IRS challenge to 
those positions could adversely affect the amount of tax benefits available to you. It also could affect the timing of these tax 
benefits or the amount of gain from your sale of Inergy Midstream's  common units and our common units and could have a 
negative impact on the value of our respective common units or result in audit adjustments to your tax returns.

We prorate our items of income, gain, loss and deduction between transferors and transferees of our units each month 
based upon the ownership of units on the first day of each month, instead of on the basis of the date a particular unit is 
transferred. The IRS may challenge this treatment, which could change the allocation of items of income, gain, loss and 
deduction among our unitholders.

We prorate our items of income, gain, loss and deduction between transferors and transferees of our units each month based 
upon the ownership of our units on the first day of each month, instead of on the basis of the date a particular unit is transferred. 
However, we allocate certain deductions for depreciation of capital additions based upon the date the underlying property is 
placed in service. The use of this proration method may not be permitted under existing Treasury Regulations. Recently, the 
U.S. Treasury Department issued proposed Treasury Regulations that provide a safe harbor pursuant to which publicly traded 
partnerships may use a similar monthly simplifying convention to allocate tax items among transferor and transferee 
unitholders. Nonetheless, the proposed regulations do not specifically authorize the use of the proration method we have 
adopted. If the IRS were to challenge our proration method or new Treasury Regulations were issued, we may be required to 
change the allocation of items of income, gain, loss and deduction among our unitholders.

A unitholder whose units are the subject of a securities loan (e.g., a loan to a “short seller” to cover a short sale of units) 
may be considered as having disposed of those units. If so, he would no longer be treated for tax purposes as a partner with 
respect to those units during the period of the loan and may recognize gain or loss from the disposition.

Because there is no tax concept of loaning a partnership interest, a unitholder whose units are the subject of a securities loan may 
be considered as having disposed of the loaned units. In that case, he may no longer be treated for tax purposes as a partner with 
respect to those units during the period of the loan and the unitholder may recognize gain or loss from such disposition. Moreover, 
during the period of the loan, any of our income, gain, loss or deduction with respect to those units may not be reportable by the 
unitholder and any cash distributions received by the unitholder as to those units could be fully taxable as ordinary income. 
Unitholders desiring to assure their status as partners and avoid the risk of gain recognition from a loan to a short seller should 
modify any applicable brokerage account agreements to prohibit their brokers from borrowing their units.

The sale or exchange of 50% or more of our capital and profits interests within a twelve-month period will result in the 
termination of our partnership for federal income tax purposes.

We will be considered to have terminated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes if there is a sale or exchange within a 
twelve-month period of 50% or more of the total interests in our capital and profits. For purposes of determining whether the 
50% threshold has been met, multiple sales of the same interest will be counted only once. Our termination would, among other 
things, result in the closing of our taxable year for all unitholders which could result in us filing two tax returns (and 
unitholders receiving two Schedule K-1s) for one calendar year. Our termination could also result in a deferral of depreciation 
deductions allowable in computing our taxable income. In the case of a unitholder reporting on a taxable year other than a 
calendar year, the closing of our taxable year may also result in more than twelve months of our taxable income or loss being 
includable in its taxable income for the year of termination. Our termination would not affect our classification as a partnership 
for federal income tax purposes, but instead, we would be treated as a new partnership for federal income tax purposes. If 
treated as a new partnership, we must make new tax elections and could be subject to penalties if we are unable to determine 
that a termination occurred. Pursuant to an IRS relief procedure a publicly traded partnership that has technically terminated 
may request special relief which, if granted by the IRS, among other things, would permit the partnership to provide only a 
single Schedule K-1 to unitholders for the tax years in which the termination occurs.
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Our unitholders will likely be subject to state and local taxes and return filing requirements in states where they do not live 
as a result of investing in our common units.

In addition to federal income taxes, our unitholders will likely be subject to other taxes, including state and local taxes, 
unincorporated business taxes, estate, inheritance or intangible taxes and foreign taxes that are imposed by the various 
jurisdictions in which we do business or own property and in which they do not reside. We own property and conduct business 
in various parts of the United States. Unitholders may be required to file state and local income tax returns in many or all of the 
jurisdictions in which we do business or own property. Further, unitholders may be subject to penalties for failure to comply 
with those requirements. It is our unitholders' responsibility to file all required U. S. federal, state, local and foreign tax returns.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.

We lease our Kansas City, Missouri headquarters.  We lease the subsurface and surface rights necessary to own and operate our 
Tres Palacios gas storage facility under a 25-year storage sublease agreement.  We also lease underground storage facilities for 
our NGL marketing, supply and logistics business with an aggregate capacity of 38.2 million gallons of propane and butane 
storage at six locations under annual lease agreements, and we lease capacity on multiple pipelines pursuant to annual 
agreements.

We own the following assets as discussed in Item 1:

• facilities comprising our Tres Palacios natural gas storage facility; 
• facilities comprising our West Coast NGL business; and
• our Seymour NGL storage facility.

We believe that we have satisfactory title or valid rights to use all of our material properties. Although some of these properties 
are subject to liabilities and leases, liens for taxes not yet due and payable, encumbrances securing payment obligations under 
non-competition agreements entered in connection with acquisitions and immaterial encumbrances, easements and restrictions, 
we do not believe that any of these burdens will materially interfere with our continued use of these properties in our business, 
taken as a whole. Our obligations under our credit facility are secured by liens and mortgages on our fee-owned real and 
personal property.

In addition, we believe that we have, or are in the process of obtaining, all required material approvals, authorizations, orders, 
licenses, permits, franchises and consents of, and have obtained or made all required material registrations, qualifications and 
filings with, the various state and local governmental and regulatory authorities that relate to ownership of our properties or the 
operation of our business.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

Our operations are subject to all operating hazards and risks normally incidental to handling, storing, transporting and 
otherwise providing for use by consumers of combustible liquids. As a result, at any given time we are a defendant in various 
legal proceedings and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. We maintain insurance policies with insurers in 
amounts and with coverages and deductibles as the general partner believes are reasonable and prudent. However, we cannot 
assure you that this insurance will be adequate to protect us from all material expenses related to potential future claims for 
personal and property damage or that these levels of insurance will be available in the future at economical prices.

In June 2010, Inergy Midstream's predecessor ("NRGM Predecessor") and CNYOG entered into a letter of intent with 
Anadarko which contemplated that, subject to certain conditions, Anadarko may exercise an option to acquire up to a 25% 
ownership interest in the MARC I Pipeline. On September 23, 2011, Anadarko filed a complaint against NRGM Predecessor 
and CNYOG in the Court of Common Pleas in Lycoming County, Pennsylvania (Cause No. 11-01697) alleging that (i) 
Anadarko had an option to acquire, and timely exercised its option to acquire, a 25% ownership interest in the MARC I 
Pipeline, (ii) NRGM Predecessor refused to enter into definitive agreements under which Anadarko would acquire a 25% 
interest in the pipeline and, by doing so, Inergy Midstream breached the letter of intent, and (iii) by refusing to enter into 
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definitive agreements, NRGM Predecessor breached a duty of good faith and fair dealing in connection with the letter of intent.  
Based on these allegations, Anadarko seeks various remedies, including specific performance of the letter of intent and 
monetary damages. 

Inergy Midstream filed preliminary objections to the complaint and sought a judgment in its favor and an order dismissing 
Anadarko's complaint. Following a hearing on the motion to dismiss the Anadarko complaint on December 2, 2011, the motion 
was denied.  Inergy Midstream filed its answer to Anadarko's complaint in January 2012 and discovery continues. Inergy 
Midstream believes that Anadarko's claims are without merit and intend to vigorously defend itself in the lawsuit.  

Following the announcement of the Merger Agreement, two unitholder class action lawsuits were filed in the Court of 
Chancery of the State of Delaware challenging the proposed merger (Joel A. Gerber v. Inergy GP, LLC et al., No. 5864 and G-2 
Trading LLC v. Inergy GP, LLC et al., No. 5816) (collectively, the “Inergy Unitholder Lawsuits”). The parties to the Inergy 
Unitholder Lawsuits have entered into a Memorandum of Understanding whereby in consideration for the settlement and 
dismissal of the claims, the individual Class B unitholders will forego and relinquish a total of 135,539 Class B units to be 
received as distributions following the date on which the settlement and dismissal becomes final and no longer appealable. On 
March 29, 2012, the court approved the terms of the settlement, which included the certification of a settlement class and the 
dismissal with prejudice of all claims.  Also as part of the settlement, the defendants in the Inergy Unitholder Lawsuits other 
than Inergy must pay fees and expenses to counsel for the plaintiffs in the amount of $1.8 million, which amount is covered by 
insurance.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Unitholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Our common units representing limited partner interests are traded on The New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the 
symbol “NRGY.” The following table sets forth the range of high and low bid prices of the common units, as reported by the 
NYSE, as well as the amount of cash distributions declared per common unit for the periods indicated.

Quarters Ended: Low High

Cash
Distribution

Per Unit
Fiscal 2012:

September 30, 2012 $ 17.25 $ 21.99 $ 0.290
June 30, 2012 15.22 20.24 0.375
March 31, 2012 15.06 24.99 0.375
December 31, 2011 22.54 28.88 0.705

Fiscal 2011:
September 30, 2011 $ 24.91 $ 35.90 $ 0.705
June 30, 2011 33.52 41.22 0.705
March 31, 2011 38.49 42.75 0.705
December 31, 2010 37.25 41.92 0.705

As of November 7, 2012, we had issued and outstanding  125,645,598 common units, 4,867,252 Class A units and 5,882,105 
Class B units, which were held by 188, 2 and 20 unitholders of record, respectively.  

Cash Distribution Policy

Our company makes quarterly distributions to the partners within approximately 45 days after the end of each fiscal quarter in 
an aggregate amount equal to our available cash for such quarter. Available cash generally means, with respect to each fiscal 
quarter, all cash on hand at the end of the quarter less the amount of cash that the general partner determines in its reasonable 
discretion is necessary or appropriate to:

• provide for the proper conduct of our business;

• comply with applicable law, any of our debt instruments, or other agreements; or

• provide funds for distributions to unitholders for any one or more of the next four quarters;

plus all cash on hand on the date of determination of available cash for the quarter resulting from working capital borrowings 
made after the end of the quarter. Working capital borrowings are generally borrowings that are made under our working capital 
facility and in all cases are used solely for working capital purposes or to pay distributions to partners. 

On November 14, 2012, we paid a distribution of $0.290 per limited partner unit ($1.16 per limited partner unit on an 
annualized basis) to all unitholders of record on November 7, 2012.

Distribution of SPH Units

We distributed 14.1 million SPH common units on September 14, 2012.

Issuance of Class A Units and Class B Units

On November 5, 2010, in connection with the merger between us and Inergy Holdings, L.P., we issued 4,867,252 Class A units 
and 11,568,560 Class B units.  Following the November 2011 distribution, 6,586,968 Class B units converted to Inergy 
common units.  Following the November 2012 distribution, the remaining Class B units were converted to Inergy common 
units. Inergy, L.P. indirectly owns 100% of the Class A units.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2012, 103,236 common units were relinquished to us to cover payroll taxes upon the 
vesting of restricted units.  

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth in tabular format, a summary of equity compensation plan information as of September 30, 2012: 

Plan category

Number of
securities to be

issued upon
exercise of

outstanding
options, warrants

and rights

Weighted-
average
exercise
price of

outstanding
options,

warrants
and rights

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation

plans (excluding
securities reflected in

column (a))
  (a) (b) (c)

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders — — —
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders 181,541 $ 13.11 8,350,709

Total 181,541 13.11 8,350,709

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following tables set forth selected consolidated financial data and other operating data of Inergy, L.P. The selected 
historical consolidated financial data of Inergy, L.P. as of and for the years ended September 30, 2012, 2011, 2010, 2009, and 
2008, are derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of Inergy, L.P.  The historical consolidated financial data 
of Inergy, L.P. include the results of operations of its acquisitions from the effective date of the respective acquisitions.

“EBITDA” shown in the table below is defined as income before income taxes, plus net interest expense and depreciation and 
amortization expense. Adjusted EBITDA represents EBITDA excluding the gain or loss on derivative contracts associated with 
retail propane fixed price sales contracts, the gain or loss on the disposal of assets, long-term incentive and equity compensation 
expenses, the gain on the disposal of retail propane operations, the loss on SPH units and transaction costs.  Transaction costs 
are third party professional fees and other costs that are incurred in conjunction with closing a transaction. EBITDA and 
Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered an alternative to net income, income before income taxes, cash flows from 
operating activities, or any other measure of financial performance calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles as those items are used to measure operating performance, liquidity or ability to service debt obligations. We believe 
that EBITDA provides additional information for evaluating our ability to make the quarterly distribution and is presented 
solely as a supplemental measure. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA provides additional information for evaluating our 
financial performance without regard to our financing methods, capital structure and historical cost basis. EBITDA and 
Adjusted EBITDA, as we define them, may not be comparable to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA or similarly titled measures 
used by other corporations or partnerships.

The data in the following tables should be read together with and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, the historical 
consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes included in this report. The tables should be read together with 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” under Item 7.
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Inergy L.P.
Years Ended September 30,

(in millions, except unit and per unit data)
  2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Statement of Operations Data:
Revenues $ 2,006.8 $ 2,153.8 $ 1,786.0 $ 1,570.6 $ 1,878.9
Cost of product sold (excluding depreciation and 

amortization as shown below): 1,396.2 1,476.0 1,165.9 996.9 1,376.7
Expenses:

Operating and administrative 300.8 323.3 310.7 280.5 266.6
Depreciation and amortization 169.6 191.8 161.8 115.8 98.0
Loss on disposal of assets 5.7 8.2 11.5 5.2 11.5

Operating income 134.5 154.5 136.1 172.2 126.1
Other income (expense):

Interest expense, net (83.6) (113.5) (91.5) (70.5) (62.6)
Gain on disposal of retail propane operations 589.5 — — — —
Loss on Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. units (47.6) — — — —
Early extinguishment of debt (26.6) (52.1) — — —
Other income 1.5 1.2 2.0 0.1 1.0

Income (loss) before gain on issuance of units in subsidiary 
and income taxes 567.7 (9.9) 46.6 101.8 64.5

Gain on issuance of units in subsidiary — — — 8.0 —
Provision for income taxes 1.8 0.7 0.2 1.7 1.4
Net income (loss) 565.9 (10.6) 46.4 108.1 63.1
Net (income) loss attributable to non-controlling partners (11.0) 28.2 15.4 (51.0) (27.6)
Net income attributable to partners $ 554.9 $ 17.6 $ 61.8 $ 57.1 $ 35.5

Net income per limited partner unit:
Basic $ 4.39 $ 0.17 $ 1.73 $ 1.62 $ 1.01
Diluted $ 4.22 $ 0.15 $ 1.29 $ 1.21 $ 0.75

Weighted-average limited partners’ units outstanding 
   (in thousands):

Basic 124,976 105,732 35,726 35,197 35,049
Diluted 131,589 117,684 48,002 47,036 47,106

Cash distributions paid per unit(a) $ 2.16 $ 2.82 $ 2.76 $ 2.60 $ 2.44

Balance Sheet Data (end of period):
Total assets $ 2,207.6 $ 3,340.9 $ 3,117.8 $ 2,154.1 $ 2,098.5
Total debt, including current portion 743.2 1,853.0 1,690.7 1,124.8 1,139.2
Total partners’ capital 1,184.8 1,146.0 1,160.1 772.0 609.1

Other Financial Data:
EBITDA (unaudited) $ 847.5 $ 347.5 $ 299.9 $ 296.1 $ 225.1
Adjusted EBITDA (unaudited) 321.5 372.2 $ 323.9 $ 295.9 $ 238.0
Net cash provided by operating activities 239.0 114.4 173.6 237.9 180.2
Net cash used in investing activities (350.6) (390.6) (926.4) (230.6) (386.7)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 100.1 143.3 885.5 (13.0) 216.0
Maintenance capital expenditures(b) (unaudited) 12.4 14.0 9.9 8.0 5.4

Other Operating Data (unaudited):
Retail propane gallons sold 233.5 325.6 340.2 310.0 331.9
NGL Marketing gallons delivered(c) 504.3 395.5 393.7 357.7 335.0
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2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Reconciliation of Net Income to EBITDA and Adjusted 

EBITDA:
Net income (loss) $ 565.9 $ (10.6) $ 46.4 $ 108.1 $ 63.1
Interest expense, net 83.6 113.5 91.5 70.5 62.6
Early extinguishment of debt 26.6 52.1 — — —
Provision for income taxes 1.8 0.7 0.2 1.7 1.4
Depreciation and amortization 169.6 191.8 161.8 115.8 98.0

EBITDA $ 847.5 $ 347.5 $ 299.9 $ 296.1 $ 225.1
Non-cash (gain) loss on derivative contracts (8.6) 1.2 (1.0) 1.4 0.1
Long-term incentive and equity compensation expense 17.9 5.8 10.9 3.1 3.5
Loss on disposal of assets 5.7 8.2 11.5 5.2 11.5
Gain on disposal of retail propane operations (589.5) — — — —
Loss on Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. units 47.6 — — — —
Gain on issuance of units in subsidiary — — — (8.0) —
Transaction costs 0.9 9.5 3.5 — —

Adjusted EBITDA $ 321.5 $ 372.2 $ 324.8 $ 297.8 $ 240.2

Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided by Operating 
Activities to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA:
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 239.0 $ 114.4 $ 173.6 $ 237.9 $ 180.2
Net changes in working capital balances (9.4) 104.1 60.7 (4.4) 3.8
Non-cash early extinguishment of debt (10.0) (12.7) — — —
Provision for doubtful accounts (2.1) (3.7) (2.8) (3.7) (5.7)
Amortization of deferred financing costs, swap 

premium and net bond discount (4.9) (7.4) (7.3) (5.2) (2.3)
Unit-based compensation charges (12.9) (5.8) (4.8) (3.1) (3.5)
Loss on disposal of assets (5.7) (8.2) (11.5) (5.2) (11.5)
Gain on disposal of retail propane operations 589.5 — — — —
Loss on Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. units (47.6) — — — —
Deferred income tax (0.4) 0.5 0.3 (0.4) 0.1
Interest expense, net 83.6 113.5 91.5 70.5 62.6
Early extinguishment of debt 26.6 52.1 — — —
Gain on issuance of units in subsidiary — — — 8.0 —
Provision for income taxes 1.8 0.7 0.2 1.7 1.4

EBITDA $ 847.5 $ 347.5 $ 299.9 $ 296.1 $ 225.1
Non-cash (gain) loss on derivative contracts (8.6) 1.2 (1.0) 1.4 0.1
Long-term incentive and equity compensation expense 17.9 5.8 10.9 3.1 3.5
Loss on disposal of assets 5.7 8.2 11.5 5.2 11.5
Gain on disposal of retail propane operations (589.5) — — — —
Loss on Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. units 47.6 — — — —
Gain on issuance of units in subsidiary (8.0) —
Transaction costs 0.9 9.5 3.5 — —

Adjusted EBITDA $ 321.5 $ 372.2 $ 324.8 $ 297.8 $ 240.2

(a) These amounts reflect the historical cash distributions paid per unit on the common units.
(b) Maintenance capital expenditures are defined as those capital expenditures that do not increase operating capacity or revenues from existing levels.
(c) Subsequent to the sale of Inergy's retail propane operations, the Company reorganized its operating and reporting segments. Prior year amounts have 

been adjusted to reflect the current year presentation.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Forward-Looking Statements

This report, including information included or incorporated by reference in this report, contains forward-looking statements 
concerning the financial condition, results of operations, plans, objectives, future performance and business of our company 
and its subsidiaries. These forward-looking statements include:

• statements that are not historical in nature, but not limited to, (i) our belief that our investments and growth strategies to 
allow us to increase the distributions that we pay to our unitholders; (ii) our expectation that Inergy Midstream will 
complete its acquisition of Rangeland Energy in calendar 2012; (iii) our expectation that Inergy Midstream will place 
the MARC I Pipeline into service on December 1, 2012; (iv) our expectations  concerning Tres Palacios' growth 
projects; (v) our belief that Inergy Midstream's growth projects will enhance our profitability; (v) our expectation that 
Inergy Midstream will obtain the permits required construct its Watkins Glen NGL storage development project and 
place it into service in calendar 2013; and  

• statements preceded by, followed by or that contain forward-looking terminology including the words “believe,” 
“expect,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “intend” or the negation thereof, or similar 
expressions.

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance or results. They involve risks, uncertainties and 
assumptions. Actual results may differ materially from those contemplated by the forward-looking statements due to, among 
others, the following factors:

• our ability to successfully implement our business plan for our assets and operation;
• governmental legislation and regulations;
• industry factors that influence the supply of, and demand for, natural gas and NGLs;
• weather conditions;
• industry factors that influence the demand for natural gas and NGL storage and transportation capacity, particularly in 

the Northeast and Texas markets;
• economic conditions;
• the availability of natural gas and NGLs, and the price of natural gas and NGLs, to consumers compared to the price of 

alternative and competing fuels;
• costs or difficulties related to the integration of our existing businesses and acquisitions;
• environmental claims;
• operating hazards and other risks incidental to transporting and storing natural gas and NGLs;
• interest rates; and
• the price and availability of debt and equity financing.

We have described under “Risk Factors” additional factors that could cause actual results to be materially different from those 
described in the forward-looking statements. Other factors that we have not identified in this report could also have this effect. 
You are cautioned not to put undue reliance on any forward-looking statement, which speaks only as of the date it was made.

Overview

We are a publicly-traded master limited partnership that owns and operates energy midstream infrastructure and an NGL 
marketing, supply and logistics business.  We own and operate the Tres Palacios natural gas storage facility in Texas; a 
proprietary NGL business that specializes in providing logistics and marketing services predominantly to producers and 
refiners; and approximately 75% ownership interest in Inergy Midstream, a publicly-traded, growth-oriented master limited 
partnership with midstream facilities located  in the Northeast region of the United States.

Our Company

With the disposition of our retail propane business in August 2012, we have transformed our company into a “pure play” 
midstream energy company with significant investments in the natural gas and NGL sectors of the energy value chain.  Our 
Tres Palacios facility is located near the liquids-rich Eagle Ford shale play and Texas demand markets, and through Inergy 
Midstream, we have significant investments in natural gas storage and transportation facilities located near the Marcellus shale 
play and the Northeast demand market.  We believe our NGL business complements our infrastructure investments, and the 
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combination of the expertise and proprietary knowledge developed by our NGL marketing, supply, transportation and risk 
management professionals and our fleet of NGL transportation assets provides a competitive advantage over our competitors.

Our primary business objective is to increase the cash distributions that we pay to our unitholders by growing our investment in 
Inergy Midstream and, to a lesser extent, growing our Texas storage operations and NGL business.  We intend to position 
Inergy Midstream to be able to increase its cash distributions by providing strong general partner support (including, if 
applicable, selling assets to Inergy Midstream) and using it as the primary vehicle through which we grow our midstream 
business.  We expect to grow our Tres Palacios operations through development projects, such as the Copano header extension 
project, and we believe the facility's strategic location to the Eagle Ford shale play and interconnections with 10 interstate and 
intrastate pipelines will allow us to capture greater revenue opportunities as natural gas prices and volatility increase.  We 
anticipate growing our NGL marketing, supply, and logistics business by continuing to leverage our industry knowledge, 
expertise and relationships to develop and harvest business opportunities and to expand our service offerings.  We will 
continuously evaluate the best way to grow our company and unlock value for our unitholders.  

Our business segments include (i) storage and transportation, which includes our Tres Palacios natural gas storage facility and 
our investment in Inergy Midstream, and (ii) NGL supply, marketing and logistics reporting segment, which includes our NGL 
business.  The cash flows from our Tres Palacios facility are predominantly fee-based under one to three year contracts with 
creditworthy counterparties.  The cash flows from our NGL supply, marketing and logistics operations represent sales to 
creditworthy customers typically under contracts that are less than one year in duration, and these cash flows tend to be 
seasonal in nature due to our customer profiles and their tendencies to purchase NGLs during peak winter periods.

As a result of our disposition of our retail propane operations, a majority of our distributable cash flows are expected to be 
generated by distributions received from Inergy Midstream and cash from operations generated by our Tres Palacios facility 
and NGL business.  Our natural gas storage revenues are driven in large part by competition and demand for our storage 
capacity and deliverability, although demand for firm storage service in Texas remains depressed due to low natural gas prices 
and low seasonal spreads.   Our NGL segment revenues are driven in large part by our ability to optimize NGL assets that we 
own or control, and provide services to producers, refiners and other customers which effectively provide flow assurance to our 
customers.  These services offer customers certainty of NGL production and supply volumes flowing without interruption and 
at attractive economic value.

Our long-term profitability will be influenced primarily by (i) Inergy Midstream's ability to execute on its growth strategy, 
including both development projects and strategic acquisitions, and to increase cash available for distribution; (ii) our ability to 
execute growth strategies for our Tres Palacios facility and NGL business; (iii) our ability to contract and re-contract with 
customers; and (iv) our ability to manage increasingly difficult regulatory processes, particularly in permitting and approval 
proceedings at the federal and state levels.  

With respect to market trends, the assets comprising our storage and transportation segment (including the infrastructure assets 
of Inergy Midstream) could be negatively affected in the long term by sustained downturns or sluggishness in the economy, 
which could affect long-term demand and market prices for natural gas and NGLs, all of which are beyond our control and 
could impair our ability to meet our long-term goals.  At the same time, we believe that the contractual fee-based nature of 
these assets should help to reduce this risk.  Development projects over the past few years have also been exposed to increased 
cost pressures associated with a shortage availability of skilled labor and the pricing of materials, even though we have seen 
some of these pressures begin to decrease in certain geographic areas.   Moreover, although it has become more difficult to 
obtain the authorizations required to develop or expand natural gas and NGL infrastructure, we remain confident that the 
incremental time and money required to pursue and complete market-driven facilities will deliver meaningful value to our 
unitholders.  The regulatory environment, combined with the location of our assets relative to both high-demand markets and 
prolific shale basins, effectively provides a significant barrier to entry that other market participants may find difficult to 
overcome.
 
Inergy Midstream 

Inergy Midstream is a predominantly fee-based, growth-oriented limited partnership that develops, acquires, owns and operates 
midstream energy assets.  It owns and operates natural gas and NGL storage and transportation facilities and a salt production 
business located in the Northeast region of the United States.  Inergy Midstream owns and operates four natural gas storage 
facilities that have an aggregate working gas storage capacity of 41.0 Bcf; natural gas pipeline facilities with 905 MMcf/d of 
transportation capacity; a 1.5 million barrel NGL storage facility; and US Salt, a leading solution mining and salt production 
company. 
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Inergy Midstream's primary business objective is to increase the cash distributions that it pays to unitholders by growing its 
business through the development, acquisition and operation of additional midstream assets near production and demand 
centers.  An integral part of its growth strategy is the continued development of Inergy Midstream's platform of interconnected 
natural gas assets in the Northeast that can be operated as an integrated storage and transportation hub.  For example, because 
Inergy Midstream believes that storage and transportation customers value operating flexibility, it expects to increase the 
interconnectivity between its natural gas assets and third-party pipelines, thereby resulting in increased demand for its services.  
Its growth strategy is expected to reflect Inergy Midstream's desire to diversify its operations, in terms of both its geographic 
footprint and the type of midstream services it provides to customers. 

Organic growth projects, including both expansions and greenfield development projects, have recently provided cost-effective 
options for Inergy Midstream to grow its infrastructure base.  In general, purchasers of midstream infrastructure have paid 
relatively high prices (measured in terms of a multiple of EBITDA or another financial metric) to acquire midstream assets and 
operations in recent arms-length transactions.  Although the prices paid for certain types of midstream assets are likely to 
remain robust for the foreseeable future, acquisitions will continue to permit Inergy Midstream to gain access to new markets 
(with respect to geographic footprint and product offerings) and develop the scale required to grow its business quickly and 
successfully.  We therefore expect Inergy Midstream to grow its business in the near term through both organic growth projects 
and acquisitions.    

Inergy Midstream's operations include (i) the storage and transportation of natural gas and NGLs, which are reported in its 
storage and transportation reporting segment, and (ii) US Salt's production and wholesale distribution of evaporated salt 
products, which are reported in its salt reporting segment.  The cash flows from its storage and transportation operations are 
predominantly fee-based under one to ten year contracts with creditworthy counterparties and, therefore, are generally 
economically stable and not significantly affected in the short term by changing commodity prices, seasonality or weather 
fluctuations.   The cash flows from its salt operations represent sales to creditworthy customers typically under contracts that 
are less than one year in duration, and these cash flows tend to be relatively stable and not subject to seasonal or cyclical 
variation due to the use of, and demand for salt products in everyday life.

The majority of Inergy Midstream's operating cash flows are generated by its natural gas storage operations.  Its natural gas 
storage revenues are driven in large part by competition and demand for storage capacity and deliverability.  Demand for 
storage in the Northeast is projected to continue to be strong, driven by a shortage in storage capacity and a higher than average 
annual growth in natural gas demand.  This demand growth is primarily driven by the natural gas-fired electric generation 
sector and conversion from petroleum-based fuels.  Due to the high percentage of its cash flows generated by its natural gas 
storage operations, Inergy Midstream has attempted to diversify its asset base recently by developing natural gas transportation 
assets and NGL storage assets.   Its pending acquisition of Rangeland Energy also illustrates how Inergy Midstream expects to 
diversify its asset base through acquisitions.  

Inergy Midstream's ability to market available transportation capacity is impacted by supply and demand for natural gas, 
competition from other pipelines, natural gas price volatility, the price differential between physical locations on its pipeline 
systems (basis spreads), economic conditions, and other factors.  Its transportation facilities have benefited from, and Inergy 
Midstream expects its pipelines to continue to benefit from, the development of the Marcellus shale as a significant supply 
basin.  As LDCs and other customers increasingly utilize short-haul transportation options to satisfy their transportation needs, 
the location of its transportation assets relative to the Marcellus shale will enable Inergy Midstream to realize additional 
benefits.

Inergy Midstream's long-term profitability will be influenced primarily by (i) successfully executing its existing development 
projects and continuing to develop new organic growth projects in its markets; (ii) pursuing strategic acquisitions from third 
parties, including us, to grow its business; (iii) contracting and re-contracting storage and transportation capacity with its 
customers; and (iv) managing increasingly difficult regulatory processes, particularly in permitting and approval proceedings at 
the federal and state levels.

We remain encouraged by Inergy Midstream's inventory of growth projects, such as the Watkins Glen NGL storage 
development project and the Commonwealth Pipeline project.  These projects illustrate its diversification objectives, its desire 
to deploy capital prudently, its strong belief in the markets in which it operates, and its goal of integrating its assets when 
possible.  Importantly, we also believe these projects demonstrate Inergy Midstream's commitment to its customers and their 
existing and forecast needs.  In addition, many of its growth projects provide a basis for incremental growth, such as Inergy 
Midstream's ability to potentially expand the MARC I Pipeline through the installation of additional compression.
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How We Evaluate Our Operations  
 
We evaluate our business performance on the basis of the following key measures:
 

• cash available for distribution to our unitholders;
• distributions received from Inergy Midstream;
• revenues derived from our Tres Palacios natural gas storage facility; 
• gross profit (excluding depreciation and amortization) derived from our NGL marketing, supply and logistics business; 
• EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA.

 
We do not utilize depreciation, depletion and amortization expense in our key measures because we focus our performance 
management on cash flow generation and our assets have long useful lives.

Fiscal 2012 Acquisitions and Dispositions

In November 2011, we completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Papco, LLC/South Jersey Terminal, LLC 
(“Papco”), located in Bridgeton, New Jersey.   Papco provides transportation services to the NGL marketplace, mostly serving 
the East Coast, Midwest and Southeastern portions of the United States.  South Jersey Terminal is a rail terminal facility with 
onsite product storage and truck loading operations.  This acquisition provides our NGL business with a significant fleet of 
specialized transport vehicles and a strong presence in the Marcellus shale region, and allows us to increase our service 
offerings in the Eastern region of the United States.  

In August 2012, we completed the acquisition of substantially all of the operating assets of Werner Transportation Services, Inc. 
(“Werner”), located in Gainesville, Georgia.  Werner provides transportation services to the NGL marketplace primarily for 
customers east of the Mississippi River.  This acquisition provides our NGL business with a strategic fleet of transport vehicles 
to help meet the increasing customer demand for hauling NGLs, notably in the Eastern region of the United States.  

We acquired two retail propane businesses, one in January 2012 and one in February 2012, that were sold as part of our 
disposition of Inergy Propane to SPH in August 2012, as described below. 

On August 1, 2012, we completed the disposition of our retail propane operations to SPH.  We received approximately 14.2 
million SPH common units with a market and book value of approximately $590 million, almost all of which we distributed to 
our unitholders in September 2012.  SPH also exchanged approximately $1.19 billion of our outstanding senior notes for $1.0 
billion of new SPH senior notes and paid cash directly to tendering note holders. In connection with the closing of this 
transaction, we entered into a support agreement with SPH pursuant to which we are obligated to provide contingent, residual 
support of approximately $497 million of aggregate principal amount of the 7½% senior unsecured notes due 2018 of SPH and 
Suburban Energy Finance Corp. (collectively, the “SPH Issuers”) or any permitted refinancing thereof.  Under the support 
agreement, in the event the SPH Issuers fail to pay any principal amount of the supported debt when due, we will pay directly 
to, or to the SPH Issuers for the benefit of, the holders of the Supported Debt (“Holders”) an amount up to the principal amount 
of the supported debt that the SPH Issuers have failed to pay. We have no obligation to make a payment under the support 
agreement with respect to any accrued and unpaid interest or any redemption premium or other costs, fees, expenses, penalties, 
charges or other amounts of any kind whatsoever that shall be due to noteholders by the SPH Issuers, whether on or related to 
the supported debt or otherwise. The support agreement terminates on the earlier of the date the supported debt is extinguished 
or on the maturity date of supported debt or any permitted refinancing thereof.
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Recent Developments

On November 3, 2012, Inergy Midstream entered into an agreement to acquire Rangeland Energy for $425 million, subject to 
certain performance goals and working capital adjustments.  Rangeland Energy owns and operates the COLT Hub, which is an 
integrated crude oil rail and storage terminal located in the heart of the Bakken and Three Forks shale oil-producing region.  
The Colt Hub primarily consists of 720,000 barrels of crude oil storage, two 8,700-foot unit train rail loading loops, an eight-
bay truck unloading rack, and 21-mile bi-directional crude oil pipeline that connects the terminal to crude oil gathering systems 
and crude oil interstate pipelines.  The COLT Hub is capable of moving more than 120,000 barrels of crude oil per day by rail.  
We expect Inergy Midstream to complete the Rangeland Energy acquisition in calendar 2012.  

Inergy Midstream anticipates financing approximately $453 million of Rangeland Energy transaction costs and post-closing 
capital expenditures through a combination of debt and equity offerings.  In particular, Inergy Midstream (i) entered into an 
agreement to sell $225 million through a private placement of common units to qualified institutional investors conditioned 
upon and closing contemporaneously with the closing of the Rangeland acquisition and (ii) Inergy Midstream expects to fund 
its remaining financing requirements through the sale of long-term senior notes or, if applicable, borrowings on an unsecured 
$225 million credit facility that Inergy Midstream has arranged to backstop its financing requirements.   Inergy Midstream 
expects to complete these financing transactions prior to or contemporaneously with the closing of the Rangeland Energy 
acquisition.
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Results of Operations

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2012 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2011 

The following table summarizes the consolidated income statement components for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2012 
and 2011, respectively (in millions):

 
Year Ended 

September 30, Change
  2012 2011 In Dollars Percentage

Revenue $ 2,006.8 $ 2,153.8 $ (147.0) (6.8)%
Cost of product sold 1,396.2 1,476.0 (79.8) (5.4)
Gross profit (excluding depreciation and amortization) 610.6 677.8 (67.2) (9.9)
Operating and administrative expenses 300.8 323.3 (22.5) (7.0)
Depreciation and amortization 169.6 191.8 (22.2) (11.6)
Loss on disposal of assets 5.7 8.2 (2.5) (30.5)
Operating income 134.5 154.5 (20.0) (12.9)
Interest expense, net (83.6) (113.5) 29.9 26.3
Gain on disposal of retail propane operations 589.5 — 589.5 *
Loss on Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. units (47.6) — (47.6) *
Early extinguishment of debt (26.6) (52.1) 25.5 48.9
Other income 1.5 1.2 0.3 25.0
Income (loss) before income taxes 567.7 (9.9) 577.6 *
Provision for income taxes 1.8 0.7 1.1 157.1
Net income (loss) 565.9 (10.6) 576.5 *
Net (income) loss attributable to non-controlling partners (11.0) 28.2 (39.2) (139.0)
Net income attributable to partners $ 554.9 $ 17.6 $ 537.3 *

* Not meaningful

The following table summarizes revenues, including associated volume of gallons sold, for the years ended September 30, 2012 
and 2011, respectively (in millions):

  Revenues Gallons

 
Year Ended

September 30, Change
Year Ended

September 30, Change
  2012 2011 In Dollars Percent 2012 2011 In Units Percent

NGL Marketing, Supply 
and Logistics

Retail $ 777.3 $ 1,050.9 $ (273.6) (26.0)% 233.5 325.6 (92.1) (28.3)%
NGL Marketing 618.9 562.9 56.0 9.9 504.3 395.5 108.8 27.5
L&L Transportation 58.5 19.9 38.6 194.0 — — — —
West Coast NGL 313.7 309.7 4.0 1.3 — — — —

Storage and Transportation 238.4 210.4 28.0 13.3 — — — —
Total $ 2,006.8 $ 2,153.8 $ (147.0) (6.8)% 737.8 721.1 16.7 2.3 %

Volume.  During the year ended September 30, 2012, we sold 233.5 million retail gallons of propane, a decrease of 92.1 million 
gallons or 28.3% from the 325.6 million retail gallons sold during fiscal 2011.  Gallons sold during the year ended 
September 30, 2012, decreased compared to the same prior year period primarily due to lower volumes sold at our existing 
locations of 93.0 million, partially offset by acquisition-related volume of 0.9 million. As indicated above, we sold our retail 
propane business to SPH effective August 1, 2012. As a result of this sale, gallons sold at existing locations reflected only ten 
months of operating activity during the year ended September 30, 2012 compared to twelve months for the prior year, which 
contributed an approximate 31.5 million gallon decline.  For the remainder of the decline experienced during the year ended 
September 30, 2012, we believe that retail propane gallon sales were impacted by several ongoing factors, including lower 
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demand arising from above average temperatures, customer conservation, high commodity prices and customers switching to 
other suppliers or energy sources.  The weather during the year ended September 30, 2012 was approximately 21% warmer 
than the prior year period and approximately 20% warmer than normal in our areas of operations.  These warmer temperatures 
had a significant negative impact on retail propane gallons sold during the year ended September 30, 2012.   Additionally, 
although the average cost of propane has declined approximately 20%  during the year ended September 30, 2012  compared to 
the prior year, the average wholesale cost of propane during our primary heating season from October to March 2012 increased 
approximately 2% compared to the same prior year period.  We believe these higher costs during our primary heating season 
impacted customers' buying decisions and conservation trends, including customers seeking alternative sources of energy, such 
as electricity, wood burning and pellet burning stoves, since those sources can be more economical for the customer 
considering the higher cost of propane.  

NGL marketing gallons delivered increased 108.8 million gallons, or 27.5%, to 504.3 million gallons in the year ended 
September 30, 2012, from 395.5 million gallons in the year ended September 30, 2011.  This increase was driven primarily by 
(i) a 59.9 million gallon increase in Y-grade sales in the year ended September 30, 2012 as a result of increased production by 
the Caiman/Williams facility at Fort Beeler, West Virginia, noting that we marketed 100% of the production at this facility 
during the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011; (ii) additional third party sales volumes to SPH after the close of the sale 
of the retail propane business to SPH, which accounted for an additional 21.7 million gallons in the year ended September 30, 
2012 compared to the prior year period; and (iii) an increase in sales of 49.0 million gallons in the year ended September 30, 
2012 specific to the Delaware City location, which was only operational for a portion of the prior year period. These increases 
were partially offset by lower volumes sold to existing customers primarily due to the warmer weather conditions in the year 
ended September 30, 2012 compared to the year ended September 30, 2011 as discussed above.

The total NGL gallons sold or processed by our West Coast NGL operations increased 93.3 million gallons, or 25.8%, to 455.6 
million gallons during the year ended September 30, 2012, from 362.3 million gallons during the prior year period.  The 
increase was primarily attributable to higher throughput volumes processed as a result of operational expansion of the facility 
in fiscal 2012, which accounted for 64.1 million gallons of the increase. An additional 29.8 million gallons of isomerization 
gallons were processed in the year ended September 30, 2012 due to favorable market conditions and changes in contractual 
obligations from the prior year. 

Our Tres Palacios storage facility was approximately 53% and 69% contracted on a firm basis (83% and 80% contracted on a 
firm and interruptible basis) during the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  Additionally 100% of 
available capacity was sold at Inergy Midstream's Northeast natural gas facilities (Stagecoach, Steuben and Thomas Corners) 
on a firm basis, and the Bath NGL storage facility was approximately 100% contracted (for storage or forward sales).   The 
Seneca Lake storage facility, which was acquired in July 2011, was approximately 72% and 59% contracted on a firm basis 
during the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  

Revenues.  Revenues for the year ended September 30, 2012, were $2,006.8 million, a decrease of $147.0 million, or 6.8%, 
from $2,153.8 million during the same prior year period.  

Revenues from retail sales were $777.3 million for the year ended September 30, 2012, compared to $1,050.9 million during 
the year ended September 30, 2011, a decrease of $273.6 million, or 26.0%.  Retail propane revenues  were $626.6 million in 
fiscal 2012,  a decrease of $232.0 million compared to $858.6 million in fiscal 2011.  This decrease was primarily due to a 
$245.2 million decline arising from lower retail propane volumes sold to existing customers as described above, partially offset 
by a $10.7 million increase due to a higher overall average selling price of propane and a $2.5 million increase resulting from 
acquisition-related retail propane sales.  Approximately $81.2 million of the decrease attributable to lower volumes sold to 
existing customers resulted from the sale of our retail propane operations to SPH effective August 1, 2012.   The overall 
average selling price of propane was higher than the same prior year period due to our ability to pass on to the customer at least 
a portion of the higher average wholesale cost of propane experienced during the primary heating season.  Other retail sales, 
which primarily includes distillates, service, rental, and appliance sales, decreased $41.6 million to $150.7 million for the year 
ended September 30, 2012 from $192.3 million during the year ended September 30, 2011.  Revenue from other retail sales 
declined $43.6 million, mostly as a result of lower distillate volumes sold at existing locations, of which approximately $21.3 
million resulted from the sale of our retail propane operations to SPH.  This decline was partially offset by a $2.0 million 
increase in other retail revenues as a result of acquisitions.  
 
Revenues from NGL marketing sales were $618.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2012,  an increase of $56.0 million, 
or 9.9%, from $562.9 million in the year ended September 30, 2011.  The increase can be attributed to greater volumes sold to 
existing and new customers, which contributed $154.8 million to the increase, partially offset by a $98.8 million decline due to 
a lower average sales price for commodities sold.   
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Revenues from L&L transportation sales were $58.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2012,  an increase of $38.6 
million or 194.0% from $19.9 million during the year ended September 30, 2011.  This increase was primarily attributable to 
our acquisitions of the assets of Papco and Werner. 

Revenues from our West Coast NGL operations were $313.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2012,  an increase of 
$4.0 million or 1.3% from $309.7 million during the year ended September 30, 2011.  West Coast facility revenues were $270.2 
million for the year ended September 30, 2012 compared to $269.3 million in the prior year period,  an increase of $0.9 million.  
This increase was primarily a result of increased throughput revenues as noted above, partially offset by lower commodity 
revenues resulting from lower commodity sales prices in fiscal 2012. West Coast propane revenues were $43.5 million for the 
year ended September 30, 2012 compared to $40.4 million for the prior year period,  an increase of $3.1 million.  These higher 
propane revenues were attributable to an increase of 8.3 million propane gallons sold at the West Coast facility for the year 
ended September 30, 2012, partially offset by lower sales price per gallon as a result of lower commodity costs.  

Revenues from storage and pipeline transportation were $238.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2012,  an increase of 
$28.0 million or 13.3% from $210.4 million during the year ended September 30, 2011.  Revenues at our Tres Palacios facility 
increased $2.0 million primarily due to higher facility usage as a result of additional parking revenues.  Inergy Midstream 
revenues increased $15.2 million primarily due to the placement into service of the North-South Facilities.   Inergy Midstream's 
revenues also increased $8.4 million primarily due to additional demand for interruptible wheeling service as a result of 
customer demand to move gas to and from Inergy Midstream's interconnecting pipes primarily due to increasing natural gas 
development in Pennsylvania, and Inergy Midstream's acquisition of the Seneca Lake storage facility in July 2011 also 
increased revenue $6.5 million.  

Cost of Product Sold.  Cost of product sold for the year ended September 30, 2012, was $1,396.2 million, a decrease of $79.8 
million, or 5.4%, from $1,476.0 million during the year ended September 30, 2011.

Retail cost of product sold was $438.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2012, a decrease of $156.1 million, or 26.2%, 
when compared to $594.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2011.  Retail propane cost was $341.9 million in fiscal 
2012, a decrease of $129.9 million compared to $471.8 million in fiscal 2011.  This decline in retail propane cost of product 
sold was driven by a $134.4 million decrease resulting from lower volumes sold at existing locations, coupled with a $4.2 
million decline due to a lower average per gallon cost of propane.  These factors were partially offset by a $1.3 million increase 
due to acquisition-related sales, and a $7.4 million increase due to changes in non-cash charges on derivative contracts 
associated with retail propane fixed price sales contracts.  The increase in non-cash charges on derivative contracts primarily 
relates to a $9.2 million non-cash gain recognized in the fourth quarter of 2012 related to certain derivative contracts entered 
into with SPH on the date of the close of the sale of our retail propane operations to SPH.  These derivative contracts related to 
the procurement of propane at fixed prices to supply the propane necessary to satisfy fixed price sales contracts with retail 
customers that SPH acquired as part of their acquisition of our retail propane operations.  We also have a related amount 
recorded as of September 30, 2012 as a loss in accumulated other comprehensive income related to derivative contracts that, 
prior to the sale of retail to SPH, were associated with our cash flow hedging activities related to fixed price sales to retail 
customers.   The amount recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income as of September 30, 2012 is expected to be 
realized in earnings during the year ended September 30, 2013. Approximately $52.1 million of the decrease attributable to 
volumes sold at existing locations  resulted from the sale of our retail propane operations to SPH effective August 1, 2012. 
Other retail cost of product sold was $96.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2012, compared to $123.1 million during 
the year ended September 30, 2011. This $26.2 million decrease was primarily due to a $27.8 million decline in the cost for 
distillates and other retail sales, partially offset by a $1.6 million increase from acquisitions.  The decrease in the cost of 
product sold for distillates and other retail sales was driven by a $12.3 million decline due to the sale of our retail propane 
operations with the remainder of the decline due mostly to lower volumes of distillates sold at existing locations.   

NGL marketing cost of product sold for the year ended September 30, 2012, was $590.2 million,  an increase of $58.3 million, 
or 11.0%, from NGL marketing cost of product sold of $531.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2011.  This increase 
was attributable to greater volumes sold to existing and new customers as noted above, which contributed $146.3 million to the 
increase, partially offset by an $88.0 million decrease due to a lower average purchase price as a result of lower commodity 
costs during the year ended September 30, 2012 compared to the prior year period. 

L&L transportation cost of product sold was $34.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2012,  an increase of $20.9 million 
or 158.3% from $13.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2011.  This increase was primarily attributable to our 
acquisitions of the assets of Papco and Werner.
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Cost of product sold at our West Coast NGL operations was $281.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2012, a decrease 
of $1.1 million or 0.4% from $282.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2011. Cost of product sold for West Coast 
facility operations was $238.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2012 compared to $241.9 million for the prior year 
period, a decrease of $3.2 million. This decrease was primarily a result of lower average commodity prices and expected 
changes in types of NGLs sold, partially offset by higher throughput volumes processed.  West Coast propane cost of product 
sold was $42.4 million  for the year ended September 30, 2012 compared to $40.3 million for the prior year period,  an increase 
of $2.1 million.  This increase was attributable to increased volume sold as noted above, partially offset by lower commodity 
costs.    

Storage and pipeline transportation cost of product sold was $52.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2012, a decrease of 
$1.8 million, or 3.3%, from $53.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2011.  Storage and pipeline transportation cost of 
product sold at our Tres Palacios facility increased $2.5 million primarily due to an increase in cavern lease payments year over 
year.  Inergy Midstream's storage and pipeline transportation cost of product sold decreased $3.4 million as a result of insurance 
reimbursements related to the Stagecoach central compressor loss, and also decreased $3.7 million related to the costs incurred 
in the prior period associated with the Stagecoach central compressor loss.  Additionally, Inergy Midstream's storage and 
pipeline transportation costs decreased by $1.6 million due to a decrease in leased transportation capacity held on a non-
affiliated interconnecting pipeline.  The above decreases in Inergy Midstream's storage and pipeline transportation costs were 
partially offset by a $3.9 million increase in storage related costs incurred as a result of placing the North/South Facilities into 
service in December 2011.

Our retail and NGL marketing cost of product sold consists primarily of tangible products sold including all propane, distillates 
and other NGLs sold and all propane-related appliances sold.  Other costs incurred in conjunction with the distribution of these 
products are included in operating and administrative expenses and consist primarily of wages to delivery personnel, delivery 
vehicle costs consisting of fuel costs, repair and maintenance and lease expense.  Costs associated with delivery vehicles 
approximated $63.9 million and $75.3 million for the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  In addition, the 
depreciation expense associated with the delivery vehicles and customer tanks is reported within depreciation and amortization 
expense and amounted to $57.7 million and $69.9 million for the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  
Since we include these costs in our operating and administrative expense and depreciation and amortization expense rather than 
in cost of product sold, our results may not be comparable to other entities in our lines of business if they include these costs in 
cost of product sold.

Our storage and pipeline transportation cost of product sold consists primarily of commodity and transportation costs.  Other 
costs incurred in conjunction with these services are included in operating and administrative expense and depreciation and 
amortization expense and consist primarily of depreciation, vehicle costs consisting of fuel costs and repair and maintenance 
and wages.  Depreciation expense for storage and pipeline transportation services amounted to $70.5 million and $60.8 million 
for the year ended September 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  Vehicle costs and wages for personnel directly involved in 
providing storage and pipeline transportation services amounted to $4.6 million and $3.5 million for the year ended 
September 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  Since we include these costs in our operating and administrative expense and 
depreciation and amortization expense rather than in cost of product sold, our results may not be comparable to other entities in 
our lines of business if they include these costs in cost of product sold.   

Gross Profit (Excluding Depreciation and Amortization).  Gross profit for the year ended September 30, 2012, was $610.6 
million, a decrease of $67.2 million, or 9.9%, from $677.8 million during the year ended September 30, 2011.

Retail gross profit was $338.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2012, compared to $456.0 million for the year ended 
September 30, 2011, a decrease of $117.5 million, or 25.8%.  Retail propane gross profit was $284.7 million in fiscal 2012, a 
decrease of $102.1 million compared to $386.8 million in fiscal 2011.  This decrease was mostly due to a $110.8 million 
decline attributable to lower volumes sold at existing locations, coupled with a $7.4 million decline due to changes in non-cash 
charges on derivative contracts associated with retail propane fixed price sales contracts.  Approximately $29.1 million of the 
decline from lower volumes sold at existing locations resulted from the sale of our retail propane operations to SPH effective 
August, 1, 2012.   These factors were partially offset by an increase in retail gross profit of $14.9 million resulting from a 
higher cash margin per gallon and a $1.2 million increase associated with acquisitions.  Other retail gross profit was $53.8 
million for the year ended September 30, 2012, compared to $69.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2011.  This $15.4 
million decrease was due primarily to a decline in gross profit from distillate and other retail sales of $15.8 million, partially 
offset by an increase of $0.4 million arising from acquisition-related gross profit.  Gross profit from distillate and other retail 
sales declined mostly due to lower volumes sold at our existing locations, approximately $9.0 million of which resulted from 
the sale of our retail propane operations.  
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NGL marketing gross profit was $28.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2012, compared to $31.0 million for the year 
ended September 30, 2011, a decrease of $2.3 million, or 7.4%.  This decrease resulted from lower margins on volumes sold to 
new and existing customers.

L&L transportation gross profit was $24.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2012,  an increase of $17.7 million or 
264.2% from $6.7 million during the year ended September 30, 2011.  This increase was primarily attributable to our 
acquisitions of the assets of Papco and Werner.

Gross profit at our West Coast NGL operations was $32.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2012,  an increase of $5.1 
million or 18.5% from $27.5 million during the year ended September 30, 2011.  This increase was primarily attributable to 
increased margins attained through increased throughput volumes and isomerization volumes during the period.

Storage and pipeline transportation gross profit was $186.4 million in the year ended September 30, 2012, compared to $156.6 
million during the year ended September 30, 2011,  an increase of $29.8 million, or 19.0%.  This change is primarily related to 
the placement into service of the North/South Facilities and CNYOG's business interruption insurance reimbursement, which in 
total contributed $18.5 million to the increase.  Inergy Midstream's acquisition of Seneca Lake in July 2011 resulted in an 
increase in gross profit of $6.3 million.  

Operating and Administrative Expenses.  Operating and administrative expenses were $300.8 million for the year ended 
September 30, 2012, compared to $323.3 million for the year ended September 30, 2011, a decrease of $22.5 million, or 7.0%.  
This change was primarily due to a $34.6 million decrease in operating expenses resulting from the sale of our retail propane 
operations to SPH effective August 1, 2012, an $8.6 million decrease in transaction expenses related to acquisitions in the prior 
fiscal year, and lower personnel and vehicle costs from existing operations of $7.4 million.  Partially offsetting these decreases 
was an increase of $15.8 million due to acquisitions and a $12.1 million increase in long-term incentive and equity 
compensation expense as a result of greater amortization of existing awards and the net effect of a change in estimate of certain 
awards with performance conditions.  

Depreciation and Amortization.  Depreciation and amortization was $169.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2012, 
compared to $191.8 million during the year ended September 30, 2011.  This $22.2 million, or 11.6%, decrease resulted 
primarily because we stopped depreciating and amortizing retail assets on May 1, 2012 as these assets were deemed held for 
sale and then ultimately sold on August 1, 2012.  Partially offsetting this decrease was an increase related to acquisitions and 
the placing of Inergy Midstream assets into service during the year ended September 30, 2012.

Interest Expense.  Interest expense was $83.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2012, compared to $113.5 million 
during the year ended September 30, 2011.  This $29.9 million, or 26.3%, decrease was due primarily to a decline in average 
outstanding borrowings and a lower average interest rate incurred.  Additionally, during the year ended September 30, 2012 and 
2011, we capitalized $14.8 million and $16.2 million, respectively, of interest related to certain capital improvement projects in 
our storage and transportation segment as further described below in the “Liquidity and Sources of Capital” section.

Gain on Disposal of Retail Propane Operations.  During the year ended September 30, 2012, we recorded a gain on the 
disposal of our retail propane operations of $589.5 million as further described above.

Loss on Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. Units. During the year ended September 30, 2012, we recorded an impairment loss of 
$47.6 million on the units of SPH we received from the sale of our retail propane operations.  We accounted for our investment 
in SPH in accordance with the equity method and the impairment loss represents the drop in the SPH unit price during the 45 
days we held these units.  We distributed the SPH common units on September 14, 2012.

Early Extinguishment of Debt.  During the year ended September 30, 2012, we paid in full the $300 million balance 
outstanding on our term loan facility, tendered substantially all the $95 million outstanding on our 2015 senior notes, tendered 
for $150 million of the $750 million outstanding on our 2021 senior notes, and reduced our revolving credit facility by $150 
million.  The loss associated with the above described transactions amounted to $26.6 million and was primarily related to the 
tender premiums and the write-off of previously capitalized charges associated with the original issuance of the respective debt.  
During the year ended September 30, 2011, we exercised our equity offerings redemption option in addition to a partial tender 
offer and redeemed 48% of our 2015 senior notes.  Further, we tendered over 90% of both our 2014 and 2016 senior notes and 
the remaining amounts were redeemed in full.  The loss associated with the above described transactions amounted to $52.1 
million and was primarily related to the tender premium and the write-off of previously capitalized charges associated with the 
original issuance of the respective debt.
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Provision  for Income Taxes.  The provision for income taxes for the year ended September 30, 2012, was $1.8 million 
compared to $0.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2011.  The provision for income taxes for the year ended 
September 30, 2012, was composed of $1.4 million of current income tax expense and $0.4 million of deferred income tax 
expense.  

Net Income (Loss).  Net income was $565.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2012, compared to a net loss of $(10.6) 
million for the year ended September 30, 2011.  The $576.5 million increase in net income was primarily attributable to the 
$589.5 million gain on disposal of retail propane operations, a $25.5 million decrease in charges related to the early 
extinguishment of debt, a $29.9 million decrease in interest expense and the lower operating and administrative expenses and 
depreciation and amortization primarily resulting from the contribution of our retail propane operations to SPH on August 1, 
2012. Partially offsetting these increases to net income was the $(47.6) million loss on SPH units and lower gross profit as 
discussed above.

Net (Income) Loss Attributable to Non-Controlling Partners.  The earnings of non-controlling partners of $11.0 million for the 
year ended September 30, 2012, solely relates to the 25% minority interest in Inergy Midstream's net income.  Inergy 
Midstream's IPO occurred in December 2011. The net loss attributable to non-controlling interest for the year ended September 
30, 2011 of  $28.2 million was related entirely to earnings of non-controlling partners prior to the November 2010 merger of 
Inergy and Holdings.  The merger eliminated this group of non-controlling partners.  

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA. The following tables summarize EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for the fiscal years ended 
September 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively (in millions):
 

 
Year Ended

September 30,
  2012 2011

EBITDA:
Net income (loss) $ 565.9 $ (10.6)
Interest expense, net 83.6 113.5
Early extinguishment of debt 26.6 52.1
Provision for income taxes 1.8 0.7
Depreciation and amortization 169.6 191.8

EBITDA $ 847.5 $ 347.5
Non-cash (gain) loss on derivative contracts (8.6) 1.2
Long-term incentive and equity compensation expense 17.9 5.8
Loss on disposal of assets 5.7 8.2
Gain on disposal of retail propane operations (589.5) —
Loss on Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. units 47.6 —
Transaction costs 0.9 9.5

Adjusted EBITDA $ 321.5 $ 372.2

Table of Contents



50

 
Year Ended

September 30,
  2012 2011

EBITDA:
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 239.0 $ 114.4
Net changes in working capital balances (9.4) 104.1
Non-cash early extinguishment of debt (10.0) (12.7)
Provision for doubtful accounts (2.1) (3.7)
Amortization of deferred financing costs, swap premium and net bond discount (4.9) (7.4)
Unit-based compensation charges (12.9) (5.8)
Loss on disposal of assets (5.7) (8.2)
Gain on disposal of retail propane operations 589.5 —
Loss on Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. units (47.6) —
Deferred income tax (0.4) 0.5
Interest expense, net 83.6 113.5
Early extinguishment of debt 26.6 52.1
Provision for income taxes 1.8 0.7

EBITDA $ 847.5 $ 347.5
Non-cash (gain) loss on derivative contracts (8.6) 1.2
Long-term incentive and equity compensation expense 17.9 5.8
Loss on disposal of assets 5.7 8.2
Gain on disposal of retail propane operations (589.5) —
Loss on Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. units 47.6 —
Transaction costs 0.9 9.5

Adjusted EBITDA $ 321.5 $ 372.2

EBITDA is defined as income before income taxes, plus net interest expense, early extinguishment of debt and depreciation 
and amortization expense. As indicated in the table, Adjusted EBITDA represents EBITDA excluding the gain or loss on 
derivative contracts associated with retail propane fixed price sales contracts, long-term incentive and equity compensation 
expenses, the gain or loss on the disposal of assets, the gain on disposal of retail propane operations, the loss on SPH units, and 
transaction costs. Transaction costs are third party professional fees and other costs that are incurred in conjunction with closing 
a transaction. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered an alternative to net income, income before income 
taxes, cash flows from operating activities, or any other measure of financial performance calculated in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles as those items are used to measure operating performance, liquidity or the ability to 
service debt obligations. We believe that EBITDA provides additional information for evaluating our ability to make the 
quarterly distribution and is presented solely as a supplemental measure. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA provides additional 
information for evaluating our financial performance without regard to our financing methods, capital structure and historical 
cost basis. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, as we define them, may not be comparable to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA or 
similarly titled measures used by other corporations or partnerships.
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Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2010 

The following table summarizes the consolidated income statement components for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2011 
and 2010, respectively (in millions):

 
Year Ended

September 30, Change
  2011 2010 In Dollars Percentage

Revenue $ 2,153.8 $ 1,786.0 $ 367.8 20.6 %
Cost of product sold 1,476.0 1,165.9 310.1 26.6
Gross profit (excluding depreciation and amortization) 677.8 620.1 57.7 9.3
Operating and administrative expenses 323.3 310.7 12.6 4.1
Depreciation and amortization 191.8 161.8 30.0 18.5
Loss on disposal of assets 8.2 11.5 (3.3) (28.7)
Operating income 154.5 136.1 18.4 13.5
Interest expense, net (113.5) (91.5) (22.0) (24.0)
Early extinguishment of debt (52.1) — (52.1) *
Other income 1.2 2.0 (0.8) (40.0)
Income (loss) before income taxes (9.9) 46.6 (56.5) (121.2)
Provision for income taxes 0.7 0.2 0.5 250.0
Net income (loss) (10.6) 46.4 (57.0) (122.8)
Net loss attributable to non-controlling partners 28.2 15.4 12.8 83.1
Net income attributable to partners $ 17.6 $ 61.8 $ (44.2) (71.5)%

* not meaningful

The following table summarizes revenues, including associated volume of gallons sold, for the years ended September 30, 2011 
and 2010, respectively (in millions):

  Revenues Gallons

 
Year Ended

September 30, Change
Year Ended

September 30, Change
  2011 2010 In Dollars Percent 2011 2010 In Units Percent

Propane
Retail propane $ 858.6 $ 796.5 $ 62.1 7.8% 325.6 340.2 (14.6) (4.3)%
Wholesale propane 603.3 475.9 127.4 26.8 422.8 415.3 7.5 1.8
Other retail 212.2 194.5 17.7 9.1 — — — —

Midstream 479.7 319.1 160.6 50.3 — — — —
Total $ 2,153.8 $ 1,786.0 $ 367.8 20.6% 748.4 755.5 (7.1) (0.9)%

Volume.  During the year ended September 30, 2011, we sold 325.6 million retail gallons of propane, a decrease of 14.6 million 
gallons or 4.3% from the 340.2 million retail gallons sold during fiscal 2010.  Gallons sold during the year ended September 
30, 2011, decreased as compared to the same prior year period as a result of lower volumes sold at our existing locations of 
42.4 million, partially offset by an increase arising from acquisition volume of 27.8 million gallons.  The primary causes of the 
declining volumes at existing locations were (i) a decline in low margin agricultural propane sold due to lesser crop drying 
demand in the current year period compared to prior year, (ii) continued customer conservation, which we believe has resulted 
from the continued impact of the overall weak United States economic environment and higher propane costs, which have been 
at record high prices the past several years and which have increased during the fiscal period ended September 30, 2011, (iii) 
volume declines from net customer losses primarily as a result of higher selling prices, and (iv) warmer weather in our South 
and Southeast areas of operations.  The average wholesale cost of propane has increased approximately 27% during the year 
ended September 30, 2011, compared to the same prior year period, continuing to impact customer buying decisions and 
conservation trends.   Although certain of our areas of operations (South and Southeast) were warmer during the fiscal period 
ended September 30, 2011, compared to the same prior year period, on a consolidated retail basis, weather during the current 
year ended was approximately 2% colder than the prior year period and approximately 1.3% colder than normal.  
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Wholesale gallons delivered increased 7.5 million gallons, or 1.8%, to 422.8 million gallons in the year ended September 30, 
2011, from 415.3 million gallons in the year ended September 30, 2010.  The increase was due primarily to higher demand and 
volumes sold to existing and new customers.

The total NGL gallons sold or processed by our West Coast NGL operations decreased 14.9 million gallons, or 4.3%, to 335.0 
million gallons during the year ended September 30, 2011, from 349.9 million gallons during fiscal 2010.  This decrease was 
primarily attributable to decreased volume processed, partially offset by increased volume of NGL products sold.  Both of the 
aforementioned changes were primarily due to local market conditions.

During the year ended September 30, 2011, our Tres Palacios storage facility, which was acquired in October 2010, was 
approximately 69% contracted on a firm basis (80% contracted on a firm and interruptible basis).   Additionally during the 
years ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, 100% of available capacity was sold at Inergy Midstream's Northeast natural gas 
facilities (Stagecoach, Steuben and Thomas Corners) on a firm basis, and the Bath NGL storage facility was approximately 
100% contracted (for storage or forward sales).  The Seneca Lake storage facility, which was acquired in July 2011, was 
approximately 59% contracted on a firm basis during the year ended September 30, 2011.  

Revenues.  Revenues for the year ended September 30, 2011, were $2,153.8 million, an increase of $367.8 million, or 20.6%, 
from $1,786.0 million during fiscal 2010. 

Revenues from retail propane sales were $858.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2011, compared to $796.5 million 
during fiscal 2010.  This $62.1 million, or 7.8%, increase was due to a higher overall average selling price of propane and 
acquisition-related sales, which resulted in higher retail propane revenues of $91.5 million and $69.7 million, respectively.  The 
overall average selling price of propane increased due to an increase in the wholesale cost of propane.  These factors were 
partially offset by a $99.1 million revenue decline arising from a decrease in gallons sold to existing customers as described 
above.  

Revenues from wholesale propane sales were $603.3 million in the year ended September 30, 2011, an increase of $127.4 
million or 26.8%, from $475.9 million in the year ended September 30, 2010. This increase was driven primarily by a higher 
average selling price, which contributed $118.7 million to the increase and higher volumes sold, which contributed $8.7 million 
to the increase.  

Revenues from other retail sales, which primarily includes distillates, service, rental, appliance sales and transportation 
services, were $212.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2011, an increase of $17.7 million, or 9.1%, from $194.5 
million during fiscal 2010.  Revenue from other retail sales increased as a result of higher distillate revenues of $16.7 million 
and an increase related to acquisitions of $3.5 million, partially offset by a $2.5 million decline in appliance, parts and other 
retail revenues.  Distillate revenues from existing locations increased as a result of a higher comparable average selling price of 
distillates due to a higher wholesale cost, partially offset by lower volume sold.  

Revenues from storage, fractionation and other midstream activities were $479.7 million for the year ended September 30, 
2011, an increase of $160.6 million or 50.3% from $319.1 million during fiscal 2010.  Revenues from our West Coast NGL 
operations increased $96.8 million primarily as a result of increased higher average selling prices of NGLs, along with 
increased NGL products sold.  The acquisition of our Tres Palacios gas storage facility and the commencement of the Thomas 
Corners gas storage contracts in April 2010 increased revenues by $46.0 million and $8.1 million, respectively.  Additionally 
revenues at the Stagecoach facility have increased $7.7 million due to interruptible wheeling service as a result of customer 
demand to move gas to/from interconnecting pipes primarily due to natural gas development in Pennsylvania.  

Cost of Product Sold.  Cost of product sold for the year ended September 30, 2011, was $1,476.0 million, an increase of $310.1 
million, or 26.6%, from $1,165.9 million during fiscal 2010.

Retail propane cost of product sold was $471.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2011, an increase of $58.1 million, or 
14.0%, when compared to $413.7 million for fiscal 2010.  This higher retail cost of product sold was driven by a $68.2 million 
increase arising from a higher average per gallon cost of propane and a $39.3 million increase associated with acquisition-
related sales.  Also contributing to a higher cost of product sold was a $2.2 million increase due to changes in non-cash charges 
on derivative contracts associated with retail propane fixed price sales contracts.  These factors were partially offset by a $51.6 
million decline in cost of product sold resulting from lower volume sales at our existing locations as discussed above.  
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Wholesale propane cost of product sold in the year ended September 30, 2011, was $572.2 million, an increase of $123.0 
million or 27.4%, from wholesale cost of product sold of $449.2 million in the year ended September 30, 2010.  This increase 
resulted from the higher average purchase price of propane, which contributed $114.8 million to the increase and greater 
volumes sold, which contributed $8.2 million. 

Other retail cost of product sold was $136.3 million for the year ended September 30, 2011, compared to $113.1 million during 
fiscal 2010.  This $23.2 million, or 20.5%, increase was primarily as a result of a $20.4 million increase in the cost for 
distillates, a $1.1 million increase in the cost of product sold associated with acquisition-related sales and a $1.7 million 
increase in the cost of other retail sales.  The increase in the cost of product sold for distillates was driven by a $25.3 million 
increase due to a higher overall commodity cost, partially offset by a $4.9 million decline due to lower volumes sold at existing 
locations.    

Storage, fractionation and other midstream cost of product sold was $295.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2011, an 
increase of $105.8 million, or 55.7%, from $189.9 million during fiscal 2010.  Costs from our West Coast NGL operations were 
$94.1 million higher as a result of higher average commodity prices for NGLs, along with increased NGL products sold. 
Additionally, the acquisition of our Tres Palacios gas storage facility resulted in a $10.0 million increase over the prior year.

Our retail and wholesale cost of product sold consists primarily of tangible products sold including all propane, distillates and 
other NGLs sold and all propane-related appliances sold.  Other costs incurred in conjunction with the distribution of these 
products are included in operating and administrative expenses and consist primarily of wages to delivery personnel, delivery 
vehicle costs consisting of fuel costs, repair and maintenance and lease expense.  Costs associated with delivery vehicles 
approximated $74.0 million and $67.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  In addition, the 
depreciation expense associated with the delivery vehicles and customer tanks is reported within depreciation and amortization 
expense and amounted to $29.4 million and $32.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Since 
we include these costs in our operating and administrative expense and depreciation and amortization expense rather than in 
cost of product sold, our results may not be comparable to other entities in our lines of business if they include these costs in 
cost of product sold.

Our storage, fractionation and other midstream cost of product sold consists primarily of commodity and transportation costs.  
Other costs incurred in conjunction with these services are included in operating and administrative expense and depreciation 
and amortization expense and consist primarily of depreciation, vehicle costs consisting of fuel costs and repair and 
maintenance and wages.  Depreciation expense for storage, fractionation and other midstream amounted to $101.4 million and 
$73.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Vehicle costs and wages for personnel directly 
involved in providing midstream services amounted to $4.7 million and $2.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2011 
and 2010, respectively.  Since we include these costs in our operating and administrative expense and depreciation and 
amortization expense rather than in cost of product sold, our results may not be comparable to other entities in our lines of 
business if they include these costs in cost of product sold.   

Gross Profit (Excluding Depreciation and Amortization).  Gross profit for the year ended September 30, 2011, was $677.8 
million, an increase of $57.7 million, or 9.3%, from $620.1 million during fiscal 2010.

Retail propane gross profit was $386.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2011, compared to $382.8 million in fiscal 
2010.  This $4.0 million, or 1.0%, increase was primarily driven by acquisitions and a higher cash margin per gallon, which 
contributed increases of $30.4 million and $23.3 million respectively.  The higher cash margin per gallon was primarily due to 
the average selling price increasing at a greater rate than the increased cost of propane including the impact of lesser 
agricultural gallons sold, which generally have a lower margin.  These factors were partially offset by a gross profit decline of 
$47.5 million attributable to lower retail gallon sales at existing locations as discussed above and a $2.2 million decline related 
to changes in non-cash charges on derivative contracts associated with retail propane fixed price sales contracts as discussed 
above.  

Wholesale propane gross profit was $31.1 million in the year ended September 30, 2011, compared to $26.7 million in the year 
ended September 30, 2010, an increase of $4.4 million, or 16.5%.  This increase resulted from higher margins obtained which 
contributed $3.9 million to the increase and greater volumes sold to new and existing customers, which contributed $0.5 
million.

Other retail gross profit was $75.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2011, compared to $81.4 million for fiscal 2010.  
This $5.5 million, or 6.8%, decrease was primarily due to a $3.7 million decline in gross profit from distillates and a $4.2 
million decline in other retail gross profit, partially offset by a $2.4 million increase in gross profit related to acquisitions.        
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Storage, fractionation and other midstream gross profit was $184.0 million in the year ended September 30, 2011, compared to 
$129.2 million in fiscal 2010, an increase of $54.8 million, or 42.4%.  This increase was partially attributable to the gas storage 
acquisition of Tres Palacios, which contributed $36.0 million to the higher gross profit.  The completion of the Thomas Corners 
gas storage facility in November 2009, and the relating storage contracts coming online in April 2010, also increased gross 
profit by approximately $7.4 million.  Additionally an increase in interruptible wheeling revenues at the Stagecoach facility 
increased gross profit by approximately $6.0 million.  Gross profit from our West Coast NGL operations was $2.7 million 
higher as a result of higher average margins, along with increased NGLs sold to existing and new customers. 

Operating and Administrative Expenses.  Operating and administrative expenses were $323.3 million for the year ended 
September 30, 2011, compared to $310.7 million in fiscal 2010, an increase of $12.6 million or 4.1%.  Included in the 2011 
operating expenses were $9.5 million of transaction costs, primarily financing commitment expenses for the Tres Palacios 
acquisition, directly related to closing acquisitions during the period.  The transaction costs for the same period of the prior year 
were $3.5 million.  In addition, operating expenses increased $22.5 million due to the operations of acquisitions, partially offset 
by lower personnel costs from existing operations, which decreased $19.3 million, and lower insurance and other operating 
expenses.

Depreciation and Amortization.  Depreciation and amortization was $191.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2011, 
compared to $161.8 million during fiscal 2010.  This $30.0 million, or 18.5%, increase resulted primarily from acquisitions.

Loss on Disposal of Assets.  Loss on disposal of assets decreased $3.3 million, or 28.7%, to $8.2 million in fiscal 2011 
compared to $11.5 million in fiscal 2010.  The losses recognized in fiscal 2011 and 2010 include losses of $11.1 million and 
$9.7 million, respectively, related to assets held for sale, which have been written down to their estimated selling price.  In 
addition, we had gains in fiscal 2011 of $2.9 million and other losses in fiscal 2010 of $1.8 million.  These assets, both those 
sold and those held for sale, consist primarily of vehicles, tanks and real estate deemed to be excess, redundant or 
underperforming assets.  In fiscal 2011 and 2010, these assets were identified primarily as a result of losses due to 
disconnecting customer installations of less profitable accounts due to low margins, poor payment history or low volume usage 
and customers who have chosen to switch suppliers. 

Interest Expense.  Interest expense was $113.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2011, compared to $91.5 million 
during fiscal 2010.  This $22.0 million, or 24.0%, increase was due primarily to an increase in the average outstanding 
borrowings during the period due to acquisitions, partially offset by a decrease in the average interest rate incurred on those 
borrowings.  Additionally, during the year ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, we capitalized $16.2 million and $6.4 million, 
respectively, of interest related to certain capital improvement projects in our storage and transportation segment as further 
described below in the “Liquidity and Sources of Capital” section.

Early Extinguishment of Debt.  During the year ended September 30, 2011, we exercised our equity offerings redemption 
option in addition to a partial tender offer and redeemed 48% of our 2015 senior notes.  Further, we tendered over 90% of both 
our 2014 and 2016 senior notes and the remaining amounts were redeemed in full.  The loss associated with the above 
described transactions amounted to $52.1 million and was primarily related to the tender premium and the write-off of 
previously capitalized charges associated with the original issuance of the respective debt.

Provision for Income Taxes.  The provision for income taxes for the year ended September 30, 2011, was $0.7 million 
compared to $0.2 million in fiscal 2010.  The provision for income taxes for the year ended September 30, 2011, was composed 
of $1.2 million of current income tax expense partially offset by a $0.5 million deferred income tax benefit.   The provision for 
income taxes for the year ended September 30, 2010, was composed of $0.5 million of current income tax expense partially 
offset by a $0.3 million deferred income tax benefit.   

Net Income (Loss).  Net loss was $(10.6) million for the year ended September 30, 2011, compared to net income of $46.4 
million for fiscal 2010.  The $57.0 million, or 122.8%, decrease in net income was primarily attributable to the charge for the 
early extinguishment of debt, increased depreciation and amortization, operating and administrative expenses and interest 
expense in the 2011 period, partially offset by higher gross profit.  
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EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA.  The following tables summarize EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for the fiscal years ended 
September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively (in millions):

 
Year Ended

September 30,
  2011 2010

EBITDA:
Net income (loss) $ (10.6) $ 46.4
Interest expense, net 113.5 91.5
Early extinguishment of debt 52.1 —
Provision for income taxes 0.7 0.2
Depreciation and amortization 191.8 161.8

EBITDA $ 347.5 $ 299.9
Non-cash (gain) loss on derivative contracts 1.2 (1.0)
Long-term incentive and equity compensation expense 5.8 10.9
Loss on disposal of assets 8.2 11.5
Transaction costs 9.5 3.5

Adjusted EBITDA $ 372.2 $ 324.8

 
Year Ended

September 30,
  2011 2010

EBITDA:
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 114.4 $ 173.6
Net changes in working capital balances 104.1 60.7
Non-cash early extinguishment of debt (12.7) —
Provision for doubtful accounts (3.7) (2.8)
Amortization of deferred financing costs, swap premium and net bond discount (7.4) (7.3)
Long-term incentive and equity compensation expense (5.8) (4.8)
Loss on disposal of assets (8.2) (11.5)
Deferred income tax 0.5 0.3
Interest expense, net 113.5 91.5
Early extinguishment of debt 52.1 —
Provision for income taxes 0.7 0.2

EBITDA $ 347.5 $ 299.9
Non-cash (gain) loss on derivative contracts 1.2 (1.0)
Long-term incentive and equity compensation expense 5.8 10.9
Loss on disposal of assets 8.2 11.5
Transaction costs 9.5 3.5

Adjusted EBITDA $ 372.2 $ 324.8

EBITDA is defined as income before income taxes, plus net interest expense, early extinguishment of debt and depreciation 
and amortization expense. As indicated in the table, Adjusted EBITDA represents EBITDA excluding the gain or loss on 
derivative contracts associated with retail propane fixed price sales contracts, long-term incentive and equity compensation 
expenses, the gain or loss on the disposal of assets and transaction costs. Transaction costs are third party professional fees and 
other costs that are incurred in conjunction with closing a transaction. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA should not be 
considered an alternative to net income, income before income taxes, cash flows from operating activities, or any other measure 
of financial performance calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as those items are used to 
measure operating performance, liquidity or the ability to service debt obligations.  We believe that EBITDA provides 
additional information for evaluating our ability to make the quarterly distribution and is presented solely as a supplemental 
measure.  We believe that Adjusted EBITDA provides additional information for evaluating our financial performance without 
regard to our financing methods, capital structure and historical cost basis.  EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, as we define 
them, may not be comparable to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA or similarly titled measures used by other corporations or 
partnerships. 
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Liquidity and Sources of Capital

We are a partnership holding company that derives all of our operating cash flow from our operating subsidiaries.  Our 
principal sources of liquidity include cash generated by operating activities, credit facilities (including our Credit Agreement), 
debt issuances, and sales of our common units.   Our operating subsidiaries use cash from their respective operations to fund 
their operating activities and maintenance capital expenditures.  We use cash generated by our operating subsidiaries and, if 
applicable, borrowings under our Credit Facility to service our outstanding indebtedness, fund growth capital expenditures, and 
make distributions to unitholders.  We do not guarantee indebtedness of, or have similar commitments to, Inergy Midstream or 
its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

Inergy Midstream uses cash generated by operating activities and credit facilities (including its $600 million credit facility) to 
fund its operating activities and maintenance capital expenditures.   It uses cash generated by its operating subsidiaries and, if 
applicable, borrowings under its credit facility to service its outstanding indebtedness, fund growth capital expenditures, and 
make distributions to unitholders.   Inergy Midstream does not guarantee indebtedness of, or have similar commitments to, us 
or our wholly-owned subsidiaries.  

Capital Resource Activities

On March 16, 2011, our shelf registration statement (File No. 333-172312) was declared effective by the SEC for the periodic 
sale of up to $1.5 billion of common units, partnership securities and debt securities, or any combination thereof. On June 6, 
2011, we issued 9,000,000 common units in a public offering. We used the net proceeds from this offering to repay borrowings 
under our revolving general partnership and working capital credit facilities, to fund ongoing expansion projects in our 
midstream business and for general partnership purposes. We have approximately $1.2 billion remaining under this shelf 
registration statement.

Cash Flows and Contractual Obligations

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2012 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2011 

Net operating cash inflows were $239.0 million and $114.4 million for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively. The $124.6 million increase in operating cash flows was primarily attributable to an approximate $117.1 million 
impact from certain inventory contracts entered into during the prior year period that were for the delivery of NGLs during the 
year ended September 30, 2012.  The cash received related to the delivery of this product was received during the year ended 
September 30, 2012 and the inventory to satisfy these contracts was purchased during the prior year period. Also contributing 
to the increase in operating cash flows was a $22.8 million decrease in cash cost of early extinguishment of debt and a $34.6 
million decline in cash operating expenses.  Partially offsetting these increases in operating cash flows was a $67.2 million 
decline in gross profit and a $17.5 million increase in cash paid for interest. The remainder of the increase in operating cash 
flows was attributable to other changes in working capital items, including the timing of payments on payables and the 
collection of receivables.      

Net investing cash outflows were $350.6 million and $390.6 million for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively. Net cash outflows were primarily impacted by a $792.0 million decrease in cash outlays related to acquisitions, 
partially offset by a $588.0 million investment in escrow account that was utilized in fiscal 2011 to fund the Tres Palacios 
acquisition, total payments of $58.1 million associated with the sale of our retail propane operations, a $17.8 million decrease 
in proceeds from the sale of assets, and an $88.1 million increase in capital expenditures.  The increase in capital expenditures 
is primarily related to the previously discussed midstream growth projects.

Net financing cash inflows were $100.1 million and $143.3 million for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively. The net change was primarily impacted by a $48.6 million decrease in net borrowings.

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2010

Net operating cash inflows were $114.4 million and $173.6 million for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, 
respectively.  The $59.2 million decrease in operating cash flows was primarily attributable to the $39.4 million cash cost of 
our early extinguishment of debt.  Also contributing to the decrease in operating cash flows was an increase in expenditures for 
inventory due primarily to an increase in commodity prices.
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Net investing cash outflows were $390.6 million and $926.4 million for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, 
respectively.  Net cash outflows were primarily impacted by a $588.0 million investment in an escrow account that was utilized 
to fund the Tres Palacios acquisition and a $19.6 million increase in proceeds from the sale of assets.  These investing cash 
inflows were partially offset by a $571.5 million increase in cash outlays related to acquisitions and an $88.3 million increase in 
capital expenditures.  The increase in acquisitions was primarily related to the acquisition of Tres Palacios, and the increase in 
capital expenditures was primarily related to certain midstream growth projects.

Net financing cash inflows were $143.3 million and $885.5 million for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, 
respectively.  The net change was primarily impacted by a $404.8 million decrease in proceeds related to the issuance of long-
term debt, net of payments on long-term debt, a $68.8 million increase in the total distributions paid, a $291.5 million decrease 
in proceeds from the issuance of common units and a $3.8 million decrease in proceeds from common unit options exercised, 
partially offset by a $3.1 million decrease in payments for deferred financing costs and a $5.9 million increase in proceeds from 
swap settlement.

At September 30, 2012 and 2011, we had goodwill of $165.8 million and $162.0 million, respectively, representing 8% and 5% 
of total assets in each year, respectively. This goodwill is attributable to our acquisitions.

At September 30, 2012, we were in compliance with all debt covenants to our credit facilities.

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of September 30, 2012 (in millions):

Total
Less than

1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years
After

5 years

Aggregate amount of principal and interest to be paid on 
the outstanding long-term debt(a) $ 821.4 $ 22.5 $ 39.0 $ 745.6 $ 14.3
Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable
operating leases 405.6 15.5 30.7 35.7 323.7
Fixed price purchase commitments(c) 351.2 346.7 4.5 — —
Standby letters of credit 56.3 55.3 1.0 — —
Purchase commitments of identified growth projects(b) 22.6 22.6 — — —
Total contractual obligations $ 1,657.1 $ 462.6 $ 75.2 $ 781.3 $ 338.0

 
(a) $503.2 million of our long-term debt, including interest rate swaps, is variable interest rate debt at prime rate or LIBOR plus an applicable spread. 

These rates plus their applicable spreads were between 1.97% and 5.00% at September 30, 2012. These rates have been applied for each period 
presented in the table.

(b) Identified growth projects primarily related to the Watkins Glen NGL development project and the MARC I Pipeline.
(c) Fixed price purchase commitments are volumetrically offset by third party fixed price sale contracts.

We believe that anticipated cash from operations and borrowing capacity under our Credit Agreement will be sufficient to meet 
our liquidity needs for the foreseeable future. If our plans or assumptions change or are inaccurate, or we make acquisitions, we 
may need to raise additional capital. While global financial markets and economic conditions have been disrupted and volatile 
in the past, the conditions have improved more recently. However, we give no assurance that we can raise additional capital to 
meet these needs. We have identified capital expansion project opportunities in our storage and transportation operations. As of 
September 30, 2012, we have firm purchase commitments totaling approximately $0.4 million related to certain of our growth 
projects, and Inergy Midstream has firm purchase commitments totaling approximately $22.2 million related to certain of its 
growth projects. Additional commitments or expenditures, if any, we may make toward any one or more of these projects are at 
our discretion. Any discontinuation of the construction of these projects will likely result in less future cash flow and earnings.

Description of Credit Facilities

Inergy, L.P.

On November 24, 2009, we entered into a secured credit facility (“Credit Agreement”) which, at the time, provided borrowing 
capacity of up to $525 million in the form of a $450 million revolving general partnership credit facility (“General Partnership 
Facility”) and a $75 million working capital credit facility (“Working Capital Facility”). This facility was to mature on 
November 22, 2013. Borrowings under these secured facilities are available for working capital needs, future acquisitions, 
capital expenditures and other general partnership purposes, including the refinancing of existing indebtedness under the 
former credit facility.
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On February 2, 2011, we amended and restated the Credit Agreement to add a $300 million term loan facility (the “Term Loan 
Facility”). The term loan was repaid in full in December 2011 as discussed below.  

On July 28, 2011, we further amended our Credit Agreement to (i) raise the aggregate revolving commitment from $525 
million to $700 million (“Revolving Loan Facility”) with that amount existing as a singular tranche, (ii) reduce the applicable 
rate on revolving loans and commitment fees, (iii) modify and refresh certain covenants and covenant baskets, and (iv) extend 
the maturity date from November 22, 2013 to July 28, 2016.

On April 13, 2012, we further amended our Credit Agreement.  This amendment, among other things, (i) permitted us to sell up 
to 5,000,000 of the Inergy Midstream common units we own, (ii) permitted us to sell US Salt, (iii) decreased the aggregate 
revolving commitment and general partnership commitment from $700 million to $550 million, and (iv) adjusted several of the 
financial covenants.

On July 26, 2012, we further amended our Credit Agreement in order to (i) permit us to enter into a series of transactions as 
described in the Contribution Agreement dated as of April 25, 2012 among us and SPH, (ii) permit us to repurchase, repay or 
redeem all or any portion of the senior notes that remain outstanding after the closing of the Contribution Agreement,  (iii) 
modify certain negative and financial covenants under the Credit Agreement, and  (iv) allow us to redeem, buy back or 
otherwise acquire up to $100 million of our common units on or prior to March 31, 2013.  This amendment did not become 
effective until the contribution of our retail propane assets to SPH closed on August 1, 2012.  In conjunction with the close of 
this transaction, $1,187.0 million of our senior notes were exchanged for SPH senior notes and cash paid directly to 
noteholders, thereby eliminating the senior notes from our consolidated balance sheet on August 1, 2012. 

At September 30, 2012, the balance outstanding under the Credit Agreement was $311.7 million.  At September 30, 2011, the 
balance outstanding under the Credit Agreement was $381.2 million, of which $300.0 million was borrowed under the Term 
Loan Facility and $81.2 million under the Revolving Loan Facility.  The interest rates of the Revolving Loan Facility are based 
on prime rate and LIBOR plus the applicable spreads, resulting in interest rates which were between 2.99% and 5.00% at 
September 30, 2012, and 2.73% and 4.75% at September 30, 2011. The interest rate on the Term Loan Facility was based on 
LIBOR plus the applicable spread, resulting in an interest rate that was 3.23% at September 30, 2011. Availability under the 
Credit Agreement amounted to $184.0 million and $575.3 million at September 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Outstanding 
standby letters of credit under the Credit Agreement amounted to $54.3 million and $43.5 million at September 30, 2012 and 
2011, respectively.

All borrowings under the Credit Agreement are generally secured by substantially all of our assets and the equity interests in all 
of our wholly owned subsidiaries, and loans thereunder bear interest, at our option, subject to certain limitations, at a rate equal 
to the following:

• the Alternate Base Rate, which is defined as the higher of (i) the federal funds rate plus 0.50%; (ii) JP Morgan's prime 
rate; or (iii) the Adjusted LIBO Rate plus 1%; plus a margin varying from 0.75% to 2.00%; or

• the Adjusted LIBO Rate, which is defined as the LIBO Rate plus a margin varying from 1.75% to 3.00%.

We are required to use 50% of the net cash proceeds (that are not applied to purchase replacement assets) from asset 
dispositions (other than the sale of inventory and motor vehicles in the ordinary course of business, sales of assets among us 
and our domestic subsidiaries and the sale or disposition of obsolete or worn-out equipment) to reduce borrowings under the 
Credit Agreement during any fiscal year in which unapplied net cash proceeds are in excess of $50 million.

In addition, the Credit Agreement contains various covenants limiting our ability to (subject to various exceptions), among 
other things:

• grant or incur liens;

• incur other indebtedness (other than permitted debt as defined in the Credit Agreement);

• make investments, loans and acquisitions;

• enter into a merger, consolidation or sale of assets;

• enter into any sale-leaseback transaction or enter into any new business;
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• enter into any agreement that conflicts with the credit facility or ancillary agreements;

• make any change in its principles and methods of accounting as currently in effect, except as such changes are 
permitted by GAAP;

• enter into certain affiliate transactions;

• pay dividends or make distributions if we are in default under the Credit Agreement or in excess of available cash;

• permit operating lease obligations to exceed $50 million in any fiscal year;

• enter into any debt (other than permitted junior debt) that contains covenants more restrictive than those of the Credit 
Agreement or enter into any permitted junior debt that contains negative covenants more restrictive than those of the 
Credit Agreement;

• enter into hedge agreements that do not hedge or mitigate risks to which we have actual exposure;

• enter into put agreements granting put rights with respect to equity interests of us or our subsidiaries;

• prepay, redeem, defease or otherwise acquire any permitted junior debt or make certain amendments to permitted junior 
debt; and

• modify organizational documents.

“Permitted junior debt” consists of:

• our 8.75% senior notes due March 1, 2015 that were issued on February 2, 2009;

• our 7.00% senior notes due October 1, 2018 that were issued on September 27, 2010;

• our 6.875% senior notes due August 1, 2021 that were issued on January 19, 2011;

• other debt that is substantially similar to the 6.875% senior notes; and

• other debt of ours and our subsidiaries that is either unsecured debt, or second lien debt that is subordinated to the 
obligations under the Credit Agreement.

Permitted junior debt may be incurred under the Credit Agreement so long as:

• there is no default under the Credit Agreement;

• the ratio of our total funded debt to consolidated EBITDA for the four fiscal quarters most recently ended must be no 
greater than 4.75 to 1.0;

• the debt does not mature, and no installments of principal are due and payable on the debt, prior to the maturity date of 
the Credit Agreement; and

• other than in connection with the 8.75%, 7.00% and 6.875% senior notes and other substantially similar debt, the debt 
does not contain covenants more restrictive than those in the Credit Agreement.

The Credit Agreement contains the following financial covenants:

• the ratio of our total funded debt (as defined in the Credit Agreement) to consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the Credit 
Agreement) for the four fiscal quarters most recently ended must be no greater than 4.75 to 1.0; and

• the ratio of our consolidated EBITDA to consolidated interest expense (as defined in the Credit Agreement), for the four 
fiscal quarters then most recently ended, must not be less than 2.5 to 1.0.
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At September 30, 2012, we were in compliance with the debt covenants in the Credit Agreement and senior secured notes.

At September 30, 2012, our ratio of total funded debt to consolidated EBITDA was 2.05 to 1.0 and our ratio of consolidated 
EBITDA to consolidated interest expense was 23.25 to 1.0.

If we should fail to perform our obligations under these and other covenants, the Revolving Loan Facility could be terminated 
and any outstanding borrowings, together with accrued interest, under the Credit Agreement could be declared immediately due 
and payable. The Credit Agreement also has cross default provisions that apply to any other material indebtedness of ours, 
excluding debt of our majority-owned subsidiary, Inergy Midstream, L.P.

Each of the following is an event of default under the Credit Agreement:

• default in payment of principal when due;

• default in payment of interest, fees or other amounts within three days of their due date;

• violation of specified affirmative and negative covenants;

• default in performance or observance of any term, covenant, condition or agreement contained in the Credit Agreement 
or any ancillary document related to the credit facility for 30 days;

• specified cross-defaults;

• bankruptcy and other insolvency events of us or our material subsidiaries;

• impairment of the enforceability or the validity of agreements relating to the Credit Agreement;

• judgments exceeding $10 million (to the extent not covered by insurance) against us or any of our subsidiaries are 
undischarged or unstayed for 45 consecutive days;

• certain defaults under ERISA that could reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse effect on us; or

• the occurrence of certain change of control events with respect to us.

In conjunction with the Inergy Midstream IPO on December 21, 2011, we entered into the following transactions:

• Entered into a $255 million unsecured promissory note with JPMorgan Chase Bank (“Promissory Note”).  The 
promissory note was assumed by Inergy Midstream and retired in full by Inergy Midstream utilizing proceeds from the 
IPO.

• Paid in full the $300 million balance outstanding on the Term Loan Facility.

• Tendered for substantially all the $95 million outstanding on the 2015 Senior Notes.

• Tendered for $150 million of the $750 million outstanding on the 2021 Senior Notes.

• The debt payments described above were funded by the $255 million proceeds from the Promissory Note, proceeds 
received from Inergy Midstream as part of the IPO and borrowings on the Revolving Loan Facility.

Inergy Midstream, L.P.

On December 21, 2011, Inergy Midstream entered into a $500 million, five-year revolving credit facility (“NRGM Credit 
Facility”).  The NRGM Credit Facility is available to fund acquisitions, working capital and internal growth projects and for 
general partnership purposes.  The NRGM Credit Facility has an accordion feature that allows Inergy Midstream to increase the 
available borrowings under the facility by up to $250 million, subject to the lenders' agreement and the satisfaction of certain 
conditions.  In addition, the NRGM Credit Facility includes a sub-limit up to $10 million for same-day swing line advances and 
a sub-limit up to $100 million for letters of credit.
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On April 16, 2012, Inergy Midstream exercised a portion of the accordion feature under the NRGM Credit Facility and 
increased the loan commitments thereunder by $100 million and as a result, the accordion feature available to Inergy 
Midstream is now $150 million. The aggregate amount of revolving loan commitments under the NRGM Credit Facility is now 
$600 million, and can be increased by up to $150 million, subject to lenders' agreement and the satisfaction of certain 
conditions.  

At September 30, 2012, the balance outstanding under the NRGM Credit Facility was $416.5 million.  Outstanding standby 
letters of credit under the NRGM Credit Facility amounted to $2.0 million at September 30, 2012.  As a result, Inergy 
Midstream has approximately $181.5 million of remaining capacity at September 30, 2012, subject to compliance with any 
applicable covenants under such facility.  
 
The NRGM Credit Facility contains various covenants and restrictive provisions that limit Inergy Midstream's ability to, among 
other things:

• incur additional debt;

• make distributions on or redeem or repurchase units;

• make certain investments and acquisitions;

• incur or permit certain liens to exist;

• enter into certain types of transactions with affiliates;

• merge, consolidate or amalgamate with another company; and

• transfer or otherwise dispose of assets.

If Inergy Midstream fails to perform its obligations under these and other covenants, the lenders' credit commitment could be 
terminated and any outstanding borrowings, together with accrued interest, under its credit facility could be declared 
immediately due and payable.  The NRGM Credit Facility also has cross default provisions that apply to any other material 
indebtedness of Inergy Midstream.

Borrowings under the NRGM Credit Facility are generally secured by pledges of the equity interests in Inergy Midstream's 
wholly owned subsidiaries, liens on substantially all of its assets and guarantees issued by all of Inergy Midstream's 
subsidiaries.  Borrowings under the NRGM Credit Facility (other than swing line loans) will bear interest at its option at either:

• the Alternate Base Rate, which is defined as the highest of (i) the federal funds rate plus 0.50%; (ii) JP Morgan's prime 
rate; or (iii) the Adjusted LIBO Rate plus 1%; plus a margin varying from 0.75% to 1.75% depending on Inergy 
Midstream's most recent total leverage ratio; or

• the Adjusted LIBO Rate, which is defined as the LIBO Rate plus a margin varying from 1.75% to 2.75% depending on 
Inergy Midstream's most recent total leverage ratio.

  
Swing line loans bear interest at the Alternate Base Rate plus a margin varying from 0.75% to 1.75%.  The unused portion of  
the NRGM Credit Facility is subject to a commitment fee ranging from 0.30% to 0.50% per annum according to Inergy 
Midstream's most recent total leverage ratio.  Interest on Alternative Base Rate loans is payable quarterly or, if the Adjusted 
LIBO Rate applies, it may be paid at more frequent intervals.

The NRGM Credit Facility requires maintenance of a consolidated leverage ratio (as defined in its credit agreement) of not 
more than 5.00 to 1.00 and an interest coverage ratio (as defined in its credit agreement) of not less than 2.50 to 1.00.
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Senior Unsecured Notes

2015 Senior Notes

In conjunction with the Inergy Midstream IPO on December 21, 2011, we tendered for substantially all the $95 million 
outstanding on these notes, leaving a balance of $0.8 million at September 30, 2012.

2018 Senior Notes

On September 27, 2010, we and our wholly-owned subsidiary, Inergy Finance Corp, issued $600 million aggregate principal 
amount of 7% senior unsecured notes due 2018 (the "2018 Senior Notes") under Rule 144A to eligible purchasers.  The 2018 
Senior Notes mature on October 1, 2018.

The majority of these notes were exchanged during the year ended September 30, 2012 in conjunction with the contribution of 
our retail propane operations to SPH, leaving a balance of $10.1 million at September 30, 2012.

2021 Senior Notes

As discussed above, in conjunction with the Inergy Midstream IPO on December 21, 2011, we tendered for $150 million of the 
$750 million outstanding on these notes.  The majority of the remaining notes were exchanged during the year ended 
September 30, 2012, in conjunction with the contribution of our retail propane operations to SPH, leaving a balance of $0.6 
million at September 30, 2012.

In conjunction with the contribution of our retail propane operations to SPH, we solicited noteholder consents to remove all the 
restrictive covenants in the senior notes indentures. 

See Note 8 for a discussion related to our Senior Unsecured Notes.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05, “Presentation of Comprehensive Income” (“ASU 
2011-05”). Under ASU 2011-05, an entity has the option to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net 
income, and the components of other comprehensive income either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income 
or in two separate but consecutive statements. Under both options, an entity will be required to present each component of net 
income along with total net income, each component of other comprehensive income along with a total for other 
comprehensive income, and a total amount for comprehensive income. Furthermore, regardless of the presentation 
methodology elected, the entity will be required to present on the face of the financial statements reclassification adjustments 
for items that are reclassified from other comprehensive income to net income. In December 2011, the FASB issued 
Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-12, "Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of 
Reclassifications of Items Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards Update No. 
2011-05" ("ASU 2011-12") which deferred this requirement in order to allow the FASB more time to determine whether 
reclassification adjustments should be required to be presented on the face of the financial statements. The amendments 
contained in ASUs 2011-05 and 2011-12 do not change the items that must be reported in other comprehensive income or when 
an item of other comprehensive income must be reclassified to net income. The amendments also do not affect how earnings 
per share is calculated or presented. We adopted ASUs 2011-05 and 2011-12 in the fourth quarter of the year ended September 
30, 2012.  We elected to present the total of comprehensive income in two separate but consecutive statements.

In May 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-04, "Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value 
Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRS" ("ASU 2011-04"). The amended guidance does not 
modify the requirements for when fair value measurements apply, rather it generally represents clarifications on how to 
measure and disclose fair value under ASC Topic 820 (Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures). Respective disclosure 
requirements are essentially the same. However, some of the specific amendments address the application of existing fair value 
measurement requirements and expand certain other disclosure requirements, particularly pertaining to level 3 fair value 
measurements. ASU 2011-04 is intended to improve the comparability of fair value measurements presented and disclosed in 
financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and IFRS. We adopted ASU 2011-04 in the first quarter of the 
year ended September 30, 2012. The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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In January 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2010-06, “Improving Disclosures about Fair Value 
Measurements” (“ASU 2010-06”), which is included in the ASC Topic 820 (Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures). ASU 
2010-06 requires new disclosures on the amount and reason for transfers in and out of level 1 and level 2 fair value 
measurements. ASU 2010-06 also requires disclosure of activities, including purchases, sales, issuances and settlements within 
the level 3 fair value measurements and clarifies existing disclosure requirements on levels of disaggregation and disclosures 
about inputs and valuation techniques. We have previously adopted the new disclosures for transfers in and out of level 1 and 
level 2.  The new disclosures for level 3 were adopted on October 1, 2011, as disclosed in Note 7.

Critical Accounting Policies

Accounting for Price Risk Management. We utilize certain derivative financial instruments to (i) manage our exposure to 
commodity price risk, specifically, the related change in the fair value of inventories, as well as the variability of cash flows 
related to forecasted transactions; (ii) ensure adequate physical supply of commodity will be available; and (iii) manage our 
exposure to interest rate risk associated with fixed and variable rate borrowings. We record all derivative instruments on the 
balance sheet as either assets or liabilities measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value of these derivative financial 
instruments are recorded either through current earnings or as other comprehensive income, depending on the type of 
transaction.

We determine fair value of our derivative financial instruments according to the following hierarchy: (1) comparable market 
prices to the extent available; (2) internal valuation models that utilize market data (observable inputs) as input variables; and 
lastly, (3) internal valuation models that use management’s assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would 
use in pricing the instruments (unobservable inputs) to the extent (1) and (2) are unavailable. Because the majority of the 
instruments we enter into are traded in liquid markets, we value these instruments based on prices indicative of exiting the 
position. As a consequence, the majority of the values of our derivative financial instruments are based upon actual prices of 
like kind trades that are obtained from on-line trading systems and verified with broker quotes. Changes in the fair value of 
these derivative financial instruments, primarily resulting from variability in supply and demand, are recorded either through 
current earnings or as other comprehensive income, depending on the type of transaction.

On the date the derivative contract is entered into, we generally designate specific derivatives as either a hedge of the fair value 
of a recognized asset or liability (fair value hedge), or a hedge of a forecasted transaction (cash flow hedge). We document all 
relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as our risk-management objective and strategy for 
undertaking various hedge transactions. We use regression analysis to assess, both at the hedge’s inception and on an ongoing 
basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair value or 
cash flows of hedged items. When it is determined that a derivative is not highly effective as a hedge or that is has ceased to be 
a highly effective hedge, we discontinue hedge accounting prospectively. When hedge accounting is discontinued because it is 
determined that the derivative no longer qualifies as an effective hedge, we continue to carry the derivative on the balance sheet 
at fair value, and recognize changes in the fair value of the derivative through current-period earnings.

We are party to certain commodity derivative financial instruments that are designated as hedges of selected inventory 
positions, and qualify as fair value hedges. We are also periodically party to certain interest rate swap agreements designed to 
manage interest rate risk exposure. Our overall objective for entering into fair value hedges is to manage our exposure to 
fluctuations in commodity prices and changes in the fair market value of our inventories and fixed rate borrowings. The 
commodity derivatives are recorded at fair value on the balance sheet as price risk management assets or liabilities and the 
related change in fair value is recorded to earnings in the current period as cost of product sold. The interest rate derivatives are 
recorded at fair value on the balance sheets in other assets or liabilities and the related change in fair value is recorded to 
earnings in the current period as interest expense.

Any ineffective portion of the fair value hedges is recognized as cost of product sold in the current period. We recognized a 
$0.5 million, $1.8 million and $0.4 million net gain in the years ended September 30, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively, 
related to the ineffective portion of our fair value hedging instruments. In addition, for the years ended September 30, 2012 and 
2011, we recognized no gain, and for the year ended September 30, 2010, we recognized a net loss of $0.1 million  related to 
the portion of fair value hedging instruments that we excluded from our assessment of hedge effectiveness.

We also enter into derivative financial instruments that qualify as cash flow hedges, which hedge the exposure of variability in 
expected future cash flows predominantly attributable to forecasted purchases to supply fixed price sale contracts and variable 
interest payments. These derivatives are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value as price risk management assets or 
liabilities. The effective portion of the gain or loss on these cash flow hedges is recorded in other comprehensive income in 
partner’s capital and reclassified into earnings in the same period in which the hedge transaction affects earnings. In certain 
situations under the rules, the ineffective portion of the gain or loss is recognized as cost of product sold in the current period. 
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Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) was $(14.9) million and $(6.7) million at September 30, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively.  Included in accumulated other comprehensive loss at  September 30, 2012 was a loss of $7.4 million attributable 
to commodity instruments and a loss of $7.5 million attributable to interest rate swaps.  Approximately $6.9 million is expected 
to be reclassified to earnings from other comprehensive income over the next twelve months.

Our policy is to offset fair value amounts of derivative instruments and cash collateral paid or received with the same 
counterparty under a master netting arrangement.

The cash flow impact of derivative financial instruments is reflected as cash flows from operating activities in the consolidated 
statements of cash flows.

Revenue Recognition. Sales of propane, other liquids and salt are recognized at the time product is shipped or delivered to the 
customer depending on the sales terms. Gas processing and fractionation fees are recognized upon delivery of the product. 
Revenue from the sale of propane appliances and equipment is recognized at the time of delivery.  Revenue from repairs and 
maintenance is recognized upon completion of the service.  Revenues from storage and transportation contracts are recognized 
during the period in which the services are provided.  Revenues from salt are recognized when product is shipped to the 
customer or when certain contractual performance requirements have otherwise been met.

Impairment of Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets. Goodwill is subject to at least an annual assessment for impairment by 
applying a fair-value-based test. Additionally, an acquired intangible asset should be separately recognized if the benefit of the 
intangible asset is obtained through contractual or other legal rights, or if the intangible asset can be sold, transferred, licensed, 
rented or exchanged, regardless of the acquirer’s intent to do so.

We completed the valuation of each of our reporting units and determined no impairment existed as of September 30, 2012. 
The valuation of our reporting units requires us to make certain assumptions as it relates to future operating performance. When 
considering operating performance, various factors are considered such as current and changing economic conditions and the 
commodity price environment, among others. If the growth assumptions embodied in the current year impairment testing prove 
inaccurate, we could incur an impairment charge. A 10% decrease in the estimated future cash flows and a 1% increase in the 
discount rate used in our impairment analysis would not have indicated a potential impairment of any of our intangible assets.

The value of the assets to be disposed of is estimated at the date a commitment to dispose the asset is made. Our estimate of 
any loss associated with an asset sale is dependent on certain assumptions we make with respect to the net realizable value of 
the particular asset. 

Self-Insurance. We are insured by third parties for both ourselves and Inergy Midstream, subject to varying retention levels of 
self-insurance, which management considers prudent. Such self-insurance relates to losses and liabilities primarily associated 
with medical claims, workers’ compensation claims and general, product, vehicle and environmental liability. Losses are 
accrued based upon management’s estimates of the aggregate liability for claims incurred using certain assumptions followed 
in the insurance industry and based on past experience. The primary assumption utilized is actuarially determined loss 
development factors. The loss development factors are based primarily on historical data. Our self insurance reserves could be 
affected if future claims development differs from the historical trends. We believe changes in health care costs, trends in health 
care claims of our employee base, accident frequency and severity and other factors could materially affect the estimate for 
these liabilities. We continually monitor changes in employee demographics, incident and claim type and evaluate our 
insurance accruals and adjust our accruals based on our evaluation of these qualitative data points. We are liable for the 
development of claims for our disposed retail propane operations, provided they were reported prior to August 1, 2012. At 
September 30, 2012 and 2011, our self-insurance reserves were $23.8 million and $20.6 million, respectively.  We estimate that 
$15.0 million of this balance will be paid subsequent to September 30, 2013.  As such, $15.0 million has been classified in 
other long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Interest Rate Risk

We have a revolving line of credit subject to the risk of loss associated with movements in interest rates.  At September 30, 
2012, we had floating rate obligations totaling $86.7 million borrowed under our revolving line of credit (net of certain interest 
rate swaps, which convert our revolving line of credit to a fixed rate).  Inergy Midstream also has a revolving credit facility 
subject to the risk of loss associated with movements in interest rates.  At September 30, 2012, Inergy Midstream had floating 
rate obligations totaling $416.5 million.  Floating rate obligations expose us and Inergy Midstream to the risk of increased 
interest expense in the event of increases in short-term interest rates. 

During fiscal year 2011, we entered into eleven interest rate swaps, one of which was scheduled to mature in 2015 (notional 
amount of $25 million) and the remaining ten were scheduled to mature in 2018 (aggregate notional amount of $250 million).  
In August 2011, our ten interest rate swaps maturing in 2018 were terminated.  In December 2011, the remaining interest rate 
swap maturing in 2015 was terminated and we entered into a new interest rate swap scheduled to mature in 2018 (notional 
amount of $50 million).  This swap agreement, which was to expire on the same date as the maturity date of the related senior 
unsecured notes and contained call provisions consistent with the underlying senior unsecured notes, required the counterparty 
to pay us an amount based on the stated fixed interest rate due every nine months.  In exchange, we were required to make 
semi-annual floating interest rate payments on the same dates to the counterparty based on an annual interest rate equal to the 
one-month LIBOR interest rate plus a spread of 5.218% applied to the same aggregate notional amount of $50 million.  This 
swap agreement had been accounted for as a fair value hedge.  Amounts received or paid under the agreement were accrued and 
recognized over the life of the agreement as an adjustment to interest expense.  In May 2012, this interest rate swap was 
terminated.   

We are party to six interest rate swap agreements scheduled to mature in 2015 to hedge our exposure to variable interest 
payments due under the Credit Agreement.  Certain of these swap agreements with a notional amount of $100 million do not 
commence quarterly settlements until October 1, 2012.  These swap agreements require us to pay the counterparty an amount 
based on fixed rates from 0.84% to 2.52% due quarterly.  In exchange, the counterparty is required to make quarterly floating 
interest rate payments on the same date to us based on the three-month LIBOR applied to the same aggregate notional amount 
of $225 million.  These swap agreements have been accounted for as cash flow hedges.  

If the floating rate of our revolving line of credit were to fluctuate by 100 basis points from September 2012 levels, our interest 
expense would change by approximately $0.9 million per year.  If the floating rate of Inergy Midstream's revolving line of 
credit were to fluctuate by 100 basis points from September 2012 levels, Inergy Midstream's interest expense would change by 
approximately $4.2 million per year.

Commodity Price, Market and Credit Risk

Inherent in our NGL marketing, supply and logistics business are certain business risks, including market risk and credit risk. 
Market risk is the risk that the value of the portfolio will change, either favorably or unfavorably, in response to changing 
market conditions. Credit risk is the risk of loss from nonperformance by suppliers, customers or financial counterparties to a 
contract. We take an active role in managing and controlling market and credit risk and have established control procedures, 
which are reviewed on an ongoing basis. We monitor market risk through a variety of techniques, including daily reporting of 
the portfolio’s position to senior management. We attempt to minimize credit risk exposure through credit policies and periodic 
monitoring procedures as well as through customer deposits, letters of credit and entering into netting agreements that allow for 
offsetting counterparty receivable and payable balances for certain financial transactions, as deemed appropriate. The 
counterparties associated with assets from price risk management activities as of September 30, 2012 and 2011, were energy 
marketers, propane retailers, resellers, and dealers.

We engage in hedging and risk management transactions, including various types of forward contracts, options, swaps and 
futures contracts, to reduce the effect of price volatility on our product costs, protect the value of our inventory positions and to 
help ensure the availability of propane during periods of short supply. We attempt to balance our contractual portfolio by 
purchasing volumes only when we have a matching purchase commitment from our marketing customers. However, we may 
experience net unbalanced positions from time to time, which we believe to be immaterial in amount. In addition to our 
ongoing policy to maintain a balanced position, for accounting purposes we are required, on an ongoing basis, to track and 
report the market value of our derivative portfolio.

We rarely take title to any commodity in our storage and transportation business.
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Fair Value

The fair value of the derivatives and inventory exchange contracts related to price risk management activities as of 
September 30, 2012, and September 30, 2011, were assets of $37.5 million and $17.1 million, respectively, and liabilities of 
$20.9 million and $19.0 million, respectively.

We use observable market values for determining the fair value of our trading instruments. In cases where actively quoted 
prices are not available, other external sources are used which incorporate information about commodity prices in actively 
quoted markets, quoted prices in less active markets and other market fundamental analysis. Our risk management department 
regularly compares valuations to independent sources and models on a quarterly basis.

Sensitivity Analysis

A theoretical change of 10% in the underlying commodity value would result in a $0.1 million change in the market value of 
the contracts as there were 0.6 million gallons of net unbalanced positions at September 30, 2012.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Reference is made to the financial statements and report of independent registered public accounting firm included later in this 
report under Item 15.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

We maintain controls and procedures designed to provide a reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in 
our reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are recorded, processed, summarized and reported 
within the time periods specified by the rules and forms of the SEC, and that information is accumulated and communicated to 
our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions 
regarding required disclosure. An evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our 
management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and 
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such terms are defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange 
Act). Based upon that evaluation, management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, 
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of September 30, 2012, at the reasonable assurance 
level. There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13(a)-15(f) or Rule 
15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) during the period ended September 30, 2012, that have materially affected, or are reasonably 
likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In fiscal 2012, we completed the acquisitions of Papco and Werner. See Note 3 “Acquisitions” for a discussion of the 
acquisitions and related financial data.

We are currently in the process of evaluating the internal controls and procedures of our current acquisitions. Further, we are in 
the process of integrating their operations. Management will continue to evaluate our internal control over financial reporting 
as we execute integration activities, however, integration activities could materially affect our internal control over financial 
reporting in future periods.

Additionally, we contributed our retail propane operations to SPH effective August 1, 2012.  As a result, the internal controls 
and procedures surrounding retail propane operations were discontinued at that time.  Those controls and procedures were in 
effect for the period through our closing of the July 31, 2012 financial statements.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, pursuant to 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f). Our internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to management and 
our board of directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements in accordance with 
GAAP.

Management recognizes that there are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any system of internal control, and 
accordingly, even effective internal control can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement 
preparation and fair presentation. Further, because of changes in conditions, the effectiveness of internal control may vary over 
time.

Management’s assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the 
operations resulting from the fiscal 2012 acquisitions (collectively the "Acquisitions”), which are included in the 2012 
consolidated financial statements. The financial reporting systems of the Acquisitions were integrated into the Company’s 
financial reporting systems throughout 2012. Therefore, the Company did not have the practical ability to perform an 
assessment of their internal controls in time for this current year-end. The Company fully expects to include the Acquisitions in 
next year’s assessment. The Acquisitions constituted $22.3 million and $44.9 million in total assets and revenues, respectively, 
in the consolidated financial statements.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer, we assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2012. In 
making this assessment, we used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission in Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Based upon our assessment, we conclude that, as of September 30, 
2012, our internal control over financial reporting is effective, based upon those criteria.

Our independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, issued an attestation report dated November 20, 2012, 
on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, which is included herein.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Our General Partner Manages Inergy, L.P. 

Inergy GP, LLC, our general partner, manages our operations and activities.  Our general partner is not elected by our 
unitholders and will not be subject to re-election on a regular basis in the future.  Our general partner may not be removed 
unless that removal is approved by the vote of the holders of not less than 66 2/3% of the outstanding units, including units held 
by the general partner and their affiliates, and we receive an opinion of counsel regarding limited liability and tax matters.  Any 
removal of the general partner is also subject to the approval of a successor general partner by the vote of the holders of a 
majority of the outstanding common units.  Unitholders do not directly or indirectly participate in our management or 
operation.  Our general partner owes a fiduciary duty to the unitholders.  Our general partner is liable, as a general partner, for 
all of our debts (to the extent not paid from our assets), except for specific nonrecourse indebtedness or other obligations.  
Whenever possible, our general partner intends to incur indebtedness or other obligations that are nonrecourse. 
 
As is commonly the case with publicly-traded limited partnerships, we are managed and operated by the officers of our general 
partner and are subject to the oversight of the directors of our general partner.  The board of directors of our general partner is 
presently composed of five directors. 
  
Directors and Executive Officers 
 
The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the executive officers and members of the board of directors 
of our general partner.  Executive officers and directors will serve until their successors are duly appointed or elected. 

Executive Officers and Directors Age Position with our General Partner

John J. Sherman 57 Chief Executive Officer and Director
Phillip L. Elbert 54 Executive Vice President—Strategy and Director
R. Brooks Sherman, Jr. 47 President
Michael J. Campbell 43 Senior Vice President—Chief Financial Officer
Laura L. Ozenberger 54 Senior Vice President—General Counsel and Secretary
William C. Gautreaux 49 President—Inergy Services
Michael D. Lenox 36 Vice President—Chief Accounting Officer
Warren H. Gfeller 60 Director
Arthur B. Krause 71 Director
Robert D. Taylor 65 Director

John J. Sherman.  Mr. Sherman has served as Chief Executive Officer and a director since March 2001.  He served as Chief 
Executive Officer, President and director from March 2001 until September 2012 and of our predecessor from 1997 until July 
2001.  Prior to joining our predecessor, he was a vice president with Dynegy Inc. from 1996 through 1997.  He was responsible 
for all downstream propane marketing operations, which at the time were the country's largest.  From 1991 through 1996, Mr. 
Sherman was the president of LPG Services Group, Inc., a company he co-founded and grew to become one of the nation's 
largest wholesale marketers of propane before Dynegy acquired LPG Services in 1996.  From 1984 through 1991, Mr. Sherman 
was a vice president and member of the management committee of Ferrellgas. He also served as President, Chief Executive 
Officer and director of Inergy Holdings GP, LLC and is currently a director of Great Plains Energy Inc. and Chief Executive 
Officer, President and director of NRGM GP, LLC. We believe the breadth of Mr. Sherman's experience in the energy industry, 
through his current position as the CEO and his past employment described above, as well as his current board of director 
positions, has given him valuable knowledge about our business and our industry that makes him an asset to the board of 
directors of Inergy GP.

Phillip L. Elbert.  Mr. Elbert has served as Executive Vice President - Strategy since September 2012.  Mr. Elbert served as 
President and Chief Operating Officer-Propane Operations from September 2007 until August 2012 and Executive Vice 
President-Propane Operations and director since March 2001.  He joined our predecessor as Executive Vice President-
Operations in connection with our acquisition of the Hoosier Propane Group in January 2001.  Mr. Elbert joined the Hoosier 
Propane Group in 1992 and was responsible for overall operations, including Hoosier's retail, wholesale and transportation 
divisions.  From 1987 through 1992, he was employed by Ferrellgas, serving in a number of management positions relating to 
retail, transportation and supply.  Prior to joining Ferrellgas, he was employed by Buckeye Gas Products, a large propane 
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marketer from 1981 to 1987.  He also served as the President and Chief Operating Officer-Propane Operations of Inergy 
Holdings GP, LLC and is currently Executive Vice President - Strategy of NRGM GP, LLC.  Through his various leadership 
positions described above, Mr. Elbert has gained valuable experience in evaluating the financial performance and operations of 
companies in the energy industry, which makes him a valuable member of the board of directors of Inergy GP.

R. Brooks Sherman, Jr.  Mr. Brooks Sherman, Jr. (no relation to Mr. John Sherman) has served as President since September 
2012. He served as Executive Vice President since September 2007, Senior Vice President since September 2002 and Chief 
Financial Officer since March 2001.  Mr. Sherman previously served as Vice President from March 2001 until September 2002.  
He joined our predecessor in December 2000 as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer.  From 1999 until joining our 
predecessor, he served as Chief Financial Officer of MCM Capital Group.  From 1996 through 1999, Mr. Sherman was 
employed by National Propane Partners, a publicly traded master limited partnership, first as its controller and chief accounting 
officer and subsequently as its chief financial officer.  From 1995 to 1996, Mr. Sherman served as chief financial officer for 
Berthel Fisher & Co. Leasing Inc. and prior to 1995, Mr. Sherman was in public accounting with Ernst & Young and KPMG 
Peat Marwick.  He also served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Inergy Holdings GP, LLC and 
currently serves as an Executive Vice President of NRGM GP, LLC. 

Michael J. Campbell. Mr. Campbell has served as the Senior Vice President - Chief Financial Officer since September 2012.  
He joined the company in 2002 and served as the Vice President and Treasurer since May 2005. He previously served as 
Director of Financial Analysis in the Corporate Development department at Aquila, Inc., and as Manager of  Crude and 
Structured Products Trading Support at Koch Industries.   He also currently serves as Senior Vice President - Chief Financial 
Officer of NRGM GP, LLC.  
 
Laura L. Ozenberger.  Ms. Ozenberger has served as Senior Vice President-General Counsel and Secretary since September 
2007 and Vice President-General Counsel and Secretary since February 2003.  From 1990 to 2003, Ms. Ozenberger worked for 
Sprint Corporation.  While at Sprint, Ms. Ozenberger served in a number of management roles in the Legal and Finance 
departments.  Prior to 1990, Ms. Ozenberger was in a private legal practice.  She also served as Senior Vice President - General 
Counsel and Secretary of Inergy Holdings GP, LLC and currently serves as Senior Vice President - General Counsel and 
Secretary for NRGM GP, LLC. 

William C. Gautreaux. Mr. Gautreaux has served as President - Inergy Services since November 2011.   He has been with the 
company since it inception in 1997 and manages Inergy's coast-to-coast NGL supply and logistics business.   Prior to joining 
the company Mr. Gautreaux was employed by Ferrellgas and later co-founded and managed supply and risk management for 
LPG Services Group, Inc., which was acquired by Dynegy in 1996. Mr. Gautreaux also serves as the President - Inergy 
Services for NRGM GP, LLC.  
 
Michael D. Lenox.  Mr. Lenox has served as Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer since September 2012.  Mr.  Lenox 
joined the company in September 2007 as its Director of Financial Reporting and served as the Vice President and Corporate 
Controller since November 2011. Prior to joining the company, Mr. Lenox was in public accounting with Ernst & Young.  Mr. 
Lenox also serves as the Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer for NRGM GP, LLC.  

Warren H. Gfeller.  Mr. Gfeller has been a member of our general partner's board of directors since March 2001. He was a 
member of our predecessor's board of directors from January 2001 until July 2001.  He has engaged in private investments 
since 1991.  From 1984 to 1991, Mr. Gfeller served as president and chief executive officer of Ferrellgas, Inc., a retail and 
wholesale marketer of propane and other NGLs.  Mr. Gfeller began his career with Ferrellgas in 1983 as an executive vice 
president and financial officer.  Prior to joining Ferrellgas, Mr. Gfeller was the Chief Financial Officer of Energy Sources, Inc. 
and a CPA at Arthur Young & Co.  He also served as a director of Inergy Holdings GP, LLC, Zapata Corporation and Duckwall-
Alco Stores, Inc. and currently serves as a member of the board of directors of NRGM GP, LLC.   Mr. Gfeller worked for many 
years in the energy industry.  This experience has given him a unique perspective on our operations, and, coupled with his 
extensive financial and accounting training and practice, has made him a valuable member of the board of directors of Inergy 
GP.
 
Arthur B. Krause.  Mr. Krause has been a member of our general partner's board of directors since May 2003. Mr. Krause 
retired from Sprint Corporation in 2002, where he served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from 1988 to 
2002.  He was President of United Telephone-Eastern Group from 1986 to 1988.  From 1980 to 1986, he was Senior Vice 
President of United Telephone System.  He currently serves as a director of Westar Energy and NRGM GP, LLC and served as 
a director of Inergy Holdings GP, LLC from April 2005 until November 2010.  Mr. Krause's prior leadership experience and his 
extensive financial and accounting training and practice have made him a valuable member of the board of directors of Inergy 
GP.
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Robert D. Taylor.  Mr. Taylor joined our general partner's board of directors in May 2005.  Mr. Taylor, a CPA, has served as 
chief executive officer of Executive AirShare Corporation since November 2001.  Mr. Taylor also served as president of 
Executive AirShare Corporation from November 2001 until November 2007.  From August 1998 until September 2001, Mr. 
Taylor was president of Executive Aircraft Corporation.  Mr. Taylor serves as a director of Blue Valley BanCorp. and Elecsys 
Corporation and previously served as a director of Commercial Federal Corporation.  The breadth of Mr. Taylor's operational, 
financial and business experience has developed through his experience as chief executive officer of Executive AirShare 
Corporation and makes him an important voice as an independent director on the board of directors of Inergy GP.

Independent Directors 

Messrs. Gfeller, Krause, and Taylor qualify as “independent” pursuant to independence standards established by the New York 
Stock Exchange ("NYSE") as set forth in Section 303A.02 of its Listed Company Manual.  To be considered an independent 
director under the NYSE listing standards, the board of directors must affirmatively determine that a director has no material 
relationship with the Partnership.  In making this determination, the board of directors adheres to all of the specific tests for 
independence included in the NYSE listing standards and considers all other facts and circumstances it deems necessary or 
advisable. 

Board Leadership Structure and Risk Oversight

Board Leadership Structure

The board has no policy that requires that the positions of the Chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and the Chief Executive 
Officer be separate or that they be held by the same individual.  The board believes that this determination should be based on 
circumstances existing from time to time, including the composition, skills and experience of the board and its members, 
specific challenges faced by the company or the industry in which it operates, and governance efficiency.  Based on these 
factors, John J. Sherman serves as our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.  

Our non-management directors meet in regularly scheduled sessions. Our non-management directors have appointed Warren H. 
Gfeller as the lead director to preside at such meetings.  We have established a procedure by which unitholders or interested 
parties may communicate directly with the board of directors, any committee of the board, any of the independent directors or 
any one director serving on the board of directors by sending written correspondence addressed to the desired person, 
committee or group to the attention of Laura Ozenberger at Inergy, L.P., Two Brush Creek Blvd., Suite 200, Kansas City, MO 
64112. Communications are distributed to the board of directors, or to any individual director or directors as appropriate, 
depending on the facts and circumstances outlined in the communication.

Risk Oversight

We face a number of risks, including environmental and regulatory risks, and others, such as the impact of competition.  
Management is responsible for the day-to-day management of risks our company faces, while the board of directors, as a whole 
and through its committees, has responsibility for the oversight of risk management.  In fulfilling its risk oversight role, the 
board of directors must determine whether risk management processes designed and implemented by our management are 
adequate and functioning as designed.  Senior management regularly delivers presentations to the board of directors on 
strategic matters, operations, risk management and other matters, and is available to address any questions or concerns raised 
by the board.  Specifically, at quarterly board meetings, senior management delivers a presentation on risk management focused 
on one or more key aspects of our business as selected by the board or senior management.  Board meetings also regularly 
include discussions with senior management regarding strategies, key challenges and risks and opportunities for our company.
 
Our board committees assist the board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities in certain areas of risk.  The audit committee 
assists with risk management oversight in the areas of financial reporting, internal controls and compliance with legal and 
regulatory requirements and our risk management policy relating to our hedging program.  The compensation committee assists 
the board of directors with risk management relating to our compensation policies and programs.
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Board Committees

Audit Committee

The members of the audit committee are Arthur B. Krause, Warren H. Gfeller and Robert D. Taylor.  Our board has determined 
that each of the members of our audit committee meet the independence standards of the NYSE and that Mr. Gfeller is an audit 
committee financial expert based upon the experience stated in his biography.  We believe that he is independent of 
management.  The audit committee's primary responsibilities are to monitor: (a) the integrity of our financial reporting process 
and internal control system; (b) the independence and performance of the independent registered public accounting firm; and 
(c) the disclosure controls and procedures established by management. Our audit committee charter may be found on our 
website at www.inergylp.com. 

Conflicts Committee

Our general partner may appoint two independent directors to serve on a conflicts committee to review specific matters which 
the board of directors believes may involve conflicts of interest.  A conflicts committee will determine if the resolution of any 
conflict of interest submitted to it is fair and reasonable to us.  In addition to satisfying certain other requirements, the members 
of the conflicts committee must meet the independence standards for service on an audit committee of a board of directors, 
which standards are established by the NYSE.  Any matters approved by the conflicts committee will be conclusively deemed 
to be fair and reasonable to us, approved by all of our partners and not a breach by our general partner of any duties it may owe 
us or our unitholders. 

Compensation Committee

Although we are not required by NYSE listing standards to have a compensation committee, two members of our board of 
directors also serve  as members of our compensation committee, which oversees compensation decisions for the officers of 
Inergy GP, LLC, as well as the compensation plans described below.  The members of the compensation committee are Warren 
H. Gfeller and Arthur B. Krause. Our compensation committee charter may be found on our website at www.inergylp.com. 

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance 
  
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires our company's directors and executive officers, and persons who 
own more than 10% of any class of equity securities of our company registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act, to file 
with the SEC initial reports of ownership and report of changes in ownership in such securities and other equity securities of 
our company.  SEC regulations require directors, executive officers and greater than 10% unitholders to furnish our company 
with copies of all Section 16(a) reports they file. To our knowledge, based solely on review of the reports furnished to us and 
written representations that no other reports were required, during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2012, all section 16(a) 
filing requirements applicable to our directors, executive officers and greater than 10% unitholders, were met.
 
Code of Ethics 
 
We have adopted a code of ethics that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting 
officer or controller or persons performing similar functions, as well as to all of our other employees.  Additionally, the board of 
directors has adopted corporate governance guidelines for the directors and the board.  The code of ethics and corporate 
governance guidelines may be found on our website at www.inergylp.com. 

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Introduction

We do not directly employ any of the persons responsible for managing our business.  Inergy GP, LLC, our general partner, 
manages our operations and activities, and its board of directors and officers make decisions on our behalf. The compensation 
of the directors and certain officers of our general partner is determined by the compensation committee of the board of 
directors of our general partner.  Our executive officers also serve in similar capacities as executive officers of NRGM GP, 
LLC, the general partner of Inergy Midstream, L.P. and the compensation of the named executive officers discussed below 
reflects total compensation for services to all Inergy entities.   Our general partner has entered into an Omnibus Agreement with 
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us, NRGM GP, LLC and Inergy Midstream, L.P. wherein our general partner is reimbursed for, among other things, salaries and 
related benefits and expenses of persons employed by our general partner or its affiliates who render services to Inergy 
Midstream, L.P. and its affiliates. 

For purposes of this Compensation Discussion and Analysis our named executive officers are John J. Sherman, R. Brooks 
Sherman, Jr., Michael J. Campbell, William C. Gautreaux, William R. Moler and Laura L. Ozenberger.  William R. Moler is 
included as a named executive officer because he was an executive officer as of September 30, 2012; however, he resigned 
from our general partner effective as of October 5, 2012.  

Compensation Philosophy and Objectives 

We employ a compensation philosophy that emphasizes pay for performance.  The primary measure of our performance long-
term is our ability to increase sustainable cash distributions to our unitholders and the related unitholder value realized.  We 
believe that by tying a substantial portion of each named executive officer's total compensation to financial performance 
metrics based on such distributions and unitholder value, our pay-for-performance approach aligns the interests of executive 
officers with that of our unitholders.  Accordingly, the objectives of our total compensation program consist of:

• aligning executive compensation incentives with the creation of unitholder value and the growth of cash earnings on 
behalf of our unitholders;

• balancing short and long-term performance;
• tying short-and long-term compensation to the achievement of performance objectives (company, business unit, 

department and/or individual); and 
• attracting and retaining the best possible executive talent for the benefit of our unitholders.

By accomplishing these objectives, we hope to optimize long-term unitholder value.

Compensation Setting Process 

Chief Executive Officer's Role in the Compensation Setting Process

Our Chief Executive Officer plays a significant role in the compensation setting process.  The most significant aspects of his 
role are:

• assisting in establishing business performance goals and objectives;
• evaluating executive officer and company performance;
• recommending compensation levels and awards for executive officers other than himself; and
• implementing the approved compensation plans.

The Chief Executive Officer makes recommendations to the compensation committee with respect to financial metrics to be 
used for performance-based awards as well as other recommendations regarding non-CEO executive compensation, which may 
be based on our performance, individual performance and the peer group compensation market analysis.  The compensation 
committee considers this information when establishing the total compensation package of the executive officers.  The Chief 
Executive Officer's performance and compensation is reviewed, evaluated and established separately by the compensation 
committee based on criteria similar to those used for non-CEO executive compensation.

Market Analysis 

To evaluate the competitiveness of both total executive compensation and the individual compensation components, the 
compensation committee utilizes compensation data about other companies to assist in assessing executive compensation 
levels, including the individual base salary and incentive components.  The data typically consists of an analysis of total 
compensation, as well as base salary amounts, annual incentive awards, and long-term incentive awards and is compiled from 
public filings of similar companies, as well as companies in the Kansas City region.  We selected these “peer” companies 
because, like us, they are: (i) MLPs with significant NGL or natural gas transportation and storage operations, or (ii) MLPs 
with growing midstream operations.  We chose the regional companies because they are public companies with which we 
compete for talent in the local employment market.  
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“Peer” MLP Companies Regional Companies

Tesoro Logistics, L.P DST Systems, Inc.
Copano Energy, LLC Great Plains Energy Incorporated
Markwest Energy Partners, L.P. Kansas City Southern
Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. Ferrellgas Partners, L.P.
Regency Energy Partners, L.P.
Targa Resources Partners, L.P.
Energy Transfer Partners, L.P.

The compensation committee utilizes the market data as a general guideline in making compensation-related decisions.  When 
determining compensation amounts for our executive officers, the compensation committee uses data from our “peer” group as 
a reference for determining:

• amount of total compensation;
• individual components of compensation; and
• relative proportion of each component of compensation - base salary, annual incentive award opportunity and long-

term incentive award value.

While our general objective for total compensation is at or above the median of the “peer” group data with a significant portion 
of total compensation at risk, we do not require a strict policy of achieving a specific percentile relationship of actual pay to 
market pay as some companies do.  The compensation committee has the full discretion to disregard the market data and award 
compensation at a different range if there are factors warranting the adjustment.  Such factors may include alignment of the 
officer's position within the “peer” group data, experience and value he or she brings to the role, sustained high-level 
performance, demonstrated success in meeting key financial and other business objectives and the amount of the officer's pay 
relative to the pay of his or her peers within our company.

In addition, the actual value delivered to any executive may be above or below that range depending upon our financial results, 
common unit price performance and the individual's performance. 

The compensation committee may in its discretion retain the services of a third-party compensation consultant, but did not 
retain any such consultants during the fiscal year. 

In collecting the peer group data for the compensation committee for fiscal 2012, we compared each officer's position against 
like positions for our “peer” group.  The data was adjusted for differences in various financial and operating metrics, including 
revenues, customer base, numbers of employees and scope for each position relative to comparator company positions.  Based 
on the difficulty in assessing appropriate comparisons of relative value for equity awards, no specific comparison of equity 
awards of our “peer” companies was made for long-term incentive opportunity values although the market value of equity 
holdings of similarly situated employees at our “peer” companies was generally considered. 

Elements of Compensation

The principal elements of compensation for the named executive officers are the following:

• base salary;
• incentive awards;
• long-term incentive plan awards; and
• retirement and health benefits.

Base Salary

Base salary is designed to compensate executives for the responsibility of the level of the position they hold and sustained 
individual performance (including experience, scope of responsibility, results achieved and future potential).  Base salary 
amounts were initially established in the employment agreements of our named executive officers and we historically have not 
made annual adjustments to the salaries of our named executive officers.  We do, however, review the salaries of our named 
executive officers on an annual basis as well as at the time of promotion, or when entering into or renewing an employment 
agreement and may adjust salaries due to changes in responsibilities or market conditions.  In determining the amount of any 
adjustments, the compensation committee uses market data as a tool for assessing the reasonableness of the base salary 
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amounts of the named executive officers as compared to the compensation of executives in similar positions with similar 
responsibility levels in our industry and in our region. However, the final determination of base salary amounts is within the 
compensation committee's subjective discretion.
  
Consistent with its general policy of not making any systematic or annual adjustments to base salary, the compensation 
committee elected not to make any broad based changes to the annual base salaries of our named executive officers for the 
upcoming fiscal year.  As a result, base salaries of each of John J.Sherman, William C. Gautreaux, and Laura L. Ozenberger  
remained $400,000, $250,000 and $250,000, respectively.   The compensation committee determined that the base salaries for 
R. Brooks Sherman, Jr. and Michael J. Campbell should be increased to $365,000 (effective November 1, 2012) and $250,000 
(effective October 1, 2012), respectively.  We believe the increases are warranted based on (i) the increased responsibilities of 
these executives in their new roles as President (R. Brooks Sherman, Jr.) and Chief Financial Officer (Michael J. Campbell) and 
(ii) comparable compensation of executives in similar positions with similar responsibility levels in our industry and our 
region. 

Incentive Awards 

Incentive awards are designed to reward the performance of key employees, including the named executive officers, by 
providing annual incentive opportunities for the partnership's achievement of its annual financial performance goals.  In 
particular, these bonus awards are provided to the named executive officers in order to provide competitive incentives to these 
executives who can significantly impact performance and promote achievement of our short-term business objectives.  Under 
the terms of their respective employment agreements, each named executive officer is eligible, upon the achievement of certain 
subjective and objective criteria, to receive a cash incentive award in amount up to 100% of the named executive officer's base 
salary.

The sole metric used to determine whether bonuses would be paid to the named executive officers in fiscal 2012 was our 
achievement of the target of earnings before income taxes, plus net interest expense, depreciation and amortization expense, 
further adjusted to exclude the gain or loss on derivative contracts associated with retail propane fixed price sales contracts, the 
gain or loss on the disposal of assets, long-term incentive and equity compensation expenses and transaction costs (“Adjusted 
EBITDA”).  We selected this metric because we believe it closely aligns the focus of our named executive officers with the 
increase in unitholder value.  In addition, this target was communicated to our unitholders and analysts as guidance at the 
beginning of the 2012 fiscal year.  

We did not meet the target of $414 million for Adjusted EBITDA in fiscal 2012.  Accordingly, in accordance with the terms of 
the employment agreements of the named executive officers, there were no short-term incentive plan awards for fiscal 2012. 

In addition, upon recommendation from the Chief Executive Officer, the compensation committee may make discretionary cash 
bonus awards to the named executive officers.  The awards are designed to award outstanding individual performance in the 
fiscal year.  In fiscal 2012, R. Brooks Sherman, Jr., Michael J. Campbell, William C. Gautreaux, and Laura L. Ozenberger were 
awarded discretionary cash bonus awards of $500,000, $200,000, $300,000 and $250,000, respectively.   These bonuses were 
awarded primarily based on these individuals' substantial efforts in repositioning the partnership into a pure midstream 
company.  These efforts include the Inergy Midstream initial public offering, the drop down of US Salt, LLC and the sale of our 
retail propane business.  

Long-Term Incentive Plan Awards

Long-term incentive awards for the named executive officers are granted under the Inergy Long Term Incentive Plan and 
Inergy Midstream, L.P. Long Term Incentive Plan (both of which are described in more detail below) in order to promote 
achievement of our primary long-term strategic business objective of increasing distributable cash flow and increasing 
unitholder value.  These plans are designed to align the economic interests of key employees and directors with those of our 
common unitholders and the common unitholders of Inergy Midstream, L.P. and to provide an incentive to management for 
continuous employment with the general partner and its affiliates.  Long-term incentive compensation is based upon the 
common units representing limited partnership interests in us and in Inergy Midstream, L.P. and  consisted solely of grants of 
restricted units during the 2012 fiscal year.  We have no policy regarding the allocation of different types of equity awards; 
rather, we determine which type of award will be granted due to a number of different factors, including, cost to the company, 
perceived value to the employee and economic conditions.
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We have not made systematic annual awards to the named executive officers.  Generally, we believe that a two- to five-year 
grant cycle (and complete vesting over five years) provides a balance between a meaningful retention period for us and a 
visible, reachable reward for the executive officers.  New awards are generally synchronized with the remaining time-vesting 
requirements of outstanding awards in a manner designed to encourage extended retention of the named executive officers. 

In determining the size of the equity awards, the compensation committee primarily considers the grant date value and vesting 
schedule of the awards as both a retention tool and performance incentive, the experience and skills of the executive officers as 
well as their contributions to our operational and financial performance, the economic and retention value of outstanding equity 
awards held by the executives, the amount of cash distributions that would be received by the executives and cost to our 
company.  These factors were not given any specific weight; rather, they were subjectively evaluated by the compensation 
committee.  The value of the equity was also compared to the equity awards of our “peer” companies to assess reasonableness 
of the awards without imposing specific targets.  

On May 2, 2012, the compensation committee of the board of directors of Inergy Midstream, L.P.'s general partners awarded 
Mr. R. Brooks Sherman, Jr., Mr. Campbell, Mr. Gautreaux, Ms. Ozenberger, and Mr. Moler, 50,000, 20,000, 30,000, 40,000 and 
40,000 Inergy Midstream, L.P. restricted units, respectively.  The awards were made shortly following the initial public offering 
of Inergy Midstream, L.P. to better align the economic interests of these key employees with Inergy Midstream, L.P. common 
unitholders and to provide incentive for these key individuals to remain employed with us.   These awards vest 25%, 25% and 
50% on the third, fourth and fifth anniversaries, respectively, from the date of grant.   Additionally, in November 2012, the 
compensation committee approved awards to Mr. R. Brooks Sherman, Jr., Mr. Campbell, Mr. Gautreaux and Ms. Ozenberger of 
25,000, 10,000, 15,000, and 12,500 Inergy, L.P. restricted units, respectively.  These awards will vest ratably over three years 
beginning one year from the date of grant.   The restricted units were awarded  to compensate these individuals for their 
substantial efforts in repositioning the partnership into a pure midstream company and to further assure the continued 
employment of these key individuals as the partnership continues to grow.    

In February 2010 we approved a grant of 231,700 restricted units to Phillip L. Elbert and 182,050 restricted units to R. Brooks 
Sherman.  In January 2011 we approved a grant of 80,000 restricted units to Laura L. Ozenberger   Theses awards were subject 
to forfeiture if on any vesting date the annualized distribution of an Inergy, L.P. common unit is less than $2.74.  Since granting 
these awards our operations have changed significantly.   With the sale of the retail propane operations, the company has been 
transformed into a smaller midstream focused company.  Furthermore, we believe that these restricted units represent an 
important compensation component to the named executive officers.   Based on the foregoing, in November 2012, the 
Compensation Committee modified the annualized distribution target to $1.16.  

On September 14, 2012, in connection with the sale of our retail propane business discussed in Item 1 - Introduction, we 
distributed approximately 14.1 million SPH common units to Inergy, L.P. unitholders.  In lieu of SPH units, restricted 
unitholders, including certain named executive officers,  received a cash payment in an amount equal to the number of SPH 
units such holder would have received as part of the distribution, multiplied by the closing price of an SPH unit on the 
distribution date.  

Risk Assessment Related to our Compensation Structure.  

We believe that the compensation plans and programs for our executive officers, as well as other employees, are appropriately 
structured and are not reasonably likely to result in a material risk.  We believe these compensation plans and programs are 
structured in a manner that does not promote excessive risk-taking that could reward poor judgment.  We also believe that we 
have allocated compensation among base salary and short and long-term compensation in such a way as to not encourage 
excessive risk-taking.  In particular, we generally do not adjust base annual salaries for executive officers and other employees 
significantly from year to year, and therefore the annual base salary of our employees is not generally impacted by our overall 
financial performance or the financial performance of an operating segment.  We generally determine whether, and to what 
extent, executive officers and other employees receive incentive cash bonuses based on achievement of specified financial 
performance objectives.  For example, in fiscal 2012, Inergy announced EBITDA guidance that it believed was reasonable in 
light of past performance and market conditions, and the compensation committee took into account whether we met or 
exceeded that public guidance for the purpose of determining incentive cash bonuses for its executive officers following the 
completion of the fiscal year.  Furthermore, we use restricted units rather than unit options for equity awards because restricted 
units retain value even in a depressed market so that employees are less likely to take unreasonable risks to get, or keep, options 
“in-the-money.”  In addition, we believe the award of restricted units aligns the interests of the recipient with our unitholders 
because restricted units have upside and downside risk. 
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Inergy Long Term Incentive Plan

Our general partner sponsors the Inergy Long Term Incentive Plan for its directors, consultants and employees and the 
employees and consultants of its affiliates who perform services for us.  The plan is administered by the compensation 
committee of the general partner's board of directors.  

Unit Options

The Inergy Long Term Incentive Plan currently permits, and our general partner has made, grants of options covering common 
units.  Unit options will have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the units on the date of grant.  In general, unit 
options will become exercisable over a five-year period.  In addition, the unit options will become exercisable upon a change of 
control of the general partner or us.  Generally, unit options will expire after ten years. 
 
Upon exercise of a unit option, our general partner will acquire common units in the open market, or directly from us or any 
other person, or use common units already owned by the general partner, or any combination of the foregoing.  The general 
partner will be entitled to reimbursement by us for the difference between the cost incurred by the general partner in acquiring 
these common units and the proceeds received by the general partner from an optionee at the time of exercise.  Thus, the cost of 
the unit options will be borne by us.  If we issue new common units upon exercise of the unit options, the total number of 
common units outstanding will increase and the general partner will pay us the proceeds it received from the optionee upon 
exercise of the unit options.  The unit option plan has been designed to furnish additional compensation to employees and 
directors and to align their economic interests with those of common unitholders. 

Restricted Units

The Inergy Long Term Incentive Plan currently permits, and our general partner has made, grants of restricted units.  Restricted 
units are subject to a restricted period the terms of which are set forth in a restricted unit award agreement. In general, restricted 
units vest over a five-year period.  The individual award agreement also sets forth the conditions under which the restricted 
units may become vested or forfeited, which may include, without limitation, the accelerated vesting upon the achievement of 
specified performance goals, or the forfeiture for failing to achieve specified performance goals and such other terms and 
conditions as the committee may establish. Unless otherwise specifically provided for in an award agreement, distributions are 
paid to the holder of the restricted units without restriction.  Restricted units are designed to furnish additional compensation to 
employees and directors and to align their economic interests with those of common unitholders. 
 
Termination and Amendment 

The general partner's board of directors in its discretion may terminate the Inergy Long Term Incentive Plan at any time with 
respect to any common units for which a grant has not yet been made.  The general partner's board of directors also has the 
right to alter or amend Inergy Long Term Incentive Plan from time to time, including increasing the number of common units 
with respect to which awards may be granted subject to unitholder approval as required by the exchange upon which the 
common units are listed at that time.  However, no change in any outstanding grant may be made that would materially impair 
the rights of the participant without the consent of the participant.  

Inergy Midstream Long Term Incentive Plan

NRGM GP, LLC sponsors the Inergy Midstream, L.P. Long Term Incentive Plan for its directors, consultants and employees 
and the employees and consultants of its affiliates who perform services for it.  The plan is administered by the compensation 
committee of NRGM GP, LLC's board of directors.  

Restricted Units

The Inergy Midstream, L.P. Long Term Incentive Plan currently permits, and its general partner has made, grants of restricted 
units.  The restricted units granted to our named executive officers are reported in the equity tables below. Restricted units are 
subject to a restricted period the terms of which are set forth in a restricted unit award agreement. In general, restricted units 
vest over a five-year period.  The individual award agreement also sets forth the conditions under which the restricted units 
may become vested or forfeited, which may include, without limitation, the accelerated vesting upon the achievement of 
specified performance goals, or the forfeiture for failing to achieve specified performance goals and such other terms and 
conditions as the committee may establish. Unless otherwise specifically provided for in an award agreement, distributions are 
paid to the holder of the restricted units without restriction.  Restricted units are designed to furnish additional compensation to 
employees and directors and to align their economic interests with those of common unitholders. 
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Termination and Amendment 

NRGM GP, LLC's board of directors in its discretion may terminate the Inergy Midstream Long Term Incentive Plan at any 
time with respect to any common units for which a grant has not yet been made.  NRGM GP LLC's board of directors also has 
the right to alter or amend Inergy Midstream Long Term Incentive Plan from time to time, including increasing the number of 
common units with respect to which awards may be granted subject to unitholder approval as required by the exchange upon 
which the common units are listed at that time.  However, no change in any outstanding grant may be made that would 
materially impair the rights of the participant without the consent of the participant.  

Other Compensation Related Matters

Retirement and Health Benefits

We offer a variety of health and welfare and retirement programs to all eligible employees.  The named executive officers are 
eligible for the same programs on the same basis as other employees.  We maintain a 401(k) retirement plan that provides 
eligible employees with an opportunity to save for retirement on a tax advantages basis.  We match 50% of the first 6% of the 
deferral to the retirement plan (not to exceed the maximum amount permitted by law) made by eligible participants.  Our 
executive officers are also eligible to participate in additional employee benefits available to our other employees.

Perquisites and Other Compensation

We do not provide perquisites or other personal benefits to any of the named executive officers.

Severance and Change of Control Benefits

We maintain employment agreements with all our named executive officers to ensure they will perform their roles for an 
extended period of time and not compete with us upon termination of employment.  These agreements are described in more 
detail elsewhere in this annual report.  Please read “Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-
Based Awards Table - Employment Agreements.”  These agreements do not provide any form of severance payment upon a 
change in control.  However, the agreements do provide for continued salary payments following termination of employment 
without cause (as defined in the employment agreements).  Thus, the continued salary  provisions only become operative in the 
event of a change in control if such change in control is accompanied by an involuntary change in employment status (such as 
the termination of employment).  We believe this arrangement is appropriate because it provides assurance to the executive, but 
does not offer a windfall to the executive when there has been no real change in employment status.  In addition, the Inergy 
Long Term Incentive Plan provides for accelerated vesting for outstanding awards triggered upon a change of control.    

Tax Deductibility of Compensation

With respect to the deduction limitations under Section 162(m) of the Code, we are a limited partnership and do not meet the 
definition of a “corporation” under Section 162(m).  Thus the compensation that we pay to our employees is not subject to the 
deduction limitations under Section 162(m) of the Code.

Compensation Committee Report

We have reviewed and discussed the foregoing Compensation Discussion and Analysis with management.  Based on our review 
and discussion with management, we have recommended that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2012.

Warren H. Gfeller
Arthur B. Krause 
Members of the Compensation Committee
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Summary Compensation Table for the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2012

The following table sets forth the cash and non-cash compensation earned for the years ended September 30, 2012, September 
30, 2011 and September 30, 2010, by each person who served as the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and the 
three other highest paid executive officers (the “named executive officers”) during fiscal 2012.

Name and Principal Position
Fiscal
Year

Salary
($)

Bonus
($)

Stock
Awards

($)(4)

Option
Awards

($)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation

($)

All Other
Compensation

($)(6)
Total

($)

John. J. Sherman 2012 400,000 — — — — 11,692 411,692
Chief Executive 
Officer

2011 393,653 — — — — 11,319 404,972
2010 350,000 — — — — 9,828 359,828

R. Brooks Sherman, Jr.(1) 2012 278,365 500,000 1,085,000 (5) — — 7,736 1,871,101
President 2011 225,000 — — — — 6,516 231,516

2010 225,000 — 5,669,950 — — 7,807 5,902,757
Michael J. Campbell(2)

Senior Vice President
— Chief Financial 
Officer

2012 175,000 200,000 434,000 (5) — — 6,750 815,750

William C. Gautreaux
President— Inergy 
Services

2012 235,577 300,000 651,000 — — 6,356 1,192,933

William R. Moler(3) 2012 235,576 — 868,000 (5) — — 7,789 1,111,365
Former Senior Vice 
President— Natural 
Gas Midstream 
Operations

2011 200,000 — — — — 6,702 206,702
2010 200,000 — 3,254,625 — — 8,160 3,462,785

Laura L. Ozenberger 2012 250,000 250,000 868,000 (5) — — 5,577 1,373,577
Senior Vice President
— General Counsel
and Secretary

2011 235,385 — 3,264,800 — — 7,842 3,508,027
2010 200,000 200,000 — — — 7,500 407,500

 
(1) R. Brooks Sherman, Jr. previously served as our Executive Vice President, since September 2007, and Chief Financial Officer, since March 2001, 

until he was named as President on September 27, 2012.
(2) Michael J. Campbell previously served as our Vice President and Treasurer since May 2005 until he was named as Senior Vice President and Chief 

Financial Officer on September 27, 2012. 
(3) William R. Moler resigned as the Senior Vice President - Natural Gas Midstream Operations, effective as of October 5, 2012 .
(4)    The material terms of our outstanding LTIP awards to our executive officers are described in “Compensation Discussion and Analysis - Long-Term 

Incentive Plans.”  Equity award amounts reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of unit awards granted during the periods presented.
(5)    As discussed in the “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” on May 2, 2012, R. Brooks Sherman, Jr. was awarded 50,000 Inergy Midstream, L.P  

restricted units, Michael J. Campbell was awarded 20,000 Inergy Midstream, L.P. restricted units, William C. Gautreaux was awarded 30,000  
Inergy Midstream, L.P. restricted units  and Laura L. Ozenberger and William R. Moler  were each awarded 40,000 Inergy Midstream, L.P. 
restricted units.  These awards vests in 25%, 25%, 50% annual installments beginning three years from the grant date.  Mr. Moler forfeited his 
restricted units upon his resignation. 

(6)    Represents matching contributions to the partnership's 401(k) Plan and Employee Unit Purchase Plan for each named executive officer.  The 
partnership does not provide perquisites and other personal benefits.
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Grants of Plan Based Awards Table for the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2012

The following table provides information concerning each grant of an award made to our named executive officers in the last 
completed fiscal year under any plan, including awards that have been transferred.  

 
Estimated Future Payouts Under

Incentive Plan Awards    

Name
Threshold

($)
Target

($)
Maximum

($)(1)
All Other Stock

Awards(#)(2)

Grant Date Fair
Value of Stock and
Option Awards ($)

John J. Sherman — 400,000 400,000 — —
R. Brooks Sherman, Jr. — 365,000 365,000 50,000 1,085,000
Michael J. Campbell — 250,000 250,000 20,000 434,000
William C. Gautreaux — 250,000 250,000 30,000 651,000
William R. Moler(3) — — — 40,000 868,000
Laura L. Ozenberger — 250,000 250,000 40,000 868,000

 
(1) The amounts in these columns reflect the “Target” and “Maximum” bonus award amounts for our named executive officers with respect to cash 

bonuses awarded pursuant to each named executive officer's employment agreement. The “Maximum” amount may be increased by the discretion 
of the Compensation Committee as described above in the “Compensation Discussion and Analysis -Incentive Awards.”  

(2)  Amounts in this column reflect restricted unit award grants made on May 2, 2012, whereby R. Brooks Sherman, Jr. was awarded 50,000 Inergy 
Midstream, L.P. restricted units, Michael J. Campbell was awarded 20,000 Inergy Midstream, L.P. restricted units, William C. Gautreaux was 
awarded 30,000 Inergy Midstream, L.P. restricted units and Laura L. Ozenberger and William R. Moler were each awarded 40,000 Inergy 
Midstream, L.P. restricted units. The material terms of our 2012 restricted unit awards to our named executive officers are described in the narrative 
disclosure following the “Grants of Plan-Based Awards” table.

(3)  Mr. Moler forfeited all of his outstanding equity awards on October 5, 2012 in connection with his resignation.   
  

Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table

A discussion of fiscal 2012 salaries and bonuses is included above in “Compensation Discussion and Analysis.”  The following 
is a discussion of other material factors necessary to an understanding of the information disclosed in the Summary 
Compensation Table.

Employment Agreements 
 
The following named executive officers have entered into employment agreements with our company: 
 

• John J. Sherman, Chief Executive Officer; 
• R. Brooks Sherman, Jr., President;
• Michael J. Campbell, Senior Vice President - Chief Financial Officer;  
• William C. Gautreaux, President - Inergy Services; 
• Laura L. Ozenberger, Senior Vice President - General Counsel and Secretary. 

Prior to his resignation on October 5, 2012, we also maintained an employment agreement with William R. Moler. The 
following is a summary of the material provisions of these employment agreements, each of which is incorporated by reference 
herein as an exhibit to this report. 

All of these employment agreements are substantially similar, with certain exceptions as set forth below.  The employment 
agreements are for terms of five years.  During the fiscal year, the annual salaries for these individuals are as follows: 

• John J. Sherman - $400,000 
• R. Brooks Sherman, Jr. - $300,000 (increased to $365,000 effective November 1, 2012)
• Michael J. Campbell - $175,000 (increased to $250,000 effective October 1, 2012)
• William C. Gautreaux - $250,000
• Laura L. Ozenberger - $250,000 

These employees are reimbursed for all expenses in accordance with the general partner's policies.  They are also eligible for 
fringe benefits normally provided to other employees. 
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All of the individuals are eligible for non-equity incentive compensation bonuses upon meeting certain established criteria for 
each year during the term of his or her employment.
  
Generally, unless waived by the general partner, in order for any of these individuals to receive any benefits under (i) the Inergy 
Long Term Incentive Plan, Inergy Midstream L.P. Long Term Incentive Plan, or (ii) the non-equity incentive compensation 
bonus, the individual must have been continuously employed by the general partner or one of our affiliates from the date of his 
or her employment agreement up to the date for determining eligibility to receive such amounts.
 
Each employment agreement contains confidentiality and noncompetition provisions.  Also, each employment agreement 
contains a disclosure and assignment of inventions clause that requires the employee to disclose the existence of any invention 
and assign such employee's right in such invention to the general partner. 

With respect to each of the named executive officers, in the event such person's employment is terminated without cause, we 
will be required to continue making payments to such person for the remainder of the term of such person's employment 
agreement. 
  
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End Table

The following table summarizes the options and restricted units outstanding as of September 30, 2012, for the named executive 
officers.  The table includes unit options and restricted units of Inergy, L.P. (NYSE: NRGY) granted under the Inergy Long 
Term Incentive Plan and restricted units of Inergy Midstream, L.P. (NYSE: NRGM) granted under the Inergy Midstream, L.P. 
Long Term Incentive Plan.  

  OPTION AWARDS UNIT AWARDS

Name

Number of
Securities

Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Exercisable

Number of
Securities

Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)

Unexercisable

Option
Exercise
Price($)

Option
Expiration

Date

Number of Units
That Have Not

Vested
(#)

Market
Value of

Units That
Have Not

Vested ($)(3)

John J. Sherman — — — — — —
R. Brooks Sherman, Jr.

— — — —
222,475 (NRGY)(1)

50,000 (NRGM)(2)
4,233,699
1,167,000

Michael J. Campbell
— — — —

30,325 (NRGY)(1)

20,000 (NRGM)(2)    
577,085
466,800

William C. Gautreaux
— — — —

128,875 (NRGY)(1)

30,000 (NRGM)(2)
2,452,491

700,200
William R. Moler(4)

— — — —
153,000 (NRGY)(1)

40,000 (NRGM)(2)
2,911,590

933,600
Laura L. Ozenberger 36,358 — 5.62 6/19/2015 108,875 (NRGY)(1)

40,000  (NRGM)(2)
2,071,891

933,600
 

 (1)    Mr. Brooks Sherman, Jr.'s restricted units vest as follows: 40,425 on October 1, 2012, 45,512 on February 1, 2013, 45, 513 on February 1, 2014,  
and 91,025 on February 1, 2015.  Mr. Campbell's restricted units vest as follows: 3,000 on October 24, 2012, 10,000 on January 5, 2014, and 17,325 
on February 1, 2015.   Mr. Gautreaux's restricted units vest as follows: 28,875 on November 1, 2012, 25,000 on April 21, 2014, 25,000 on April 21, 
2015 and 50,000 on April 21, 2016.   Mr. Ozenberger's restricted units vest as follows:  28,875 on October 1, 2012, 20,000 on January 27, 2013, 
20,000 on January 27, 2014, 20,000 on January 27, 2015, and 20,000 on January 27, 2016. 

(2)    These awards vests in 25%, 25%, 50% annual installments beginning three years from the grant date (May 2, 2011).
(3)    Market value for NRGY units based on the NYSE closing price of $19.03 on September 28, 2012 and market value for NRGM units based on the 

NYSE closing price of $23.34 on September 28, 2012.   We used the closing prices on September 28, 2012 rather than September 30, 2012 for this 
table due to the fact that September 30, 2012 was a Sunday and no trading occurred.

(4)    Mr. Moler forfeited all of his outstanding equity awards on October 5, 2012 in connection with his resignation.   
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Option Exercises and Stock Vested Table

The following table provides information regarding option exercises and restricted unit vesting during the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2012, for the named executive officers.  Value realized on exercise or upon vesting was calculated by using the 
closing price of Inergy, L.P. units on the date that the award was exercised or was vested, as applicable. 

  Option Awards

Name

Number of Units
Acquired on
Exercise (#)

Value
Realized on
Exercise ($)

Number of Units
Acquired on
Vesting (#)(1)

Value Realized
on Vesting ($)

John J. Sherman — — — —
R. Brooks Sherman, Jr. — — 20,212 505,704
Michael J. Campbell 8,662 52,281 3,000 81,360
William C. Gautreaux — — 14,437 414,486
William R. Moler — — 14,437 361,214
Laura L. Ozenberger — — 14,437 361,214

 
   (1)    Units acquired represent common units of Inergy, L.P.   No Inergy Midstream, L.P. restricted units vested fiscal 2012. 

Pension Benefits Table

We do not offer any pension benefits.

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Table

We have no non-qualified deferred compensation plans.

Potential Payments upon a Change in Control or Termination

Employment Agreements 

Under the employment agreements with our named executive officers, we may be required to pay certain amounts upon the 
employment termination of the named executive officer in certain circumstances.  Upon the termination of employment of a 
named executive officer without cause, the employment agreements entered into between Inergy GP, LLC and each of the 
named executive officers provide for salary continuation at the rate in effect at termination of the employee through the 
remaining term of the employment agreement.  Consequently, no severance is payable in the event of any termination (i) as a 
result of death, disability, or legal incompetence, (ii) as a result of Inergy GP, LLC ceasing to carry on its business without 
assigning the employment agreement, (iii) as a result of Inergy GP, LLC becoming bankrupt, (iv) for cause or (v) by the 
employee for any or no reason.  For purposes of the employment agreements: 

Cause will generally be determined to have occurred in the event the:

• employee has failed to perform his or her duties as an employee of Inergy GP, LLC, to perform any obligation under 
the employment agreement or to observe and abide by Inergy GP, LLC's policies and decisions, provided that Inergy 
GP, LLC has given employee reasonable notice of that failure and employee is unsuccessful in correcting that failure 
or in preventing its reoccurrence; 

• employee has refused to comply with specific directions of his/her supervisor or other superior, provided that such 
directions are consistent with the employee's position of employment; 

• employee has engaged in misconduct that is injurious to Inergy GP, LLC or any subsidiary, parent or affiliate of Inergy 
GP, LLC; 

• employee has been convicted of, or has entered a plea of nolo contendere to, any crime involving the theft or willful 
destruction of money or other property, any crime involving moral turpitude or fraud, or any crime constituting a 
felony; 
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• employee has engaged in acts or omissions against Inergy GP, LLC or any subsidiary, parent or affiliate of Inergy GP, 
LLC constituting dishonesty, breach of fiduciary obligation, or intentional wrongdoing or misfeasance; or 

• employee has used alcohol or drugs on the job, or has engaged in excessive absenteeism from the performance of his/
her duties as Inergy GP, LLC's employee, other than for reasons of illness.

If a termination of a named executive officer by Inergy GP, LLC without cause were to have occurred as of September 30, 
2012, our named executive officers would have been entitled to the following payments.  Each of the named executive officers 
would also continue to be subject to the non-competition provisions of his or her employment agreement following such a 
termination.   

• John J. Sherman would have received $1,233,333, representing base salary for the remaining 37 months of the term of 
his employment agreement (payable bi-monthly in arrears).  

• R. Brooks Sherman, Jr. would have received $700,000, representing base salary for the remaining 28 months of the 
term of his employment agreement (payable bi-monthly in arrears).  

• Michael J. Campbell would have received $408,333, representing base salary for the remaining 28 months of the term 
of his employment agreement (payable bi-monthly in arrears). Effective as of October 1, 2012, Mr. Campbell entered 
into a new five year employment agreement. 

• William C. Gautreaux would have received $400,000, representing two years base salary.  

• William R. Moler would have received $520,833 representing base salary for the remaining 25 months of the term of 
his employment agreement (payable bi-monthly in arrears).  Mr. Moler resigned effective as of October 5, 2012. Mr. 
Moler received no compensation in connection with is resignation.

• Laura L. Ozenberger would have received $812,500 representing base salary for the remaining 39 months of the term 
of her employment agreement (payable bi-monthly in arrears).  

Long Term Incentive Plans 

Upon a change in control, all restricted units granted under the Inergy Long Term Incentive Plan and Inergy Midstream, L.P. 
Long Term Incentive Plan will automatically vest and become payable or exercisable, as the case may be, in full and any 
restricted periods or performance criteria will terminate or be deemed to have been achieved at the maximum level.  There are 
no unvested unit options held by any of the named executive officers. For purposes of the Inergy Long Term Incentive Plan, a 
“change in control” means, and shall be deemed to have occurred upon  one of the following events:  (i) any sale, lease, 
exchange or other transfer (in one or a series of related transactions) of all or substantially all of the assets of the Inergy 
Partners, LLC or Inergy, L.P. to any person or its affiliates, other than Inergy GP, LLC, the Partnership or any of their affiliates, 
or (ii) any merger, reorganization, consolidation or other transaction pursuant to which more than 50% of the combined voting 
power of the equity interests in Inergy GP, LLC or Inergy Partners, LLC ceases to be controlled by Inergy Holdings, L.P.  For 
purposes of the Inergy Midstream, L.P. Long Term Incentive Plan a “change in control” means, and shall be deemed to have 
occurred upon  one of the following events:  (i) any sale, lease, exchange or other transfer (in one or a series of related 
transactions) of all or substantially all of the assets of the Inergy Midstream, L.P. to any person or its affiliates, other than a 
qualifying owner, NRGM GP, or any of their affiliates, or (ii) any merger, reorganization, consolidation or other transaction 
pursuant to which more than 50% of the combined voting power of the equity interests in NRGM GP, LLC ceases to be 
controlled by a qualifying owner or its affiliates.
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If a change in control were to have occurred as of September 30, 2012, all unvested restricted units held by the named 
executive officers under the Inergy Long Term Incentive Plan would have automatically vested and become exercisable, as 
follows: 

Name

Restricted Units under the
Inergy Long Term Incentive

Plan (#)

Restricted Units under the
Inergy Midstream Long 
Term Incentive Plan (#) Total ($)(1)

John J. Sherman — — —
R. Brooks Sherman, Jr. 222,574 50,000 5,400,699
Michael J. Campbell 30,325 20,000 1,043,855
William C. Gautreaux 128,875 30,000 3,152,691
William R. Moler(2) 153,000 40,000 3,845,190
Laura L. Ozenberger 108,875 40,000 3,005,491

 
(1) The amounts included in the “Total” column are calculated by multiplying the number of  NRGY restricted units by the closing per unit price of  

NRGY common units on September 28, 2012 ($19.03) and the number of NRGM restricted units by the closing per unit price of an NRGM 
common unit on September 28, 2012  ($23.34).

(2) Mr. Moler forfeited all of his equity awards on October 5, 2012 in connection with his resignation.   

Director Compensation Table for the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2012

The following table sets forth the cash and non-cash compensation for the year ended September 30, 2012, by each person who 
served as a non-employee director of our general partner Inergy GP, LLC.

Name

Fees Earned
or Paid in
Cash ($)

Unit
Awards

($)(2)

Option
Awards

($)
Total

($)

Warren H. Gfeller 59,500 49,994 — 109,494
Arthur B. Krause 67,500 49,994 — 117,494
Robert D. Taylor 66,500 49,994 — 116,494
Richard T. O’Brien(1) 45,000 49,994 — 94,994

 
(1)   Richard T. O'Brien resigned from the board effective August 2, 2012 and forfeited all of his outstanding restricted units.  
(2)  On April 1, 2012, Messrs. Gfeller, Krause, Taylor and O'Brien were each awarded 3,054 Inergy, L.P. restricted units.  Equity award amounts reflect 

the aggregate grant date fair value of unit awards granted during the period presented. As of September 30, 2012, Mr. Gfeller and Mr. Krause each 
held 4,420 restricted units and Mr. Taylor held 4,103 restricted units.

Compensation of Directors 
 
Officers of our general partner who also serve as directors will not receive additional compensation.  Each director receives 
cash compensation of $40,000 per year for attending our regularly scheduled quarterly board meetings.  Each non-employee 
director receives $1,000 for each special meeting of the board of directors attended and $1,000 per compensation or audit 
committee meeting attended.  The chairman of the audit committee receives an annual fee of $10,000 per year and the chairman 
of the compensation committee receives an annual fee of $2,000 per year.  Furthermore, each non-employee director receives 
an annual grant of restricted units under the long-term incentive plan equal to $50,000 in value.  In April 2012, Messrs. Gfeller, 
Krause, Taylor and O'Brien each received 3,054 restricted units under the Inergy Long Term Incentive Plan.  These units vest 
ratably over three years beginning one year from the grant date.  Each non-employee director is reimbursed for out-of-pocket 
expenses in connection with attending meetings of the board of directors or committees.  Each director is fully indemnified for 
actions associated with being a director to the extent permitted under Delaware law.  

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation 
 
The compensation committee of the board of directors of our general partner oversees the compensation of our executive 
officers.  Warren H. Gfeller and Arthur B. Krause serve as the members of the compensation committee, and neither of them 
was an officer or employee of our company or any of its subsidiaries during fiscal 2012. 
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Unitholder Matters.

The following table sets forth certain information as of November 19, 2012, regarding the beneficial ownership of our common 
units by:

• each person who then beneficially owned more than 5% of such units then outstanding;

• each of the named executive officers of our general partner;

• each of the directors of our general partner; and

• all of the directors and executive officers of our general partner as a group.

All information with respect to beneficial ownership has been furnished by the respective directors, executive officers or 5% or 
more unitholders, as the case may be.

Name of Beneficial Owner(1)

Common Units 
Beneficially

Owned

Percentage
of Common Units 

Beneficially
Owned

John J. Sherman 19,092,255 15.2%
William C. Gautreaux 2,099,316 1.7
R. Brooks Sherman, Jr. 919,767 *
William R. Moler 34,882 *
Laura L. Ozenberger 141,356 *
Warren H. Gfeller 118,116 *
Arthur B. Krause 113,506 *
Robert D. Taylor 21,223 *
Michael Campbell 59,104 *
All directors and executive officers as a group (11 persons) 25,066,247 20.0%

* Less than 1%

(1) Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each person listed above is: Two Brush Creek Boulevard, Suite 200, Kansas City, Missouri 64112. All 
persons listed have sole voting power and investment power with respect to their units unless otherwise indicated.

We refer you to Item  5 of this report for certain information regarding securities authorized for issuance under equity 
compensation plans.

Item 13. Certain Relationships, Related Transactions and Director Independence.

For a discussion of director independence, see Item 10 "Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance."

Transactions with Related Persons 

Omnibus Agreement
 
We have entered into an omnibus agreement with our general partner, Inergy Midstream and its general partner that governs 
certain aspects of our relationship with them, including:
 

• the provision by us to Inergy Midstream of certain administrative services and  Inergy Midstream's agreement to 
reimburse us for such services;

• the provision by us of such employees as may be necessary to operate and manage Inergy Midstream's business, and 
Inergy Midstream's agreement to reimburse us for the expenses associated with such employees;

• certain indemnification obligations;
• Inergy Midstream's use of the name “Inergy” and related marks; and
• our right to review and first option with respect to business opportunities.
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Our indemnification obligations to Inergy Midstream include certain liabilities relating to:
 

• for three years after Inergy Midstream's  initial public offering (IPO), certain environmental liabilities attributable to 
the ownership and operation of Inergy Midstream's assets prior to the Inergy Midstream IPO, including (i) any 
violation or correction of a violation of environmental laws associated with Inergy Midstream's assets, where a 
correction of violation would include assessment, investigation, monitoring, remediation, or other similar action and 
(ii) any event, omission or condition associated with the ownership or operation of Inergy Midstream's assets 
(including the presence or release of hazardous materials), including (a) the cost and expense of any assessment, 
investigation, monitoring, remediation or other similar action, (b) the cost and expense of the preparation and 
implementation of any closure activity or remedial or corrective action required under environmental laws, and (c) the 
cost and expense of any environmental or toxic tort litigation;

•  environmental liabilities attributable with Inergy Midstream's prior ownership and operation of Tres Palacios Gas 
Storage LLC;

• the ownership and operation of Inergy Midstream's assets prior to its IPO;

provided, that (i) the aggregate amount payable to us pursuant to the first bullet point above will not exceed $15 million and (ii) 
amounts are only payable to us pursuant to the first and second bullet points above after liabilities relating to the first and 
second bullet points have exceeded $100,000 and then only for such amounts in excess of $100,000;
 

• until the first day after the applicable statute of limitations, any of Inergy Midstream's federal, state and local income 
tax liabilities attributable to the ownership and operation of Inergy Midstream's assets prior to the Inergy Midstream 
IPO;

• for three years after the closing of the Inergy Midstream IPO, the failure to have all necessary consents and 
governmental permits where such failure renders Inergy Midstream unable to use and operate its assets in substantially 
the same manner in which they were used and operated immediately prior to the Inergy Midstream IPO; and

• for three years after the closing of the Inergy Midstream IPO, Inergy Midstream's failure to have valid and indefeasible 
easement rights, rights-of-way, leasehold and/or fee ownership interest in and to the lands on which Inergy 
Midstream's assets are located and such failure prevents Inergy Midstream from using or operating its assets in 
substantially the same manner as they were used or operated immediately prior to the Inergy Midstream IPO.

We will not be required to indemnify Inergy Midstream for any claims, losses or expenses or income taxes referred to above to 
the extent such were either (i) reserved for in Inergy Midstream's financial statements as of the closing of the Inergy Midstream 
IPO or (ii) Inergy Midstream recovers any such amounts under available insurance coverage, from contractual rights or other 
recoveries against any third party.
 
Inergy Midstream's indemnification obligations to us, our general partner and to our affiliates (other than Inergy Midstream and 
its subsidiaries) include certain liabilities relating to:
 

• certain environmental liabilities attributable to the ownership and operation of Inergy Midstream's assets, but only to 
the extent the violations, events, omissions or conditions giving rise to such covered environmental liabilities occur 
after the closing of the Inergy Midstream IPO;  provided , that (i) our aggregate liability for such covered 
environmental liabilities will not exceed $15 million and (ii) amounts are only payable by us pursuant to this bullet 
point after liabilities relating to such covered environmental losses have exceeded $100,000 and then only for such 
amounts in excess of $100,000; and

• losses suffered or incurred by us by reason of or arising out of events and conditions associated with the operation of 
Inergy Midstream's assets that occur on or after the Inergy Midstream IPO (other than covered environmental losses, 
which are covered by the preceding bullet).

With respect to the provision by us of certain administrative services and such management and operating services as may be 
necessary to manage and operate Inergy Midstream's business, the omnibus agreement addresses certain aspects of our 
relationship with Inergy Midstream, including:
 

• the provision by  us to Inergy Midstream of certain specified administrative services necessary to run Inergy 
Midstream's business, including the provision of such employees as may be necessary to operate and manage Inergy 
Midstream's business, and Inergy Midstream's agreement to reimburse us for all reasonable costs and expenses 
incurred in connection with such services;

• Inergy Midstream's agreement to reimburse us  for all expenses we incurred as a result of Inergy Midstream becoming 
a publicly traded partnership; and
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• Inergy Midstream's agreement to reimburse us for all expenses that we incurred or payments we make on Inergy 
Midstream's behalf with respect to insurance coverage for our business.

 
Under the omnibus agreement, we have granted and conveyed to Inergy Midstream a nontransferable, nonexclusive, royalty 
free right and license to use the name “Inergy” and any associated or related marks.  Inergy Midstream's license to use the name 
“Inergy” will terminate upon the termination of the omnibus agreement.  Under the omnibus agreement, we have the right to 
review and have the first option on any business opportunities that are presented to us or to Inergy Midstream. 
 
Except for the indemnification provisions, the omnibus agreement may be terminated by us with 180 days' prior written notice 
if (i) NRGM GP, LLC is removed as Inergy Midstream's general partner under circumstances where “cause” does not exist and 
the common units held by us and our affiliates were not voted in favor of such removal; (ii) a change of control of Inergy 
Midstream occurs; or (iii) a change of control of us occurs. Except for the indemnification provisions, Inergy Midstream may 
terminate the omnibus agreement with 180 days' prior written notice if a change of control of Inergy occurs, a change of control 
of us occurs or Inergy Holdings GP, LLC (“Holdings GP”) acquires MGP GP, LLC as discussed below in “NRGM GP, LLC 
Change of Control Event.”
 
Tax Sharing Agreement
 
We have entered into a tax sharing agreement with Inergy Midstream pursuant to which Inergy Midstream will reimburse us for 
its share of state and local income and other taxes borne by us as a result of Inergy Midstream's income being included in a 
combined or consolidated tax return filed by us with respect to taxable periods including or beginning on the closing date of the 
Inergy Midstream IPO.  The amount of any such reimbursement will be limited to the tax that Inergy Midstream (and its 
subsidiaries) would have paid had Inergy Midstream not been included in a combined group with us.  We may use our tax 
attributes to cause our combined or consolidated group, of which Inergy Midstream may be a member for this purpose, to owe 
no tax.  However, Inergy Midstream would nevertheless reimburse us for the tax Inergy Midstream would have owed had the 
attributes not been available or used for our benefit, even though we had no cash expense for that period.
 
NRGM GP, LLC Change of Control Event
 
In connection with the Inergy Midstream IPO, Inergy, L.P. and Holdings GP, the indirect owner of our general partner, entered 
into a membership interest purchase agreement under which, under certain circumstances, Holdings GP will be required to 
purchase from us, and we will be required to sell to Holdings GP, all of the membership interests in MGP GP, LLC, the entity 
that controls our general partner, for nominal consideration.  MGP GP, LLC is a wholly owned subsidiary of Inergy, L.P. and 
the general partner of Inergy Midstream Holdings, L.P., which is the sole member of Inergy Midstream's general partner and 
direct holder of all of Inergy Midstream's IDRs. Under the agreement, Holdings GP is required to purchase MGP GP, LLC in 
the event that (i) a change of control of Inergy, L.P. occurs at a time when we are entitled to receive less than 50% of all cash 
distributed with respect to Inergy Midstream limited partner interests and IDRs or (ii) through dilution or a distribution to our  
common unitholders of our  interests in Inergy Midstream, we are entitled to receive less than 25% of all cash distributed with 
respect to Inergy Midstream limited partner interests and IDRs.   Either party may assign its rights and obligations under the 
agreement with the prior written consent of the other party.
 
The agreement will automatically terminate if prior to a purchase event in clauses (i) or (ii) above, (a) a change of control of us 
occurs prior to the time that we are entitled to receive less than 50% of all cash distributed with respect to Inergy Midstream  
limited partner interests and IDRs or (b) a change of control of Inergy Midstream occurs prior to the time that we are entitled to 
receive less than 25% of all cash distributed with respect to Inergy Midstream limited partner interests and IDRs.
 
Contribution Agreement 

On December 21, 2011, in connection with the closing of the public offering of Inergy Midstream IPO, pursuant to the Contribution, 
Conveyance and Assumption Agreement by and among us, our general partner, Inergy Propane, LLC, MGP GP, LLC, MGP, Inergy 
Midstream's general partner and Inergy Midstream (the “Contribution Agreement”), we conveyed our initial limited partner interest 
in Inergy Midstream to Inergy Midstream, as a recapitalization of our interest in Inergy Midstream, in exchange for: 

• 55,925,000 common units representing a 75.2% limited partner interest in Inergy Midstream;

• the right to receive a distribution from Inergy Midstream of $80 million as reimbursement of pre-formation capital 
expenditures with respect to Inergy Midstream's assets;

• the issuance to MGP of all of the incentive distribution rights in Inergy Midstream;
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• Inergy Midstream's assumption of the Promissory Note; and

• the right to receive a distribution in the amount of $38,199,000 for the aggregate amount of cash contributed by the 
underwriters to Inergy Midstream with respect to the 2,400,000 common units of Inergy Midstream purchased by and 
issued to the underwriters in connection with their exercise in full of the over-allotment option.

Pursuant to the Contribution Agreement, Inergy Midstream's general partner conveyed its initial general partner interest in Inergy 
Midstream to Inergy Midstream, as a recapitalization of its interest in Inergy Midstream, in exchange for a non-economic general 
partner interest in the Inergy Midstream. 

As a contribution in capital to Inergy Midstream, Inergy also contributed to us all intercompany indebtedness that Inergy Midstream 
owed to Inergy Propane, LLC as of December 21, 2011, and such intercompany debt was canceled. 

Other Transactions with Related Persons

Inergy Midstream provides firm storage services utilizing 100% of the operationally available storage capacity at Inergy 
Midstream's Bath storage facility to our subsidiary, Inergy Services, under a five-year contract entered into in March 2011.  As 
of September 30, 2012 the annual storage fee is approximately $13.1 million.  The terms and conditions of the storage contract 
are consistent with the terms and conditions of the storage leases that Inergy Services entered into with third parties.  Inergy 
Midstream received total revenues from Inergy Services under this contract of $11.8 million for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2012.

In addition, Inergy Midstream will provide firm storage services utilizing 100% of the operationally available storage capacity 
at its proposed Watkins Glen NGL storage facility to Inergy Services under a five-year contract.  As part of this development 
project, Inergy Services marketed this future storage capacity and entered into a five-year contract with an unaffiliated third 
party under which the anchor customer obtained the right to store two million barrels of propane and butane at the proposed 
facility.  All revenue generated by Inergy Services from subleasing storage capacity to third parties at the Watkins Glen NGL 
storage facility will be paid to Inergy Midstream during the term of the affiliate contract.  The other terms and conditions of the 
storage contract are consistent with the terms and conditions of the storage contracts that Inergy Services enters into with third 
parties, including the anchor customer.  
 
As of September 30, 2011, Inergy Midstream had approximately $129.8 million of indebtedness outstanding to our former 
subsidiary, Inergy Propane, LLC (Inergy Propane), which was subject to interest during the period of construction of Inergy 
Midstream expansion projects.  For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2011, the largest aggregate amount of principal 
outstanding and the amount of principal paid on indebtedness outstanding to Inergy Propane were $129.8 million and $77.1 
million, respectively.  For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2011, Inergy Midstream paid approximately $6.2 million of 
interest expense on the intercompany indebtedness.  Inergy Midstream's outstanding intercompany indebtedness was subject to 
an interest rate of approximately 6.5% at September 30, 2011.  This intercompany indebtedness was incurred to support our 
capital expansion and working capital needs. Upon completion of the Inergy Midstream IPO, this intercompany indebtedness 
was extinguished and treated as a capital contribution and part of our investment in Inergy Midstream. 
 
Immediately prior to the closing of the Inergy Midstream IPO, we issued a $255 million unsecured promissory note to 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., which Inergy Midstream assumed immediately thereafter pursuant to an assignment and 
assumption agreement.  Inergy Midstream assumed the promissory note as partial consideration to us in connection with the 
recapitalization of our interest in Inergy Midstream.  Upon completion of the Inergy Midstream IPO, Inergy Midstream repaid 
the promissory note in full with the net proceeds from the IPO and borrowings of approximately $2.7 million under the Inergy 
Midstream revolving credit facility. 

On November 25, 2011, in connection with the Inergy Midstream IPO, Inergy Midstream transferred US Salt to us.  On May 
14, 2012, Inergy Midstream re-acquired US Salt from us for a total purchase price of $192.5 million, including $182.5 million 
in cash and 473,707 common units of Inergy Midstream.

Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons

Our Related Person Transactions Policy applies to any transaction since the beginning of our fiscal year (or currently proposed 
transaction) in which we or any of our subsidiaries was or is to be a participant, the amount involved exceeds $120,000 and any 
director, director nominee, executive officer, 5% or greater unitholder (or their immediate family members) had, has or will 
have a direct or indirect material interest. A transaction that would be covered by this policy would include, but not be limited 
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to, any financial transaction, arrangement or relationship (including any indebtedness or guarantee of indebtedness) or any 
series of similar transactions, arrangements or relationships.

Under our Related Person Transactions Policy, related person transactions may be entered into or continue only if the 
transaction is deemed to be “fair and reasonable” to us, in accordance with the terms of our Partnership Agreement. Under our 
Partnership Agreement, transactions that represent a “conflict of interest” may be approved in one of three ways and, if 
approved in any of those ways, will be considered “fair and reasonable” to us and the holders of our common units. The three 
ways enumerated in our Related Person Transactions Policy for reaching this conclusion include:

(i) approval by the Conflicts Committee of the Board (the “Conflicts Committee”) under Section 7.9 of the Partnership 
Agreement (“Special Approval”);

(ii) approval by our Chief Executive Officer applying the criteria specified in Section 7.9 of the Partnership Agreement if 
the transaction is in the normal course of the Partnership's business and is (a) on terms no less favorable to the 
Partnership than those generally being provided to or available from unrelated third parties or (b) fair to the Partnership, 
taking into account the totality of the relationships between the parties involved (including other transactions that may 
be particularly favorable or advantageous to the Partnership); and

(iii) approval by an independent committee of the Board (either the Audit Committee or a Special Committee) applying the 
criteria in Section 7.9 of the Partnership Agreement.

Once a transaction is approved in any of these ways, it is “fair and reasonable” and accordingly deemed (i) approved by all of 
our partners and (ii) not to be a breach of any fiduciary duties of general partner.

Our general partner determines in its discretion which method of approval is required depending on the circumstances.

Under our Partnership Agreement, when determining whether a related person transaction is “fair and reasonable,” if our 
general partner elects to adopt a resolution or a course of action that has not received Special Approval, then our general partner 
may consider:

• the relative interests of any party to such conflict, agreement, transaction or situation and the benefits and burdens 
relating to such interest;

• any customary or accepted industry practices and any customary or historical dealings with a particular person;

• any applicable generally accepted accounting practices or principles; and

• such additional factors as the general partner or conflicts committee determines in its sole discretion to be relevant, 
reasonable or appropriate under the circumstances.

A related person transaction that is approved by the conflicts committee is, as discussed in greater detail above, conclusively 
deemed to be fair and reasonable to us. Under our Partnership Agreement, the material facts known to our general partner or 
any of our affiliates regarding the transaction must be disclosed to the conflicts committee at the time the committee gives its 
approval. When approving a related party transaction, the conflicts committee considers all factors it considers relevant, 
reasonable or appropriate under the circumstances, including the relative interests of any party to the transaction, customary 
industry practices and generally accepted accounting principles.

Under our Partnership Agreement, in the absence of bad faith by the general partner, the resolution, action or terms so made, 
taken or provided by the general partner with respect to approval of the related party transaction will not constitute a breach of 
the Partnership Agreement or any standard of fiduciary duty.

Under our Related Person Transactions Policy, as well as under our Partnership Agreement, there is no obligation to take any 
particular conflict to the conflicts committee-empanelling that committee is entirely at the discretion of the general partner. In 
many ways, the decision to engage the conflicts committee can be analogized to the kinds of transactions for which a Delaware 
corporation might establish a special committee of independent directors. The general partner considers the specific facts and 
circumstances involved. Relevant facts would include:
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• the nature and size of the transaction (e.g., transaction with a controlling unitholder, magnitude of consideration to be 
paid or received, impact of proposed transaction on the general partner and holders of common units);

• the related person's interest in the transaction;

• whether the transaction is on terms no less favorable than terms generally available to an unaffiliated third-party under 
the same or similar circumstances;

• if applicable, the availability of other sources of comparable services or products; and

• the financial costs involved, including costs for separate financial, legal and possibly other advisors at our expense.

When determining whether a related person transaction is in the normal course of our business and is (a) on terms no less 
favorable to us than those generally being provided to or available from unrelated third parties or (b) fair to us, taking into 
account the totality of the relationships between the parties involved (including other transactions that may be particularly 
favorable or advantageous to us), the general partner considers any facts and circumstances that it deems to be relevant, 
including:

• the terms of the transaction, including the aggregate value;

• the business purpose of the transaction;

• the relative interests of any party to such conflict, agreement, transaction or situation and the benefits and burdens 
relating to such interest;

• whether the terms of the transaction are comparable to the terms that would exist in a similar transaction with an 
unaffiliated third party;

• any customary or accepted industry practices;

• any applicable generally accepted accounting practices or principles; and

• such additional factors as the general partner or the conflicts committee determines in its sole discretion to be relevant, 
reasonable or appropriate under the circumstances.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The following table presents fees billed for professional audit services rendered by Ernst & Young LLP for the audit of our and 
Inergy Midstream's annual financial statements and for other services for the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 (in 
millions):

 
Year Ended

September  30,
  2012 2011

Audit fees(1) $ 3.3 $ 2.6
 

(1) Audit fees consist of assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial statements and 
financial statements of our subsidiaries. This category includes fees related to the review of our quarterly and other SEC filings and services related to 
internal control assessments.

The audit committee of our general partner reviewed and approved all audit and non-audit services provided to us by Ernst & 
Young during fiscal 2012. For information regarding the audit committee’s pre-approval policies and procedures related to the 
engagement by us of an independent accountant, see our audit committee charter on our website at www.inergylp.com.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Exhibits, Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules:

1. Financial Statements:

See Index Page for Financial Statements located on page 94.

2. Financial Statement Schedules:
Schedule I:  Parent Only Condensed Financial Statements located on page 136.
Schedule II: Valuation and Qualifying Accounts located on page 141.

Other financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are either not required, are immaterial or are not applicable 
or because equivalent information has been included in the financial statements, the notes thereto or elsewhere herein.
 

3. Exhibits:
 

Exhibit
Number    Description

*2.1

  

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated August 7, 2010, among Inergy, L.P., Inergy GP, LLC, Inergy 
Holdings, L.P., NRGP Limited Partner, LLC and NRGP MS, LLC (incorporated herein by reference to 
Exhibit 2.1 to Inergy, L.P.’s Form 8-K filed on August 9, 2010)

*2.2

  

First Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September 3, 2010, among Inergy, 
L.P., Inergy GP, LLC, Inergy Holdings, L.P., NRGP Limited Partner, LLC and NRGP MS, LLC 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Inergy, L.P.’s Form 8-K filed on September 7, 
2010)

*2.3

  

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated September 3, 2010, between TP Gas Holding LLC and Inergy
Midstream, LLC (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Inergy, L.P.’s Form 8-K filed on
September 7, 2010)

*2.4 Contribution Agreement dated April 25, 2012 by and among Inergy, L.P., Inergy GP, LLC, Inergy
Sales & Services, Inc. and Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 2.1 to Inergy, L.P.'s Form 8-K filed April 26, 2012)

*2.5 Amendment Contribution Agreement dated July 6 by and among Inergy, L.P., Inergy GP, LLC, Inergy
Sales & Services, Inc. and Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 2.1 to Inergy, L.P.'s Form 8-K filed June 15, 2012)

*2.6 Second Amendment Contribution Agreement dated June 15, 2012 by and among Inergy, L.P., Inergy
GP, LLC, Inergy Sales & Services, Inc. and Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Inergy, L.P.'s Form 8-K filed July 6, 2012)

*2.7 Third Amendment Contribution Agreement dated July 19, 2012 by and among Inergy, L.P., Inergy GP,
LLC, Inergy Sales & Services, Inc. and Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Inergy, L.P.'s Form 8-K filed July 19, 2012)

*3.1

  

Certificate of Limited Partnership of Inergy, L.P. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Inergy, L.P.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-56976) filed on March 14,
2001)

*3.1 A
  

Certificate of Correction of Certificate of Limited Partnership of Inergy, L.P. (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Inergy, L.P.’s Form 10-Q filed on May 12, 2003)

*3.2
  

Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Inergy, L.P. (incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Inergy, L.P.’s Form 10-Q filed on February 13, 2004)

*3.2 A
  

Amendment No. 1 to Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Inergy L.P.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Inergy, L.P.’s Form 10-Q filed on May 14, 2004)

*3.2 B
  

Amendment No. 2 to Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Inergy, L.P.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Inergy, L.P.’s Form 8-K filed on January 24, 2005)
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Exhibit
Number    Description

*3.2 C

  

Amendment No. 3 to Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Inergy, L.P.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Inergy, L.P.’s Form 8-K/A filed on August 17,
2005)

*3.2 D

  

Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Inergy, L.P., dated as of
November 5, 2010 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Inergy, L.P.’s Form 8-K filed on
November 5, 2010)

*3.5
  

Certificate of Formation of Inergy GP, LLC (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.5 to Inergy,
L.P.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (Registration No. 333-56976) filed on May 7, 2001)

*3.6

  

Limited Liability Company Agreement of Inergy GP, LLC (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
3.6 to Inergy, L.P.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (Registration No. 333-56976) filed on
May 7, 2001)

*4.1

  

Specimen Unit Certificate for Common Units (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to
Inergy L.P.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (Registration No. 333-56976) filed on May 7,
2001)

*4.2

  

Indenture, dated as of February 2, 2009, among Inergy, L.P., Inergy Finance Corp., the Subsidiary
Guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Inergy, L.P.’s Form 8-K filed on February 3, 2009)

*4.3

  

First Supplemental Indenture and Amendment—Subsidiary Guarantee, dated as of November 5, 2010,
to the Indenture, dated as of February 2, 2009 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to
Inergy, L.P.’s Form 8-K filed on November 5, 2010)

*4.4

  

Indenture, dated as of September 27, 2010, among Inergy, L.P., Inergy Finance Corp., the Subsidiary
Guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Inergy, L.P.’s Form 8-K filed on September 28, 2010)

*4.5

  

First Supplemental Indenture and Amendment—Subsidiary Guarantee, dated as of November 5, 2010,
to the Indenture, dated as of September 27, 2010 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to
Inergy, L.P.’s Form 8-K filed on November 5, 2010)

*4.6

  

Indenture, dated as of February 2, 2011, among Inergy, L.P., Inergy Finance Corp., the Subsidiary
Guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Inergy, L.P.’s Form 8-K filed on February 3, 2011)

*4.7 Second  Supplemental Indenture  dated as of July 17, 2012, to the Indenture, dated as of
September 27, 2010 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1  to Inergy, L.P.'s Form 8-K filed
on July 19, 2012)

*4.8 Second  Supplemental Indenture  dated as of July 17, 2012, to the Indenture, dated as of February 2,
2011 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2  to Inergy, L.P.'s Form 8-K filed on July 19,
2012)

*4.9 Third Supplemental Indenture  dated as of August 1, 2012, to the Indenture, dated as of September 27,
2010 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1  to Inergy, L.P.'s Form 8-K filed on August 3,
2012)

*4.10 Third Supplemental Indenture  dated as of August 1, 2012, to the Indenture, dated as of February 2,
2011 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2  to Inergy, L.P.'s Form 8-K filed on August 3,
2012)

*4.11 Second Supplemental Indenture  dated as of August 1, 2012, to the Indenture, dated as of February 2,
2009 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3  to Inergy, L.P.'s Form 8-K filed on August 3,
2012)

*10.1

  

Employment Agreement dated as of November 24, 2010 between Inergy GP, LLC and John J.
Sherman (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Inergy, L.P.’s Form 10-K filed on
November 29, 2010)****

*10.2

  

Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2010, between Inergy
GP, LLC and Phillip L. Elbert (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Inergy, L.P.’s Form
10-Q filed on February 3, 2010)****
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Exhibit
Number    Description

*10.3

  

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2007, between Inergy GP, LLC and William R. Moler
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Inergy L.P.’s Form 10-K filed on December 1,
2008)****

*10.3A

  

First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of November 25, 2009, between Inergy GP,
LLC and—William R. Moler (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7A to Inergy L.P.’s Form
10-K filed on November 30, 2009)

*10.4

  

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 27, 2011 between Inergy GP, LLC and Laura L.
Ozenberger (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Inergy L.P.'s Form 10-K filed on
November 15, 2011)

*10.5

  

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2010, between Inergy GP,
LLC and R. Brooks Sherman, Jr. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Inergy, L.P.’s Form 10-
Q filed on February 3, 2010)****

*10.6
  

Inergy Long Term Incentive Plan (as amended and restated on August 14, 2008) (incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Inergy, L.P.’s Form 8-K filed on August 18, 2008)****

*10.7
  

Form of Inergy, L.P.’s Restricted Unit Award Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.11 to Inergy, L.P.’s Form 10-K filed on November 29, 2007)****

*10.8
  

Amended and Restated Inergy Unit Purchase Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
Inergy L.P.’s Form 10-Q filed on February 13, 2004)****

*10.9
  

Form of Inergy, L.P.’s Unit Option Grant Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.10 to Inergy, L.P.’s Form 8-K filed on November 29, 2010))****

*10.10
  

Summary of Non-Employee Director Compensation(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11
to Inergy, L.P.’s Form 10-K filed on November 29, 2010)****

*10.11

  

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of February 2, 2011among Inergy, L.P., lenders
named therein and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as administrative agent (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Inergy, L.P.’s Form 8-K filed on February 3, 2011)

*10.12

  

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2011 among
Inergy, L.P., lenders named therein and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as administrative agent
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Inergy, L.P.’s Form 8-K filed on August 1, 2011)

*10.13

  

Consent and Amendment No. 2 dated as of December 21, 2011 among Inergy, L.P., lenders named
therein and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as administrative agent (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Inergy, L.P.'s Form 8-K filed on December 22, 2011)

*10.14 Consent and Amendment No. 3 dated as of April 13, 2012 among Inergy, L.P., lenders named therein
and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as administrative agent (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to Inergy, L.P.'s Form 8-K filed on April 19, 2012)

*10.15 Consent and Amendment No. 4 dated as of July 26, 2012 among Inergy, L.P., lenders named therein
and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as administrative agent (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to Inergy, L.P.'s Form 8-K filed on July 27, 2012)

*10.16 Contribution, Conveyance and Assumption Agreement dated December 21, 2011, by and among
Inergy GP, LLC, Inergy, L.P., Inergy Propane, LLC, MGP GP, LLC, Inergy Midstream Holdings, L.P.,
NRGM GP, LLC, and Inergy Midstream, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Inergy
L.P.'s Form 8-K filed on December 22, 2011)

*10.17 Omnibus Agreement, dated December 21, 2011by and among Inergy GP, LLC, Inergy, L.P., NRGM
GP, LLC and Inergy Midstream, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Inergy L.P.'s Form
8-K filed on December 22, 2011)

*10.18 Membership Interest Purchase Agreement dated December 21, 2011, by and among Inergy , L.P. and
Inergy Holdings GP, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Inergy L.P.'s Form 8-K filed on
December 22, 2011)

*10.19 Support  Agreement dated August 1, 2012, by and among Inergy , L.P., Suburban Propane Partners,
L.P. and Suburban Energy Finance Corp. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Inergy L.P.'s
Form 8-K filed on August 2, 2012)
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Exhibit
Number    Description

**10.20 Employment Agreement dated as of October 1, 2012, between Inergy GP, LLC and Michael J.
Campbell****

**10.21 Employment Agreement dated as of April 21, 2011, between Inergy GP, LLC and William C. 
Gautreaux****

**12.1    Computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges

*14.1
  

Inergy’s Code of Business Ethics and Conduct (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to
Inergy, L.P.’s Form 8-K filed on December 23, 2003)

**21.1    List of subsidiaries of Inergy, L.P.

**23.1    Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

**31.1
  

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act, as amended

**31.2
  

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act, as amended

**32.1
  

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

**32.2
  

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

***101.INS    XBRL Instance Document

***101.SCH    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

***101.CAL    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

***101.LAB    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

***101.PRE    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

***101.DEF    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

* Previously filed
** Filed herewith
*** Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the Interactive Data Files on Exhibit 101 hereto are deemed not filed or

part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, are deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, and otherwise are not subject to liability under those sections.

**** Management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements required to be identified by Item 15(a).

(b) Exhibits.

See exhibits identified above under Item 15(a)3.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules.

See financial statement schedules identified above under Item 15(a)2.
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Inergy, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors of Inergy GP, LLC and Unitholders of Inergy, L.P. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Inergy, L.P. and Subsidiaries (the Company) as of 
September 30, 2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, partners' capital 
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2012. Our audits also included the financial 
statement schedules listed in the Index at Item 15(a).  These financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of the 
Company's management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedules based on our 
audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).  
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audits 
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of Inergy, L.P. and Subsidiaries at September 30, 2012 and 2011, and the consolidated results of their operations and 
their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2012, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles.  Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedules, when considered in relation to the basic 
financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
Inergy, L.P. and Subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2012, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commissions 
and our report dated November 20, 2012, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP
Kansas City, Missouri

November 20, 2012 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Unitholders of Inergy, L.P.

We have audited Inergy, L.P. and Subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2012, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Inergy, L.P. and Subsidiaries’ management is responsible for maintaining effective 
internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting 
included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal 
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of 
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and 
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management’s 
assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal 
controls of its fiscal 2012 acquisitions, which are included in the 2012 consolidated financial statements of Inergy, L.P. and 
Subsidiaries and constituted $22.3 million of total assets as of September 30, 2012, and $44.9 million of revenues for the year 
then ended. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of Inergy, L.P. and Subsidiaries also did not include an 
evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of those fiscal 2012 acquisitions.

In our opinion, Inergy, L.P. and Subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of September 30, 2012, based on the COSO criteria.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
the 2012 consolidated financial statements of Inergy, L.P. and Subsidiaries and our report dated November 20, 2012 expressed 
an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP
Kansas City, Missouri

November 20, 2012 
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Inergy, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in millions, except unit information)
  September 30,
  2012 2011

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ — $ 11.5
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $0.4 million and $0.2 

million at September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011, respectively 133.6 112.9
Inventories (Note 4) 87.1 155.1
Assets from price risk management activities 37.5 17.1
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 20.3 16.1
Current assets held for sale (Note 5) — 115.2

Total current assets 278.5 427.9

Property, plant and equipment (Note 4) 2,160.7 1,857.8
Less: accumulated depreciation 450.2 322.8

Property, plant and equipment, net 1,710.5 1,535.0

Intangible assets (Note 4):
Customer accounts 41.2 39.7
Other intangible assets 21.3 56.9

62.5 96.6
Less: accumulated amortization 21.2 29.0

Intangible assets, net 41.3 67.6

Assets held for sale (Note 5) — 1,146.7
Goodwill 165.8 162.0
Other assets 11.5 1.7
Total assets $ 2,207.6 $ 3,340.9

Liabilities and partners’ capital
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 120.8 $ 145.6
Accrued expenses 93.9 72.1
Liabilities from price risk management activities 20.9 19.0
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 8) 3.4 3.2
Liabilities held for sale (Note 5) — 82.1

Total current liabilities 239.0 322.0

Long-term debt, less current portion (Note 8) 739.8 1,833.4
Other long-term liabilities 23.4 19.3
Deferred income taxes 20.6 20.2

Partners’ capital (Note 11):
Limited partner unitholders (125,795,836 and 119,147,858 common units issued and 

outstanding at September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011, respectively, and 
5,882,105 and 12,165,499 Class B units issued and outstanding at September 30, 2012 
and September 30, 2011, respectively) 1,046.2 1,146.0

Total Inergy, L.P. partners’ capital 1,046.2 1,146.0
Interest of non-controlling partners in subsidiaries 138.6 —
Total partners’ capital 1,184.8 1,146.0
Total liabilities and partners’ capital $ 2,207.6 $ 3,340.9

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Inergy, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in millions, except unit and per unit data)

  Year Ended September 30,
  2012 2011 2010

Revenue:
Propane $ 1,289.0 $ 1,461.9 $ 1,272.4
Other 717.8 691.9 513.6

2,006.8 2,153.8 1,786.0
Cost of product sold (excluding depreciation and amortization as shown 

below):
Propane 974.5 1,044.0 862.9
Other 421.7 432.0 303.0

1,396.2 1,476.0 1,165.9
Expenses:

Operating and administrative 300.8 323.3 310.7
Depreciation and amortization 169.6 191.8 161.8
Loss on disposal of assets 5.7 8.2 11.5

Operating income 134.5 154.5 136.1

Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net (83.6) (113.5) (91.5)
Gain on disposal of retail propane operations (Note 5) 589.5 — —
Loss on Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. units (Note 5) (47.6) — —
Early extinguishment of debt (Note 8) (26.6) (52.1) —
Other income 1.5 1.2 2.0

Income (loss) before income taxes 567.7 (9.9) 46.6
Provision for income taxes 1.8 0.7 0.2
Net income (loss) 565.9 (10.6) 46.4
Net (income) loss attributable to non-controlling partners (11.0) 28.2 15.4
Net income attributable to partners $ 554.9 $ 17.6 $ 61.8

Partners’ interest information:
Total limited partners’ interest in net income $ 554.9 $ 17.6 $ 61.8

Net income per limited partner unit:
Basic $ 4.39 $ 0.17 $ 1.73
Diluted $ 4.22 $ 0.15 $ 1.29

Weighted-average limited partners’ units outstanding (in thousands):
Basic 124,976 105,732 35,726
Dilutive units 6,613 11,952 12,276
Diluted 131,589 117,684 48,002

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Inergy, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(in millions)
  Year Ended September 30,
  2012 2011 2010

Net income (loss) $ 565.9 $ (10.6) $ 46.4
Change in unrealized fair value on cash flow hedges (Note 2) (8.2) (11.1) (6.6)
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 557.7 $ (21.7) $ 39.8

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Inergy, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Partners’ Capital

(in millions)
Common

Unit
Capital

Non-
Controlling

Partners

Total
Partners’
Capital

Balance at September 30, 2009 $ 40.5 $ 731.5 $ 772.0
Net proceeds from the issuance of common units — 602.7 602.7
Net proceeds from common unit options exercised 6.2 2.8 9.0
Unit-based compensation charges — 4.8 4.8
Acquisition of non-controlling interest — (18.3) (18.3)
Costs associated with the simplification of capital structure (4.1) (2.9) (7.0)
Retirement of common units — (0.1) (0.1)
Distributions (77.6) (165.2) (242.8)
Gain on issuance of units in subsidiary 27.1 (27.1) —
Change in unrealized fair value on cash flow hedges (0.6) (6.0) (6.6)
Net income excluding gain on issuance of units in subsidiary 61.8 (15.4) 46.4

Balance at September 30, 2010 53.3 1,106.8 1,160.1
Net proceeds from the issuance of common units 311.4 (0.2) 311.2
Net proceeds from common unit options exercised 2.2 3.0 5.2
Unit-based compensation charges 4.4 1.4 5.8
Acquisition of non-controlling interest 1,032.9 (1,032.9) —
Costs associated with the simplification of capital structure (0.7) (0.4) (1.1)
Retirement of common units (1.9) — (1.9)
Distributions (260.1) (51.5) (311.6)
Change in unrealized fair value on cash flow hedges (13.1) 2.0 (11.1)
Net income (loss) 17.6 (28.2) (10.6)

Balance at September 30, 2011 1,146.0 — 1,146.0
Net proceeds from the issuance of common units by Inergy Midstream, L.P. — 292.4 292.4
Net proceeds from common unit options exercised 1.3 — 1.3
Certain costs relating to Inergy Midstream, L.P.'s initial public offering (4.3) — (4.3)
Unit-based compensation charges 12.0 0.9 12.9
Gain (loss) on issuance of Inergy Midstream, L.P. units 133.8 (133.8) —
Gain (loss) associated with contribution of US Salt, LLC 17.3 (17.3) —
Retirement of common units (2.2) — (2.2)
Distributions (267.9) (14.6) (282.5)
Distribution of Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. units (Note 11) (536.5) — (536.5)
Change in unrealized fair value on cash flow hedges (8.2) — (8.2)
Net income 554.9 11.0 565.9

Balance at September 30, 2012 $ 1,046.2 $ 138.6 $ 1,184.8

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Inergy, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in millions)
  Year Ended September 30,
  2012 2011 2010

Operating activities
Net income (loss) $ 565.9 $ (10.6) $ 46.4
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and depletion 148.0 154.8 126.5
Amortization 21.6 37.0 35.3
Amortization of deferred financing costs, swap premium and net bond discount 4.9 7.4 7.3
Unit-based compensation charges 12.9 5.8 4.8
Provision for doubtful accounts 2.1 3.7 2.8
Loss on disposal of assets 5.7 8.2 11.5
Deferred income taxes 0.4 (0.5) (0.3)
Early extinguishment of debt 10.0 12.7 —
Gain on disposal of retail propane operations (589.5) — —
Loss on Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. units 47.6 — —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions and 

dispositions:
Accounts receivable (1.3) (59.9) 1.9
Inventories 85.7 (75.4) (33.4)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (5.3) (1.2) 7.6
Other assets (liabilities) (3.6) (1.9) 0.4
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (29.3) 46.1 (21.1)
Customer deposits (10.2) (4.8) (5.8)
Net assets/(liabilities) from price risk management activities (26.6) (7.0) (10.3)

Net cash provided by operating activities 239.0 114.4 173.6

Investing activities
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (32.5) (824.5) (253.0)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (268.7) (180.6) (92.3)
Payments associated with the disposal of retail propane operations (58.1) — —
Proceeds from sale of assets 8.7 26.5 6.9
Investment in bond offering escrow account — 588.0 (588.0)
Net cash used in investing activities (350.6) (390.6) (926.4)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Inergy, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (continued)

(in millions)
  Year Ended September 30,
  2012 2011 2010

Financing activities
Proceeds from the issuance of Inergy, L.P. long-term debt $ 1,159.2 $ 1,971.8 $ 1,555.7
Proceeds from the issuance of Inergy Midstream, L.P. long-term debt 509.9 — —
Principal payments on Inergy, L.P. long-term debt (1,476.6) (1,824.1) (1,003.2)
Principal payments on Inergy Midstream, L.P. long-term debt (93.4) — —
Proceeds for the issuance of promissory note 255.0 — —
Principal payment on promissory note (255.0) — —
Distributions (267.9) (260.1) (77.6)
Distributions paid to non-controlling partners (14.6) (51.5) (165.2)
Acquisition of minority interest — — (18.3)
Payments for deferred financing costs (7.5) (20.5) (23.6)
Costs associated with the simplification of capital structure — (1.1) (2.3)
Net proceeds from issuance of Inergy, L.P. common units — 311.2 602.7
Net proceeds from issuance of Inergy Midstream, L.P. common units 292.4 — —
Retirement of common units (2.2) (1.9) (0.1)
Net proceeds from Inergy, L..P. common unit options exercised 1.3 5.2 9.0
Proceeds from swap settlement 0.8 14.3 8.4
Other (1.3) — —
Net cash provided by financing activities 100.1 143.3 885.5

Net increase (decrease) in cash (11.5) (132.9) 132.7
Cash at beginning of period 11.5 144.4 11.7
Cash at end of period $ — $ 11.5 $ 144.4

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid during the period for interest $ 107.3 $ 89.8 $ 84.0
Cash paid during the year for income taxes $ 1.4 $ 0.5 $ 0.8

Supplemental schedule of noncash investing and financing activities
Change in the value of intangible assets and equity $ (3.0) $ — $ —
Distribution of Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. units (Note 11) $ 536.5 $ — $ —
Exchange of senior debt (Note 1) $ 1,187.0 $ — $ —
Net change to property, plant and equipment through accounts payable and accrued 

expenses $ 23.8 $ 19.6 $ (6.9)
Change in the fair value of interest rate swap liability and related long-term debt $ — $ 0.5 $ (5.6)

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired:
Current assets $ 5.2 $ 5.5 $ 27.4
Property, plant and equipment 17.8 501.5 81.3
Contractual rights — 266.9 —
Intangible assets 8.3 9.7 146.6
Goodwill (Note 3) 4.0 53.8 49.9
Other assets 0.1 1.0 0.1
Current liabilities (0.1) (12.9) (44.1)
Debt (2.8) (1.0) (8.2)

Total acquisitions, net of cash acquired $ 32.5 $ 824.5 $ 253.0
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Inergy, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Partnership Organization and Basis of Presentation

Organization

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Inergy, L.P. (“Inergy” or "the Company") and its 
wholly owned subsidiaries, Inergy Partners, LLC (“Partners”), IPCH Acquisition Corp. (“IPCHA”), Inergy Finance Corp. and 
Inergy Operations, LLC and its wholly owned subsidiaries.  The accompanying consolidated financial statements also include 
the accounts of Inergy's majority-owned subsidiary, Inergy Midstream, L.P. (“Inergy Midstream”), and its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries.

Contribution of Retail Propane Operations

On August 1, 2012, Inergy (NYSE:NRGY) closed on its definitive agreement and contributed its retail propane operations to 
Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. (“SPH”) in exchange for consideration of approximately $1.8 billion.  Under the terms of the 
agreement, Inergy received approximately 14.2 million SPH common units; and SPH exchanged $1,187.0 million of Inergy's 
outstanding senior notes for approximately $1,000.0 million of new SPH senior notes and cash paid to noteholders tendering 
the exchange. In connection with the closing of this transaction, we entered into a support agreement with SPH pursuant to 
which we are obligated to provide contingent, residual support of approximately $497 million of aggregate principal amount of 
the 7.5% senior unsecured notes due 2018 of SPH and Suburban Energy Finance Corp. (collectively, the “SPH Issuers”) or any 
permitted refinancing thereof.  Under the support agreement, in the event the SPH Issuers fail to pay any principal amount of 
the supported debt when due, we will pay directly to, or to the SPH Issuers for the benefit of, the holders of the Supported Debt 
(“Holders”) an amount up to the principal amount of the supported debt that the SPH Issuers have failed to pay. We have no 
obligation to make a payment under the support agreement with respect to any accrued and unpaid interest or any redemption 
premium or other costs, fees, expenses, penalties, charges or other amounts of any kind whatsoever that shall be due to 
noteholders by the SPH Issuers, whether on or related to the supported debt or otherwise. The support agreement terminates on 
the earlier of the date the supported debt is extinguished or on the maturity date of supported debt or any permitted refinancing 
thereof.

On September 14, 2012, Inergy distributed approximately 14.1 million of the SPH common units it received to Inergy 
unitholders of record on August 29, 2012. Unitholders received approximately 0.108 SPH common units for each Inergy 
limited partner unit outstanding on the record date. 

Inergy Midstream

On November 14, 2011, Inergy Midstream, LLC converted into a Delaware limited partnership and changed its name to Inergy 
Midstream, L.P. (“Inergy Midstream”).  Inergy Midstream converted into a limited partnership in connection with the initial 
public offering (“IPO”) of its common units representing limited partnership interests.  Inergy Midstream was formed by Inergy 
to acquire, develop, own and operate midstream energy assets.

On November 25, 2011, Inergy Midstream assigned 100% of its membership interests in each of US Salt, LLC (“US Salt”) and 
Tres Palacios Gas Storage LLC ("Tres Palacios") to Inergy.
 
On December 21, 2011, Inergy Midstream completed its IPO.  Inergy Midstream sold 16,000,000 common units to public 
investors and the underwriters exercised their option to purchase an additional 2,400,000 common units.  Prior to this offering, 
there had been no public market for Inergy Midstream's common units.  The Inergy Midstream common units began trading on 
the New York Stock Exchange on December 16, 2011 under the symbol “NRGM.” Upon completion of the offering, Inergy 
owned, directly or indirectly, an approximate 75.2% limited partner interest and all of the incentive distribution rights ("IDRs") 
in Inergy Midstream.  The IDRs entitle Inergy to receive 50% of all Inergy Midstream's distributions in excess of the initial 
quarterly distribution of $0.37 per unit.  Additionally, Inergy indirectly owns NRGM GP, LLC, the general partner of Inergy 
Midstream, which entitles the general partner to management but no economic rights in Inergy Midstream.

On May 14, 2012, Inergy contributed 100% of the membership interests in US Salt to Inergy Midstream (“US Salt 
Contribution”) for $182.5 million of cash and 473,707 Inergy Midstream common units issued directly to Inergy.  The cash 
proceeds were used to repay outstanding borrowings under Inergy's revolving credit facility.  Following the US Salt 
Contribution, Inergy owns approximately 56.4 million limited partner units of NRGM, representing an approximate 75% 
ownership interest.  In connection with the US Salt Contribution, (i) US Salt's guarantee of Inergy's senior notes, as well as the 
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lien granted to the lenders of Inergy's credit agreement on US Salt's membership interest and substantially all of its assets, were 
released; and (ii) US Salt's membership interests and substantially all of its assets were pledged as collateral under the Inergy 
Midstream credit facility.

Inergy, as the initial holder of Inergy Midstream's IDRs, has the right under its partnership agreement to elect to relinquish the 
right to receive incentive distribution payments based on Inergy Midstream's quarterly distribution and to reset, at a higher 
level, the quarterly distribution amount (upon which the incentive distribution payments to Inergy would be set).  If Inergy 
elects to reset the quarterly distribution, it will be entitled to receive a number of newly issued Inergy Midstream common units. 
The number of common units to be issued to Inergy will equal the number of common units that would have entitled the holder 
to the quarterly cash distribution in the prior quarter equal to the distribution to Inergy on the IDRs in such prior quarter.  

NRGM GP, LLC Change of Control Event

In connection with the IPO, Inergy and Inergy Holdings GP, LLC (“Holdings GP”), the indirect owner of Inergy's general 
partner, entered into a membership interest purchase agreement under which, under certain circumstances, Holdings GP will be 
required to purchase from Inergy, and Inergy will be required to sell to Holdings GP, all of the membership interests in MGP 
GP, LLC, the entity that controls Inergy Midstream's general partner, for nominal consideration.  MGP GP, LLC is a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Inergy and the general partner of Inergy Midstream Holdings, L.P., which is the sole member of Inergy 
Midstream's general partner and direct holder of all of its IDRs.  Under the agreement, Holdings GP is required to purchase 
MGP GP, LLC in the event that (i) a change of control of Inergy occurs at a time when Inergy is entitled to receive less than 
50% of all cash distributed with respect to Inergy Midstream's limited partner interests and IDRs or (ii) through dilution or a 
distribution to the Inergy common unitholders of Inergy's interests in Inergy Midstream, Inergy is entitled to receive less than 
25% of all cash distributed with respect to Inergy Midstream's limited partner interests and IDRs.

Nature of Operations

Subsequent to the sale of Inergy's retail propane operations, the Company reorganized its operating and reporting segments.  
Inergy's financial statements now reflect two operating and reportable segments: NGL marketing, supply and logistics 
operations and storage and transportation operations.  Inergy's NGL marketing, supply and logistics operations include 
marketing and supply of natural gas liquids ("NGLs") and marketing and price risk management services to other users, 
retailers and resellers of NGLs, NGL fractionation, logistics and transportation of NGLs and the results of the retail propane 
operations contributed to SPH on August 1, 2012.  Inergy's NGL marketing, supply and logistics segment includes its West 
Coast fractionation facility, a fleet of 275 tractors and 452 transports and a team of experienced employees in the NGL business.  

Inergy's storage and transportation operations include storage and transportation of natural gas and NGLs for third parties and 
the production and sale of salt products. Following the Inergy Midstream IPO and the US Salt Contribution, Inergy's storage 
and transportation assets include the Tres Palacios natural gas storage facility in Texas and an approximate 75% ownership 
interest in Inergy Midstream.  Through Inergy's ownership interest in Inergy Midstream, Inergy has an investment in four 
natural gas storage facilities in New York (Stagecoach, Thomas Corners, Steuben and Seneca Lake), natural gas transportation 
assets in New York and Pennsylvania (the North-South Facilities, the MARC I Pipeline, and the East Pipeline) , an NGL storage 
facility in New York (Bath storage facility), and a solution-mining and salt production company in New York (US Salt).

Principles of Consolidation

All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

On August 1, 2012, Inergy contributed its retail propane operations to SPH.  ASC 205 requires that in order for a transaction to 
be considered discontinued operations, the gross cash flows related to the continuing involvement with the discontinued 
operations must be immaterial.  The financial statements do not report the retail propane operations as discontinued as the 
involvement of Inergy with the retail propane operations subsequent to sale is expected to be material due to a propane supply 
arrangement between Inergy and SPH.  The assets and liabilities associated with the retail propane operations have been 
classified as held for sale on the September 30, 2011 consolidated balance sheet.  See Note 5 for a discussion of the amounts 
related to the assets and liabilities held for sale.
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Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Financial Instruments and Price Risk Management

Inergy utilizes certain derivative financial instruments to (i) manage its exposure to commodity price risk, specifically, the 
related change in the fair value of inventories, as well as the variability of cash flows related to forecasted transactions; (ii) 
ensure adequate physical supply of commodity will be available; and (iii) manage its exposure to interest rate risk associated 
with fixed and variable rate borrowings. Inergy records all derivative instruments on the balance sheet as either assets or 
liabilities measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value of these derivative financial instruments are recorded either through 
current earnings or as other comprehensive income, depending on the type of transaction.

Inergy is party to certain commodity derivative financial instruments that are designated as hedges of selected inventory 
positions, and qualify as fair value hedges. Inergy is also periodically party to certain interest rate swap agreements designed to 
manage interest rate risk exposure.  Inergy's overall objective for entering into fair value hedges is to manage its exposure to 
fluctuations in commodity prices and changes in the fair market value of its inventories and fixed rate borrowings.  The 
commodity derivatives are recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets as price risk management assets or 
liabilities and the related change in fair value is recorded to earnings in the current period as cost of product sold.  The interest 
rate derivatives are recorded at fair value on the balance sheets in other assets or liabilities and the related change in fair value is 
recorded to earnings in the current period as interest expense.

Any ineffective portion of the fair value hedges is recognized as cost of product sold or interest expense in the current period.  
Inergy recognized a $0.5 million, $1.8 million and $0.4 million net gain in the years ended September 30, 2012, 2011 and 2010, 
respectively, related to the ineffective portion of its commodity fair value hedging instruments.  In addition, for the years ended 
September 30, 2012 and 2011, Inergy recognized no gain, respectively, and for the year ended September 30, 2010, Inergy 
recognized a net loss of $0.1 million  related to the portion of fair value hedging instruments that it excluded from its 
assessment of hedge effectiveness.
  
Inergy also enters into derivative financial instruments that qualify as cash flow hedges, which hedge the exposure of variability 
in expected future cash flows predominantly attributable to forecasted purchases to supply fixed price sale contracts and 
variable interest payments.  These derivatives are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value as price risk management assets or 
liabilities.  The effective portion of the gain or loss on these cash flow hedges is recorded in other comprehensive income in 
partner's capital and reclassified into earnings in the same period in which the hedge transaction affects earnings.  In certain 
situations under the rules, the ineffective portion of the gain or loss is recognized as cost of product sold in the current period.  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss was $14.9 million and $6.7 million at September 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  
Included in accumulated other comprehensive loss at  September 30, 2012 was a loss of $7.4 million attributable to commodity 
instruments and a loss of $7.5 million attributable to interest rate swaps.  Approximately $6.9 million is expected to be 
reclassified to earnings from other comprehensive income over the next twelve months.

Inergy's policy is to offset fair value amounts of derivative instruments and cash collateral paid or received with the same 
counterparty under a master netting arrangement.

The cash flow impact of derivative financial instruments is reflected as cash flows from operating activities in the consolidated 
statements of cash flows.

Revenue Recognition

Sales of NGLs and salt are recognized at the time product is shipped or delivered to the customer depending on the sales terms.  
Gas processing and fractionation fees are recognized upon delivery of the product.  Revenues from storage and transportation 
contracts are recognized during the period in which the storage and transportation services are provided.

Expense Classification

Cost of product sold consists of tangible products sold, including NGLs and salt, as well as certain direct costs incurred in 
providing storage services.  Operating and administrative expenses consist of all expenses incurred by Inergy other than those 
described above in cost of product sold and depreciation and amortization.  Certain of Inergy's operating and administrative 
expenses and depreciation and amortization are incurred in the distribution of the product sales and storage sale but are not 
included in cost of product sold.  These amounts were $196.7 million, $209.5 million and $176.3 million during the years ended 
September 30, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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Credit Risk and Concentrations

Inergy generally extends unsecured credit to its NGL customers in the United States and Canada.  In addition, Inergy collects 
margin payments from its customers to mitigate risk.   Inergy's natural gas storage customers are primarily investment grade.  
Provisions for doubtful accounts receivable are based on specific identification and historical collection results and have 
generally been within management's expectations.  Account balances are charged off against the reserve when it is anticipated 
that the receivable will not be collected.  The balance is considered past due or delinquent based on contractual terms.

Inergy enters into netting agreements with certain NGL customers to mitigate the Company's credit risk.  Realized gains and 
losses reflected in the Company's receivables and payables are reflected as a net balance to the extent a netting agreement is in 
place and the Company intends to settle on a net basis.  Unrealized gains and losses reflected in the Company's assets and 
liabilities from price risk management activities are reflected on a net basis to the extent a netting agreement is in place.

Two suppliers, PBF Holding Corp. (22%) and BP Amoco Corp. (10%), accounted for 32% of propane purchases during the past 
fiscal year.  No other single supplier accounted for more than 10% of propane purchases in the current year.

No single customer represented 10% or more of consolidated revenues.  In addition, nearly all of Inergy's revenues are derived 
from sources within the United States, and all of its long-lived assets are located in the United States.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities at the 
date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the year.  Actual results 
could differ from those estimates.

Inventories

Inventories for NGL marketing, supply and logistics operations, which mainly consist of propane gas and other liquids, are 
stated at the lower of cost or market and are computed using the average cost method.  These inventories are designated under a 
fair value hedge program and are consequently marked to market.  Propane and other liquids inventories being hedged and 
carried at market value at September 30, 2012 and 2011, amount to $73.2 million and $147.7 million, respectively.  Inventories 
for storage and transportation operations are stated at the lower of cost or market and are computed predominantly using the 
average cost method.

Shipping and Handling Costs

Shipping and handling costs are recorded as part of cost of product sold at the time product is shipped or delivered to the 
customer except as discussed in “Expense Classification.”

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation.  Inergy capitalizes all construction-
related direct labor and material costs as well as the cost of funds used during construction.  Amounts capitalized for cost of 
funds used during construction amounted to $14.8 million, $16.2 million and $6.4 million for the years ended September 30, 
2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Depreciation is computed by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets, as follows:

  Years

Buildings and storage rights 15 – 70
Office furniture and equipment 3 – 7
Vehicles 3 – 10
Plant equipment 3 – 30
Base gas 10

Salt deposits are depleted on a unit of production method.
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Inergy reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  If such events or changes in circumstances are present, a loss is recognized if the 
carrying value of the asset is in excess of the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset 
and its eventual disposition.  An impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds 
the fair value of the asset.  Inergy has not identified any long-lived assets in which the carrying amount exceeded the fair value 
at September 30, 2012.

Identifiable Intangible Assets

The Company has recorded certain identifiable intangible assets, including customer accounts, covenants not to compete and 
deferred financing costs.  Customer accounts and covenants not to compete have arisen from acquisitions.  Deferred financing 
costs represent financing costs incurred in obtaining financing and are being amortized over the term of the related debt.  
Additionally, an acquired intangible asset should be separately recognized if the benefit of the intangible asset is obtained 
through contractual or other legal rights, or if the intangible asset can be sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged, 
regardless of the acquirer's intent to do so.  

Certain intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated economic lives, as follows:

 

Weighted-
Average

Life
(years)

Customer accounts 18.9
Covenants not to compete 10.0
Deferred financing costs 4.4

Estimated amortization, including amortization of deferred financing costs reported as interest expense, for the next five years 
ending September 30, is as follows (in millions):

Year Ending
September 30,  

2013 $ 6.5
2014 4.7
2015 4.4
2016 4.4
2017 2.8

Goodwill

Goodwill is recognized for various acquisitions as the excess of the cost of the acquisitions over the fair value of the related net 
assets at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is subject to at least an annual assessment for impairment by applying a fair-value-
based test.

In connection with the goodwill impairment evaluation, the Company identified five reporting units. The carrying value of each 
reporting unit is determined by assigning the assets and liabilities, including the existing goodwill and intangible assets, to those 
reporting units as of the date of the evaluation on a specific identification basis. To the extent a reporting unit’s carrying value 
exceeds its fair value, an indication exists that the reporting unit’s goodwill may be impaired and the second step of the 
impairment test must be performed. In the second step, the implied fair value of the goodwill is determined by allocating the 
fair value to all of its assets (recognized and unrecognized) and liabilities to its carrying amount.

Inergy has completed the impairment test for each of its reporting units and determined that no impairment existed as of 
September 30, 2012.
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Income Taxes

Inergy is a publicly-traded master limited partnership. Partnerships are generally not subject to federal income tax, although 
publicly-traded partnerships are treated as corporations for federal income tax purposes and therefore are subject to federal 
income tax, unless the partnership generates at least 90% of its gross income from qualifying sources. If the qualifying income 
requirement is satisfied, the publicly-traded partnership will be treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. Inergy 
Sales and Service, Inc. (“Services”), a subsidiary of Inergy, does not generate at least 90% of its gross income from qualifying 
sources, and as such, federal and state income taxes are provided on the taxable income of Services. The earnings of the 
Company and its limited liability subsidiaries are included in the Federal and state income tax returns of the individual 
members or partners. However, legislation in certain states allows for taxation of partnerships, and as such, certain state taxes 
for Inergy have been included in the accompanying financial statements as income taxes due to the nature of the tax in those 
particular states. In addition, Federal and state income taxes are provided on the earnings of the subsidiaries incorporated as 
taxable entities (IPCHA and Services). The Company is required to recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected 
future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements or tax returns. Under this method, deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and 
liabilities using expected rates in effect for the year in which differences are expected to reverse.

Net earnings for financial statement purposes may differ significantly from taxable income reportable to unitholders as a result 
of differences between the tax basis and the financial reporting basis of assets and liabilities and the taxable income allocation 
requirements under the partnership agreement.

Sales Tax

Inergy accounts for the collection and remittance of all taxes on a net tax basis. As a result, these amounts are not reflected in 
the consolidated statements of operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Inergy defines cash equivalents as all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less when purchased.

Computer Software Costs

Inergy includes costs associated with the acquisition of computer software in property, plant and equipment. Inergy amortizes 
computer software costs on a straight-line basis over expected periods of benefit, which generally are five years.

Fair Value

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts) and payables are carried at cost, which 
approximates fair value due to their liquid and short-term nature.  As of September 30, 2012, the estimated fair value of the 
Company's fixed-rate Senior Notes, based on available trading information, totaled $11.6 million compared with the aggregate 
principal amount at maturity of $11.5 million.  The fair value of debt was determined based on market quotes from Bloomberg.  
This is considered a level 1 pricing source within the fair value hierarchy.  At September 30, 2012, the Company's credit 
agreement (“Credit Agreement”) consists of a $550 million revolving loan facility (“Revolving Loan Facility”).  The carrying 
value at September 30, 2012, of amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement of $311.7 million approximate fair value due 
primarily to the floating interest rate associated with the Credit Agreement.  At September 30, 2012, Inergy Midstream's $600 
million revolving credit facility (“NRGM Credit Facility”) had amounts outstanding of $416.5 million, which approximated fair 
value due primarily to the floating interest rate associated with borrowings under the NRGM Credit Facility.  See Note 8 for a 
discussion of the Company's debt. 

Assets and liabilities from price risk management are carried at fair value as discussed in Note 7.  At September 30, 2012, the 
estimated fair value of assets, on a net basis, from price risk management activities amounted to $37.5 million and liabilities, on 
a net basis, from price risk management amounted to $20.9 million.
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Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
 
Comprehensive income includes net income and other comprehensive income, which is solely comprised of unrealized gains 
and losses on derivative financial instruments.  Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consists of the following (in 
millions):

 

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Balance at September 30, 2010 $ 4.4
Other Comprehensive income(a) (11.1)

Balance at September 30, 2011 (6.7)
Other Comprehensive income(a) (8.2)

Balance at September 30, 2012 $ (14.9)

(a)  Other comprehensive income (loss) includes a reclassification of $(2.4) million and $4.9 million to net income during the years ended September 30, 
2012 and 2011, respectively.

Inergy records the effective portion of the unrealized gains and losses on its derivative financial instruments that qualify as cash 
flow hedges as other comprehensive income.

Income Per Unit 

Inergy calculates basic net income per limited partner unit by utilizing the two class method. Basic net income applicable to 
partners’ common interest is modified for the disproportionate ownership of Class B and certain restricted units in the 
undistributed earnings relative to their ownership of distributed earnings. This impact resulted in an decrease to basic net 
income per limited partner unit of $0.05 for the year ended September 30, 2012. Diluted net income per limited partner unit is 
computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of units outstanding and the effect of dilutive units granted 
under the Long Term Incentive Plan and the Class B units. Diluted net income per limited partner unit is not adjusted for the 
above described difference in Class B and certain restricted units’ share of undistributed and distributed earnings as the 
calculation assumes full conversion of the Class B and certain restricted units, which results in the most dilutive earnings per 
unit. 

Asset Retirement Obligations

An asset retirement obligation (ARO) is an estimated liability for the cost to retire a tangible asset.  The fair value of certain 
AROs could not be made as settlement dates (or range of dates) associated with these assets were not estimable.

Accounting for Unit-Based Compensation

Inergy sponsors a Long Term Incentive Plan and all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock 
options, are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations based on their fair values.

The amount of compensation expense recorded by the Company during the years ended September 30, 2012, 2011 and 2010, 
was $17.9 million, $5.8 million and $10.9 million, respectively.

Segment Information

There are certain accounting requirements that establish standards for reporting information about operating segments, as well 
as related disclosures about products and services, geographic areas and major customers. Further, they define operating 
segments as components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the 
chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and assess performance. In determining its reportable 
segments, Inergy examined the way it organizes its business internally for making operating decisions and assessing business 
performance. See Note 14 for disclosures related to Inergy’s NGL marketing, supply and logistics, and storage and 
transportation segments.

Table of Contents
Inergy, L.P. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)



110

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05, “Presentation of Comprehensive Income” (“ASU 
2011-05”). Under ASU 2011-05, an entity has the option to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net 
income, and the components of other comprehensive income either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income 
or in two separate but consecutive statements. Under both options, an entity will be required to present each component of net 
income along with total net income, each component of other comprehensive income along with a total for other comprehensive 
income, and a total amount for comprehensive income. Furthermore, regardless of the presentation methodology elected, the 
entity will be required to present on the face of the financial statements reclassification adjustments for items that are 
reclassified from other comprehensive income to net income. In December 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards 
Update No. 2011-12, "Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassifications of Items Out of 
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05" ("ASU 2011-12") which deferred 
this requirement in order to allow the FASB more time to determine whether reclassification adjustments should be required to 
be presented on the face of the financial statements. The amendments contained in ASUs 2011-05 and 2011-12 do not change 
the items that must be reported in other comprehensive income or when an item of other comprehensive income must be 
reclassified to net income. The amendments also do not affect how earnings per share is calculated or presented. The Company 
adopted ASUs 2011-05 and 2011-12 in the fourth quarter of the year ended September 30, 2012.  The Company elected to 
present the total of comprehensive income in two separate but consecutive statements.

In May 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-04, "Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value 
Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRS" ("ASU 2011-04"). The amended guidance does not 
modify the requirements for when fair value measurements apply, rather it generally represents clarifications on how to 
measure and disclose fair value under ASC Topic 820 (Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures). Respective disclosure 
requirements are essentially the same. However, some of the specific amendments address the application of existing fair value 
measurement requirements and expand certain other disclosure requirements, particularly pertaining to level 3 fair value 
measurements. ASU 2011-04 is intended to improve the comparability of fair value measurements presented and disclosed in 
financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and IFRS. The Company adopted ASU 2011-04 in the first 
quarter of the year ended September 30, 2012. The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on the Company's 
consolidated financial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2010-06, "Improving Disclosures about Fair Value 
Measurements" ("ASU 2010-06"), which is included in the ASC Topic 820 (Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures).  ASU 
2010-06 requires new disclosures on the amount and reason for transfers in and out of level 1 and level 2 fair value 
measurements.  ASU 2010-06 also requires disclosure of activities, including purchases, sales, issuances and settlements within 
the level 3 fair value measurements and clarifies existing disclosure requirements on levels of disaggregation and disclosures 
about inputs and valuation techniques.  The Company has previously adopted the new disclosures for transfers in and out of 
level 1 and level 2.  The new disclosures for level 3 were adopted on October 1, 2011, as disclosed in Note 7.

Note 3. Acquisitions

On January 13, 2012, Inergy completed the acquisition of substantially all the assets of Baker-Doucette, Inc. (d/b/a Woodstock 
Oil Company) and Rising Moon, LLC (d/b/a Woodstock Propane Company) (“Woodstock”), located in Bryant Pond, Maine. 
On February 13, 2012, Inergy completed the acquisition of all operating assets at the Aztec, New Mexico location of Alliance 
Propane, LLC (d/b/a Mesa Propane) (“Mesa Propane”). The operating results for the Woodstock and Mesa Propane acquisitions 
are included in the consolidated results of operations from the dates of acquisition through August 1, 2012, the date they were 
contributed to SPH.

On November 11, 2011, Inergy completed the acquisition of substantially all the assets of Papco, LLC / South Jersey Terminal, 
LLC (“Papco”), located in Bridgeton, New Jersey. On August 24, 2012, L&L Transportation, LLC (“L&L”) purchased 
substantially all of the operating assets of Werner Transportation Services, Inc. (“Werner”) located in Gainesville, Georgia. The 
operating results for the Papco and Werner acquisitions are included in the consolidated results of operations from the dates of 
acquisition and are included in the NGL marketing, supply and logistics segment.

The above described acquisitions are not material to the financial statements, individually or in the aggregate.

The purchase price allocations for the Papco and Werner acquisitions have been prepared on a preliminary basis pending final 
asset valuation and asset rationalization.  
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As a result of the Papco and Werner acquisitions, the Company acquired $3.8 million of goodwill and $7.1 million of intangible 
assets, consisting of the following (in millions):

Customer accounts $ 2.8
Noncompetition agreements 4.3
Total intangible assets $ 7.1

The weighted-average amortization period of the above amortizable intangible assets acquired during the year ended 
September 30, 2012, is approximately twelve years.

Note 4. Certain Balance Sheet Information

Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following at September 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively (in millions):

  September 30,
  2012 2011

NGLs $ 80.8 $ 149.8
Parts, supplies and other 6.3 5.3

Total inventory $ 87.1 $ 155.1

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following at September 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively (in millions):

  September 30,
  2012 2011

Plant equipment $ 619.3 $ 531.1
Buildings, land and storage rights 895.2 840.7
Vehicles 44.1 25.0
Construction in process 409.6 271.7
Base gas 134.0 132.1
Salt deposits 41.6 41.6
Office furniture and equipment 16.9 15.6

2,160.7 1,857.8
Less: accumulated depreciation 450.2 322.8

Total property, plant and equipment, net $ 1,710.5 $ 1,535.0

Depreciation expense totaled $147.8 million, $154.6 million and $126.3 million for the years ended September 30, 2012, 2011 
and 2010, respectively.  Depletion expense totaled $0.2 million for each of the years ended September 30, 2012, 2011 and 
2010. 

At September 30, 2012 and 2011, the Company capitalized interest of $14.8 million and $16.2 million, respectively, related to 
certain midstream asset expansion projects.
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Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consisted of the following at September 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively (in millions):

  September 30,
  2012 2011

Customer accounts $ 41.2 $ 39.7
(accumulated amortization—customer accounts) (13.7) (12.8)
Covenants not to compete 4.2 7.4
(accumulated amortization—covenants not to compete) (0.2) (6.9)
Deferred financing and other costs 17.1 49.5
(accumulated amortization—deferred financing costs) (7.3) (9.3)

Total intangible assets, net $ 41.3 $ 67.6

Amortization and interest expense for the years ended September 30, 2012, 2011 and 2010, amounted to $27.8 million, $43.4 
million and $40.3 million, respectively. 

Note 5. Assets Held for Sale

As discussed in Note 1, the retail propane operations were contributed to SPH on August 1, 2012.  For comparative purposes, 
the September 30, 2011 balance sheet has classified the disposed retail propane assets and liabilities as held for sale.

The following table details the assets and liabilities held for sale at September 30, 2011 (in millions):

September 30,
2011

Assets held for sale
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $2.4 million $ 54.8
Inventories 57.8
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2.1
Other assets 0.5

Current assets held for sale 115.2

Property, plant and equipment, net 494.4
Intangible assets, net 316.2
Goodwill 336.1

Total assets held for sale $ 1,261.9

Liabilities held for sale
Accounts payable $ 0.6
Accrued expenses 13.1
Customer deposits 52.0
Obligations under noncompetition agreements and notes to former owners of businesses acquired 16.4

Total liabilities held for sale $ 82.1
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During the year ended September 30, 2012, the Company recorded a gain on the disposal of its retail propane operations of 
$589.5 million. The components of the gain are as follows (in millions):

Retail propane assets $ (1,209.4)
Retail propane liabilities 36.3
Senior debt 1,187.0
SPH common units 590.2
Transaction costs (14.6)

Total gain on disposal $ 589.5

The Company distributed the SPH common units acquired in the disposition on September 14, 2012. The Company accounted 
for its investment in SPH during the 45 days it held the units in accordance with the equity method. The drop in the SPH unit 
price during the holding period required the Company to record an impairment loss prior to distributing the units. The total loss 
recorded by the Company related to the period in which the units were held amounted to $47.6 million.

Note 6. Risk Management

The Company is exposed to certain market risks related to its ongoing business operations.  These risks include exposure to 
changing commodity prices as well as fluctuations in interest rates.  The Company utilizes derivative instruments to manage its 
exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices, which is discussed more fully below.  The Company also periodically utilizes 
derivative instruments to manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates, which is discussed more fully in Note 8.  
Additional information related to derivatives is provided in Note 2 and Note 7.

Commodity Derivative Instruments and Price Risk Management

Risk Management Activities

Inergy sells NGLs to energy related businesses and may use a variety of financial and other instruments including forward 
contracts involving physical delivery of propane.  Inergy will enter into offsetting positions to economically hedge against the 
exposure its customer contracts create, however does not designate these instruments as hedging instruments for accounting 
purposes.  These instruments are marked to market with the changes in the market value reflected in cost of product sold.  
Inergy attempts to balance its contractual portfolio in terms of notional amounts and timing of performance and delivery 
obligations.  This balance in the contractual portfolio significantly reduces the volatility in cost of product sold related to these 
instruments.  

Cash Flow Hedging Activity

Prior to the disposition of its retail propane operations, the Company entered into derivative instruments to hedge a significant 
portion of its exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices as a result of entering into fixed price contracts with certain of its 
retail customers.  The Company designated these instruments as cash flow hedges.  As a result of the disposition of the retail 
propane operations,  the Company no longer anticipates utilizing cash flow hedges for commodity price risk.  However, 
existing cash flow hedges in place at the time of the disposition will remain in OCI until the forecasted transaction takes place, 
the bulk of which will be in the first two quarters of fiscal 2013.  The forecasted transaction is still expected to take place due to 
the supply arrangement with SPH.

Fair Value Hedging Activity

Inergy will enter into derivative instruments to hedge its exposure to fluctuating commodity prices that results from 
maintaining its NGL inventory.  These instruments hedging NGL inventory qualify to be treated as fair value hedges.  This 
accounting treatment requires the fair value changes in both the derivative instruments and the hedged inventory to be recorded 
in cost of product sold.

A significant amount of inventory held in bulk storage facilities is hedged as it is not expected to be sold in the immediate 
future and is therefore exposed to fluctuations in commodity prices.  
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Commodity Price and Credit Risk

Notional Amounts and Terms

The notional amounts and terms of the Company's derivative financial instruments included the following at September 30, 
2012, and September 30, 2011 (in millions):

  September 30, 2012 September 30, 2011

 
Fixed Price

Payor
Fixed Price

Receiver
Fixed Price

Payor
Fixed Price

Receiver

Propane, crude and heating oil (barrels) 7.8 9.2 10.1 10.6
Natural gas (MMBTU’s) 11.8 11.6 0.1 —

Notional amounts reflect the volume of transactions, but do not represent the amounts exchanged by the parties to the financial 
instruments.  Accordingly, notional amounts do not reflect the Company's monetary exposure to market or credit risks.

Fair Value of Derivative Instruments

The following tables detail the amount and location on the Company's consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements 
of operations related to all of its derivatives (in millions):

 

Amount of Gain
(Loss)  Recognized in

Net Income from
Derivatives

Amount of Gain
(Loss)  Recognized in
Net Income on Item

Being Hedged

 
Year Ended

September 30,
Year Ended

September 30,
  2012 2011 2012 2011

Derivatives in fair value hedging relationships:
Commodity(a) $ (2.1) $ 8.3 $ 2.6 $ (6.5)
Debt(b) — 0.5 — (0.5)
Total fair value of derivatives $ (2.1) $ 8.8 $ 2.6 $ (7.0)

 

Amount of Gain
(Loss) Recognized in

OCI on Effective
Portion of

Derivatives

Amount of Gain
(Loss) Reclassified
from OCI to  Net

Income

Amount of Gain
(Loss) Recognized in

Net Income on
Ineffective Portion of

Derivatives &
Amount Excluded

from Testing

 
Year Ended

September 30,
Year Ended

September 30,
Year Ended

September 30,
  2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships:
Commodity(c) $ (6.8) $ (6.3) $ (1.8) $ 4.9 $ — $ —
Debt(e) (3.8) (4.3) (0.6) — — —

$ (10.6) $ (10.6) $ (2.4) $ 4.9 $ — $ —

 

Amount of Gain
(Loss)  Recognized in

Net Income from
Derivatives

 
Year Ended

September 30,
  2012 2011

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Commodity(d) $ 14.6 $ 11.1
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(a) The gain (loss) on both the derivative and the item being hedged are located in cost of product sold in the consolidated statements of operations.
(b) The gain (loss) on both the derivative and the item being hedged are located in interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations.
(c) The gain (loss) on the amount reclassified from OCI into income, the ineffective portion and the amount excluded from effectiveness testing are 

included in cost of product sold.
(d) The gain (loss) is recognized in cost of product sold.
(e) The gain (loss) on the amount reclassified from OCI into income, the ineffective portion and the amount excluded from effectiveness testing are 

included in interest expense.

All contracts subject to price risk had a maturity of twenty-four months or less; however, 98% of the contracts expire within 
twelve months.

Credit Risk

Inherent in the Company's contractual portfolio are certain credit risks.  Credit risk is the risk of loss from nonperformance by 
suppliers, customers or financial counterparties to a contract.  Inergy takes an active role in managing credit risk and has 
established control procedures, which are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  The Company attempts to minimize credit risk 
exposure through credit policies and periodic monitoring procedures as well as through customer deposits, letters of credit and 
entering into netting agreements that allow for offsetting counterparty receivable and payable balances for certain financial 
transactions, as deemed appropriate.  The counterparties associated with assets from price risk management activities as of 
September 30, 2012 and 2011, were energy marketers and propane retailers, resellers and dealers.

Certain of the Company's derivative instruments have credit limits that require the Company to post collateral.  The amount of 
collateral required to be posted is a function of the net liability position of the derivative as well as the Company's established 
credit limit with the respective counterparty.  If the Company's credit rating were to change, the counterparties could require the 
Company to post additional collateral.  The amount of additional collateral that would be required to be posted would vary 
depending on the extent of change in the Company's credit rating as well as the requirements of the individual counterparty.  
The aggregate fair value of all commodity derivative instruments with credit-risk-related contingent features that are in a 
liability position on September 30, 2012, is $11.3 million for which the Company has posted collateral of $3.3 million and $8.8 
million of NYMEX margin deposit in the normal course of business.  The Company has received collateral of $12.9 million in 
the normal course of business.  All collateral amounts have been netted against the asset or liability with the respective 
counterparty.

Note 7. Fair Value Measurements

FASB Accounting Standards Codification Subtopic 820-10 (“820-10”) establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which 
prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1 measurement) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (level 3 
measurement). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

• Level 1—Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting date. Active 
markets are those in which transactions for the asset or liability occur in sufficient frequency and volume to provide 
pricing information on an ongoing basis. Level 1 primarily consists of financial instruments such as exchange-traded 
derivatives, listed equities and US government treasury securities.

• Level 2—Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets included in level 1, which are either directly or 
indirectly observable as of the reporting date. Level 2 includes those financial instruments that are valued using models 
or other valuation methodologies. These models are primarily industry-standard models that consider various 
assumptions, including quoted forward prices for commodities, time value, volatility factors, and current market and 
contractual prices for the underlying instruments, as well as other relevant economic measures. Substantially all of these 
assumptions are observable in the marketplace throughout the full term of the instrument, can be derived from 
observable data or are supported by observable levels at which transactions are executed in the marketplace. 
Instruments in this category include non-exchange-traded derivatives such as over the counter (“OTC”) forwards, 
options and physical exchanges.

• Level 3—Pricing inputs include significant inputs that are generally less observable from objective sources. These 
inputs may be used with internally developed methodologies that result in management’s best estimate of fair value.
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As of September 30, 2012, the Company held certain assets and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis. These included the Company’s derivative instruments related to heating oil, crude oil, NGLs and interest rates 
as well as the portion of inventory that is hedged in a qualifying fair value hedge. The Company’s derivative instruments 
consist of forwards, swaps, futures, physical exchanges and options.

Certain of the Company’s derivative instruments are traded on the NYMEX. These instruments have been categorized as level 
1.

The Company’s derivative instruments also include OTC contracts, which are not traded on a public exchange. The fair values 
of these derivative instruments are determined based on inputs that are readily available in public markets or can be derived 
from information available in publicly quoted markets. These instruments have been categorized as level 2.

The Company’s inventory that is the hedged item in a qualifying fair value hedge is valued based on prices quoted from 
observable sources and verified with broker quotes. This inventory has been categorized as level 2.

The Company’s OTC options are valued based on Black Scholes option pricing model that considers time value and volatility 
of the underlying commodity. The inputs utilized in the model are based on publicly available information as well as broker 
quotes. These options have been categorized as level 2.

No changes in valuation techniques were made by the Company during the year ended September 30, 2012.  However, during 
the current fiscal year, the Company re-evaluated the inputs used to calculate the fair value of its OTC options noting the inputs 
qualified as level 2.  The fair values of the OTC options presented as level 3 in the prior year have been reclassified to level 2 to 
conform to current year presentation.

The assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement.  The Company's assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires 
judgment, and may affect the valuation of fair value assets and liabilities and their placement within the fair value hierarchy 
levels.  The following table sets forth by level within the fair value hierarchy the Company's assets and liabilities that were 
accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis at September 30, 2012 and 2011, (in millions):

  September 30, 2012
  Fair Value of Derivatives    

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Designated
as Hedges

Not
Designated
as Hedges

Netting
Agreements(a) Total

Assets
Assets from price risk management $ 2.7 $ 51.3 $ — $ 54.0 $ 9.8 $ 44.2 $ (16.5) $ 37.5
Inventory — 73.2 — 73.2 — — — 73.2
SPH units 5.9 — — 5.9 — — — 5.9

Total assets at fair value $ 8.6 $ 124.5 $ — $ 133.1 $ 9.8 $ 44.2 $ (16.5) $ 116.6

Liabilities
Liabilities from price risk

management $ 2.0 $ 31.1 $ — $ 33.1 $ 11.3 $ 21.8 $ (12.2) $ 20.9
Interest rate swap — 7.5 — 7.5 7.5 — — 7.5

Total liabilities at fair value $ 2.0 $ 38.6 $ — $ 40.6 $ 18.8 $ 21.8 $ (12.2) $ 28.4
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  September 30, 2011
  Fair Value of Derivatives    

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Designated
as Hedges

Not
Designated
as Hedges

Netting
Agreements(a) Total

Assets
Assets from price risk management $ 1.2 $ 27.4 $ — $ 28.6 $ 8.8 $ 19.8 $ (11.5) $ 17.1
Inventory — 147.7 — 147.7 — — — 147.7
Interest rate swap — 0.5 — 0.5 0.5 — — 0.5
Total assets at fair value $ 1.2 $ 175.6 $ — $ 176.8 $ 9.3 $ 19.8 $ (11.5) $ 165.3

Liabilities
Liabilities from price risk 

management $ 0.9 $ 18.1 $ — $ 19.0 $ 5.4 $ 13.6 $ — $ 19.0
Interest rate swap $ — $ 4.3 $ — $ 4.3 $ 4.3 $ — $ — $ 4.3
Total liabilities at fair value $ 0.9 $ 22.4 $ — $ 23.3 $ 9.7 $ 13.6 $ — $ 23.3

(a) Amounts represent the impact of legally enforceable master netting agreements that allow the Company to settle positive and negative positions as well 
as cash collateral held or placed with the same counterparties.

Note 8. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the following at September 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively (in millions):

  September 30,
  2012 2011

Inergy credit agreement:
Revolving loan facility $ 311.7 $ 81.2
Term loan facility — 300.0

Inergy senior unsecured notes 11.5 1,445.1
Inergy fair value hedge adjustment on senior unsecured notes — 0.5
Inergy bond/swap premium — 13.8
Inergy bond discount — (5.3)
Inergy obligations under noncompetition agreements and notes to former owners of 

businesses acquired 3.5 1.3
NRGM credit facility 416.5 —

Total debt 743.2 1,836.6
Less: current portion 3.4 3.2

Total long-term debt $ 739.8 $ 1,833.4

Credit Agreement

On November 24, 2009, Inergy entered into a secured credit facility (“Credit Agreement”) which, at the time, provided 
borrowing capacity of up to $525 million in the form of a $450 million revolving general partnership credit facility (“General 
Partnership Facility”) and a $75 million working capital credit facility (“Working Capital Facility”).  This facility was to  
mature on November 22, 2013.  Borrowings under these secured facilities are available for working capital needs, future 
acquisitions, capital expenditures and other general partnership purposes, including the refinancing of existing indebtedness 
under the former credit facility.  
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On February 2, 2011, Inergy amended and restated the Credit Agreement to add a $300 million term loan facility (the “Term 
Loan Facility”).  The term loan was repaid in full in December 2011 as discussed below.  The term loan was to mature on 
February 2, 2015, and bear interest, at Inergy's option, subject to certain limitations, at a rate equal to the following:

• the Alternate Base Rate, which is defined as the higher of (i) the federal funds rate plus 0.50%; (ii) JP Morgan’s prime 
rate; or (iii) the Adjusted LIBO Rate plus 1%; plus a margin varying from 1.00% to 2.25%; or

• the Adjusted LIBO Rate, which is defined as the LIBO Rate plus a margin varying from 2.00% to 3.25%.

On July 28, 2011, Inergy further amended its Credit Agreement to (i) raise the aggregate revolving commitment from $525 
million to $700 million (“Revolving Loan Facility”) with the amount existing as a singular tranche, (ii) reduce the applicable 
rate on revolving loans and commitment fees, (iii) modify and refresh certain covenants and covenant baskets, and (iv) extend 
the maturity date from November 22, 2013 to July 28, 2016.

On April 13, 2012, Inergy further amended its Credit Agreement.  This amendment, among other things, (i) permitted Inergy to 
sell up to 5,000,000 of the Inergy Midstream common units that Inergy owns, (ii) permitted Inergy to sell US Salt, 
(iii) decreased the aggregate revolving commitment and general partnership commitment from $700 million to $550 million, 
and (iv) adjusted several of the financial covenants.

On July 26, 2012, Inergy further amended its Credit Agreement in order to (i) permit Inergy to enter into a series of transactions 
as described in the Contribution Agreement dated as of April 25, 2012 among Inergy and SPH, (ii) permit Inergy to repurchase, 
repay or redeem all or any portion of the senior notes that remain outstanding after the closing of the Contribution Agreement,  
(iii) modify certain negative and financial covenants under the Credit Agreement, and  (iv) allow Inergy to redeem, buy back or 
otherwise acquire up to $100 million of its common units on or prior to March 31, 2013 subject to meeting certain financial 
covenant requirements.  This amendment did not become effective until the contribution of Inergy's retail propane assets to 
SPH closed on August 1, 2012.  In conjunction with the close of this transaction, $1,187.0 million in Inergy senior notes were 
exchanged for SPH senior notes and cash paid directly to noteholders, thereby eliminating the senior notes from Inergy's 
consolidated balance sheet on August 1, 2012. 

The Credit Agreement contains various covenants and restrictive provisions that limit its ability to, among other things:

• incur additional debt;

• make distributions on or redeem or repurchase units;

• make certain investments and acquisitions;

• incur or permit certain liens to exist;

• enter into certain types of transactions with affiliates;

• merge, consolidate or amalgamate with another company; and

• transfer or otherwise dispose of assets.

The Credit Agreement contains the following financial covenants: 
 

• the ratio of Inergy's total funded debt (as defined in the Credit Agreement) to consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the 
Credit Agreement) for the four fiscal quarters most recently ended must be no greater than 4.75 to 1.0; and

• the ratio of Inergy's consolidated EBITDA to consolidated interest expense (as defined in the Credit Agreement), for 
the four fiscal quarters then most recently ended, must not be less than 2.50 to 1.0. 

If Inergy should fail to perform its obligations under these and other covenants, the Revolving Loan Facility could be 
terminated and any outstanding borrowings, together with accrued interest, under the Credit Agreement could be declared 
immediately due and payable.  The Credit Agreement also has cross default provisions that apply to any other material 
indebtedness of Inergy, excluding the debt of Inergy's majority-owned subsidiary, Inergy Midstream.
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All borrowings under the Credit Agreement are generally secured by substantially all of Inergy's assets and the equity interests 
in all of Inergy's wholly owned subsidiaries, and loans thereunder bear interest, at Inergy's option, subject to certain limitations, 
at a rate equal to the following:

• the Alternate Base Rate, which is defined as the higher of (i) the federal funds rate plus 0.50%; (ii) JP Morgan's 
prime rate; or (iii) the Adjusted LIBO Rate plus 1%; plus a margin varying from 0.75% to 2.00%; or

• the Adjusted LIBO Rate, which is defined as the LIBO Rate plus a margin varying from 1.75% to 3.00%.

In conjunction with the Inergy Midstream IPO, on December 21, 2011, Inergy entered into the following transactions:

• Entered into a $255 million unsecured promissory note with JPMorgan Chase Bank (“Promissory Note”).  The 
promissory note was assumed by Inergy Midstream and retired in full by Inergy Midstream utilizing proceeds 
from the IPO.

• Paid in full the $300 million balance outstanding on the Term Loan Facility.

• Tendered for substantially all the $95 million outstanding on the 2015 Senior Notes.

• Tendered for $150 million of the $750 million outstanding on the 2021 Senior Notes.

• The last three debt payments described above were funded by Inergy from the $255 million proceeds from the 
Promissory Note, proceeds received from Inergy Midstream as part of the IPO and borrowings on the Revolving 
Loan Facility.

At September 30, 2012, the balance outstanding under the Credit Agreement was $311.7 million.  At September 30, 2011, the 
balance outstanding under the Credit Agreement was $381.2 million, of which $300.0 million was borrowed under the Term 
Loan Facility and $81.2 million under the Revolving Loan Facility.  The interest rates of the Revolving Loan Facility are based 
on prime rate and LIBOR plus the applicable spreads, resulting in interest rates which were between 2.99% and 5.00% at 
September 30, 2012, and 2.73% and 4.75% at September 30, 2011.  The interest rate on the Term Loan Facility was based on 
LIBOR plus the applicable spread, resulting in an interest rate of 3.23% at September 30, 2011.  Availability under the Credit 
Agreement amounted to $184.0 million and $575.3 million at September 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  Outstanding standby 
letters of credit under the Credit Agreement amounted to $54.3 million and $43.5 million at September 30, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively.

At September 30, 2012, the Company was in compliance with the debt covenants in the Credit Agreement and senior unsecured 
notes.

Inergy Midstream's Credit Facility

On December 21, 2011, Inergy Midstream entered into a new $500 million revolving credit facility (“NRGM Credit Facility”) 
with a December 2016 maturity date.  The NRGM Credit Facility is available to fund acquisitions, working capital and internal 
growth projects and for general partnership purposes.  The NRGM Credit Facility has an accordion feature that allows Inergy 
Midstream to increase loan commitments by up to $250 million, subject to the lenders' agreement and the satisfaction of certain 
conditions.  In addition, its credit facility includes a sub-limit up to $10 million for same-day swing line advances and a sub-
limit up to $100 million for letters of credit.

On April 16, 2012, Inergy Midstream exercised a portion of its accordion feature under the NRGM Credit Facility and 
increased the loan commitments thereunder by $100 million.  The aggregate amount of revolving loan commitments under the 
NRGM Credit Facility now equals $600 million.  Inergy Midstream may continue to increase the loan commitments by up to 
$150 million, subject to the lenders' agreement and the satisfaction of certain conditions.

At September 30, 2012, the balance outstanding under the NRGM Credit Facility was $416.5 million.  Outstanding standby 
letters of credit under the NRGM Credit Facility amounted to $2.0 million at September 30, 2012.  As a result, Inergy 
Midstream has approximately $181.5 million of remaining capacity at September 30, 2012, subject to compliance with any 
applicable covenants under such facility.
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Inergy and its wholly owned subsidiaries do not provide credit support or guarantee any amounts outstanding under the NRGM 
Credit Facility.

The NRGM Credit Facility contains various covenants and restrictive provisions that limit its ability to, among other things:

• incur additional debt;

• make distributions on or redeem or repurchase units;

• make certain investments and acquisitions;

• incur or permit certain liens to exist;

• enter into certain types of transactions with affiliates;

• merge, consolidate or amalgamate with another company; and

• transfer or otherwise dispose of assets.

If Inergy Midstream fails to perform its obligations under these and other covenants, the lenders' credit commitment could be 
terminated and any outstanding borrowings, together with accrued interest, under its credit facility could be declared 
immediately due and payable.  The NRGM Credit Facility also has cross default provisions that apply to any other material 
indebtedness of Inergy Midstream.

Borrowings under the NRGM Credit Facility are generally secured by pledges of the equity interests in Inergy Midstream's 
wholly owned subsidiaries, liens on substantially all of its assets and guarantees issued by all of Inergy Midstream's 
subsidiaries.  Borrowings under the NRGM Credit Facility (other than swing line loans) will bear interest at its option at either:

• the Alternate Base Rate, which is defined as the highest of (i) the federal funds rate plus 0.50%; (ii) JP Morgan's prime 
rate; or (iii) the Adjusted LIBO Rate plus 1%; plus a margin varying from 0.75% to 1.75% depending on our most 
recent total leverage ratio; or

• the Adjusted LIBO Rate, which is defined as the LIBO Rate plus a margin varying from 1.75% to 2.75% depending on 
Inergy Midstream's most recent total leverage ratio.

  
Swing line loans bear interest at the Alternate Base Rate plus a margin varying from 0.75% to 1.75%.  The unused portion of  
the NRGM Credit Facility is subject to a commitment fee ranging from 0.30% to 0.50% per annum according to its most recent 
total leverage ratio.  Interest on Alternative Base Rate loans is payable quarterly or, if the Adjusted LIBO Rate applies, it may 
be paid at more frequent intervals.

The NRGM Credit Facility requires maintenance of a consolidated leverage ratio (as defined in its credit agreement) of not 
more than 5.00 to 1.00 and an interest coverage ratio (as defined in its credit agreement) of not less than 2.50 to 1.00.

Senior Unsecured Notes

2015 Senior Notes

In conjunction with the Inergy Midstream IPO on December 21, 2011, Inergy tendered for substantially all the $95 million 
outstanding on these notes, leaving a balance of $0.8 million at September 30, 2012.

2018 Senior Notes

On September 27, 2010, Inergy and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Inergy Finance Corp, issued $600 million aggregate principal 
amount of 7% senior unsecured notes due 2018 (the “2018 Senior Notes”) under Rule 144A to eligible purchasers.  The 7% 
notes mature on October 1, 2018.

The majority of these notes were exchanged during the year ended September 30, 2012 in conjunction with the contribution of 
Inergy's retail propane operations to SPH, leaving a balance of $10.1 million at September 30, 2012.
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2021 Senior Notes 

As discussed above, in conjunction with the Inergy Midstream IPO on December 21, 2011, Inergy tendered for $150 million of 
the $750 million outstanding on these notes.  The majority of the remaining notes were exchanged during the year ended 
September 30, 2012, in conjunction with the sale of retail to SPH, leaving a balance of $0.6 million at September 30, 2012.

Interest Rate Swaps 

During fiscal year 2011, Inergy entered into eleven interest rate swaps, one of which was scheduled to mature in 2015 (notional 
amount of $25 million) and the remaining ten were scheduled to mature in 2018 (aggregate notional amount of $250 million).  
In August 2011, Inergy's ten interest rate swaps maturing in 2018 were terminated.  In December 2011, the remaining interest 
rate swap maturing in 2015 was terminated and the Company entered into a new interest rate swap scheduled to mature in 2018 
(notional amount of $50 million).  This swap agreement, which was to expire on the same date as the maturity date of the 
related senior unsecured notes and contained call provisions consistent with the underlying senior unsecured notes, required the 
counterparty to pay Inergy an amount based on the stated fixed interest rate due every nine months.  In exchange, Inergy was 
required to make semi-annual floating interest rate payments on the same dates to the counterparty based on an annual interest 
rate equal to the one-month LIBOR interest rate plus a spread of 5.218% applied to the same aggregate notional amount of $50 
million.  This swap agreement had been accounted for as a fair value hedge.  Amounts received or paid under the agreement 
were accrued and recognized over the life of the agreement as an adjustment to interest expense.  In May 2012, this interest rate 
swap was terminated.

Inergy is party to six interest rate swap agreements scheduled to mature in 2015 to hedge its exposure to variable interest 
payments due under the Credit Agreement.  Certain of these swap agreements with a notional amount of $100.0 million do not 
commence quarterly settlements until October 1, 2012.  These swap agreements require Inergy to pay the counterparty an 
amount based on fixed rates from 0.84% to 2.52% due quarterly.  In exchange, the counterparty is required to make quarterly 
floating interest rate payments on the same date to Inergy based on the three-month LIBOR applied to the same aggregate 
notional amount of $225.0 million.  These swap agreements have been accounted for as cash flow hedges.

Notes Payable and Other Obligations

Non-interest bearing obligations due under noncompetition agreements and other note payable agreements consisted of 
agreements between Inergy and the sellers of NGL logistics companies acquired from fiscal years 2003 through 2012 with 
payments due through 2022 and imputed interest ranging from 6.75% to 8.00%.  Non-interest bearing obligations consisted of 
$4.7 million and $1.4 million in total payments due under agreements, less unamortized discount based on imputed interest of 
$1.2 million and $0.2 million at September 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively.   
 
The aggregate amounts of principal to be paid on the outstanding long-term debt and notes payable during the next five years 
ending September 30 and thereafter are as follows (in millions):

 
Long-Term Debt

and Notes Payable

2013 $ 3.4
2014 0.2
2015 1.0
2016 310.2
2017 415.2
Thereafter 13.2

Total debt $ 743.2

Accrued interest, classified in accrued expense on the consolidated balance sheets, at September 30, 2012 and 2011, was $2.6 
million and $31.5 million, respectively.
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Note 9. Leases

Tres Palacios leases the surface and subsurface rights necessary to operate the storage facility under an operating lease that 
expires on December 31, 2037, which is subject to automatic renewal for two 20-year extension periods unless Tres Palacios 
elects not to extend the term of the lease.  The lease payments vary based on the FERC-certificated working gas capacity of the 
caverns which are in service as well as an incremental payment for physical volumes of gas injected and / or withdrawn from 
the caverns in service.  

Inergy also has certain other noncancelable operating leases, mainly for office space and vehicles, the majority of which expire 
at various times over the next ten years.  Certain of these leases contain terms that provide that the rental payment be indexed to 
published information.  
 
Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases for the next five years ending September 30 and 
thereafter consist of the following (in millions):

Year Ending
September 30,  

2013 $ 15.5
2014 15.3
2015 15.4
2016 18.2
2017 17.5
Thereafter 323.7
Total minimum lease payments $ 405.6

Rent expense for operating leases for the years ended September 30, 2012, 2011 and 2010, totaled $28.1 million, $25.4 million 
and $15.0 million, respectively.

Note 10. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes for the years ended September 30, 2012, 2011, and 2010 consisted of the following (in 
millions):

  Year Ended September 30,
  2012 2011 2010

Current:
Federal $ 1.0 $ 0.5 $ 0.3
State 0.4 0.7 0.2

Total current 1.4 1.2 0.5
Deferred:

Federal 0.4 (0.5) (0.3)
State — — —

Total deferred 0.4 (0.5) (0.3)
Provision for income taxes $ 1.8 $ 0.7 $ 0.2

The effective rate differs from the statutory rate because the income tax provision for the years ended September 30, 2012, 
2011 and 2010, relates to taxable income of the corporations as discussed in Note 2. 
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Deferred income taxes related to IPCHA reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Components of the 
deferred income taxes at September 30, 2012 and 2011, are as follows (in millions):

  September 30,
  2012 2011

Deferred tax liabilities:
Basis difference in stock of acquired company $ (20.6) $ (20.2)

Total deferred tax liability $ (20.6) $ (20.2)

Note 11. Partners’ Capital

Common Unit Offerings

On March 16, 2011, Inergy's new shelf registration statement (File No. 333-172312) was declared effective by the Securities 
and Exchange Commission for the periodic sale of up to $1.5 billion of common units, partnership securities and debt 
securities, or any combination thereof.  

On June 6, 2011, Inergy issued 9,000,000 common units in a public offering.  Inergy used the net proceeds from this offering to 
repay borrowings under its Revolving Loan Facility, to fund ongoing expansion projects in its midstream business and for 
general partnership purposes.  Net proceeds from this issuance amounted to $311.2 million.

Inergy Midstream

On December 21, 2011, Inergy Midstream completed its IPO.  Inergy Midstream sold 16,000,000 common units to public 
investors and the underwriters exercised their option to purchase an additional 2,400,000 common units.

On May 14, 2012, Inergy Midstream issued 473,707 units directly to Inergy in conjunction with the contribution of US Salt.

Class B Units

The Class B units have similar rights and obligations of Inergy common units except that the units will pay distributions in kind 
rather than in cash for a certain period of time.  During the three-month period ended December 31, 2011, Inergy distributed 
205,748 Class B units.  Immediately following this distribution, 50% of the Class B units outstanding that were held by each 
holder of a Class B unit, and all of the additional Class B units issued in kind as a distribution, converted into Inergy common 
units at a conversion ratio of one Class B unit for one Inergy common unit.  This resulted in the conversion of 6,586,968 Class 
B units into Inergy common units.  The remaining Class B units converted into Inergy common units in the first quarter of 
fiscal 2013.  For a complete description of the Class B units, please see the Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited 
Partnership of Inergy, filed on Form 8-K on November 5, 2010.
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Quarterly Distributions of Available Cash

A summary of the Company's limited partner quarterly distribution for the year ended September 30, 2012, is presented below:

Year Ended
September 30, 2012

Record Date Payment Date Per Unit Rate
Distribution Amount

(in millions)

November 7, 2011 November 14, 2011 $0.705 $ 83.9
February 7, 2012 February 14, 2012 $0.705 $ 88.7
May 8, 2012 May 15, 2012 $0.375 $ 47.1
August 7, 2012 August 14, 2012 $0.375 $ 47.1

$ 266.8

Certain distributions to restricted unit holders were classified as stock based compensation expense as the distribution was 
associated with a restricted unit that is not currently expected to vest due to certain performance criteria.

A summary of Holdings and Inergy's limited partner quarterly distributions for the three months ended December 31, 2010, 
(prior to the merger) is presented below:

  Three Months Ended
December 31, 2010

  Holdings Inergy

Record date October 22, 2010 October 22, 2010
Payment date October 29, 2010 October 29, 2010
Per unit rate $ 0.442 $ 0.705
Distribution amount (in millions) $ 21.1 $ 76.1

A summary of the Company's limited partner quarterly distribution for the nine months ended September 30, 2011, (after the 
merger) is presented below:

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2011

Record Date Payment Date Per Unit Rate
Distribution Amount

(in millions)

February 7, 2011 February 14, 2011 $ 0.705 $ 77.4
May 6, 2011 May 13, 2011 $ 0.705 77.6
August 5, 2011 August 12, 2011 $ 0.705 84.0

$ 239.0

On November 14, 2012, Inergy paid a quarterly distribution of $0.290 per limited partner unit to unitholders of record on 
November 7, 2012.

Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. Common Unit Distribution

On August 1, 2012, Inergy received, as partial consideration for the contribution of its retail propane operations to SPH, 
approximately 14.2 million SPH common units. Under terms of the contribution agreement, Inergy agreed to distribute on a pro 
rata basis approximately 14.1 million of the SPH common units to the Inergy unitholders. This distribution of SPH common 
units took place after the market closed on September 14, 2012, and approximated 0.108 SPH common units for each Inergy 
limited partner unit outstanding on August 29, 2012. The value of the SPH  common units distributed was approximately 
$536.5 million. In lieu of SPH common units, all Inergy restricted unitholders received a cash distribution in an aggregate 
amount of $6.1 million.
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Inergy, L.P. Unit Purchase Plan

Inergy's general partner sponsors a unit purchase plan for its employees and the employees of its affiliates.  The unit purchase 
plan permits participants to purchase common units in market transactions from Inergy, the general partners or any other 
person.  All purchases made have been in market transactions, although the plan allows Inergy to issue additional units.  Inergy 
has reserved 100,000 units for purchase under the unit purchase plan.  As determined by the compensation committee, the 
general partner may match each participant's cash base pay or salary deferrals by an amount up to 10% of such deferrals and 
have such amount applied toward the purchase of additional units.  The general partner has also agreed to pay the brokerage 
commissions, transfer taxes and other transaction fees associated with a participant's purchase of common units.  The maximum 
amount that a participant may elect to have withheld from his or her salary or cash base pay with respect to unit purchases in 
any calendar year may not exceed 10% of his or her base salary or wages for the year.  Units purchased on behalf of a 
participant under the unit purchase plan generally are to be held by the participant for at least one year.  To the extent a 
participant desires to sell or dispose of such units prior to the end of this one year holding period, the participant will be 
ineligible to participate in the unit purchase plan again until the one year anniversary of the date of such sale.  The unit 
purchase plan is intended to serve as a means for encouraging participants to invest in common units.  Units purchased through 
the unit purchase plan by Inergy and its employees for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2012, 2011 and 2010, were 21,153 
units, 13,821 units and 6,877 units, respectively.  

Inergy, L.P. Long-Term Incentive Plan

Inergy's general partner sponsors the long-term incentive plan for its employees, consultants and directors and the employees of 
its affiliates that perform services for Inergy.  The long-term incentive plan currently permits the grant of awards covering an 
aggregate of 11,914,786 common units, which can be granted in the form of unit options, phantom units and/or restricted units.  
With the exception of 56,000 unit options (exercise prices from $1.92 to $5.34) granted to non-executive employees in 
exchange for option grants made by the predecessor in fiscal 1999, all of which have been grandfathered into the long-term 
incentive plan and are presented as grants in the table below, all units granted under the plan will vest in accordance with the 
Unit Agreements, which typically provide that unit options begin vesting three to five years from the anniversary date of the 
applicable grant date.  Shares issued as a result of unit option exercises are newly issued shares.  Inergy has not issued new unit 
options since fiscal 2008.

Restricted Units

A restricted unit is a common unit that vests over a period of time yet during such time is subject to forfeiture.  The 
compensation committee may make grants of restricted units to employees, directors and consultants containing such terms as 
the compensation committee determines.  The compensation committee will determine the period over which restricted units 
granted to participants will vest.  The compensation committee, in its discretion, may base its determination upon the 
achievement of specified financial objectives or other events.  In addition, the restricted units will vest upon a change in control 
as defined in the long-term incentive plan.  If a grantee's employment, consulting arrangement or membership on the board of 
directors terminates for any reason, the grantee's restricted units will be automatically forfeited unless, and to the extent, the 
compensation committee or the terms of the award agreement provide otherwise.

The Company intends the restricted units to serve as a means of incentive compensation for performance and as an opportunity 
to participate in the equity appreciation of the common units.  Therefore, plan participants will not pay any consideration for 
the common units they receive, and Inergy will receive no cash remuneration for the units.

Inergy granted 91,216; 474,468 and 299,983 restricted units during the years ended September 30, 2012, 2011 and 2010, 
respectively.  Some of the restricted units are 100% vested on the fifth anniversary of the grant date, subject to the provisions as 
outlined in the restricted unit award agreement.  Some of the restricted units vest 25% after the third year, 25% after the fourth 
year and 50% after the fifth year.  Some of these units are subject to the achievement of certain specified performance 
objectives and failure to meet the performance objectives will result in forfeiture and cancellation of the restricted units.  The 
Company recognizes expense on these units each quarter by multiplying the closing price of the Company's common units on 
the date of grant by the number of units granted, and expensing that amount over the vesting period utilizing the straight-line 
method, except for awards with performance conditions which utilize the accelerated method.
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A summary of Inergy's weighted-average grant date fair value for restricted units for the year ended September 30, 2012, is as 
follows:

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair Value Number of Units

Non-vested at October 1, 2011 $ 33.94 1,782,395
Granted during the period ended September 30, 2012 $ 17.47 91,216
Vested during the period ended September 30, 2012 $ 24.51 335,719
Forfeited during the period ended September 30, 2012 $ 33.11 29,699
Non-vested at September 30, 2012 $ 27.21 1,508,193

The weighted-average grant date fair value of restricted units granted and vested during the year ended September 30, 2011, 
amounted to $39.02 and $26.63, respectively.  The weighted-average grant date fair value of restricted units granted and vested 
during the year ended September 30, 2010, amounted to $36.08 and $27.50, respectively.  The fair value of restricted units 
vested during the years ended September 30, 2012, 2011 and 2010, was $8.2 million, $1.5 million and $0.4 million, 
respectively.  

During the quarter ended September 30, 2012, the Company recorded additional amortization on certain awards and made a 
change in estimate in which it was determined that certain restricted units with performance conditions were no longer going to 
be met.  This change in estimate resulted in the previously recognized unit-based compensation being reversed and also 
required the distributions previously paid on these awards to be reclassified from distributions to unit-based compensation 
expense.  The aforementioned factors resulted in a net additional amount of unit-based compensation expense of $5.7 million in 
the quarter ended September 30, 2012 and $11.7 million in the year ended September 30, 2012.  

The compensation expense recorded by the Company related to these restricted unit awards was $17.2 million, $5.7 million and 
$2.3 million for the years ended September 30, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

As of September 30, 2012, there was $9.6 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested share-based 
compensation awards granted to employees under the restricted unit and unit option plans.  That cost is expected to be 
recognized over a five-year period.

Inergy Midstream, L.P. Long-Term Incentive Plan

Inergy Midstream's general partner sponsors the long-term incentive plan for its employees, consultants and directors and the 
employees of its affiliates that perform services for Inergy Midstream.  The long-term incentive plan currently permits the grant 
of awards covering an aggregate of 7,432,500 common units, which can be granted in the form of unit options, phantom units 
and/or restricted units.  As of September 30, 2012 all long-term incentive plan activity has been issued in the form of restricted 
units.  
 
Restricted Units 
 
A restricted unit is a common unit that participates in distributions and vests over a period of time yet during such time is 
subject to forfeiture.  The compensation committee may make grants of restricted units to employees, directors and consultants 
containing such terms as the compensation committee determines.  The compensation committee will determine the period over 
which restricted units granted to participants will vest.  The compensation committee, in its discretion, may base its 
determination upon the achievement of specified financial objectives or other events.  In addition, the restricted units will vest 
upon a change in control as defined in the long-term incentive plan.  If a grantee's employment, consulting arrangement or 
membership on the board of directors terminates for any reason, the grantee's restricted units will be automatically forfeited 
unless, and to the extent, the compensation committee or the terms of the award agreement provide otherwise.

Inergy Midstream intends the restricted units to serve as a means of incentive compensation for performance and as an 
opportunity to participate in the equity appreciation of the common units.  Therefore, plan participants will not pay any 
consideration for the common units they receive, and Inergy Midstream will receive no cash remuneration for the units.  

Inergy Midstream granted 383,223 restricted units during the year ended September 30, 2012.  Some of the restricted units are 
100% vested on the fifth anniversary of the grant date, subject to the provisions as outlined in the restricted unit award 
agreement.  Some of the restricted units vest 25% after the third year, 25% after the fourth year and 50% after the fifth year.  
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Inergy Midstream recognizes expense on these units each quarter by multiplying the closing price of its common units on the 
date of grant by the number of units granted, and expensing that amount over the vesting period on a straight-line basis.  

A summary of Inergy Midstream's weighted-average grant date fair value for restricted units for the year ended September 30, 
2012, is as follows: 

Weighted-Average
 Grant Date Fair Value Number of Units

Non-vested at October 1, 2011 $ — —
Granted during the period ended September 30, 2012 $ 21.62 383,223
Vested during the period ended September 30, 2012 $ — —
Forfeited during the period ended September 30, 2012 $ — —
Non-vested at September 30, 2012 $ 21.62 383,223

The compensation expense recorded by Inergy Midstream related to these restricted unit awards was $0.7 million for the year 
ended September 30, 2012.  

As of September 30, 2012, there was $7.6 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested share-based 
compensation awards granted to employees under the Inergy Midstream restricted unit plan.  That cost is expected to be 
recognized over a five-year period.

Note 12. Employee Benefit Plans

A 401(k) plan is available to all of Inergy's employees after meeting certain requirements.  The plan permits employees to make 
contributions up to 75% of their salary, up to statutory limits, which was $17,000 in 2012.  The plan provides for matching 
contributions by Inergy for employees completing one year of service of at least 1000 hours.  Aggregate matching contributions 
made by Inergy were $1.9 million, $2.2 million and $2.4 million in fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 

Of Inergy's 793 employees, 13% are subject to collective bargaining agreements.  For the years ended September 30, 2012, 
2011 and 2010, Inergy made contributions on behalf of its union employees to union sponsored defined benefit plans of $2.7 
million, $3.3 million and $2.9 million, respectively.

Note 13. Commitments and Contingencies

Inergy periodically enters into agreements with suppliers to purchase fixed quantities of NGLs, distillates and natural gas at 
fixed prices.  At September 30, 2012, the total of these firm purchase commitments was $351.2 million, approximately 99% of 
which will occur over the course of the next twelve months.  The Company also enters into non-binding agreements with 
suppliers to purchase quantities of NGLs, distillates and natural gas at variable prices at future dates at the then prevailing 
market prices.

Inergy and Inergy Midstream have entered into certain purchase commitments in connection with the identified growth projects 
primarily related to the Watkins Glen NGL development project and the MARC I Pipeline.  The Watkins Glen NGL 
development project entails the conversion of certain caverns created by US Salt into 2.1 million barrels of NGL storage.  The 
MARC I Pipeline project is a 39 mile, 30" bi-directional pipeline that  will extend between the Stagecoach south lateral 
interconnect with Tennessee Gas Pipeline Company's 300 Line near its compressor station 319 and Transco's Leidy Line near 
its compressor station 517, and will provide 550 MMcf/d of firm transportation capacity.  At September 30, 2012, the total of 
Inergy's and Inergy Midstream's storage and transportation operations' firm purchase commitments was approximately $22.6 
million, and the majority of the purchases associated with these commitments are expected to occur over the course of the next 
twelve months.

Inergy is periodically involved in litigation proceedings.  The results of litigation proceedings cannot be predicted with 
certainty; however, management believes that Inergy does not have material potential liability in connection with these 
proceedings that would have a significant financial impact on its consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash 
flows.
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In June 2010, Inergy Midstream and CNYOG entered into a letter of intent with Anadarko Petroleum Corporation 
(“Anadarko”) which contemplated that, subject to certain conditions, Anadarko may exercise an option to acquire up to a 25% 
ownership interest in the MARC I pipeline.  On September 23, 2011, Anadarko filed a complaint against the Company and 
CNYOG in the Court of Common Pleas in Lycoming County, Pennsylvania (Cause No. 11-01697) alleging that (i) Anadarko 
had an option to acquire, and timely exercised its option to acquire, a 25% ownership interest in the MARC I pipeline, (ii) the 
Company refused to enter into definitive agreements under which Anadarko would acquire a 25% interest in the pipeline and, 
by doing so, the Company breached the letter of intent, and (iii) by refusing to enter into definitive agreements, the Company 
breached a duty of good faith and fair dealing in connection with the letter of intent.  Based on these allegations, Anadarko 
seeks various remedies, including specific performance of the letter of intent and monetary damages. 

The Company filed its answer to Anadarko's complaint on January 17, 2012 and discovery is ongoing.  The Company believes 
that Anadarko's claims are without merit and intends to vigorously defend themselves in the lawsuit. 
 
Following the announcement of the Inergy and Holdings merger, two class action lawsuits were filed by unitholders of Inergy 
(the “Inergy Unitholder Lawsuits”) as described in Item 3 of form 10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010.  The parties to the Inergy Unitholder Lawsuits have entered into a Memorandum 
of Understanding whereby in consideration for the settlement and dismissal of the claims, the individual Class B unitholders 
will forego and relinquish a total of 135,539 Class B units to be received as distributions following the date on which the 
settlement and dismissal become final and no longer appealable.  On March 29, 2012, the court approved the terms of the 
settlement, which included the certification of a settlement class and the dismissal with prejudice of all claims.  Also as part of 
the settlement, the defendants in the Inergy Unitholder Lawsuits other than Inergy must pay fees and expenses to counsel for 
the plaintiffs in the amount of $1.8 million, which amount is covered by insurance.
 
Inergy utilizes third-party insurance subject to varying retention levels of self-insurance, which management considers prudent.  
Such self-insurance relates to losses and liabilities primarily associated with medical claims, workers' compensation claims and 
general, product, vehicle and environmental liability.  Losses are accrued based upon management's estimates of the aggregate 
liability for claims incurred using certain assumptions followed in the insurance industry and based on past experience.  The 
primary assumption utilized is actuarially determined loss development factors.  The loss development factors are based 
primarily on historical data.  Inergy's self insurance reserves could be affected if future claims development differs from the 
historical trends.  Inergy believes changes in health care costs, trends in health care claims of its employee base, accident 
frequency and severity and other factors could materially affect the estimate for these liabilities.  Inergy continually monitors 
changes in employee demographics, incident and claim type and evaluates its insurance accruals and adjusts its accruals based 
on its evaluation of these qualitative data points.  Inergy is liable for the development of claims for its disposed retail propane 
operations, provided they were reported prior to August 1, 2012.  At September 30, 2012 and 2011, Inergy's self-insurance 
reserves were $23.8 million and $20.6 million, respectively.  The Company estimates that $15.0 million of this balance will be 
paid subsequent to September 30, 2013.  As such, $15.0 million has been classified in other long-term liabilities on the 
consolidated balance sheets.

Note 14. Segments

Inergy's financial statements reflect two operating and reportable segments: NGL marketing, supply and logistics operations 
and storage and transportation operations.  Inergy's NGL marketing, supply and logistics operations include NGL sales to 
retailers and resellers of NGL, NGL fractionation and distribution, processing of natural gas and distribution of propane, 
marketing and price risk management services to other users, retailers and resellers of propane and the results of retail propane 
operations disposed on August 1, 2012.  Inergy's storage and transportation operations include storage and transportation of 
natural gas and NGLs for third parties and the production and sale of salt products.  

The identifiable assets associated with each reportable segment include accounts receivable and inventories.  Goodwill, 
property, plant and equipment and expenditures for property, plant and equipment are also presented for each segment.  The net 
asset/liability from price risk management, as reported in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, is primarily related to 
the NGL marketing, supply and logistics segment.  Assets and liabilities held for sale for the years ended September 30, 2011 
and 2010 relate entirely to the NGL marketing, supply and logistics segment.

Table of Contents
Inergy, L.P. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)



129

Revenues, gross profit, identifiable assets, goodwill, property, plant and equipment and expenditures for property, plant and 
equipment for each of Inergy's reportable segments are presented below (in millions):

  Year Ended September 30, 2012

 

NGL Marketing, 
Supply and 

Logistics 
Operations

Storage and 
Transportation 

Operations
Intersegment
Operations

Corporate
Assets Total

Retail revenues $ 777.3 $ — $ — $ — $ 777.3
Marketing revenues 618.9 — — — 618.9
Facility revenues 299.0 — (2.3) — 296.7
Storage revenues 12.4 209.4 (11.8) — 210.0
Transportation revenues 75.5 28.4 — — 103.9
Gross profit 426.8 183.8 — — 610.6
Identifiable assets 192.4 28.3 — — 220.7
Goodwill 3.8 141.8 — 20.2 165.8
Property, plant and equipment 352.0 1,802.2 — 6.5 2,160.7
Expenditures for property, plant and 

equipment 29.4 262.5 — 0.6 292.5

  Year Ended September 30, 2011

 

NGL Marketing, 
Supply and 

Logistics 
Operations

Storage and 
Transportation 

Operations
Intersegment
Operations

Corporate
Assets Total

Retail revenues $ 1,050.9 $ — $ — $ — $ 1,050.9
Marketing revenues 563.1 — (0.2) — 562.9
Facility revenues 294.0 — (1.5) — 292.5
Storage revenues 5.3 195.2 (4.1) — 196.4
Transportation revenues 37.1 14.0 — — 51.1
Gross profit 525.0 152.8 — — 677.8
Identifiable assets 241.7 26.3 — — 268.0
Goodwill — 141.8 — 20.2 162.0
Property, plant and equipment 311.8 1,533.7 — 12.3 1,857.8
Expenditures for property, plant and 

equipment 27.2 172.1 — 0.9 200.2

  Year Ended September 30, 2010

 

NGL Marketing, 
Supply and 

Logistics 
Operations

Storage and 
Transportation 

Operations
Intersegment
Operations

Corporate
Assets Total

Retail revenues 973.1 — — — 973.1
Marketing revenues 449.8 — (0.2) — 449.6
Facility revenues 183.0 — (0.7) — 182.3
Storage revenues 0.2 134.8 (0.5) — 134.5
Transportation revenues 34.4 12.1 — — 46.5
Gross profit 515.1 105.0 — — 620.1
Identifiable assets 130.2 18.0 — — 148.2
Goodwill — 96.4 — 20.2 116.6
Property, plant and equipment 299.6 630.2 — 12.0 941.8
Expenditures for property, plant and 

equipment 26.7 57.1 — 1.6 85.4
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Note 15 - Condensed Consolidating Financial Information

Inergy is a holding company and owns no operating assets and has no significant operations independent of its subsidiaries. 
Obligations under its outstanding senior notes and credit agreement listed in Note 8 are jointly and severally guaranteed by 
Inergy's wholly owned domestic subsidiaries.  Subsequent to Inergy Midstream's IPO on December 21, 2011, Inergy Midstream 
and its wholly owned subsidiaries no longer guarantee Inergy's senior notes or credit agreement.

The tables below present condensed consolidated financial statements for Inergy (parent) on a stand-alone, unconsolidated 
basis, and its combined guarantor and combined non-guarantor subsidiaries as of September 30, 2012, and for the year ended 
September 30, 2012.  Comparative financial statements have not been provided as Inergy Midstream was a guarantor of the 
senior notes in the prior period.  The financial information may not necessarily be indicative of the results of operations, cash 
flows or financial position had the subsidiaries operated as independent entities.

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
September 30, 2012

(in millions)

Parent
Guarantor

Subsidiaries

Non-
Guarantor

Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2.9 $ (2.9) $ — $ — $ —
Accounts receivable — 114.3 19.3 — 133.6
Inventories — 81.5 5.6 — 87.1
Other — 52.7 5.4 (0.3) 57.8

Total current assets 2.9 245.6 30.3 (0.3) 278.5

Property, plant and equipment, net — 842.6 867.9 — 1,710.5
Goodwill and intangible assets, net 20.2 61.1 125.8 — 207.1
Investment in subsidiary 1,380.6 — — (1,380.6) —
Other assets — 7.6 3.9 — 11.5
Total assets $ 1,403.7 $ 1,156.9 $ 1,027.9 $ (1,380.9) $ 2,207.6

Liabilities and partners' capital
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ — $ 116.9 $ 3.9 $ — $ 120.8
Other 4.6 61.0 52.9 (0.3) 118.2

Total current liabilities 4.6 177.9 56.8 (0.3) 239.0

Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt, less current portion 324.8 — 415.0 — 739.8
Other long-term liabilities 28.1 15.1 0.8 — 44.0

Total long-term liabilities 352.9 15.1 415.8 — 783.8

Partners' capital 1,046.2 963.9 416.7 (1,380.6) 1,046.2
Interest of non-controlling partners in subsidiary — — 138.6 — 138.6
Total partners' capital 1,046.2 963.9 555.3 (1,380.6) 1,184.8
Total liabilities and partners' capital $ 1,403.7 $ 1,156.9 $ 1,027.9 $ (1,380.9) $ 2,207.6
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations
Year Ended September 30, 2012

(in millions)

Parent
Guarantor

Subsidiaries

Non-
Guarantor

Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Revenue:
Propane $ — $ 1,289.0 $ — $ — $ 1,289.0
Other — 539.8 189.8 (11.8) 717.8

— 1,828.8 189.8 (11.8) 2,006.8

Cost of product sold (excluding depreciation and 
amortization as shown below):
Propane — 974.5 — — 974.5
Other — 392.1 41.4 (11.8) 421.7

— 1,366.6 41.4 (11.8) 1,396.2

Expenses:
Operating and administrative — 270.4 30.4 — 300.8
Depreciation and amortization — 119.1 50.5 — 169.6
Loss on disposal of assets — 5.7 — — 5.7

Operating income — 67.0 67.5 — 134.5

Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net (81.8) — (1.8) — (83.6)
Early extinguishment of debt (26.6) — — — (26.6)
Gain on disposal of retail propane operations 589.5 — — — 589.5
Loss on Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. units (47.6) — — — (47.6)
Other income — 1.5 — — 1.5
Equity in net income of subsidiary 132.4 — — (132.4) —

Income (loss) before income taxes 565.9 68.5 65.7 (132.4) 567.7
Provision for income taxes — 1.8 — — 1.8
Net income (loss) 565.9 66.7 65.7 (132.4) 565.9
Net income attributable to non-controlling partners in 

subsidiary — — (11.0) — (11.0)
Net income (loss) attributable to partners $ 565.9 $ 66.7 $ 54.7 $ (132.4) $ 554.9
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
Year Ended September 30, 2012

(in millions)

Parent
Guarantor

Subsidiaries

Non-
Guarantor

Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Cash flows from operating activities $ — $ 106.3 $ 132.7 $ — $ 239.0

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (32.5) — — (32.5)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment — (48.1) (220.6) — (268.7)
US Salt, LLC contribution, net — 107.7 (107.7) — —
Payments associated with the disposal of retail 

propane operations — (58.1) — (58.1)
Other — 8.7 — — 8.7

Net cash used in investing activities — (22.3) (328.3) — (350.6)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt 255.0 1,159.2 509.9 — 1,924.1
Principal payments on long-term debt (255.0) (1,221.6) (348.4) — (1,825.0)
Distributions paid (425.6) (267.9) (163.3) 588.9 (267.9)
Distributions paid to non-controlling partners — — (14.6) — (14.6)
Distributions received 425.6 163.3 — (588.9) —
Net proceeds from the issuance of common units — — 292.4 — 292.4
US Salt, LLC contribution, net — 74.8 (74.8) — —
Other (0.1) (3.2) (5.6) — (8.9)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (0.1) (95.4) 195.6 — 100.1

Net decrease in cash (0.1) (11.4) — — (11.5)
Cash at beginning of period 3.0 8.5 — — 11.5
Cash at end of period $ 2.9 $ (2.9) $ — $ — $ —
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Note 16. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Inergy's business is seasonal due to weather conditions in its service areas.  Propane sales to residential and commercial 
customers are affected by winter heating season requirements, which generally results in higher operating revenues and net 
income during the period from October through March of each year and lower operating revenues and either net losses or lower 
net income during the period from April through September of each year.  Sales to industrial and agricultural customers are 
much less weather sensitive.  Summarized unaudited quarterly financial data is presented below (in millions, except per unit 
information):

  Quarter Ended
  December 31 March 31 June 30 September 30

Fiscal 2012
Revenues $ 668.6 $ 662.4 $ 371.6 $ 304.2
Operating income 48.1 66.5 6.6 13.3
Net income (loss) (3.6) 44.0 (17.7) 543.2 (b)

Net income (loss) attributable to partners (4.0) 40.7 (21.8) 540.0
Net income (loss) per limited partner unit:(a)

Basic $ (0.01) $ 0.33 $ (0.15) $ 4.18
Diluted $ (0.03) $ 0.31 $ (0.17) $ 4.10

Fiscal 2011
Revenues $ 596.0 $ 720.5 $ 388.7 $ 448.6
Operating income (loss) 71.7 113.4 (8.9) (21.7)
Net income (loss) 38.5 36.6 (35.5) (50.2)
Net income (loss) attributable to partners 66.7 36.6 (35.5) (50.2)
Net income (loss) per limited partner unit:(a)

Basic $ 0.82 $ 0.33 $ (0.32) $ (0.42)
Diluted $ 0.72 $ 0.30 $ (0.32) $ (0.42)

(a) The accumulation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per limited partner unit does not total the amount for the fiscal year due to changes in 
ownership percentages throughout the year.

(b) The Company recorded a gain of $589.5 million during the quarter ended September 30, 2012 related to the disposition of its retail propane operations.

Note 17. Subsequent Events

The Company has identified subsequent events requiring disclosure through the date of the filing of this Form 10-K.

On November 14, 2012, Inergy paid a quarterly distribution of $0.290 per limited partner unit to unitholders of record on 
November 7, 2012.

On November 5, 2012, Inergy Midstream announced the planned acquisition of 100% of the ownership interest of Rangeland 
Energy, LLC ("Rangeland") in exchange for $425 million in cash, net of cash acquired in the transaction and subject to certain 
closing adjustments. The acquisition is planned to close during December 2012. Inergy Midstream has already entered into an 
agreement to sell $225 million through a private placement of common units to qualified institutional investors conditioned 
upon and closing contemporaneously with the closing of the Rangeland acquisition.

The primary purpose of this acquisition is to acquire the crude oil loading terminal, storage facility, and interconnecting 
pipeline assets of Rangeland, which are located in Northwestern North Dakota.  Inergy Midstream's valuation of the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed has not been completed as the acquisition has not closed to date.  Inergy Midstream expects the 
significant components of the valuation to include property, plant and equipment, intangible contract assets and goodwill.  
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The following represents the pro forma consolidated statements of operations as if Rangeland had been included in the 
consolidated results of the Company for the year ended September 30, 2012 (in millions):

(Unaudited) Pro Forma 
Consolidated Statement of 

Operations
Year Ended 

September 30, 2012
Revenue $ 2,010.2
Net Income $ 507.6

These amounts are based on certain assumptions made as to the purchase accounting of the transaction.  A final determination 
of the purchase accounting adjustments, including the allocation of the purchase price of the assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed based on their fair values, has not been made.  Accordingly, the purchase accounting adjustments made in connection 
with the development of the unaudited pro forma are preliminary and subject to material change. Rangeland was a development 
stage entity (as defined by ASC Topic 915, Development Stage Entities) until recently, and began principal commercial 
operations during June 2012, additionally revenues and earnings for the acquired company are insignificant for the years ended 
September 30, 2011 and 2010 and thus are not presented.  The acquisition is planned to close during December 2012, however 
the Company provides no assurance regarding the timing or completion of the acquisition and additionally the amounts above 
are subject to change.    
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

INERGY, L.P.

By Inergy GP, LLC
(its general partner)

Dated: November 20, 2012 By /s/    JOHN J. SHERMAN        
John J. Sherman, Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 
officers and directors of Inergy GP, LLC, as general partner of Inergy, L.P., the registrant, in the capacities and on the dates 
indicated.

Date Signature and Title

November 20, 2012 /S/    JOHN J. SHERMAN        
John J. Sherman,

Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

November 20, 2012 /S/    MICHAEL J. CAMPBELL        
Michael J. Campbell,

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

November 20, 2012 /S/     MICHAEL D. LENOX       
Michael D. Lenox,

Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

November 20, 2012 /S/    PHILLIP L. ELBERT        
Phillip L. Elbert,

Executive Vice President - Strategy Director)

November 20, 2012 /S/    WARREN H. GFELLER        
Warren H. Gfeller, Director

November 20, 2012 /S/    ARTHUR B. KRAUSE        
Arthur B. Krause, Director

November 20, 2012 /S/    ROBERT D. TAYLOR        
Robert D. Taylor, Director
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Schedule I

Inergy, L.P.
Parent Only

Condensed Balance Sheets
(in millions, except unit information)

  September 30,
  2012 2011

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2.9 $ 3.0
Total current assets 2.9 3.0

Goodwill 20.2 20.2
Investment in subsidiaries 1,380.6 3,021.6
Total assets $ 1,403.7 $ 3,044.8

Liabilities and partners’ capital
Current liabilities:

Accrued expenses $ 2.7 $ 32.7
Current portion of long-term debt 1.9 7.4

Total current liabilities 4.6 40.1

Long-term debt, less current portion 324.8 1,833.3
Other long-term liabilities 28.1 25.4

Partners’ capital:
Limited partner unitholders (125,795,836 and 119,147,858 common units issued and 

outstanding at September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011, respectively, and 
5,882,105 and 12,165,499 Class B units issued and outstanding at September 30, 2012 
and September 30, 2011, respectively) 1,046.2 1,146.0

Total partners’ capital 1,046.2 1,146.0
Total liabilities and partners’ capital $ 1,403.7 $ 3,044.8

See accompanying notes to condensed financial statements.
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Schedule I

Inergy, L.P.
Parent Only

Condensed Statements of Operations
(in millions)

  Year Ended September 30,
  2012 2011 2010

Operating income $ — $ — $ —

Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net (81.8) (113.5) (91.5)
Gain on disposal of retail propane operations 589.5 — —
Loss on Suburban Propane Partners, L.P. units (47.6) — —
Early extinguishment of debt (26.6) (52.1) —
Equity in net income of subsidiary 132.4 155.0 137.9

Net income (loss) $ 565.9 $ (10.6) $ 46.4

See accompanying notes to condensed financial statements.
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Schedule I

Inergy, L.P.
Parent Only

Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Income
(in millions)

  Year Ended September 30,
  2012 2011 2010

Net income (loss) $ 565.9 $ (10.6) $ 46.4
Change in unrealized fair value on cash flow hedges (8.2) (11.1) (6.6)
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 557.7 $ (21.7) $ 39.8

See accompanying notes to condensed financial statements.
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Schedule I

Inergy, L.P.
Parent Only

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
(in millions)

  Year Ended September 30,
  2012 2011 2010

Cash flows from operating activities $ — $ — $ —

Cash flows from investing activities — — —

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt 255.0 — 3.5
Principal payments on long-term debt (255.0) — (6.2)
Distributions paid (425.6) (311.6) (242.8)
Distributions received 425.6 311.6 242.8
Other (0.1) (0.6) 6.2

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (0.1) (0.6) 3.5

Net increase (decrease) in cash (0.1) (0.6) 3.5
Cash at beginning of period 3.0 3.6 0.1
Cash at end of period $ 2.9 $ 3.0 $ 3.6

See accompanying notes to condensed financial statements.
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Schedule I

Inergy, L.P.
Parent Only

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements

Note 1. Basis of Presentation

In the parent-only financial statements, the Company's investment in subsidiaries is stated at cost plus equity in undistributed 
earnings of subsidiaries since the date of acquisition.  The Company's share of net income of its unconsolidated subsidiaries is 
included in consolidated income using the equity method.  The parent-only financial statements should be read in conjunction 
with the Company's consolidated financial statements.
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Schedule II

Inergy, L.P. and Subsidiaries
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(in millions)

Year Ended September 30,

Balance at
beginning
of period

Charged
to costs and

expenses
Other

Additions
Deductions
(write-offs)

Balance
at end

of period

Allowance for doubtful accounts
2012 $ 0.2 $ — $ 0.2 $ — $ 0.4
2011 0.2 0.1 — (0.1) 0.2
2010 0.3 (0.1) — — 0.2
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